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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. Neither we nor the selling stockholders may sell these
securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an
offer to sell these securities, and neither we nor the selling stockholders are soliciting offers to buy these securities in any jurisdiction
where the offer or sale is not permitted.
PROSPECTUS (Subject to Completion)
Issued June 15, 2015

29,850,000 Shares

CLASS A COMMON STOCK
Fitbit, Inc. is offering 22,387,500 shares of its Class A common stock and the selling stockholders are offering 7,462,500 shares of Class A common stock. We will not receive any proceeds
from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders. This is our initial public offering and no public market currently exists for shares of our Class A common stock. We anticipate that the initial
public offering price of our Class A common stock will be between $14.00 and $16.00 per share.
We have two classes of common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical, except
voting and conversion rights. Each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote. Each share of Class B common stock is entitled to ten votes and is convertible at any time into one
share of Class A common stock. The holders of our outstanding Class B common stock will hold approximately 98.3% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock following this offering,
with our directors, executive officers, and significant stockholders holding approximately 51.9%.

We have been approved to list our Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FIT.”

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined under the federal securities laws. Investing in our Class A common stock involves risks. See the section titled “ Risk Factors ” beginning on
page 15.
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See the section titled “Underwriters” for a description of the compensation payable to the underwriters.

The selling stockholders have granted the underwriters the right to purchase up to an additional 4,477,500 shares of Class A common stock to cover over-allotments.
The Securities and Exchange Commission and state securities regulators have not approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of Class A common stock to purchasers on
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You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us and delivered or made
available to you. Neither we, the selling stockholders, nor any of the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide you with additional or different information.
We and the selling stockholders are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, shares of our Class A common stock only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are
permitted. The information contained in this prospectus or a free writing prospectus is accurate only as of its date, regardless of its time of delivery or of any sale of
shares of our Class A common stock. Our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects may have changed since that date.
Through and including
, 2015 (the 25 th day after commencement of this offering), all dealers that buy, sell, or trade shares of our Class A
common stock, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This delivery requirement is in addition to the
obligation of dealers to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.
For investors outside the United States: Neither we, the selling stockholders, nor any of the underwriters have done anything that would permit this offering or
possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in the United States. Persons outside of the
United States who come into possession of this prospectus must inform themselves about, and observe any restrictions relating to, the offering of the shares of
Class A common stock and the distribution of this prospectus outside of the United States.
i
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
This summary highlights information presented in greater detail elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary is not complete and does not contain all the
information you should consider before investing in our Class A common stock. You should read the entire prospectus carefully, including the sections titled
“Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements
and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, before investing in our Class A common stock.
FITBIT, INC.
Our Mission
Fitbit helps people lead healthier, more active lives by empowering them with data, inspiration, and guidance to reach their goals.
Overview
Fitbit is transforming the way millions of people around the world achieve their health and fitness goals. The Fitbit platform combines connected health
and fitness devices with software and services, including an online dashboard and mobile apps, data analytics, motivational and social tools, personalized
insights, and virtual coaching through customized fitness plans and interactive workouts. Our platform helps people become more active, exercise more, sleep
better, eat smarter, and manage their weight. Fitbit appeals to a large, mainstream health and fitness market by addressing these key needs with advanced
technology embedded in simple-to-use products and services. We pioneered the connected health and fitness market starting in 2007, and since then, we have
grown into a leading global health and fitness brand. As of March 31, 2015, we have sold over 20.8 million devices since inception. According to The NPD
Group, we held the leading position in the U.S. connected activity tracker market, with an 85% share, by dollars, in the first quarter of 2015. *
The core of our platform is our family of six wearable connected health and fitness trackers. These wrist-based and “clippable” devices automatically
track users’ daily steps, calories burned, distance traveled, floors climbed, and active minutes and display real-time feedback to encourage them to become
more active in their daily lives. Most of our trackers also measure sleep duration and quality, and our more advanced products track heart rate and GPS-based
information such as speed, distance, and exercise routes. Several of our devices also feature deeper integration with smartphones, such as the ability to receive
call and text notifications and control music. In addition, we offer a Wi-Fi connected scale that records weight, body fat, and body mass index, or BMI. We
dedicate significant resources to developing proprietary sensors, algorithms, and software to ensure that our products have highly accurate measurements,
insightful analytics, compact sizes, durability, and long battery lives. We are able to enhance the functionality and features of our connected devices through
wireless updates.
Our platform also includes our online dashboard and mobile apps, which wirelessly and automatically sync with our devices. Our platform allows our
users to see trends and achievements, access motivational tools such as virtual badges and real-time progress notifications, and connect, support, and compete
with friends and family. Our direct connection with our users enables us to provide personalized insights, premium services, and information about new
products and services. Premium services include virtual coaching through customized fitness plans and interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile
devices and computers. In addition, we extend the value of our platform through our open application programming interface, or API, which enables thirdparty developers to create health and fitness apps that interact with our platform. Through our open platform and our large community of users, we have
established a growing ecosystem that includes thousands of third-party health and fitness apps that connect with our products and enhance the Fitbit
experience.
*

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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Our platform enables all types of people to get fit their own way, whatever their interests and goals. Our users range from people interested in improving
their health and fitness through everyday activities to endurance athletes seeking to maximize their performance. To address this range of needs, we design our
devices, apps, and services to be easy to use so that they fit seamlessly into peoples’ daily lives or activities. Our users can sync their Fitbit devices with, and
view their dashboard on, their computers and over 150 mobile devices, including iOS, Android, and Windows Phone products. This broad compatibility,
combined with our market-leading position, has enabled us to attract what we believe is the largest community of connected health and fitness device users.
The size of our user community increases the likelihood that our users will be able to find and engage with friends and family, creating positive network effects
that reinforce our growth. In addition, data from our large community enables us to enhance our product features, provide improved insights, and offer more
valuable guidance for our users.
We have rapidly grown to become a leading global health and fitness brand. We sell our products in over 45,000 retail stores and in more than 50
countries, through our retailers’ websites, through our online store at Fitbit.com, and as part of our corporate wellness offering. Our broad distribution and
market-leading connected health and fitness platform have driven significant growth since our founding. In 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014, we had revenue of
$14.5 million, $76.4 million, $271.1 million, and $745.4 million, respectively, net income (loss) of $(4.3) million, $(4.2) million, $(51.6) million, and $131.8
million, respectively, and adjusted EBITDA of $(4.0) million, $(2.4) million, $79.0 million, and $191.0 million, respectively. For the three months ended
March 31, 2014 and 2015, we had revenue of $108.8 million and $336.8 million, respectively, net income of $8.9 million and $48.0 million, respectively, and
adjusted EBITDA of $42.0 million and $93.4 million, respectively. See the section titled “Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data—Adjusted
EBITDA” for information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss). The number of devices we
sold grew from 0.2 million in 2011, to 1.3 million in 2012, to 4.5 million in 2013, and to 10.9 million in 2014, and from 1.6 million in the three months ended
March 31, 2014 to 3.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2015. We also had 0.6 million, 2.6 million, 6.7 million, and 9.5 million active users as of
December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, and March 31, 2015, respectively. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics” for additional information regarding devices sold and active users and limitations of the active user metric.
2
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Powerful Trends Driving Our Market
Several powerful trends are driving the growth of the connected health and fitness market:
•

•

•

•

Individuals and employers are increasingly focused on health and fitness. A variety of factors, such as changing consumer lifestyles and
demographics, combined with rising healthcare costs and employers’ increased emphasis on productivity, are leading individuals and employers
to increasingly focus on health and fitness. Based on information from industry sources, we estimate consumers spent over $200 billion in 2014
on health and fitness services, such as gym and health club memberships, commercial weight management services, and consumer health
products, such as weight management products and dietary supplements. In addition, IBISWorld estimates that the corporate wellness industry
will grow from $7.4 billion in 2014 to $11.3 billion in 2019 in the United States. *
Advances in technology have enabled the emergence of connected devices. Recent technological advances in sensors, lower power components,
and longer-life batteries, combined with the introduction of wireless standards, such as Bluetooth low energy, have enabled the emergence of
connected devices that are smaller, more power-efficient, track a broader range of biometric data, and fit a wide range of consumer preferences.
Mobile devices have become the preferred platform for accessing information. Mobile devices have become the preferred platform for people to
access information and manage their lives, as well as the primary hub to connect a variety of consumer devices. According to Gartner, by 2018
more than 50% of users will go to a tablet or smartphone first for all online activities. *
More individuals are turning to technology solutions to improve health and fitness. Individuals are increasingly using mobile apps and other
software to improve health and fitness, allowing consumers to directly manage and track their health and fitness in unprecedented ways.
According to The NPD Group, over 25% of U.S. consumers reported using a fitness app on their smartphone. *

Our Market Opportunity
According to International Data Corporation, or IDC, consumer spend on the wearable devices market is growing faster than on any segment in the
global consumer electronics market. * In 2014, shipments of wearable
+

*

Our active user metric tracks the number of users who have an active subscription to our services, who paired a tracker or scale to an account, or who logged at least 100 steps or took a weight
measurement within three months of the measurement date. Therefore, the active user metric does not measure continual engagement of individual users with our platform and should not be used for that
purpose. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Active Users” for a description of the limitations related
to the active user metric.
See “Industry and Market Data.”
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devices more than tripled compared to the prior year, reaching a total of 19.6 million units shipped. * IDC expects the market for wearable devices will reach
126.1 million units shipped in 2019, representing a $27.9 billion worldwide revenue opportunity. * We believe that we have been one of the drivers of the
growth of the wearable devices market, and that the future growth of this market represents a significant opportunity for us. Further, as we continue to expand
our platform and as consumers increasingly view our connected health and fitness products and services as an alternative or complement to other health and
wellness activities, we believe there is an opportunity to extend our addressable market to the broader health and fitness market. Based on information from
industry sources, we estimate this market represents an over $200 billion opportunity and includes consumer spend on health and fitness services, such as gym
and health club memberships, commercial weight management services, and consumer health products, such as weight management products and dietary
supplements. The broader health and fitness market, however, presents several challenges to overcome before we are able to take advantage of this
opportunity, including competition from larger, more established traditional health and fitness companies, uncertainty as to whether consumers will adopt our
products and services as an alternative or complement to other health and wellness activities, and our relative lack of experience selling other products and
services. Furthermore, while we believe that our active user metric is an indicator of the size and growth of our community, it is not a measure of the levels of
continuous engagement of our individual users over periods of time and does not track the number of individual users that have become inactive on our
platform in a period. As such, our active user metric is not necessarily an indicator of the size and growth of our engaged user community, who we believe to
be the most likely to purchase additional products and services on our platform, such as our subscription-based premium services.
Our Solution—The Fitbit Platform
Our leading connected health and fitness platform is designed to enable our users to improve their health and fitness by:
•

Tracking activities through our connected health and fitness devices. We empower users to live healthier, more active lifestyles by both tracking
the information that matters most to them and providing them with real-time feedback. Our connected health and fitness devices span multiple
styles, form factors, and price points, addressing the needs of everyone—from people simply looking to get fit by increasing their activity levels to
endurance athletes seeking to maximize their performance.

•

Learning through our online dashboard and mobile apps. We offer our users a personalized online dashboard and mobile apps that sync
automatically with our connected health and fitness devices and provide our users with a wide range of information and analytics, such as charts
and graphs of their progress and the ability to log caloric intake.

•

Staying motivated through social features, notifications, challenges, and virtual badges . Our products help millions of users achieve their goals
both individually and within the community that they choose. We motivate users by delivering real-time feedback including notifications,
leaderboard and challenge updates, and virtual badges. Users can choose to share some or all of their health and fitness information on an opt-in
basis with friends, family, and other parties, with third-party apps, and through social networks.
Improving health and fitness through goal-setting, personalized insights, premium services, and virtual coaching. We believe our platform
assists users in changing their daily behavior, such as eating healthier foods or going for a run or walking more to reach a goal or win a challenge.
We also offer premium services on a subscription basis that provide personalized insights and virtual coaching through customized fitness plans
and interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile devices and computers.

•

4
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Our Competitive Strengths—What Sets Us Apart
We believe the following strengths will allow us to maintain and extend our leadership position:
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

*

Leading market position and global brand. Our singular focus on building a connected health and fitness platform, coupled with our leading
market share, has led to our brand becoming synonymous with the connected health and fitness category. According to The NPD Group, we had
the highest selling connected activity trackers in the United States in the first quarter of 2015, with an 85% share of the U.S. connected activity
tracker market, by dollars, up from 70% for the year 2014 and 59% for the year 2013. * In addition, according to The NPD Group, Fitbit Surge,
which we began selling in December 2014, was the highest selling GPS fitness watch in the United States in the first quarter of 2015, with
a 61% share of the U.S. GPS fitness watch market, by dollars, up from 3% in 2014. *
Broad range of connected health and fitness devices. We believe everyone’s approach to fitness is different, so we offer our users a range of
connected health and fitness devices spanning multiple styles, form factors, and price points to allow people to find the devices that fit their
lifestyles and goals.
Advanced, purpose-built hardware and software technologies. Our connected health and fitness devices leverage industry-standard technologies,
such as Bluetooth low energy, as well as proprietary technologies, such as our PurePulse continuous heart rate tracking, and our algorithms that
more accurately measure and analyze user health and fitness metrics. Our online and mobile apps provide in-depth analysis and guidance and our
highly-scalable cloud infrastructure enables millions of users around the world to engage with our platform in real-time.
Broad mobile compatibility and open API. Our broad mobile compatibility and open API enable a large and growing health and fitness
ecosystem that provides additional value to our existing users and extends our reach to potential new users. Our users can sync their Fitbit devices
with, and view their online dashboard on, their computers and over 150 mobile devices, including iOS, Android, and Windows Phone products,
which has enabled us to build what we believe is the largest community of connected health and fitness device users.
Broad and differentiated go-to-market strategy. We sell our products in over 45,000 retail stores and in more than 50 countries, through our
retailers’ websites, through our online store at Fitbit.com, and as part of our corporate wellness offering. We believe the breadth and depth of our
established selling channels and prominent presence in retail stores are unmatched in the connected health and fitness category and would be
difficult for a competitor to replicate.
Large and growing community and powerful network effects. The total number of registered users on our platform has grown from 1.1 million
as of December 31, 2012, to 4.5 million as of December 31, 2013, to 14.6 million as of December 31, 2014, and to 19.0 million as of March 31,
2015. As our community of users continues to grow, we will develop a deeper understanding of our users and expect to deliver additional value to
them through more detailed insights and analysis.
Direct relationship and continuous communication with our users. The connectivity of our devices allows us to better understand our users’
health and fitness goals and communicate the most relevant analysis, features, advice, and content to them throughout the day with our online
dashboard, mobile apps, emails, and notifications.

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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Our Growth Strategy
We intend to maintain and extend our position as the leading platform for connected health and fitness. Key elements of our growth strategy include:
•

•

•

Continue to introduce innovative products. We will continue to develop the world’s most innovative and diverse connected health and fitness
devices and we plan to continue to make significant investments in research and development to further strengthen our platform through both
internally-developed and acquired technologies.
Introduce new features and services. We will continue to introduce innovative new features and services to increase user engagement and
revenue. For example, we acquired FitStar in March 2015 to enhance our software and services offerings through interactive video-based exercise
experiences on mobile devices and computers. Because we do not measure the levels of continuous engagement of our individual users over
periods of time and our active user metric does not track the number of individual users that have become inactive on our platform in a period,
however, it may be difficult for us to assess the market acceptance of our new features and services.
Expand brand awareness and drive sales of our products and services. We intend to increase our marketing efforts to further expand global
awareness of our brand and drive greater sales of our products and services.

•

Increase global distribution through select new channels. We believe that international markets represent a significant growth opportunity for us
and we intend to expand sales of our products and services globally through select retailers and strategic partnerships.

•

Further penetrate the corporate wellness market. We intend to increase our focus on building relationships with employers and wellness
providers and increase revenue through employee wellness programs, although it may be challenging to increase market acceptance of our
corporate wellness offerings because we do not track continuous engagement of our individual users over periods of time.

Our Devices
We believe everyone’s approach to fitness is different, so we have created products with a wide variety of styles, sizes, features, and price points.
•
Fitbit Zip is our entry-level wireless activity tracker that allows users to track the most important daily activity statistics such as steps, distance,
calories burned, and active minutes. Fitbit Zip has a U.S. manufacturer’s suggested retail price, or U.S. MSRP, of $59.95.
•
Fitbit One is a more advanced clippable wireless tracker that tracks stairs climbed and sleep in addition to daily steps, distance, calories burned,
and active minutes. Fitbit One has a U.S. MSRP of $99.95.
•
Fitbit Flex is our first wristband-style tracker, with a sleek and stylish design, that tracks steps, distance, calories burned, active minutes, and
sleep. Fitbit Flex has a U.S. MSRP of $99.95.
•

Fitbit Charge is a wireless activity and sleep wristband that tracks steps, distance, calories burned, active minutes, floors climbed, and sleep. Fitbit
Charge has a U.S. MSRP of $129.95.

•

Fitbit Charge HR is a wireless heart rate and activity wristband that has all the features available on the Fitbit Charge and also includes our
proprietary PurePulse heart rate tracking technology. Fitbit Charge HR has a U.S. MSRP of $149.95.
Fitbit Surge is our fitness “super watch” that combines popular features of a GPS watch, heart rate tracker, activity tracker, and smartwatch. Fitbit
Surge has a U.S. MSRP of $249.95.

•
•

Aria is our Wi-Fi connected scale that tracks weight, body fat percentage, and BMI. Aria has a U.S. MSRP of $129.95.
6
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We also sell various accessories, such as colored bands and clips for our devices, charging cables, and Fitbit apparel. These accessories are offered at
U.S. MSRPs ranging from $4.95 to $195.00.
Selected Risks Associated with Our Business
Our business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those highlighted in the section titled “Risk Factors” immediately following this
prospectus summary. Some of these risks are:
•

We operate in a highly competitive market;

•

We must be able to anticipate and satisfy consumer preferences in a timely manner;

•

We must successfully develop and timely introduce new products and services or enhance existing products and services;

•

We must be able to accurately forecast consumer demand for our products and services and adequately manage our inventory;

•

Our quarterly operating results or other operating metrics may fluctuate significantly;

•

Our active user metric should not be relied upon as an indicator of the level of continual engagement of individual users;

•

We rely on a limited number of third-party suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers over which we have limited control;

•

The market for connected health and fitness devices is still in the early stages of growth and may not continue to develop;

•

An economic downturn or economic uncertainty may adversely affect demand for our products and services;

•

Our current and future products and services may experience quality problems from time to time that can result in adverse publicity, product
recalls, litigation, regulatory proceedings, and warranty claims;

•

We recalled one of our products, the Fitbit Force, in March 2014, due to reports of allergic reactions, which exposed us to U.S. Consumer Product
Safety Commission, or CPSC, proceedings and private litigation;
We must protect our intellectual property and successfully defend against claims by others that we are infringing upon or unlawfully using their
intellectual property;

•
•
•

Material disruption or breach of our information technology systems or those of third-parties could materially damage user and business partner
relationships; and
The dual class structure of our common stock will have the effect of concentrating voting control with certain stockholders, including our
directors, executive officers, and significant stockholders who will hold in the aggregate 51.9% of the voting power of our capital stock following
the completion of this offering, which will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors,
amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate
transaction requiring stockholder approval.

Corporate Information
We were incorporated in Delaware in March 2007 as Healthy Metrics Research, Inc. We changed our name to Fitbit, Inc. in October 2007. Our principal
executive offices are located at 405 Howard Street, San Francisco, California 94105, and our telephone number is (415) 513-1000. Our website address is
Fitbit.com. The
7
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information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus and should not be considered to be a part of
this prospectus.
Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Fitbit,” “the company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Fitbit, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its
consolidated subsidiaries.
Fitbit, the Fitbit logo, Fitbit Zip, Fitbit One, Fitbit Flex, Fitbit Charge, Fitbit Charge HR, Fitbit Surge, Aria, PurePulse, and our other registered or
common law trade names, trademarks, or service marks appearing in this prospectus are our intellectual property. This prospectus contains additional trade
names, trademarks, and service marks of other companies that are the property of their respective owners.
Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company
As a company with less than $1.0 billion in revenue during our last completed fiscal year, we qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in
the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified reduced reporting
requirements that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These reduced reporting requirements include:
•

an exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirement on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting;

•

an exemption from compliance with any requirement that the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board may adopt regarding mandatory audit
firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;

•

reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;

•

an exemption from the requirements to obtain a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation or a stockholder approval of any golden
parachute arrangements; and
extended transition periods for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

•

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of: (i) the end of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue is $1.0
billion or more; (ii) the end of the first fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or the Exchange Act; (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt
securities; and (iv) the end of the fiscal year during which the fifth anniversary of this offering occurs. We may choose to take advantage of some, but not all,
of the available benefits under the JOBS Act. We are choosing to irrevocably “opt out” of the extended transition periods available under the JOBS Act for
complying with new or revised accounting standards, but we currently intend to take advantage of the other exemptions discussed above. Accordingly, the
information contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock.
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THE OFFERING
Class A common stock offered by us

22,387,500 shares

Class A common stock offered by the selling stockholders

7,462,500 shares

Over-allotment option offered by the selling stockholders

4,477,500 shares

Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering

29,850,000 shares (34,327,500 shares if the over-allotment option is
exercised in full)

Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering

174,907,670 shares (170,494,402 shares if the over-allotment option is
exercised in full)

Total Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering

204,757,670 shares (204,821,902 shares if the over-allotment option is
exercised in full)

Use of proceeds

We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A
common stock that we are selling in this offering will be approximately
$310.8 million, based upon an assumed initial public offering price of
$15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, after deducting estimated underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A
common stock by the selling stockholders.
The principal purposes of this offering are to increase our capitalization and
financial flexibility, create a public market for our Class A common stock,
and enable access to the public equity markets for us and our stockholders.
We intend to use the net proceeds that we receive from this offering for
working capital and other general corporate purposes, including research
and development and sales and marketing activities, general and
administrative matters, and capital expenditures. We may also use a portion
of the net proceeds to invest in or acquire complementary businesses,
products, services, technologies, or other assets. See the section titled “Use
of Proceeds” for additional information.

Voting rights

Shares of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share.
9
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Shares of Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes per share.
Holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock will
generally vote together as a single class, unless otherwise required by law or
our restated certificate of incorporation. Each share of our Class B common
stock will be convertible into one share of our Class A common stock at any
time and will convert automatically upon certain transfers and upon the
earlier of twelve years from the date of this prospectus or the date the
holders of a majority of our Class B common stock elect to convert the
Class B common stock to Class A common stock. The holders of our
outstanding Class B common stock will hold 98.3% of the voting power of
our outstanding capital stock following this offering, with our directors,
executive officers, and significant stockholders holding 51.9% in the
aggregate. These holders will have the ability to control the outcome of
matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of
our directors and the approval of any change in control transaction. See the
sections titled “Principal and Selling Stockholders” and “Description of
Capital Stock” for additional information.
New York Stock Exchange symbol

“FIT”

The number of shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based upon no shares of our Class A common
stock and 182,263,119 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015 (prior to the automatic conversion of shares of our Class B
common stock into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock upon their sale by the selling stockholders in this offering) and does not
include:
•
47,337,190 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock
outstanding as of March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.19 per share;
•
3,016,108 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock granted
after March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $13.33 per share, based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00
per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus (which number of shares and weighted-average
exercise price includes an option to purchase 255,000 shares that will be granted on the date of this prospectus with an exercise price equal to the
initial public offering price);
•

291,630 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the vesting of restricted stock units, or RSUs, outstanding as of March 31, 2015;

•

212,153 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs granted after March 31, 2015;

•

1,954,992 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock outstanding as of
March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price
10
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of $0.59 per share (including 107,051 shares of our Class B common stock issued upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 110,029 shares of
Class B common stock and the automatic conversion of those shares into Class A common stock upon their sale in this offering at an assumed
initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus); and
•

12,688,879 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans, consisting of:


8,938,879 shares of Class B common stock reserved for future issuance under our Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan, as amended,
or 2007 Plan, as of March 31, 2015 (which reserve does not reflect the options to purchase shares of Class B common stock or RSUs
granted after March 31, 2015); and



3,750,000 shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or 2015 ESPP,
which will become effective on the date of this prospectus.

Any remaining shares available for issuance under our 2007 Plan will become reserved for future issuance as Class A common stock under our 2015
Equity Incentive Plan, or 2015 Plan, which will become effective on the date immediately prior to the date of this prospectus, and we will cease granting
awards under the 2007 Plan. Our 2015 Plan and 2015 ESPP also provide for automatic annual increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder. See the
section titled “Executive Compensation—Employee Benefit Plans” for additional information.
Except as otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes:
•
the amendment to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation in May 2015 to redesignate our outstanding common stock as Class B
common stock and create a new class of Class A common stock to be offered and sold in this offering and to effect a 3-for-2 split of our capital
stock, including a corresponding increase in the authorized shares of our capital stock, and all share, option, RSU, warrant, and per share
information in this prospectus has been adjusted to reflect the split on a retroactive basis;
•
the conversion of all shares of our convertible preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015 into an aggregate of 139,851,483 shares of our
Class B common stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering;
•

the conversion of all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of convertible preferred stock into warrants to purchase the same number of shares
of Class B common stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering (excluding any warrants that are net exercised in connection with
this offering);

•

the automatic conversion of 7,462,500 shares of our Class B common stock (including the shares that are issued upon the net exercise of warrants
to purchase shares of our Class B common stock and sold in this offering) into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock upon
their sale by the selling stockholders in this offering;
no exercise or settlement of outstanding stock options, RSUs, or warrants, except for 107,051 shares of our Class B common stock issued upon the
net exercise of warrants to purchase 110,029 shares of Class B common stock and the automatic conversion of those shares into Class A common
stock upon their sale in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus;
the filing and effectiveness of our restated certificate of incorporation and the effectiveness of our restated bylaws, each of which will occur
immediately prior to the completion of this offering; and
no exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to an additional 4,477,500 shares of our Class A common stock from the selling
stockholders in this offering to cover over-allotments.

•

•
•
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA
The following tables summarize our consolidated financial and other data. We derived the summary consolidated statements of operations data for 2012,
2013, and 2014 from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. We derived the summary consolidated statements of
operations data for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 and the summary consolidated balance sheet data as of March 31, 2015 from our
unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. We have prepared the unaudited consolidated financial statements on the
same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and have included, in our opinion, all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments
that we consider necessary for a fair statement of the financial information set forth in those statements. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of
the results that may be expected in the future. You should read this data together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing
elsewhere in this prospectus.
As of or For the Three
As of or For the Year Ended
Months Ended
December 31,
March 31,
(1)
(1)
(1)
2012
2013
2014
2014
2015 (1)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data :
Revenue
Cost of revenue (2)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development (2)
Sales and marketing (2)
General and administrative (2)
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest and other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders (3) :
Basic
Diluted
Pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders (3) :
Basic
Diluted
Other Data :
Devices sold (4)
Active users (5)
Adjusted EBITDA (6)

$ 76,373
49,733
26,640

$ 271,087
210,836
60,251

$ 745,433
387,776
357,657

$ 108,815
64,046
44,769

$ 336,754
167,545
169,209

16,210
10,237
3,968
30,415
(3,775)
(150)
(3,925)
291
$ (4,216)

27,873
26,847
14,485
69,205
(8,954)
(4,731)
(13,685)
37,937
$ (51,622)

54,167
112,005
33,556
199,728
157,929
(18,156)
139,773
7,996
$ 131,777

9,088
11,273
8,617
28,978
15,791
(1,628)
14,163
5,291
$ 8,872

22,426
43,867
12,981
79,274
89,935
(13,544)
76,391
28,394
$ 47,997

$ (0.11)
$ (0.11)

$
$

$
$

0.70
0.63

$
$

$
$

0.26
0.22

$
$

0.81
0.72

$
$

0.32
0.28

1,279
558
$ (2,401)
12

(1.32)
(1.32)

4,476
2,570
$ 79,049

10,904
6,700
$ 191,042

0.04
0.04

1,575
3,867
$ 42,028

3,866
9,517
$ 93,383
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(1)

In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional
information. The recall, which primarily affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014, had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014
Reduction of revenue
Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses (benefit)
Impact on income (loss) before income taxes
(2)

$

$

(4)
(5)
(6)

$

$

(in thousands)
(8,112)
$
11,339
(19,451)
3,389
(22,840)
$

(11,561)
10,602
(22,163)
2,876
(25,039)

$

—
(2,040)
2,040
(142)
2,182

$

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014
(in thousands)
$
15
$ 37
$
890
62
288
2,350
29
204
1,295
26
91
2,269
$ 132
$ 620
$ 6,804

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total
(3)

(30,607)
51,205
(81,812)
2,838
(84,650)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
$

$

59
92
63
100
314

$

$

446
1,879
1,307
1,271
4,903

See notes 2, 3, and 15 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for an explanation of the calculations of our net income (loss) per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted, and pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted.
See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Devices Sold” for more information.
We believe that the active user metric is an indicator of the size of our community, but currently we do not believe that it has a direct effect on our revenue and operating results since substantially all of
our revenue to date has been derived from sales of our connected health and fitness devices. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Key Business Metrics—Active Users” for more information, including limitations on the use of this metric.
Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP. See the section titled “Selected
Consolidated Financial and Other Data—Adjusted EBITDA” for information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss).
As of March 31, 2015
Actual

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data :
Cash and cash equivalents (4)
Working capital (4)
Total assets (4)
Total long-term debt (4)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
(1)

$237,849
174,813
669,349
159,611
26,132
67,814
115,239
141,906

Pro Forma (1)
(in thousands)

$ 237,849
174,813
669,349
159,611
—
—
115,239
235,852

Pro Forma
As Adjusted (2)(3)

$

548,613
485,577
980,113
159,611
—
—
115,239
546,616

The pro forma column reflects (a) the redesignation of our outstanding common stock as Class B common stock in May 2015, (b) the automatic conversion of all shares of our convertible preferred stock
outstanding as of March 31, 2015 into shares of our Class B common stock, (c) the automatic conversion of the convertible preferred stock warrants to Class B common stock warrants, and the resulting
remeasurement and assumed reclassification of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital, and (d) the filing and effectiveness of our restated certificate of
incorporation.
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(2)

(3)
(4)

The pro forma as adjusted column reflects the items described in footnote (1) and the receipt of $310.8 million in net proceeds from our sale of 22,387,500 shares of Class A common stock in this offering
at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth
on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease our pro forma as adjusted cash and cash equivalents, working capital, total assets, and total stockholders’ equity by $21.0 million, assuming
that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions.
The pro forma as adjusted information discussed above is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the actual public offering price and other terms of our initial public offering that will be determined
at pricing.
Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we repaid $160.0 million of our long-term debt from our cash and cash equivalents. As a result, the long-term debt that would have been classified as long-term debt, less
current portion, that was repaid was classified as long-term debt, current portion, on our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2015.
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RISK FACTORS
An investment in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together
with all of the other information in this prospectus, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before making a decision to invest in our Class A common stock. Our business, operating
results, financial condition, or prospects could be materially and adversely affected by any of these risks and uncertainties. If any of these risks actually occurs, the
trading price of our Class A common stock could decline and you might lose all or part of your investment. Our business, operating results, financial performance,
or prospects could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material.
Risks Related to Our Business
We operate in a highly competitive market. If we do not compete effectively, our prospects, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
The connected health and fitness devices market is highly competitive, with companies offering a variety of competitive products and services. We expect
competition in our market to intensify in the future as new and existing competitors introduce new or enhanced products and services that are potentially more
competitive than our products and services. The connected health and fitness devices market has a multitude of participants, including specialized consumer
electronics companies, such as Garmin, Jawbone, and Misfit, and traditional health and fitness companies, such as adidas and Under Armour. In addition, many
large, broad-based consumer electronics companies either compete in our market or adjacent markets or have announced plans to do so, including Apple, Google,
LG, Microsoft, and Samsung. For example, Apple has recently introduced the Apple Watch smartwatch, with broad-based functionalities, including some health and
fitness tracking capabilities. We also compete with a wide range of stand-alone health and fitness-related mobile apps that can be purchased or downloaded through
mobile app stores. We believe many of our competitors and potential competitors have significant competitive advantages, including longer operating histories,
ability to leverage their sales efforts and marketing expenditures across a broader portfolio of products and services, larger and broader customer bases, more
established relationships with a larger number of suppliers, contract manufacturers, and channel partners, greater brand recognition, ability to leverage app stores
which they may operate, and greater financial, research and development, marketing, distribution, and other resources than we do. Our competitors and potential
competitors may also be able to develop products or services that are equal or superior to ours, achieve greater market acceptance of their products and services, and
increase sales by utilizing different distribution channels than we do. Some of our competitors may aggressively discount their products and services in order to gain
market share, which could result in pricing pressures, reduced profit margins, lost market share, or a failure to grow market share for us. If we are not able to
compete effectively against our current or potential competitors, our prospects, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
If we are unable to anticipate and satisfy consumer preferences in a timely manner, our business may be adversely affected.
Our success depends on our ability to anticipate and satisfy consumer preferences in a timely manner. All of our products are subject to changing consumer
preferences that cannot be predicted with certainty. Consumers may decide not to purchase our products and services as their preferences could shift rapidly to
different types of connected health and fitness devices or away from these types of products and services altogether, and our future success depends in part on our
ability to anticipate and respond to shifts in consumer preferences. In addition, our newer products and services that have additional features, such as the Fitbit
Charge, Fitbit Charge HR, and Fitbit Surge, may have higher prices than many of our earlier products and the products of some of our competitors, which may not
appeal to consumers or only appeal to a smaller subset of consumers. It is also possible that competitors could introduce new products and services that negatively
impact consumer preference for our
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connected health and fitness devices, which could result in decreased sales of our products and services and a loss in market share. Accordingly, if we fail to
anticipate and satisfy consumer preferences in a timely manner, our business may be adversely affected.
If we are unable to successfully develop and timely introduce new products and services or enhance existing products and services, our business may be
adversely affected.
We must continually develop and introduce new products and services and improve and enhance our existing products and services to maintain or increase
our sales. The success of new or enhanced products and services may depend on a number of factors including, anticipating and effectively addressing consumer
preferences and demand, the success of our sales and marketing efforts, timely and successful research and development, effective forecasting and management of
product demand, purchase commitments, and inventory levels, effective management of manufacturing and supply costs, and the quality of or defects in our
products.
The development of our products and services is complex and costly, and we typically have several products and services in development at the same time.
Given the complexity, we occasionally have experienced, and could experience in the future, delays in completing the development and introduction of new and
enhanced products and services. Problems in the design or quality of our products or services may also have an adverse effect on our brand, business, financial
condition, and operating results. Unanticipated problems in developing products and services could also divert substantial research and development resources,
which may impair our ability to develop new products and services and enhancements of existing products and services, and could substantially increase our costs. If
new or enhanced product and service introductions are delayed or not successful, we may not be able to achieve an acceptable return, if any, on our research and
development efforts, and our business may be adversely affected.
Our operating results could be materially harmed if we are unable to accurately forecast consumer demand for our products and services and adequately
manage our inventory.
To ensure adequate inventory supply, we must forecast inventory needs and expenses and place orders sufficiently in advance with our suppliers and contract
manufacturers based on our estimates of future demand for particular products. Our ability to accurately forecast demand for our products and services could be
affected by many factors, including an increase or decrease in customer demand for our products and services or for products and services of our competitors,
product and service introductions by competitors, unanticipated changes in general market conditions, and the weakening of economic conditions or consumer
confidence in future economic conditions. Due to the recent rapid growth in demand for our connected health and fitness devices, and particularly in connection with
new product introductions, we face challenges acquiring adequate and timely supplies of our products to satisfy the levels of demand, which we believe negatively
affects our revenue. This risk may be exacerbated by the fact that we may not carry a significant amount of inventory, either directly or with our contract
manufacturers or logistics providers to satisfy short-term demand increases. If we fail to accurately forecast customer demand, we may experience excess inventory
levels or a shortage of products available for sale.
Inventory levels in excess of customer demand may result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of excess inventory at discounted prices, which
would cause our gross margin to suffer and could impair the strength of our brand. Conversely, if we underestimate customer demand for our products and services,
our contract manufacturers may not be able to deliver products to meet our requirements, and this could result in damage to our brand and customer relationships and
adversely affect our revenue and operating results.
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Our quarterly operating results or other operating metrics may fluctuate significantly, which could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to
decline.
Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter. We expect that
this trend will continue as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including:
•

the level of demand for our connected health and fitness devices and our ability to maintain or increase the size and engagement of our community of
users;

•
•

the timing and success of new product and service introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive landscape of our
market;
the mix of products sold in a quarter;

•

the continued market acceptance of, and the growth of the market for, connected health and fitness devices;

•

pricing pressure as a result of competition or otherwise;

•

delays or disruptions in our supply, manufacturing, or distribution chain;

•

errors in our forecasting of the demand for our products, which could lead to lower revenue or increased costs, or both;

•

seasonal buying patterns of consumers;

•

increases in and timing of sales and marketing and other operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain
competitive;

•

insolvency, credit, or other difficulties faced by our distributors and retailers, affecting their ability to purchase or pay for our products;

•
•

insolvency, credit, or other difficulties confronting our suppliers, contract manufacturers, or logistics providers leading to disruptions in our supply or
distribution chain;
levels of product returns, stock rotation, and price protection rights;

•

adverse litigation judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs;

•

changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, such as with respect to privacy, information security, health and wellness devices, consumer
product safety, and advertising;

•

product recalls, regulatory proceedings, or other adverse publicity about our products;

•

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates;

•

costs related to the acquisition of businesses, talent, technologies, or intellectual property, including potentially significant amortization costs and
possible write-downs; and
general economic conditions in either domestic or international markets.

•

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our operating results.
The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly operating results or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our expectations or those of
any analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other operating results for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for
these or any other reasons, the market price of our Class A common stock could fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action
suits.
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We rely on a limited number of suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers, and each of our products is manufactured by a single contract
manufacturer.
We rely on a limited number of suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers. In particular, we use contract manufacturers located in Asia, and
each of our products is manufactured by a single contract manufacturer. Flextronics is our primary contract manufacturer and is currently the sole manufacturer of
the majority of our devices. Our reliance on sole contract manufacturers for each of our products increases our risks since we do not currently have any alternative or
replacement manufacturers. In the event of an interruption from a contract manufacturer, we may not be able to develop alternate or secondary sources without
incurring material additional costs and substantial delays. Furthermore, these risks could materially and adversely affect our business if one of our contract
manufacturers is impacted by a natural disaster or other interruption at a particular location because each of our contract manufacturers produces our products from a
single location. In addition, some of our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers may have more established relationships with our competitors and
potential competitors, and as a result of such relationships, such suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers may choose to limit or terminate their
relationship with us.
If we experience significantly increased demand, or if we need to replace an existing supplier, contract manufacturer, or logistics provider, we may be unable
to supplement or replace such supply, contract manufacturing, or logistics capacity on terms that are acceptable to us, which may undermine our ability to deliver our
products to customers in a timely manner. For example, for certain of our products, it may take a significant amount of time to identify a contract manufacturer that
has the capability and resources to build the product to our specifications in sufficient volume. Identifying suitable suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics
providers is an extensive process that requires us to become satisfied with their quality control, technical capabilities, responsiveness and service, financial stability,
regulatory compliance, and labor and other ethical practices. Accordingly, a loss of any key supplier, contract manufacturer, or logistics provider could adversely
impact our revenue and operating results.
We have limited control over our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers, which subjects us to significant risks, including the potential
inability to obtain or produce quality products on a timely basis or in sufficient quantity.
We have limited control over our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers, including aspects of their specific manufacturing processes and
their labor, environmental, or other practices, which subjects us to significant risks, including the following:
•
inability to satisfy demand for our products;
•

reduced control over delivery timing and product reliability;

•

reduced ability to oversee the manufacturing process and components used in our products;

•

reduced ability to monitor compliance with our product manufacturing specifications;

•

reduced ability to develop comprehensive manufacturing specifications that take into account materials shortages, materials substitutions, and variance
in the manufacturing capabilities of our third-party contract manufacturers;

•

price increases;

•

the failure of a key supplier, contract manufacturer, or logistics provider to perform its obligations to us for technical, market, or other reasons;

•

difficulties in establishing additional contract manufacturing relationships if we experience difficulties with our existing contract manufacturers;

•

shortages of materials or components;

•

misappropriation of our intellectual property;
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•
•

exposure to natural catastrophes, political unrest, terrorism, labor disputes, and economic instability resulting in the disruption of trade from foreign
countries in which our products are manufactured;
changes in local economic conditions in countries where our suppliers, contract manufacturers, or logistics providers are located;

•

the imposition of new laws and regulations, including those relating to labor conditions, quality and safety standards, imports, duties, taxes, and other
charges on imports, as well as trade restrictions and restrictions on currency exchange or the transfer of funds; and

•

insufficient warranties and indemnities on components supplied to our contract manufacturers.

If there are defects in the manufacture of our products by our contract manufacturers, we may face negative publicity, government investigations, and
litigation and we may not be fully compensated by our contract manufacturers for any financial or other liability that we suffer as a result.
Because many of the key components in our products come from limited or sole sources of supply, we are susceptible to supply shortages, long lead times for
components, and supply changes, any of which could disrupt our supply chain.
Many of the key components used to manufacture our products come from limited or sole sources of supply. Our contract manufacturers generally purchase
these components on our behalf, subject to certain approved supplier lists, and we do not have any long-term arrangements with our suppliers. We are therefore
subject to the risk of shortages and long lead times in the supply of these components and the risk that our suppliers discontinue or modify components used in our
products. In addition, the lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in quantities and delivery schedules. We have in the
past experienced and may in the future experience component shortages, and the predictability of the availability of these components may be limited. While
component shortages have historically been immaterial, they could be material in the future. In the event of a component shortage or supply interruption from
suppliers of these components, we may not be able to develop alternate sources in a timely manner. Developing alternate sources of supply for these components
may be time-consuming, difficult, and costly and we may not be able to source these components on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, which may undermine
our ability to meet our requirements or to fill our orders in a timely manner. Any interruption or delay in the supply of any of these parts or components, or the
inability to obtain these parts or components from alternate sources at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of time, would harm our ability to meet our
scheduled product deliveries to our customers and users. This could harm our relationships with our channel partners and users and could cause delays in shipment
of our products and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, increased component costs could result in lower gross margins. If we are unable to buy these
components in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver products and services to our customers and users.
The market for connected health and fitness devices is still in the early stages of growth and if it does not continue to grow, grows more slowly than we expect, or
fails to grow as large as we expect, our business and operating results would be harmed.
The market for connected health and fitness devices is relatively new and unproven, and it is uncertain whether connected health and fitness devices will
sustain high levels of demand and wide market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the willingness of people to widely adopt these
products and services. In part, adoption of our products and services will depend on the increasing prevalence of connected health and fitness devices as well as new
entrants to the connected health and fitness device market to raise the profile of both the market as a whole and our own platform. Our connected health and fitness
devices have largely been used to measure and track activities such as walking, running, and sleeping. However, they have not been as widely adopted for other
sports, exercise, and activities such as cycling, skiing, and swimming for which other niche products are more often used. Furthermore, some individuals may be
reluctant or unwilling to use
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connected health and fitness devices because they have concerns regarding the risks associated with data privacy and security. If the wider public does not perceive
the benefits of our connected health and fitness devices or chooses not to adopt them as a result of concerns regarding privacy or data security or for other reasons,
then the market for these products and services may not further develop, it may develop more slowly than we expect, or it may not achieve the growth potential we
expect it to, any of which would adversely affect our operating results. The development and growth of this relatively new market may also prove to be a short-term
trend.
An economic downturn or economic uncertainty may adversely affect consumer discretionary spending and demand for our products and services.
Our products and services may be considered discretionary items for consumers. Factors affecting the level of consumer spending for such discretionary items
include general economic conditions, and other factors, such as consumer confidence in future economic conditions, fears of recession, the availability and cost of
consumer credit, levels of unemployment, and tax rates. As global economic conditions continue to be volatile or economic uncertainty remains, trends in consumer
discretionary spending also remain unpredictable and subject to reductions. Unfavorable economic conditions may lead consumers to delay or reduce purchases of
our products and services and consumer demand for our products and services may not grow as we expect. Our sensitivity to economic cycles and any related
fluctuation in consumer demand for our products and services may have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.
Our current and future products and services may experience quality problems from time to time that can result in adverse publicity, product recalls, litigation,
regulatory proceedings, and warranty claims resulting in significant direct or indirect costs, decreased revenue and operating margin, and harm to our brand.
We sell complex products and services that could contain design and manufacturing defects in their materials, hardware, and firmware. These defects could
include defective materials or components, or “bugs” that can unexpectedly interfere with the products’ intended operations or cause injuries to users. Although we
extensively and rigorously test new and enhanced products and services before their release, there can be no assurance we will be able to detect, prevent, or fix all
defects.
Failure to detect, prevent, or fix defects could result in a variety of consequences including greater number of returns of products than expected from users and
retailers, regulatory proceedings, product recalls, and litigation, which could harm our revenue and operating results. We generally provide a 45-day right of return
for purchases through Fitbit.com and a 12-month warranty on all of our products, except in the European Union, where we provide a two-year warranty on all of our
products. The occurrence of real or perceived quality problems or material defects in our current and future products could expose us to warranty claims in excess of
our current reserves. As of December 31, 2014, our reserves for warranty claims were $20.1 million, or 3% of our revenue for 2014. Moreover, we offer limited
stock rotation rights and price protection to our distributors. If we experience greater returns from retailers or users in excess of our reserves, our business and
operating results could be harmed. In addition, any negative publicity or lawsuits filed against us related to the perceived quality and safety of our products could
also affect our brand and decrease demand for our products and services, and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
Furthermore, our products are used to track and display various information about users’ activities, such as daily steps taken, calories burned, distance
traveled, floors climbed, active minutes, sleep duration and quality, and heart rate and GPS-based information such as speed, distance, and exercise routes. In the
past, there have been reports and claims made against us alleging that our products do not provide accurate measurements and data to users, including claims
asserting that certain features of our products do not operate as advertised. Such reports and claims have resulted in negative publicity, and, in some cases, have
required us to expend time and resources to defend litigation. If our products fail to provide accurate measurements and data to users, or if there are reports or claims
of inaccurate measurements or claims regarding the overall health benefits of our products and services in the future, we may become the subject of negative
publicity, litigation, including class action litigation, regulatory proceedings, and warranty claims, and our brand, operating results, and business could be harmed.
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We recalled the Fitbit Force in March 2014. The recall has exposed us to CPSC regulatory proceedings and extensive litigation in various jurisdictions,
including multi-jurisdiction complex federal and state class action and personal injury claims, which required significant management attention and disrupted
our business operations, and adversely affected our financial condition, operating results, and our brand.
In March 2014, we recalled one of our products, the Fitbit Force, after some of our users experienced allergic reactions to adhesives in the wristband. These
reactions included skin irritation, rashes, and blistering. The recall had a negative impact on our operating results, primarily in our fourth quarter of 2013 and the first
quarter of 2014. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for
additional information regarding the financial impact of the recall on our historical operating results. We have provided and are continuing to provide full refunds to
consumers who return the Fitbit Force. Users may also exchange their Fitbit Force for a Fitbit Charge. If returns of the Fitbit Force or other costs related to the recall
are higher than anticipated, we will be required to increase our reserves related to the recall which would negatively impact our operating results in the future.
The recall is being conducted in conjunction with the CPSC, which has been monitoring recall effectiveness and compliance. In addition to the financial
impacts discussed elsewhere in this prospectus, this recall requires us to provide a significant amount of information to the CPSC and to continue to provide reports
on an ongoing basis, which takes significant time and internal and external resources. Because the Fitbit Force was primarily sold in the United States, we have not
had inquiries from any similar foreign regulatory agencies.
A large number of lawsuits, including multi-jurisdiction complex federal and state class action and personal injury claims, were filed against us relating to the
Fitbit Force. We have also had several consumers bring personal injury lawsuits relating to our Fitbit Flex, Fitbit Charge HR, and Fitbit Surge products. These
litigation matters have required significant attention of our management and resources and disrupted the ordinary course of our business operations. While we have
settled all of the class action lawsuits, a number of personal injury claims remain outstanding. While we do not believe that these on-going legal proceedings relating
to the Fitbit Force, Fitbit Flex, Fitbit Charge HR, or Fitbit Surge are material, due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate
outcome of any such proceedings and these actions or other third-party claims against us will result in the diversion of management time and attention from other
aspects of our business and may cause us to incur substantial litigation or settlement costs.
In addition, the CPSC conducted an investigation into the Fitbit Flex and, although it did not find a substantial product hazard in the Fitbit Flex, there can be
no assurances that product hazards or other defects will not be found in the future with respect to the Fitbit Flex or our other products. The Fitbit Force product
recall, regulatory proceedings, and litigation have had and may continue to have, and any future recalls, regulatory proceedings, and litigation could have an adverse
impact on our financial condition, operating results, and brand. Furthermore, because of the global nature of our product sales, in the event we experience defects
with respect to products sold outside the United States, we could become subject to recalls, regulatory proceedings, and litigation by foreign governmental agencies
and private litigants, which could significantly increase the costs of managing any product issues. Any ongoing and future regulatory proceedings or litigation,
regardless of their merits, could further divert management’s attention from our operations and result in substantial legal fees and other costs.
There have been recent reports that some users of the Fitbit Charge, Fitbit Charge HR, and Fitbit Surge have experienced skin irritations, which could result in
additional negative publicity or otherwise harm our business. In addition, a small number of users have recently filed personal injury lawsuits against us
relating to the Fitbit Charge HR and Fitbit Surge products, which could divert management’s attention from our operations and result in substantial legal fees
and other costs.
Due to the nature of some of our wearable devices, some users have had in the past and may in the future experience skin irritations or other biocompatibility
issues not uncommon with jewelry or other wearable products that stay in contact with skin for extended periods of time. Recently, there have been news reports of
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some users of Fitbit Charge, Fitbit Charge HR, and Fitbit Surge experiencing skin irritations. This negative publicity could harm sales of our products and also
adversely affect our relationships with retailers that sell our products, including causing them to be reluctant to continue to sell our products. In addition, a small
number of users have recently filed personal injury lawsuits against us relating to the Fitbit Charge HR and Fitbit Surge products. While we do not believe that these
lawsuits are material, due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any proceedings arising from such claims,
and these actions or other third-party claims against us may result in the diversion of our management’s time and attention from other aspects of our business and
may cause us to incur substantial litigation or settlement costs. If large numbers of users experience these problems, we could be subject to inquiries or regulatory
proceedings from the CPSC or other U.S. or foreign regulatory agencies and face additional personal injury or class action litigation, any of which could have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Any material disruption or breach of our information technology systems, such as the five-hour outage we experienced during the peak holiday season in
December 2014, or those of third-party partners could materially damage user and business partner relationships, and subject us to significant reputational,
financial, legal, and operational consequences.
We depend on our information technology systems, as well as those of third parties, to develop new products and services, operate our website, host and
manage our services, store data, process transactions, respond to user inquiries, and manage inventory and our supply chain. Any material disruption or slowdown of
our systems or those of third parties whom we depend upon, including a disruption or slowdown caused by our failure to successfully manage significant increases
in user volume or successfully upgrade our or their systems, system failures, viruses, security breaches, or other causes, could cause information, including data
related to orders, to be lost or delayed which could—especially if the disruption or slowdown occurred during the holiday season—result in delays in the delivery of
products to stores and users or lost sales, which could reduce demand for our merchandise, harm our brand and reputation, and cause our revenue to decline. For
example, during the peak holiday season in December 2014, we suffered an approximately five-hour outage of our information systems due to high levels of
platform usage, which rendered us unable to process and support new users signing onto our platform during that time. If changes in technology cause our
information systems, or those of third parties whom we depend upon, to become obsolete, or if our or their information systems are inadequate to handle our growth,
we could lose users and our business and operating results could be adversely affected.
We collect, store, process, and use personal information and other customer data, which subjects us to governmental regulation and other legal obligations
related to privacy, information security, and data protection, and our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business.
We collect, store, process, and use personal information and other user data, and we rely on third parties that are not directly under our control to do so as
well. Our users’ health and fitness-related data and other highly personal information may include, among other information, names, addresses, phone numbers,
email addresses, payment account information, height, weight, and biometric information such as heart rates, sleeping patterns, GPS-based location, and activity
patterns. Due to the volume and sensitivity of the personal information and data we manage and the nature of our products, the security features of our platform and
information systems are critical. If our security measures, some of which are managed by third parties, are breached or fail, unauthorized persons may be able to
obtain access to sensitive user data. If we or our third-party service providers, business partners, or third-party apps with which our users choose to share their Fitbit
data were to experience a breach of systems compromising our users’ sensitive data, our brand and reputation could be adversely affected, use of our products and
services could decrease, and we could be exposed to a risk of loss, litigation, and regulatory proceedings. Depending on the nature of the information compromised,
in the event of a data breach or other unauthorized access to our user data, we may also have obligations to notify users about the incident and we may need to
provide some form of remedy, such as a subscription to a credit monitoring service, for the individuals affected by the incident. A growing number of legislative and
regulatory bodies have adopted consumer notification requirements in the event of unauthorized access to or acquisition of certain types of personal data. Such
breach notification laws
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continue to evolve and may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another. Complying with these obligations could cause us to incur substantial costs and could
increase negative publicity surrounding any incident that compromises user data. Our users may also accidentally disclose or lose control of their passwords, creating
the perception that our systems are not secure against third-party access. Additionally, if third parties we work with, such as vendors or developers, violate applicable
laws, agreements, or our policies, such violations may also put our users’ information at risk and could in turn have an adverse effect on our business. While we
maintain insurance coverage that, subject to policy terms and conditions and a significant self-insured retention, is designed to address certain aspects of cyber risks,
such insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all losses or all types of claims that may arise in the continually evolving area of cyber risk.
Our success depends on our ability to maintain our brand. If events occur that damage our brand, our business and financial results may be harmed.
Our success depends on our ability to maintain the value of the “Fitbit” brand. The “Fitbit” name is integral to our business as well as to the implementation of
our strategies for expanding our business. Maintaining, promoting, and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our marketing and merchandising
efforts, our ability to provide consistent, high quality products and services, and our ability to successfully secure, maintain, and defend our rights to use the “Fitbit”
and other trademarks important to our brand. Our brand could be harmed if we fail to achieve these objectives or if our public image or brand were to be tarnished by
negative publicity. For example, there has been recent media coverage of some of the users of our products reporting skin irritation, as well as recent personal injury
lawsuits filed against us relating to the Fitbit Charge HR and Fitbit Surge products. We also believe that our reputation and brand may be harmed if we fail to
maintain a consistently high level of customer service. Maintaining, protecting, and enhancing our brand may require us to make substantial investments, and these
investments may not be successful. If we fail to successfully maintain, promote, and position our brand and protect our reputation or if we incur significant expenses
in this effort, our business, financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected.
The failure to effectively manage the introduction of new or enhanced products may adversely affect our operating results.
We must successfully manage introductions of new or enhanced products. Introductions of new or enhanced products could adversely impact the sales of our
existing products to retailers and consumers. For instance, retailers often purchase less of our existing products in advance of new product launches. Moreover,
consumers may decide to purchase new or enhanced products instead of existing products. This could lead to excess inventory and discounting of our existing
products. In addition, we have historically incurred higher levels of sales and marketing expenses accompanying each product introduction. Accordingly, if we fail to
effectively manage introductions of new or enhanced products, our operating results would be harmed.
We depend on retailers and distributors to sell and market our products, and our failure to maintain and further develop our sales channels could harm our
business.
We primarily sell our products through retailers and distributors and depend on these third-parties to sell and market our products to consumers. Any changes
to our current mix of retailers and distributors could adversely affect our gross margin and could negatively affect both our brand image and our reputation. Our sales
depend, in part, on retailers adequately displaying our products, including providing attractive space and point of purchase, or POP, displays in their stores, and
training their sales personnel to sell our products. If our retailers and distributors are not successful in selling our products, our revenue would decrease and we could
experience lower gross margin due to product returns or price protection claims. Our retailers also often offer products and services of our competitors in their stores.
In addition, our success in expanding and entering into new markets internationally will depend on our ability to establish relationships with new retailers and
distributors. We also sell and will need to continue to expand our sales through online retailers, such as Amazon.com. If we do not maintain our relationship with
existing retailers and distributors or develop relationships with new retailers and distributors our ability to sell our products and services could be adversely affected
and our business may be harmed.
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In 2014 and for the three months ended March 31, 2015, our five largest retailers and distributors accounted for approximately 49% and 54% of our revenue,
respectively. Of these retailers and distributors, Wynit Distribution, Best Buy, and Amazon.com accounted for approximately 13%, 12%, and 11% of our revenue for
2014, respectively, and approximately 19%, 10%, and 11% of our revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2015, respectively. Accordingly, the loss of a small
number of our large retailers and distributors, or the reduction in business with one or more of these retailers and distributors, could have a significant adverse impact
on our operating results. While we have agreements with these large retailers and distributors, these agreements do not require them to purchase any meaningful
amount of our products.
Consolidation of retailers or concentration of retail market share among a few retailers may increase and concentrate our credit risk and impair our ability to
sell products.
The wearable, fitness, and electronics retail markets in some countries are dominated by a few large retailers with many stores. These retailers have in the past
increased their market share and may continue to do so in the future by expanding through acquisitions and construction of additional stores. These situations
concentrate our credit risk with a relatively small number of retailers, and, if any of these retailers were to experience a shortage of liquidity, it would increase the
risk that their outstanding payables to us may not be paid. In addition, increasing market share concentration among one or a few retailers in a particular country or
region increases the risk that if any one of them substantially reduces their purchases of our connected health and fitness devices, we may be unable to find a
sufficient number of other retail outlets for our products to sustain the same level of sales. Any reduction in sales by our retailers would adversely affect our revenue,
operating results, and financial condition.
The insolvency, credit problems, or other financial difficulties confronting our retailers and distributors could expose us to financial risk.
Some of our retailers and distributors have experienced financial difficulties in the past. The insolvency, credit problems, or other financial difficulties
confronting our retailers and distributors could expose us to financial risk. Financial difficulties of our retailers and distributors could impede their effectiveness and
also expose us to risks if they are unable to pay for the products they purchase from us. The difficulties of retailers and distributors may also lead to price cuts of our
products and adverse effects on our brand and operating results. Any reduction in sales by our current retailers or distributors, loss of large resellers or distributors,
or decrease in revenue from our retailers or distributors could adversely affect our revenue, operating results, and financial condition.
We have recently begun to spend significant amounts on advertising and other marketing campaigns to acquire new users, which may not be successful or costeffective.
We have recently begun to spend significant amounts on advertising and other marketing campaigns, such as television, cinema, print advertising, and social
media, as well as increased promotional activities, to acquire new users and we expect our marketing expenses to increase in the future as we continue to spend
significant amounts to acquire new users and increase awareness of our products and services. In 2014 and for the three months ended March 31, 2015, advertising
expenses were $71.9 million and $21.1 million, respectively, representing approximately 10% and 6% of our revenue, respectively. While we seek to structure our
advertising campaigns in the manner that we believe is most likely to encourage people to use our products and services, we may fail to identify advertising
opportunities that satisfy our anticipated return on advertising spend as we scale our investments in marketing, accurately predict user acquisition, or fully
understand or estimate the conditions and behaviors that drive user behavior. If for any reason any of our advertising campaigns prove less successful than
anticipated in attracting new users, we may not be able to recover our advertising spend, and our rate of user acquisition may fail to meet market expectations, either
of which could have an adverse effect on our business. There can be no assurance that our advertising and other marketing efforts will result in increased sales of our
products and services.
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If we continue to grow at a rapid pace, we may not be able to effectively manage our growth and the increased complexity of our business, which could
negatively impact our brand and financial performance.
We were founded in 2007 and have expanded our operations rapidly since our inception. Our employee headcount and the scope and complexity of our
business have increased significantly, with the number of employees increasing from 222 as of December 31, 2013 to 579 as of March 31, 2015, and we expect
headcount growth to continue for the foreseeable future. If our operations continue to grow at a rapid pace, we may experience difficulties in obtaining components
for our products in quantities sufficient to meet market demand, as well as delays in production and shipments, as our products are subject to risks associated with
third-party sourcing and manufacturing. We could be required to continue to expand our sales and marketing, product development, and distribution functions, to
upgrade our management information systems and other processes and technology, and to obtain more space for our expanding workforce. This expansion could
increase the strain on our resources, and we could experience serious operating difficulties, including difficulties in hiring, training, and managing an increasing
number of employees. If we do not adapt to meet these evolving challenges, and if the current and future members of our management team do not effectively scale
with our growth, we may experience erosion to our brand, the quality of our products and services may suffer, and our corporate culture may be harmed.
Because we have only a limited history operating our business at its current scale, it is difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects, including
our ability to plan for and model future growth. Our limited operating experience at this scale, combined with the rapidly evolving nature of the market in which we
sell our products and services, substantial uncertainty concerning how these markets may develop, and other economic factors beyond our control, reduces our
ability to accurately forecast quarterly or annual revenue. As such, any predictions about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if
we had a longer operating history or operated in a more developed and predictable market. Failure to manage our future growth effectively could have an adverse
effect on our business, which, in turn, could have an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.
We may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate or profitability in the future.
Our recent revenue growth should not be considered indicative of our future performance. As we grow our business, we expect our revenue growth rates to
slow in future periods due to a number of reasons, which may include slowing demand for our products and services, increasing competition, a decrease in the
growth of our overall market, our failure, for any reason, to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities, or the maturation of our business.
While we achieved profitability in 2014, we have not consistently achieved profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. We expect expenses to increase
substantially in the near term, particularly as we make significant investments in our research and development and sales and marketing organizations, expand our
operations and infrastructure both domestically and internationally, develop new products and services, and enhance our existing products and services. In addition,
in connection with operating as a public company, we will incur additional significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private
company. If our revenue does not increase to offset these increases in our operating expenses, we may not be profitable in future periods.
Our active user metric tracks the number of users who have an active subscription to our services, who paired a tracker or scale to an account, or who logged at
least 100 steps or took a weight measurement within three months of the measurement date. Accordingly, our active user metric only represents the potential size
and growth of our engaged user community, and you should not rely on this metric as an indicator of continual user engagement on our platform.
We do not currently or regularly track, calculate, and use in order to manage our business, metrics regarding churn or retention rates of our individual users or
the number of individual users that become inactive during any given period. Accordingly, this metric does not provide information regarding the individual users
that have
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become inactive on our platform or how frequently they engage with our platform during any particular three month period. This metric also does not take into
account the extent to which inactive users are offset by new active users or how long a user remains active. Given the recent rapid growth of the number of users on
our platform, it may be difficult to discern whether the growth in active users is the result of retaining existing users or adding new users onto our platform. This
metric only represents the potential size or growth of our community and is not necessarily an indicator of the actual size and growth of our user community.
Therefore, you should not rely on our active user metric as an indicator of the level of retention of individual users or of continual user engagement, nor the potential
size and growth of our user community as an indicator for other revenue opportunities, such as subscription-based premium services and our corporate wellness
offerings. See the section titled, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Active Users”
for additional information.
To date, we have derived substantially all of our revenue from sales of our connected health and fitness devices, and sales of our subscription-based premium
services have historically accounted for less than 1% of our revenue.
To date, substantially all of our revenue has been derived from sales of our connected health and fitness devices, and we expect to continue to derive the
substantial majority of our revenue from sales of these devices for the foreseeable future. In each of 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014
and 2015, we derived less than 1% of our revenue from sales of our subscription-based premium services. However, in the future we expect to increase sales of
subscriptions to these services. Our inability to successfully sell and market our premium services could deprive us of a potentially significant source of revenue in
the future. In addition, sales of our premium services may lead to additional sales of our connected health and fitness devices and user engagement with our
platform. As a result, our future growth and financial performance may depend, in part, on our ability to sell more subscriptions to our premium services.
Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. and foreign laws and regulations that are continuously evolving, including those related to privacy, data security, and
data protection due to our collection, processing, and use of personal information and other user data, such as the U.S.-E.U. Safe Harbor Framework, which
covers the transfer of personal data from the European Union to the United States.
We are or may become subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve matters central to our business, including laws
and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, data security, data retention, consumer protection, advertising, electronic commerce, intellectual property,
manufacturing, anti-bribery and anti-corruption, and economic or other trade prohibitions or sanctions. These laws and regulations are continuously evolving and
developing. The scope and interpretation of the laws that are or may be applicable to us are often uncertain and may be conflicting, particularly with respect to
foreign laws.
In particular, there are numerous U.S. federal, state, and local laws and regulations and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy and the collection,
sharing, use, processing, disclosure, and protection of personal information and other user data, the scope of which is changing, subject to differing interpretations,
and may be inconsistent among different jurisdictions. We strive to comply with all applicable laws, policies, legal obligations, and industry codes of conduct
relating to privacy, data security, and data protection. However, given that the scope, interpretation, and application of these laws and regulations are often uncertain
and may be conflicting, it is possible that these obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may
conflict with other rules or our practices. Any failure or perceived failure to comply with our privacy or security policies or privacy-related legal obligations by us or
third-party service-providers or the failure or perceived failure by third-party apps, with which our users choose to share their Fitbit data, to comply with their
privacy policies or privacy-related legal obligations as they relate to the Fitbit data shared with them, or any compromise of security that results in the unauthorized
release or transfer of personally identifiable information or other user data, may result in governmental enforcement actions, litigation, or negative publicity, and
could have an adverse effect on our brand and operating results.
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We have certified that we comply with the U.S.-E.U. Safe Harbor Framework as developed by the U.S. Department of Commerce, which provides a method
for U.S. companies operating within the European Union to transfer personal data from citizens of E.U. member countries outside the European Union in a way that
is consistent with the E.U. Data Protection Directive. If we fail to comply with such framework, we could face legal liability, including fines, negative publicity, and
resulting loss of business. In addition, it is possible that the Safe Harbor Framework will be modified or eliminated in the future. If this occurs, we will need to
implement alternative methods to comply with E.U. restrictions on the cross-border transfer of personal information.
Governments are continuing to focus on privacy and data security and it is possible that new privacy or data security laws will be passed or existing laws will
be amended in a way that is material to our business. Any significant change to applicable laws, regulations, or industry practices regarding our users’ data could
require us to modify our services and features, possibly in a material manner, and may limit our ability to develop new products, services, and features. For example,
changes in applicable laws and regulations may result in the user data we collect being deemed protected health information, or PHI, under the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, and the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act. If that were to occur, we would be
subject to additional regulation and oversight, any of which could significantly increase our operating costs.
The labeling, distribution, importation, marketing, and sale of our products are subject to extensive regulation by various U.S. state and federal and foreign
agencies, including the CPSC, Federal Trade Commission, Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, Federal Communications Commission, and state attorneys
general, as well as by various other federal, state, provincial, local, and international regulatory authorities in the countries in which our products and services are
distributed or sold. If we fail to comply with any of these regulations, we could become subject to enforcement actions or the imposition of significant monetary
fines, other penalties, or claims, which could harm our operating results or our ability to conduct our business.
The global nature of our business operations also create various domestic and foreign regulatory challenges and subject us to laws and regulations such as the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictions, and our products are also
subject to U.S. export controls, including the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Export Administration Regulations and various economic and trade sanctions
regulations established by the Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls. If we become liable under these laws or regulations, we may be forced to
implement new measures to reduce our exposure to this liability. This may require us to expend substantial resources or to discontinue certain products or services,
which would negatively affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. In addition, the increased attention focused upon liability issues as a result of
lawsuits, regulatory proceedings, and legislative proposals could harm our brand or otherwise impact the growth of our business. Any costs incurred as a result of
compliance or other liabilities under these laws or regulations could harm our business and operating results.
Our operating margins may decline as a result of increasing product costs.
Our business is subject to significant pressure on pricing and costs caused by many factors, including intense competition, the cost of components used in our
products, labor costs, constrained sourcing capacity, inflationary pressure, pressure from users to reduce the prices we charge for our products and services, and
changes in consumer demand. Costs for the raw materials used in the manufacture of our products are affected by, among other things, energy prices, consumer
demand, fluctuations in commodity prices and currency, and other factors that are generally unpredictable and beyond our control. Increases in the cost of raw
materials used to manufacture our products or in the cost of labor and other costs of doing business in the United States and internationally could have an adverse
effect on, among other things, the cost of our products, gross margins, operating results, financial condition, and cash flows.
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Our failure or inability to protect our intellectual property rights, or claims by others that we are infringing upon or unlawfully using their intellectual property
could diminish the value of our brand and weaken our competitive position, and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and
prospects.
We currently rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, and unfair competition laws, as well as confidentiality agreements and
procedures and licensing arrangements, to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. We have devoted substantial resources to the development of our
proprietary technologies and related processes. In order to protect our proprietary technologies and processes, we rely in part on trade secret laws and confidentiality
agreements with our employees, licensees, independent contractors, commercial partners, and other advisors. These agreements may not effectively prevent
disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. We cannot be
certain that the steps taken by us to protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to prevent infringement of such rights by others, including imitation of
our products and misappropriation of our brand. Additionally, the process of obtaining patent or trademark protection is expensive and time-consuming, and we may
not be able to prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications or apply for all necessary or desirable trademark applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely
manner. We have obtained and applied for U.S. and foreign trademark registrations for the “Fitbit” brand and a variety of our product names, and will continue to
evaluate the registration of additional trademarks as appropriate. However, we cannot guarantee that any of our pending trademark or patent applications will be
approved by the applicable governmental authorities. Moreover, intellectual property protection may be unavailable or limited in some foreign countries where laws
or law enforcement practices may not protect our intellectual property rights as fully as in the United States, and it may be more difficult for us to successfully
challenge the use of our intellectual property rights by other parties in these countries. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and our failure or inability to obtain or maintain trade secret protection or otherwise protect our proprietary rights could
adversely affect our business.
We are and may in the future be subject to patent infringement and trademark claims and lawsuits in various jurisdictions, and we cannot be certain that our
products or activities do not violate the patents, trademarks, or other intellectual property rights of third-party claimants. Companies in the technology industry and
other patent, copyright, and trademark holders seeking to profit from royalties in connection with grants of licenses own large numbers of patents, copyrights,
trademarks, domain names, and trade secrets and frequently commence litigation based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of
intellectual property or other rights. As we face increasing competition and gain an increasingly high profile, the intellectual property rights claims against us have
grown and will likely continue to grow. For example, on May 27, 2015, Aliphcom, Inc. d/b/a Jawbone, or Jawbone, filed a lawsuit against us and certain of our
employees who were formerly employed by Jawbone in the Superior Court of the State of California in the County of San Francisco alleging trade secret
misappropriation, breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and unfair and unlawful business practices. The complaint
alleges, among other things, that prior to leaving Jawbone at various times in 2015, the employees downloaded Jawbone company documents and materials,
including allegedly confidential and trade secret information, and that these employees are using such information in the development of our products. The
complaint also alleges that we recruited those employees with the intent of using Jawbone’s proprietary information. The complaint seeks unspecified damages,
including punitive damages, and injunctive relief.
In addition, on June 10, 2015, Jawbone and BodyMedia, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jawbone, or BodyMedia, filed a lawsuit against us in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of California. Jawbone and BodyMedia allege that we are infringing three U.S. patents held by Jawbone or
BodyMedia: U.S. Patent No. 8,446,275 titled “General Health and Wellness Management Method and Apparatus For A Wellness Application Using Data From a
Data-Capable Band,” U.S. Patent No. 8,073,707 titled “System For Detecting, Monitoring, And Reporting An Individual’s Physiological Or Contextual Status,” and
U.S. Patent No. 8,398,546 titled “System For Monitoring And Managing Body Weight And Other Physiological Conditions Including Iterative And Personalized
Planning, Intervention And Reporting Capability.” Jawbone and BodyMedia allege that these patents have been infringed by a substantial majority of the products
that we have sold historically, as well as
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several of our current products. With respect to each of the patents, the complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages and attorneys’ fees from us and to
permanently enjoin us from making, manufacturing, using, selling, importing, or offering our products for sale. The complaint also notes that Jawbone and
BodyMedia intend to file a complaint requesting the International Trade Commission, or ITC, to commence an investigation against us that we are unlawfully
importing and selling products into and within the United States that allegedly infringe on their patents. If the ITC were to determine that we infringe any of the
Jawbone or BodyMedia patents, the ITC could issue a preclusion order, which would prevent us from importing our products into the United States from contract
manufacturers outside of the United States.
We intend to vigorously defend these litigation matters and, based on our preliminary review, we believe we have valid defenses with respect to each of these
matters. However, litigation is inherently uncertain, and any judgment or injunctive relief entered against us or any adverse settlement could materially and adversely
impact our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects. In addition, litigation can involve significant management time and attention and be
expensive, regardless of outcome. During the course of these litigation matters, there may be announcements of the results of hearings and motions, and other
interim developments related to the litigation matters. If securities analysts or investors regard these announcements as negative, the market price of our common
stock may decline.
Further, from time to time, we have received and may continue to receive letters from third parties alleging that we are infringing upon their intellectual
property rights. Our technologies and other intellectual property may not be able to withstand such third-party claims, and successful infringement claims against us
could result in significant monetary liability, prevent us from selling some of our products and services, or require us to change our branding. In addition, resolution
of claims may require us to redesign our products, license rights from third parties at a significant expense, or cease using those rights altogether. We have also in the
past and may in the future bring claims against third parties for infringing our intellectual property rights. Costs of supporting such litigation and disputes may be
considerable, and there can be no assurances that a favorable outcome will be obtained. Patent infringement, trademark infringement, trade secret misappropriation,
and other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against us or brought by us, whether successful or not, could require significant attention of our
management and resources and have in the past and could further result in substantial costs, harm to our brand, and have an adverse effect on our business.
We depend on third-party data center service providers. Any disruption in the operation of the data center facilities or failure to renew the services could
adversely affect our business.
Our services are hosted using data centers operated by third parties. We control neither the operation of the data centers nor our third-party data center service
providers. We have entered into agreements for the lease of our data centers with third-party data center service providers which expire at various times. The thirdparty data center service providers may have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew
these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, we may be required to transfer our servers or data to new data center facilities or engage new service providers,
and we may incur significant costs and a possible interruption in our platform in connection with doing so.
Problems with our third-party data center service providers, the telecommunications network providers with whom they contract, or with the systems by
which telecommunications providers allocate capacity among their users could adversely affect the experience of our users. Our third-party data center service
providers could decide to close their facilities or cease providing us services without adequate notice. In addition, any financial difficulties, such as bankruptcy,
faced by our third-party data center service providers or parties they contract with may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are
difficult to predict. Additionally, any failure of our data centers to meet our needs for capacity could have an adverse effect on our business. Any changes in thirdparty service levels at our data centers or any errors, defects, disruptions, or other performance problems with our platform could harm our brand and may damage
the data of our users. We have in the past had outages at our data centers, and future interruptions to our platform might reduce our revenue, cause us to issue
refunds, subject us to potential liability, or harm our ability to retain users and attract new users.
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Our business is affected by seasonality.
Our business is affected by the general seasonal trends common to the consumer electronics industry, as well as those common to the fitness industry. Our
fourth quarter has typically been our strongest quarter in terms of revenue, reflecting our historical strength in sales during the holiday season. For example, we
generated approximately 43%, 40%, and 50% of our full year revenue during the fourth quarters of 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively. Accordingly, any shortfall in
expected fourth quarter revenue would adversely affect our annual operating results. Furthermore, our rapid growth in recent years may obscure the extent to which
seasonality trends have affected our business and may continue to affect our business. Accordingly, yearly or quarterly comparisons of our operating results may not
be useful and our results in any particular period will not necessarily be indicative of the results to be expected for any future period. Seasonality in our business can
also be impacted by introductions of new or enhanced products and services, including the costs associated with such introductions.
Our future success depends on the continuing efforts of our key employees, including our founders, James Park and Eric N. Friedman, and on our ability to
attract and retain highly skilled personnel and senior management.
Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. In particular, we are highly dependent on the
contributions of our co-founders, James Park and Eric N. Friedman, as well as other members of our management team. The loss of any key personnel could make it
more difficult to manage our operations and research and development activities, reduce our employee retention and revenue, and impair our ability to compete.
Although we have generally entered into employment offer letters with our key personnel, these agreements have no specific duration and provide for at-will
employment, which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time.
Competition for highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area where we are located, and we may incur significant costs
to attract them. We may not be successful in attracting, integrating, or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. We have, from time to time,
experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. In addition, job
candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in connection with their employment. If the perceived value of our
equity or equity awards declines, it may adversely affect our ability to retain highly skilled employees. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and
motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be severely harmed.
Our international operations subject us to additional costs and risks, and our continued expansion internationally may not be successful.
We have entered into many international markets in a relatively short time and may enter into additional markets in the future. Outside of the United States,
we currently have operations in Australia and a number of countries in Asia and Europe. There are significant costs and risks inherent in conducting business in
international markets, including:
•
establishing and maintaining effective controls at foreign locations and the associated increased costs;
•

adapting our technologies, products, and services to non-U.S. consumers’ preferences and customs;

•

variations in margins by region;

•

increased competition from local providers of similar products;

•

longer sales or collection cycles in some countries;

•

compliance with foreign laws and regulations;

•

compliance with the laws of numerous taxing jurisdictions where we conduct business, potential double taxation of our international earnings, and
potentially adverse tax consequences due to U.S. and foreign tax laws as they relate to our international operations;
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•

compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act, by us, our employees, and our business partners;

•

complexity and other risks associated with current and future foreign legal requirements, including legal requirements related to consumer protection,
consumer product safety, and data privacy frameworks, such as the E.U. Data Protection Directive and the proposed E.U. Data Protection Regulation;

•

currency exchange rate fluctuations and related effects on our operating results;

•

economic and political instability in some countries, particularly those in China where we have recently expanded;

•

the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries and practical difficulties of enforcing rights abroad; and

•

other costs of doing business internationally.

These factors and other factors could harm our international operations and, consequently, materially impact our business, operating results, and financial
condition. Further, we may incur significant operating expenses as a result of our international expansion, and it may not be successful. We have limited experience
with regulatory environments and market practices internationally, and we may not be able to penetrate or successfully operate in new markets. We may also
encounter difficulty expanding into new international markets because of limited brand recognition in certain parts of the world, leading to delayed acceptance of our
products and services by users in these new international markets. If we are unable to continue to expand internationally and manage the complexity of our global
operations successfully, our financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.
Changes in legislation in U.S. and foreign taxation of international business activities or the adoption of other tax reform policies, as well as the application of
such laws, could materially impact our financial position and operating results.
Recent or future changes to U.S., Irish, and other foreign tax laws could impact the tax treatment of our foreign earnings. We generally conduct our
international operations through wholly-owned subsidiaries, branches, or representative offices and report our taxable income in various jurisdictions worldwide
based upon our business operations in those jurisdictions. Further, we are in the process of implementing an international structure that aligns with our financial and
operational objectives as evaluated based on our international markets, expansion plans, and operational needs for headcount and physical infrastructure outside the
United States. In connection with the implementation of the international structure, we reorganized the structure of our existing direct and indirect subsidiaries and
restructured the intercompany relationships with and amongst the subsidiaries within the company group. Such intercompany relationships are subject to complex
transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. Due to changes in the U.S., Irish, and other foreign taxation of such activities,
we will likely have to modify our international structure in the future, which will incur costs, may increase our worldwide effective tax rate, and may adversely
affect our financial position and operating results.
In addition, significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of
business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. For example, our effective tax rates could be adversely
affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in countries where we have higher
statutory rates, by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, or by changes in the relevant tax, accounting, and other laws, regulations, principles, and
interpretations. As we operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions, the application of tax laws can be subject to diverging and sometimes conflicting interpretations by
tax authorities of these jurisdictions. It is not uncommon for taxing authorities in different countries to have conflicting views with respect to, among other things,
the manner in which the arm’s-length standard is applied for transfer pricing purposes, or with respect to the valuation of intellectual property.
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If U.S., Irish, or other foreign tax laws further change, if our current or future structures and arrangements are challenged by a taxing authority, or if we are
unable to appropriately adapt the manner in which we operate our business, we may have to undertake further costly modifications to our international structure and
our tax liabilities and operating results may be adversely affected.
If we are unable to protect our domain names, our brand, business, and operating results could be adversely affected.
We have registered domain names for websites, or URLs, that we use in our business, such as Fitbit.com. If we are unable to maintain our rights in these
domain names, our competitors or other third parties could capitalize on our brand recognition by using these domain names for their own benefit. In addition,
although we own the “Fitbit” domain name under various global top level domains such as .com and .net, as well as under various country-specific domains, we
might not be able to, or may choose not to, acquire or maintain other country-specific versions of the “Fitbit” domain name or other potentially similar URLs. The
regulation of domain names in the United States and elsewhere is generally conducted by Internet regulatory bodies and is subject to change. If we lose the ability to
use a domain name in a particular country, we may be forced to either incur significant additional expenses to market our solutions within that country, including the
development of a new brand and the creation of new promotional materials, or elect not to sell our solutions in that country. Either result could substantially harm
our business and operating results. Regulatory bodies could establish additional top-level domains, appoint additional domain name registrars, or modify the
requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we may not be able to acquire or maintain the domain names that utilize the name “Fitbit” in all of the countries
in which we currently conduct or intend to conduct business. Further, the relationship between regulations governing domain names and laws protecting trademarks
and similar proprietary rights varies among jurisdictions and is unclear in some jurisdictions. Domain names similar to ours have already been registered in the
United States and elsewhere, and we may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring and using domain names that infringe, are similar to, or otherwise
decrease the value of, our brand or our trademarks. Protecting and enforcing our rights in our domain names and determining the rights of others may require
litigation, which could result in substantial costs, divert management attention, and not be decided favorably to us.
Our use of “open source” software could negatively affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible litigation.
A portion of the technologies we use incorporates “open source” software, and we may incorporate open source software in the future. Such open source
software is generally licensed by its authors or other third parties under open source licenses. These licenses may subject us to certain unfavorable conditions,
including requirements that we offer our products and services that incorporate the open source software for no cost, that we make publicly available source code for
modifications or derivative works we create based upon, incorporating, or using the open source software, or that we license such modifications or derivative works
under the terms of the particular open source license. Additionally, if a third-party software provider has incorporated open source software into software that we
license from such provider, we could be required to disclose or provide at no cost any of our source code that incorporates or is a modification of such licensed
software. If an author or other third party that distributes open source software that we use or license were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of
the applicable license, we could be required to incur significant legal expenses defending against such allegations and could be subject to significant damages and
enjoined from the sale of our products and services that contained the open source software. Any of the foregoing could disrupt the distribution and sale of our
products and services and harm our business.
We may engage in merger and acquisition activities, which could require significant management attention, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and
adversely affect our operating results.
As part of our business strategy, we may make investments in other companies, products, or technologies. We may not be able to find suitable acquisition
candidates and we may not be able to complete acquisitions on
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favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals, and any acquisitions we
complete could be viewed negatively by users or investors. In addition, if we fail to successfully integrate such acquisitions, or the technologies associated with such
acquisitions, into our company, the revenue and operating results of the combined company could be adversely affected. For example, we recently acquired FitStar
and we may fail to successfully integrate FitStar into our company.
Acquisitions, including our acquisition of FitStar, may disrupt our ongoing operations, divert management from their primary responsibilities, subject us to
additional liabilities, increase our expenses, and adversely impact our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows. We may not successfully
evaluate or utilize the acquired technology and accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction, including accounting charges. We may have to
pay cash, incur debt, or issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition, each of which could affect our financial condition or the value of our capital stock and
could result in dilution to our stockholders. If we incur more debt it would result in increased fixed obligations and could also subject us to covenants or other
restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations. Additionally, we may receive indications of interest from other parties interested in acquiring
some or all of our business. The time required to evaluate such indications of interest could require significant attention from management, disrupt the ordinary
functioning of our business, and adversely affect our operating results.
The Aria Wi-Fi connected scale is subject to FDA regulation, and sales of this product or future regulated products could be adversely affected if we fail to
comply with the applicable requirements.
The Aria scale is regulated as a medical device by the FDA and corresponding state regulatory agencies, and we may have future products that are regulated
as medical devices. The medical device industry in the United States is regulated by governmental authorities, principally the FDA and corresponding state
regulatory agencies. Before we can market or sell a new regulated product or make a significant modification to an existing medical device in the United States, we
must obtain regulatory clearance or approval from the FDA, unless an exemption from pre-market review applies. We received a pre-market clearance for the Aria
scale in June 2014. The process of obtaining regulatory clearances or approvals to market a medical device can be costly and time consuming, and we may not be
able to obtain these clearances or approvals on a timely basis, or at all, for future products. Any delay in, or failure to receive or maintain, clearance or approval for
any medical device products under development could prevent us from generating revenue from these products. Medical devices, including Aria, are also subject to
numerous ongoing compliance requirements under the regulations of the FDA and corresponding state regulatory agencies, which can be costly and time consuming.
For example, under FDA regulations medical device manufacturers are required to, among other things, (i) establish a quality system to help ensure that their
products consistently meet applicable requirements and specifications, (ii) establish and maintain procedures for receiving, reviewing, and evaluating complaints,
(iii) establish and maintain a corrective and preventive action procedure, (iv) report certain device-related adverse events and product problems to the FDA, and (v)
report to the FDA the removal or correction of a distributed product. If we experience any product problems requiring reporting to the FDA or if we otherwise fail to
comply with applicable FDA regulations or the regulations of corresponding state regulatory agencies, we could jeopardize our ability to sell our products and could
be subject to enforcement actions such as fines, civil penalties, injunctions, recalls of products, delays in the introduction of products into the market, and refusal of
the FDA or other regulators to grant future clearances or approvals, which could harm our reputation, business, operating results, and financial condition.
Our financial performance is subject to risks associated with changes in the value of the U.S. dollar versus local currencies.
Our primary exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates relates to non-U.S. dollar denominated sales and operating expenses worldwide.
Weakening of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar adversely affects the U.S. dollar value of our foreign currency-denominated sales and earnings, and
generally leads us to raise international pricing, potentially reducing demand for our products. In some circumstances, for
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competitive or other reasons, we may decide not to raise local prices to fully offset the dollar’s strengthening, or at all, which would adversely affect the U.S. dollar
value of our foreign currency denominated sales and earnings. Conversely, a strengthening of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, while generally beneficial
to our foreign currency-denominated sales and earnings, could cause us to reduce international pricing and incur losses on our foreign currency derivative
instruments, thereby limiting the benefit. Additionally, strengthening of foreign currencies may also increase our cost of product components denominated in those
currencies, thus adversely affecting gross margins.
We use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates. The use of such hedging activities may not offset any, or more than a portion, of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange
rates over the limited time the hedges are in place.
The forecasts of market growth included in this prospectus may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the markets in which we compete achieve the forecasted
growth, we cannot assure you our business will grow at similar rates, if at all.
Growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be accurate. The forecasts in this
prospectus relating to the expected growth in the market for health and fitness tracking devices, wearable devices, and the health and fitness industry may prove to be
inaccurate. Even if these markets experience the forecasted growth described in this prospectus, we may not grow our business at similar rates, or at all. Our growth
is subject to many factors, including our success in implementing our business strategy, which is subject to many risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, the forecasts
of market growth included in this prospectus should not be taken as indicative of our future growth.
Our revolving credit facilities provide our lenders with first-priority liens against substantially all of our assets, including our intellectual property, and contain
financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions, which could limit our operational flexibility and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.
In August 2014, we amended and restated our existing revolving credit facility and entered into a new revolving credit and guarantee agreement to incur
additional indebtedness. Our credit agreements restrict our ability to, among other things:
•

use our accounts receivable, inventory, trademarks, and most of our other assets as security in other borrowings or transactions;

•

incur additional indebtedness;

•

sell certain assets;

•

guarantee certain obligations of third parties;

•

declare dividends or make certain distributions; and

•

undergo a merger or consolidation or other transactions.

Our credit agreements also prohibit us from exceeding a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and require us to maintain a minimum liquidity reserve. Our
ability to comply with these and other covenants is dependent upon a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control.
Our failure to comply with the covenants or payment requirements or the occurrence of other events specified in our credit agreements could result in an event
of default under the credit agreements, which would give our lenders the right to terminate their commitments to provide additional loans under the credit
agreements and to declare all borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. In addition, we have
granted our lenders first-priority liens against all of our assets, including
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our intellectual property, as collateral. Failure to comply with the covenants or other restrictions in the credit facilities could result in a default. If the debt under our
credit agreements was to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash on hand or be able to sell sufficient collateral to repay it, which would have an immediate
adverse effect on our business and operating results. This could potentially cause us to cease operations and result in a complete loss of your investment in our
Class A common stock.
We may need to raise additional capital required to grow our business, and we may not be able to raise capital on terms acceptable to us or at all.
Growing and operating our business will require significant cash outlays and capital expenditures and commitments. If cash on hand and cash from operating
activities are not sufficient to meet our cash requirements, we will need to seek additional capital, potentially through debt or equity financing, to fund our growth.
We may not be able to raise needed cash on terms acceptable to us or at all. Financing may be on terms that are dilutive or potentially dilutive to our stockholders,
and the prices at which new investors would be willing to purchase our securities may be lower than the current price per share of our Class A common stock. The
holders of new securities may also have rights, preferences, or privileges which are senior to those of existing holders of common stock. If new sources of financing
are required, but are insufficient or unavailable, we will be required to modify our growth and operating plans based on available funding, if any, which would harm
our ability to grow our business.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial
statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.
As a public company, we will be subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and
the rules and regulations of the applicable listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will
continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and place significant
strain on our personnel, systems, and resources.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by us in the reports that we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to
expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.
Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further, weaknesses in
our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any
difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result
in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could
adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC.
Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and
other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our Class A common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet
these requirements, we may not be able
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to remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange. We are not currently required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act and are therefore not required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for that purpose. As a public
company, we will be required to provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our
second annual report on Form 10-K.
Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until
after we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a
report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial reporting is documented, designed, or operating. Any
failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect on our business and operating
results and could cause a decline in the price of our Class A common stock.
Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.
Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly-traded company, interacting with public company investors, and
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to
being a public company subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of
securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents will require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their
attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our business is subject to the risk of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, and other catastrophic events, and to interruption by manmade problems such as
terrorism.
Our business is vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods, power losses, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, acts of war,
human errors, break-ins, and similar events. The third-party systems and operations and contract manufacturers we rely on, such as the data centers we lease, are
subject to similar risks. For example, a significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, or flood, could have an adverse effect on our business, operating
results, and financial condition, and our insurance coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. Our corporate offices and one of our data
center facilities are located in California, a state that frequently experiences earthquakes. In addition, the facilities at which our contract manufacturers manufacture
our products are located in parts of Asia that frequently endure typhoons and earthquakes. Acts of terrorism, which may be targeted at metropolitan areas that have
higher population density than rural areas, could also cause disruptions in our or our suppliers’, contract manufacturers’, and logistics providers’ businesses or the
economy as a whole. Our servers may also be vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins, denial-of-service attacks, and similar disruptions from unauthorized
tampering with our computer systems, which could lead to interruptions, delays, and loss of critical data. We may not have sufficient protection or recovery plans in
some circumstances, such as natural disasters affecting California or other locations where we have data centers or store significant inventory of our products. As we
rely heavily on our data center facilities, computer and communications systems, and the Internet to conduct our business and provide high-quality customer service,
these disruptions could negatively impact our ability to run our business and either directly or indirectly disrupt suppliers’ businesses, which could have an adverse
effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our operating results could be adversely affected.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and
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accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as
provided in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The results of these estimates form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue recognition, inventories, product
warranty reserves, the Fitbit Force recall, accounting for income taxes, fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability, and stock-based
compensation expense. Our operating results may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions,
which could cause our operating results to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the price of our Class A common
stock.
We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make
our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including not being required to comply with the auditor
attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved. We may take advantage of these exemptions for so long as we are an “emerging growth company,” which could be as
long as five years following the completion of this offering but we expect to not be an “emerging growth company” sooner. We cannot predict if investors will find
our Class A common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, there
may be a less active trading market for our Class A common stock and the price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile.
Regulations related to conflict minerals may cause us to incur additional expenses and could limit the supply and increase the costs of certain metals used in the
manufacturing of our products.
As a public company, we will be subject to requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, which will require
us to conduct due diligence on and disclose whether or not our products contain conflict minerals. The implementation of these requirements could adversely affect
the sourcing, availability, and pricing of the materials used in the manufacture of components used in our products. In addition, we will incur additional costs to
comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to conducting diligence procedures to determine the sources of minerals that may be used or
necessary to the production of our products and, if applicable, potential changes to products, processes, or sources of supply as a consequence of such due diligence
activities. It is also possible that we may face reputational harm if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict free or if
we are unable to alter our products, processes, or sources of supply to avoid such materials.
Risks Related to this Offering and Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
There has been no prior public market for our Class A common stock, the stock price of our Class A common stock may be volatile or may decline regardless of
our operating performance, and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above the initial public offering price.
There has been no public market for our Class A common stock prior to this offering. The initial public offering price for our Class A common stock will be
determined through negotiations among the underwriters, us, and the selling stockholders and may vary from the market price of our Class A common stock
following this offering. The market prices of the securities of newly public companies such as us have historically been highly
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volatile. The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control,
including:
•
overall performance of the equity markets;
•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenue and other operating results;

•

changes in the financial projections we may provide to the public or our failure to meet these projections;

•

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow our company, or
our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•

recruitment or departure of key personnel;

•

the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;

•

negative publicity related to problems in our manufacturing or the real or perceived quality of our products, as well as the failure to timely launch new
products that gain market acceptance;

•

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

•
•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital
commitments;
new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

•

lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

•

other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, or responses to these events;

•

the expiration of contractual lock-up or market standoff agreements; and

•

sales of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity
securities of many companies. Stock prices of many companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those
companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in
securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and adversely affect our business.
Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public markets, or the perception that they might occur, could cause the market price of our
Class A common stock to decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock into the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and
principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.
Substantially all of our securities outstanding prior to this offering, other than the shares offered by our selling stockholders, which will be freely tradable
following this offering, are currently restricted from resale as a result of lock-up and market standoff agreements. See the section titled “Shares Eligible for Future
Sale” for additional information. These securities will become available to be sold 181 days after the date of this prospectus. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may, in its
discretion, permit our security holders to sell shares prior to the expiration of the restrictive provisions contained in the lock-up agreements. Shares held by directors,
executive officers, and other affiliates will also be subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act and various vesting agreements.
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In addition, as of March 31, 2015, we had options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of 47,337,190 shares of Class B common
stock. We also had 291,630 RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2015. All of the shares of Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options or
settlement of RSUs, and the shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans, will be registered for public resale under the Securities Act.
Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance subject to existing lock-up or market standoff agreements and applicable
vesting requirements.
Immediately following this offering, the holders of 170,475,781 shares of our Class B common stock (or warrants to purchase shares of our Class B common
stock) will have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements for the public resale of the Class A common stock issuable upon
conversion of such shares or to include such shares in registration statements that we may file for us or other stockholders.
The dual class structure of our common stock will have the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital stock prior to the
completion of this offering, including our directors, executive officers, and significant stockholders who will hold in the aggregate 51.9% of the voting power of
our capital stock following the completion of this offering. This will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of
directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate
transaction requiring stockholder approval.
Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock, which is the stock we are offering in this offering, has one vote per share.
Following this offering, our directors, executive officers, and holders of more than 5% of our common stock, and their respective affiliates, will hold in the aggregate
51.9% of the voting power of our capital stock. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B
common stock collectively will continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and therefore be able to control all matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval until the earlier of twelve years from the date of this prospectus or the date the holders of a majority of our Class B
common stock choose to convert their shares. This concentrated control will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future,
including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other
major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval. In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital
stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.
Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions,
such as certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of
increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term. See the section titled “Description of Capital
Stock—Anti-Takeover Provisions” for additional information.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, the price of our Class A common
stock and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on our company. If few securities analysts commence coverage of us, or
if industry analysts cease coverage of us, the trading price for our common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our Class A common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our common stock price would likely decline. If one or
more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our Class A common stock could decrease, which might cause our
Class A common stock price and trading volume to decline.
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Because the initial public offering price of our Class A common stock will be substantially higher than the pro forma net tangible book value per share of our
outstanding common stock following this offering, new investors will experience immediate and substantial dilution.
The initial public offering price is substantially higher than the pro forma net tangible book value per share of our common stock immediately following this
offering based on the total value of our tangible assets less our total liabilities. Therefore, if you purchase shares of our Class A common stock in this offering, based
on the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and the issuance of shares of Class A common stock in this offering, you will
experience immediate dilution of $12.64 per share, the difference between the price per share you pay for our Class A common stock and its pro forma net tangible
book value per share as of March 31, 2015. See the section titled “Dilution” for additional information.
We will have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds to us from this offering and may not use them effectively.
We will have broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds to us from this offering, including for any of the purposes described in the section titled
“Use of Proceeds,” and you will not have the opportunity as part of your investment decision to assess whether the net proceeds are being used appropriately.
Because of the number and variability of factors that will determine our use of the net proceeds from this offering, their ultimate use may vary substantially from
their currently intended use. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could harm our business. Pending their use, we may invest the net
proceeds from this offering in short-term, investment-grade interest-bearing securities such as money market accounts, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, and
guaranteed obligations of the U.S. government that may not generate a high yield to our stockholders. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our
investors.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We anticipate
that we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the
future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never
occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments. In addition, our credit facilities contain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.
Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management, limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or
employees, and limit the market price of our common stock.
Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws that will be in effect immediately following the completion of this offering may
have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws include
provisions that:
•
provide that our board of directors will be classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms at such time as the outstanding shares
of our Class B common stock represent less than a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock;
•

permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created directorships;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;
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•

•

provide that only the chairman of our board of directors, our chief executive officer, or a majority of our board of directors will be authorized to call a
special meeting of stockholders;
provide for a dual class common stock structure in which holders of our Class B common stock have the ability to control the outcome of matters
requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our Class A and Class B common stock,
including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets;
prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our bylaws; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

•

In addition, our restated certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for: any
derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the
Delaware General Corporation Law, our restated certificate of incorporation, or our restated bylaws; or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the
internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with
us or any of our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice
of forum provision contained in our restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Moreover, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company. Section 203 imposes
certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations, and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock. See the section titled
“Description of Capital Stock” for additional information.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This prospectus contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. All statements contained in this prospectus other than
statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, and our objectives for
future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan,” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
prospectus primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition,
operating results, and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors,
including those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties or the extent to which any factor,
or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make in this prospectus. We
cannot assure you that the results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or
circumstances could differ materially and adversely from those described or anticipated in the forward-looking statements.
The forward-looking statements made in this prospectus relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements made in this prospectus to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this prospectus or to reflect new information or the
occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking
statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any
future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA
This prospectus contains statistical data, estimates, and forecasts that are based on independent industry publications or reports or other publicly available
information, as well as other information based on our internal sources. This information involves a number of assumptions and limitations, are subject to risks and
uncertainties, and are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus.
These and other factors could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the estimates made by the independent parties and by us.
The source of certain statistical data, estimates, and forecasts contained in this prospectus are the following independent industry publications or reports:
•

Gartner, Inc., Gartner Predicts 2015: Mobile and Wireless , November 2014.

•

IBISWorld Inc., IBISWorld Industry Report: Corporate Wellness Services in the U.S., December 2014.

•

International Data Corporation, Consumer Market Model 2010-2018 data, January 2015.

•

International Data Corporation, Worldwide Wearables 2015-2019 Forecast , April 2015.

•

The NPD Group, Inc., Retail Tracking Service, Digital Fitness Devices data, January 2013 - March 2015. We refer to connected activity trackers
elsewhere in this prospectus, which has been defined in The NPD Group data as digital fitness wrist band and multi-location devices that connect to
other devices (e.g., mobile devices and computers, via ANT+, Bluetooth, Wi-Fi, wireless combinations, wired connection only, and other wireless
connections). We also refer to GPS fitness watches elsewhere in this prospectus, which has been defined in The NPD Group data as digital fitness
watches that are GPS enabled. GPS fitness watches are not included in the connected activity trackers category.

•

The NPD Group, Inc., Strong Holiday Season Ahead for Wearables as Fitness Device Awareness Doubles , November 5, 2014.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A common stock that we are selling in this offering will be approximately $310.8
million, based on an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. We will not receive any proceeds from the
sale of shares of our Class A common stock by the selling stockholders.
A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share would increase or decrease the net proceeds that we receive from
this offering by approximately $21.0 million, assuming that the number of shares of Class A common stock offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions.
The principal purposes of this offering are to increase our capitalization and financial flexibility, create a public market for our Class A common stock, and
enable access to the public equity markets for us and our stockholders. We intend to use the net proceeds that we receive from this offering for working capital and
other general corporate purposes, including research and development and sales and marketing activities, general and administrative matters, and capital
expenditures. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds to invest in or acquire complementary businesses, products, services, technologies, or other assets.
We currently have no specific plans for the use of the net proceeds that we receive from this offering. Accordingly, we will have broad discretion in using
these proceeds. Pending their use as described above, we plan to invest the net proceeds in short-term, interest-bearing obligations, investment-grade instruments,
certificates of deposit, or direct or guaranteed obligations of the U.S. government.
DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any cash
dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors, subject
to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions, and other factors that our board of
directors considers relevant. In addition, the terms of our credit facilities contain restrictions on our ability to declare and pay cash dividends on our capital stock.
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of March 31, 2015 on:
•

an actual basis;

•

a pro forma basis to give effect to (i) the redesignation of our outstanding common stock as Class B common stock in May 2015, (ii) the automatic
conversion of all shares of our convertible preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015 into 139,851,483 shares of our Class B common stock,
(iii) the automatic conversion of the convertible preferred stock warrants to Class B common stock warrants, and the resulting remeasurement and
assumed reclassification of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital, and (iv) the filing and effectiveness
of our restated certificate of incorporation; and

•

a pro forma as adjusted basis to give effect to (i) the adjustments described above as well as the sale and issuance of the 22,387,500 shares of our
Class A common stock offered by us in this offering based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of
the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us and (ii) the automatic conversion of 7,462,500 shares of our Class B common stock into an equivalent number of
shares of our Class A common stock upon their sale by the selling stockholders in this offering.
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The pro forma as adjusted information below is illustrative only, and our cash and cash equivalents, additional paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity, and
total capitalization following the completion of this offering will be adjusted based on the actual initial public offering price and other terms of the offering
determined at the pricing of this offering. You should read this table together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes, and the sections titled
“Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” each included
elsewhere in this prospectus.
As of March 31, 2015
Pro Forma
Actual
Pro Forma
As Adjusted (1)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Cash and cash equivalents (2)
Total long-term debt (2)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share: 144,528,912 shares authorized,
139,851,483 shares issued and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized, issued, and outstanding, pro
forma or pro forma as adjusted
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share: no shares authorized, issued, and outstanding, actual;
10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding pro forma and pro forma as
adjusted
Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share: 950,000,000 shares authorized, 42,411,636 shares issued
and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized, issued, and outstanding pro forma and pro forma as
adjusted
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share: no shares authorized, issued, and outstanding,
actual; 600,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding, pro forma; 600,000,000
shares authorized, 29,850,000 shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted
Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share: no shares authorized, issued, and outstanding,
actual; 350,000,000 shares authorized, 182,263,119 shares issued and outstanding, pro forma;
350,000,000 shares authorized, 174,907,670 shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total capitalization
(1)

(2)

$ 237,849
$ 159,611
26,132

$237,849
$159,611
—

$
$

67,814

—

—

—

—

—

4

—

—

—

—

3

—
26,582
81
115,239
141,906
$ 395,463

18
120,514
81
115,239
235,852
$395,463

17
431,276
81
115,239
546,616
706,227

$

548,613
159,611
—

A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease our
pro forma as adjusted cash and cash equivalents, additional paid-in capital, total stockholders’ equity, and total capitalization by approximately $21.0 million, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions. If the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares to cover overallotments is exercised in full, we would have 34,327,500 shares of our Class A common stock and 170,494,402 shares of our Class B common stock issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted.
Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we repaid $160.0 million of our long-term debt from our cash and cash equivalents. As a result, the long-term debt that would have been classified as long-term debt, less current
portion, that was repaid was classified as long-term debt, current portion, on our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2015.
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The number of shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based upon no shares of our Class A common stock
and 182,263,119 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015 (prior to the automatic conversion of shares of our Class B common stock
into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock upon their sale by the selling stockholders in this offering) and does not include:
•
•

47,337,190 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock outstanding as
of March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.19 per share;
3,016,108 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock granted after
March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $13.33 per share, based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share,
which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus (which number of shares and weighted-average exercise price
includes an option to purchase 255,000 shares that will be granted on the date of this prospectus with an exercise price equal to the initial public
offering price);

•

291,630 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2015;

•

212,153 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs granted after March 31, 2015;

•

1,954,992 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock outstanding as of
March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.59 per share (including 107,051 shares of our Class B common stock issued upon the net
exercise of warrants to purchase 110,029 shares of Class B common stock and the automatic conversion of those shares into Class A common stock
upon their sale in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus); and
12,688,879 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans, consisting of:

•





8,938,879 shares of Class B common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2007 Plan as of March 31, 2015 (which reserve does not
reflect the options to purchase shares of Class B common stock or RSUs granted after March 31, 2015); and
3,750,000 shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2015 ESPP, which will become effective on the date of this
prospectus.

Any remaining shares available for issuance under our 2007 Plan will become reserved for future issuance as Class A common stock under our 2015 Plan,
which will become effective on the date immediately prior to the date of this prospectus, and we will cease granting awards under the 2007 Plan. Our 2015 Plan and
2015 ESPP also provide for automatic annual increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder. See the section titled “Executive Compensation—Employee
Benefit Plans” for additional information.
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DILUTION
If you invest in our Class A common stock in this offering, your interest will be diluted immediately to the extent of the difference between the initial public
offering price per share of our Class A common stock and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of our Class A common stock immediately
after this offering.
Our pro forma net tangible book value as of March 31, 2015 was $173.3 million, or $0.95 per share of common stock. Pro forma net tangible book value per
share represents the amount of our total tangible assets less our total liabilities, divided by the number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 31,
2015, after giving effect to (i) the redesignation of our outstanding common stock as Class B common stock in May 2015, (ii) the automatic conversion of all shares
of our convertible preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015 into 139,851,483 shares of our Class B common stock, (iii) the automatic conversion of the
convertible preferred stock warrants to Class B common stock warrants, and the resulting remeasurement and assumed reclassification of the redeemable convertible
preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital, and (iv) the filing and effectiveness of our restated certificate of incorporation.
After giving effect to the sale by us of 22,387,500 shares of Class A common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per
share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions
and estimated offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value as of March 31, 2015 would have been $484.1 million, or $2.36
per share. This amount represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of $1.41 per share to our existing stockholders and an immediate
dilution in pro forma net tangible book value of $12.64 per share to investors purchasing shares of Class A common stock in this offering at the assumed initial
public offering price.
The following table illustrates this dilution:
Assumed initial public offering price per share
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of March 31, 2015
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors purchasing in this offering
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering
Dilution in pro forma net tangible book value per share to investors in this offering

$15.00
$0.95
1.41
2.36
$12.64

A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering by $0.10 and would increase or
decrease dilution per share to investors in this offering by $0.90, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
remains the same, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions.
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The following table presents, on a pro forma as adjusted basis as described above, as of March 31, 2015, the differences between our existing stockholders
and the investors purchasing shares of our common stock in this offering, with respect to the number of shares purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us,
and the average price per share paid by our existing stockholders or to be paid to us by investors purchasing shares in this offering at an assumed offering price of
$15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, before deducting estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
Average
Shares Purchased
Number

Existing stockholders
Investors in this offering
Totals

182,263,119
22,387,500
204,650,619

Total Consideration

Percent

89.1%
10.9
100.0%

Amount

$ 67,114,023
335,812,500
$402,926,523

Percent

16.7%
83.3
100.0%

Price
Per
Share

$ 0.37
15.00

A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share would increase or decrease the total consideration paid by new
investors by $21.0 million and increase or decrease the percent of total consideration paid by new investors by 0.9%, assuming that the number of shares offered by
us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions.
Sales of shares of Class A common stock by the selling stockholders in this offering will reduce the number of shares of common stock held by existing
stockholders to 174,907,670, or approximately 85.4% of the total shares of common stock outstanding after this offering, and will increase the number of shares held
by new investors to 29,850,000, or approximately 14.6% of the total shares of common stock outstanding after this offering.
After giving effect to sales of shares in this offering by us and the selling stockholders, assuming the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares to
cover over-allotments is exercised in full, our existing stockholders would own 83.2% and our new investors would own 16.8% of the total number of shares of our
common stock outstanding after this offering.
In addition, to the extent any outstanding stock options or warrants are exercised or RSUs settle, investors participating in this offering will experience further
dilution.
The number of shares of our Class A and Class B common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based upon no shares of our Class A common stock
and 182,263,119 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015 (prior to the automatic conversion of shares of our Class B common stock
into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock upon their sale by the selling stockholders in this offering) and does not include:
•
47,337,190 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock outstanding as
of March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $2.19 per share;
•

•

3,016,108 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of options to purchase shares of our Class B common stock granted after
March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $13.33 per share, based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share,
which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus (which number of shares and weighted-average exercise price
includes an option to purchase 255,000 shares that will be granted on the date of this prospectus with an exercise price equal to the initial public
offering price);
291,630 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2015;

•

212,153 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs granted after March 31, 2015;
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•

•

1,954,992 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock outstanding as of
March 31, 2015, with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.59 per share (including 107,051 shares of our Class B common stock issued upon the net
exercise of warrants to purchase 110,029 shares of Class B common stock and the automatic conversion of those shares into Class A common stock
upon their sale in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus); and
12,688,879 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans, consisting of:


8,938,879 shares of Class B common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2007 Plan as of March 31, 2015 (which reserve does not
reflect the options to purchase shares of Class B common stock or RSUs granted after March 31, 2015); and



3,750,000 shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2015 ESPP, which will become effective on the date of this
prospectus.

Any remaining shares available for issuance under our 2007 Plan will become reserved for future issuance as Class A common stock under our 2015 Plan,
which will become effective on the date immediately prior to the date of this prospectus, and we will cease granting awards under the 2007 Plan. Our 2015 Plan and
2015 ESPP also provide for automatic annual increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder. See the section titled “Executive Compensation—Employee
Benefit Plans” for additional information.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA
We derived the selected consolidated statements of operations data for 2012, 2013, and 2014 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2013 and 2014 from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The consolidated statements of operations
data for 2010 and 2011, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2010, 2011, and 2012 are derived from audited consolidated financial statements
that are not included in this prospectus. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as of March 31, 2015 are derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus. We have prepared the unaudited consolidated financial statements on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and have included,
in our opinion, all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments that we consider necessary for a fair statement of the financial information set forth
in those statements. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future. You should read this data together with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

2010

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data :
Revenue
Cost of revenue (2)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development (2)
Sales and marketing (2)
General and administrative (2)
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders (3) :
Basic
Diluted
Pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders (3) :
Basic
Diluted
Other Data :
Devices sold (4)
Active users (5)
Adjusted EBITDA (6)

$ 5,180
3,524
1,656

As of or For the
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 (1)
2015 (1)

As of or For the Year Ended December 31,
2011
2012
2013 (1)
2014 (1)
(in thousands, except per share data)

$14,454
9,222
5,232

$76,373
49,733
26,640

$271,087
210,836
60,251

$745,433
387,776
357,657

$108,815
64,046
44,769

1,909
6,133
16,210
27,873
54,167
484
1,868
10,237
26,847
112,005
629
1,544
3,968
14,485
33,556
3,022
9,545
30,415
69,205
199,728
(1,366)
(4,313)
(3,775)
(8,954) 157,929
(69)
(15)
(176)
(1,082)
(2,222)
4
15
26
(3,649)
(15,934)
(1,431)
(4,313)
(3,925)
(13,685) 139,773
—
4
291
37,937
7,996
$(1,431) $ (4,317) $ (4,216) $ (51,622) $131,777 $
$ (0.04) $ (0.12) $ (0.11) $
$ (0.04) $ (0.12) $ (0.11) $

58

0.70
0.63

$
$

0.81
0.72

1,279
4,476
558
2,570
$(1,255) $ (4,023) $ (2,401) $ 79,049
51

208

(1.32) $
(1.32) $

10,904
6,700
$191,042

$
$

$336,754
167,545
169,209

9,088
22,426
11,273
43,867
8,617
12,981
28,978
79,274
15,791
89,935
(409)
(467)
(1,219)
(13,077)
14,163
76,391
5,291
28,394
8,872 $ 47,997
0.04
0.04

1,575
3,867
$ 42,028

$
$

0.26
0.22

$
$

0.32
0.28

3,866
9,517
$ 93,383
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(1)

In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional
information. The recall, which primarily affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014, had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014
(in thousands)
$ (30,607)
$
(8,112)
$
51,205
11,339
(81,812)
(19,451)
2,838
3,389
$ (84,650)
$ (22,840)
$

Reduction of revenue
Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses (benefit)
Impact on income (loss) before income taxes
(2)

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total

(4)
(5)
(6)

(11,561)
10,602
(22,163)
2,876
(25,039)

$

—
4
—
2
6

$

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2012
2013
2014
(in thousands)
$
8
$
15
$ 37
$ 890
27
62
288
2,350
—
29
204
1,295
25
26
91
2,269
$
60
$ 132
$ 620
$ 6,804

—
(2,040)
2,040
(142)
$ 2,182

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
$

$

59
92
63
100
314

$

$

446
1,879
1,307
1,271
4,903

See notes 2, 3, and 15 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for an explanation of the calculations of our net income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted, and pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted.
See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Devices Sold” for more information.
We believe that the active user metric is an indicator of the size of our community, but currently we do not believe that it has a direct effect on our revenue and operating results since substantially all of our
revenue to date has been derived from sales of our connected health and fitness devices. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key
Business Metrics—Active Users” for more information, including limitations on the use of this metric.
Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See the section titled “—Adjusted EBITDA” for information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA and a
reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss).
As of December 31,

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data :
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital
Total assets
Total long-term debt
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
(1)

$

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

2010

(3)

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2015

2014

2010

2011

2012

2013
(in thousands)

$ 7,948
6,775
9,197
444
28
11,376
(4,380)
(4,370)

$ 14,788
15,073
22,139
739
41
23,425
(8,697)
(8,627)

$ 13,148
17,477
51,699
8,439
488
23,425
(12,913)
(12,707)

$ 81,728
14,457
230,774
10,710
4,028
66,236
(64,535)
(63,466)

2014

$ 195,626
135,415
633,051
132,589
15,797
67,814
67,242
75,262

As of
March 31,
2015

$ 237,849(1)
174,813(1)
669,349(1)
159,611(1)
26,132
67,814
115,239
141,906

Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we repaid $160.0 million of our long-term debt from our cash and cash equivalents. As a result, the long-term debt that would have been classified as long-term debt, less current
portion, that was repaid was classified as long-term debt, current portion, on our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2015.
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Adjusted EBITDA
To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we monitor and consider adjusted EBITDA, which is a nonGAAP financial measure. This non-GAAP financial measure is not based on any standardized methodology prescribed by U.S. GAAP and is not necessarily
comparable to similarly-titled measures presented by other companies.
We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) adjusted to exclude the impact of the Fitbit Force recall, stock-based compensation expense, the revaluation
of our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability, depreciation and amortization, interest expense (income), net, and income tax expense.
We use adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our operating performance and trends and make planning decisions. We believe that adjusted EBITDA helps identify
underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be masked by the effect of the expenses and other items that we exclude in adjusted EBITDA. In particular,
the exclusion of the effect of the Fitbit Force recall, which primarily impacted our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014, discussed in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Fitbit Force Product Recall” and certain expenses in calculating
adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business. Additionally, we use this measure to evaluate our operating
performance and trends and make planning decisions. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our operating results, enhancing the overall understanding of our past performance and future prospects, and allowing for greater
transparency with respect to a key financial metric used by our management in its financial and operational decision-making.
Adjusted EBITDA is not prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and should not be considered in isolation of, or as an alternative to, measures prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of this non-GAAP financial measure rather than net income (loss), which is the
nearest U.S. GAAP equivalent of adjusted EBITDA. Some of these limitations are:
•

adjusted EBITDA excludes the Fitbit Force recall, which primarily impacted our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014, and
which had a negative impact on our revenue and expenses during these periods;

•

adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant
recurring expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy;
adjusted EBITDA excludes the revaluation of our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability, which is a historically recurring non-cash
charge but will not recur in the periods following the completion of this offering;

•
•
•

adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation and amortization expense and, although these are non-cash expenses, the assets being depreciated and
amortized may have to be replaced in the future;
adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt, which
reduces cash available to us;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect income tax payments that reduce cash available to us; and

•

the expenses and other items that we exclude in our calculation of adjusted EBITDA may differ from the expenses and other items, if any, that other
companies may exclude from adjusted EBITDA when they report their operating results.

Because of these limitations, adjusted EBITDA should be considered along with other operating and financial performance measures presented in accordance
with U.S. GAAP.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA:

Net income (loss)
Impact of Fitbit Force recall
Stock-based compensation expense
Revaluation of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense, net
Income tax expense
Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
(in thousands)

2010

2011

$(1,431)
—
6
—
101
69
—
$(1,255)

$(4,317)
—
60
13
202
15
4
$(4,023)

54

$(4,216)
—
132
37
1,179
176
291
$(2,401)

$(51,622)
84,650
620
3,370
3,012
1,082
37,937
$ 79,049

2014

$131,777
22,840
6,804
13,272
6,131
2,222
7,996
$191,042

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015

$ 8,872
25,039
314
1,353
750
409
5,291
$42,028

$47,997
(2,182)
4,903
10,335
3,469
467
28,394
$93,383
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the section titled “Selected
Consolidated Financial and Other Data” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. This discussion
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from such forward-looking statements. Factors
that could cause or contribute to those differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed above in the section titled “Risk
Factors” included elsewhere in this prospectus.
Overview
Fitbit is transforming the way millions of people around the world achieve their health and fitness goals. The Fitbit platform combines connected health and
fitness devices with software and services, including an online dashboard and mobile apps, data analytics, motivational and social tools, personalized insights, and
virtual coaching through customized fitness plans and interactive workouts. Our platform helps people become more active, exercise more, sleep better, eat smarter,
and manage their weight. Fitbit appeals to a large, mainstream health and fitness market by addressing these key needs with advanced technology embedded in
simple-to-use products and services. We pioneered the connected health and fitness market starting in 2007, and since then, we have grown into a leading global
health and fitness brand. As of March 31, 2015, we have sold over 20.8 million devices since inception. According to The NPD Group, we held the leading position
in the U.S. connected activity tracker market, with an 85% share, by dollars, in the first quarter of 2015. *
*

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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We were founded by James Park and Eric N. Friedman in 2007 to help people lead healthier, more active lives by empowering them with data, inspiration,
and guidance to reach their goals.
Our Key Milestones

September

Began selling our first connected health and fitness device, the Fitbit
tracker, which tracked steps, distance, calories burned, and sleep. We
also introduced our online dashboard which could be synced to the Fitbit
tracker.

December

Introduced social features on our online dashboard, including friends and
leaderboards.

July

Began selling premium services through our online dashboard with a
virtual trainer and additional analytics.

October

Completed our first corporate wellness sale that included over 1,000
devices.

February

Released an open API, allowing third-party developers to integrate with
our platform.

October

Began selling our second product, the Fitbit Ultra, which introduced
tracking for floors climbed. We also released a native iOS mobile app.

December

Began selling in the United Kingdom, our first country outside the United
States.

March

Released a native Android mobile app.

April

Began selling Aria, a Wi-Fi connected scale which measures weight,
body fat, and BMI.

September

Began selling the Fitbit Zip, our first Bluetooth low energy-enabled
activity tracker.

October

May
November

Began selling the Fitbit One.

Began selling our first wrist-based device, the Fitbit Flex.
Surpassed five million cumulative devices sold since inception.

February

Announced a partnership with Tory Burch offering accessories for the
Fitbit Flex.

July

Released a native mobile app for Windows Phone and introduced GPSbased tracking for our mobile apps.

August

Introduced Fitbit Challenges on our online dashboard and mobile apps to
encourage friendly competition among our users. We also surpassed ten
million cumulative devices sold since inception.

October

Began selling the Fitbit Charge which introduced caller ID information.

December

Began selling the Fitbit Charge HR and Fitbit Surge, which introduced
automatic and continuous heart rate tracking. In addition, we also
introduced GPS tracking on the Fitbit Surge. We maintained our position
as one of the top three health and fitness apps on the iOS App Store for
each month in 2014.

March

Acquired FitStar to enhance our software and services offerings. FitStar
provides interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile devices
and computers that utilize proprietary algorithms to adjust and customize
workouts for individual users based on data gathered during their
workouts. In addition, our community reached 13.2 trillion steps
collectively taken since the launch of our first tracker—enough to walk
around the earth more than 250,000 times.
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The core of our platform is our family of six wearable connected health and fitness trackers. These wrist-based and “clippable” devices automatically track
users’ daily steps, calories burned, distance traveled, floors climbed, and active minutes and display real-time feedback to encourage them to become more active in
their daily lives. Most of our trackers also measure sleep duration and quality, and our more advanced products track heart rate and GPS-based information such as
speed, distance, and exercise routes. Several of our devices also feature deeper integration with smartphones, such as the ability to receive call and text notifications
and control music. In addition, we offer a Wi-Fi connected scale that records weight, body fat, and BMI. We are able to enhance the functionality and features of our
connected devices through wireless updates. Our platform also includes our online dashboard and mobile apps, which wirelessly and automatically sync with our
devices. Our platform allows our users to see trends and achievements, access motivational tools such as virtual badges and real-time progress notifications, and
connect, support, and compete with friends and family. We intend to continue to significantly invest in research and development in order to enhance our products
and services.
We design our products primarily in California and outsource the production of our devices to contract manufacturers, which are responsible for procuring
most of the components used in the manufacturing of our products from third-party suppliers. We also outsource packaging and fulfillment to third-party logistics
providers around the world.
We generate substantially all of our revenue from sales of our connected health and fitness devices. We sell our products in over 45,000 retail stores and in
more than 50 countries, through our retailers’ websites, through our online store at Fitbit.com, and as part of our corporate wellness offering. We seek to build global
brand awareness, increase product adoption, and drive sales through our sales and marketing efforts. We intend to continue to significantly invest in these sales and
marketing efforts in the future.
Our growth will depend in part on the adoption and sale of our products and services in international markets. In recent periods, we have experienced
significant growth in international sales. In 2014 and for the three months ended March 31, 2015, 25% and 21%, respectively, of our revenue, based on ship-to
destinations, was from sales outside of the United States. We believe international markets represent a significant growth opportunity for us. We intend to expand
sales of our products and services in new and existing international markets by expanding our distribution channels through select retailers and strategic partnerships.
We also intend to continue to invest across all geographic regions in sales and marketing efforts, including increasing our global advertising efforts, and in
infrastructure and personnel to support our international expansion, including establishing additional sales offices globally. Our international expansion efforts have
resulted and will continue to result in increased costs and are subject to a variety of risks, including increased competition, uncertain enforcement of our intellectual
property rights, more complex distribution logistics, and the complexity of compliance with foreign laws and regulations.
We have grown significantly since our inception. In 2012, 2013, and 2014, we had revenue of $76.4 million, $271.1 million, and $745.4 million, respectively,
net income (loss) of $(4.2) million, $(51.6) million, and $131.8 million, respectively, and adjusted EBITDA of $(2.4) million, $79.0 million, and $191.0 million,
respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, we had revenue of $108.8 million and $336.8 million, respectively, net income of $8.9 million
and $48.0 million, respectively, and adjusted EBITDA of $42.0 million and $93.4 million, respectively. See the section titled “Selected Consolidated Financial and
Other Data—Adjusted EBITDA” for information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss). For 2012,
2013, and 2014, we sold 1.3 million, 4.5 million, and 10.9 million devices, respectively, and in the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, we sold 1.6
million and 3.9 million devices, respectively. We also had 0.6 million, 2.6 million, 6.7 million, and 9.5 million active users as of December 31, 2012, 2013, and
2014, and March 31, 2015, respectively. While we believe that our active user metric is an indicator of the size and growth of our community, it is not a measure of
the levels of continuous engagement of our individual users over periods of time and does not track the number of individual users that have become inactive on our
platform in a period. Therefore, this metric is not necessarily an indicator of the size and growth of our engaged user community, who we believe to be the most
likely to
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purchase additional products and services on our platform, such as our subscription-based premium services. See the section titled “—Key Business Metrics” for
additional information regarding devices sold and active users and limitations of the active user metric.
Key Business Metrics
In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our
performance, develop financial forecasts, and make strategic decisions.
As of or For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Devices sold
Active users
Adjusted EBITDA

1,279
558
$(2,401)

4,476
2,570
$79,049

10,904
6,700
$191,042

As of or For the
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015

1,575
3,867
$42,028

3,866
9,517
$93,383

Devices Sold
Devices sold represents the number of connected health and fitness devices that are sold during a period, net of expected returns and provisions for the Fitbit
Force recall. Devices sold does not include sales of accessories. Growth rates between devices sold and revenue are not necessarily correlated because our revenue is
affected by other variables, such as the types of products sold during the period, the introduction of new product offerings that have different U.S. MSRPs, and sales
of accessories and premium services.
Active Users
We define an active user as a registered Fitbit user who, within the three months prior to the date of measurement, has (a) an active Fitbit Premium or FitStar
subscription, (b) paired a health and fitness tracker or Aria scale with his or her Fitbit account, or (c) logged at least 100 steps with a health and fitness tracker or a
weight measurement using an Aria scale. The number of active users is based on subscription and device activity associated with each Fitbit user account and,
accordingly, a user with multiple devices synced to his or her Fitbit account is counted as only one active user regardless of the number of devices that such user
syncs to the account. The number of active users excludes users who have downloaded our mobile apps without purchasing any of our connected health and fitness
devices and users who have downloaded free versions of FitStar but are not subscribers to its paid premium offerings.
We believe that the active user metric is an indicator of the size and growth of our community, but currently we do not believe that it has a direct effect on our
revenue and operating results since substantially all of our revenue to date has been derived from sales of our connected health and fitness devices. The active user
metric is not necessarily an indicator of the actual size and future growth of our user community, who we believe to be the most likely to purchase additional
products and services on our platform, such as our subscription-based premium services. Accordingly, the active user metric only represents the potential size or
growth of our engaged user community. The active user metric is not a measure of the levels of continuous engagement of our individual users over periods of time
and does not track the number of individual users that have become inactive on our platform in a period. Instead, the active user metric, as of any given measurement
date, represents an aggregate of both existing and new users who have met the definition of an “active user” on one occasion during the previous three months,
whether that user became newly active or was an existing active user from a prior period. Accordingly, this metric does not take into account the extent to which
inactive users are offset by new active users or how long an individual user remains active. Given the recent rapid growth of the number of users on our platform, it
may be difficult to discern whether the growth in active users is the result of retaining existing users or adding new users onto our platform. Moreover, we do not
currently or regularly track, calculate, and use
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in order to manage our business, metrics regarding churn or retention rates of our individual users or the number of individual users that become inactive during any
given period. Therefore, you should not rely on our active user metric as an indicator of the level of user retention of individual users or of continual user
engagement, nor the potential size and growth of our user community as an indicator for other revenue opportunities, such as subscription-based premium services
and our corporate wellness offerings.
Adjusted EBITDA
We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) adjusted to exclude the impact of the Fitbit Force recall, stock-based compensation expense, the revaluation
of our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability, depreciation and amortization, interest expense (income), net, and income tax expense. See the
section titled “Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data—Adjusted EBITDA” for information regarding our use of adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of
adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss).
Factors Affecting Our Future Performance
Product Introductions
To date, product introductions have had a significant, positive impact on our operating results due primarily to increases in revenue associated with sales of
the new products in the quarters following their introduction. Since the beginning of 2013, we have released five new connected health and fitness devices, including
the Fitbit Charge, Fitbit Charge HR, and Fitbit Surge, which were released in the fourth quarter of 2014 and were the primary drivers of our revenue growth in the
first quarter of 2015. We expect that the impact of these new product introductions on our revenue will lessen over time and we cannot assure you that they will have
a similarly positive impact on future quarters in 2015. Furthermore, new product introductions could also adversely impact the sales of our existing products to
retailers and users. In addition, we have incurred higher levels of sales and marketing expenses accompanying each product introduction. In the future, we intend to
continue to release new products and enhance our existing products, and we expect that our operating results will be impacted by these releases.
International Expansion
Our products are sold in over 50 countries, and we have experienced significant growth in international sales in recent periods. In 2014 and for the three
months ended March 31, 2015, 25% and 21%, respectively, of our revenue, based on ship-to destinations, was from sales outside of the United States. We believe
our global opportunity is significant, and to address this opportunity, we intend to continue to invest in sales and marketing efforts, distribution channels, and
infrastructure and personnel to support our international expansion, including establishing additional sales offices globally. Our growth will depend in part on the
adoption and sales of our products and services in international markets. Moreover, our international expansion efforts have resulted and will continue to result in
increased costs and are subject to a variety of risks, including increased competition, uncertain enforcement of our intellectual property rights, more complex
distribution logistics, and the complexity of compliance with foreign laws and regulations.
Category Adoption and Market Growth
Consumer spend on the wearable devices market is growing faster than on any segment in the global consumer electronics market. As a pioneer of this market
and a leading connected health and fitness platform, we believe we have contributed significantly to the market’s growth. However, our future growth depends in
part on the continued consumer adoption of wearable devices as a means to improve health and fitness and the growth of this market.
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Seasonality
Historically, we have experienced higher revenue in the fourth quarter compared to other quarters due in large part to seasonal holiday demand. For example,
in 2013 and 2014, our fourth quarter represented 40% and 50% of our annual revenue, respectively. We also incur higher sales and marketing expenses during these
periods.
Investing in Growth
We intend to continue to make investments across our business to drive our growth. We intend to continue to invest significant resources in our sales,
marketing, advertising, and brand management efforts to drive demand for our products and services globally. We also intend to continue to invest in research and
development to enable us to introduce innovative new products and services and enhance existing products and services. We may also make acquisitions to further
drive our growth . For example, we acquired FitStar in March 2015 to enhance our software and services offerings through interactive video-based exercise
experiences on mobile devices and computers.
Furthermore, we intend to increase our focus on building relationships with employers and wellness providers. The corporate wellness market for connected
health and fitness devices is new and is subject to a variety of challenges, including whether employers will continue to invest in such programs, long sales cycles,
and substantial upfront sales costs. In each of 2012, 2013, and 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, we derived less than 10% of our revenue
from our corporate wellness offerings. However, we believe that as healthcare costs continue to rise and as employers continue to seek ways to keep their employees
active, engaged, and productive, more employers will implement or enhance their corporate wellness programs. In order to grow our corporate wellness presence, we
intend to enhance our corporate wellness offering as well as expand our sales team focused on this market.
Components of our Operating Results
Revenue
We generate substantially all of our revenue from the sale of our connected health and fitness devices and accessories. We also generate a small portion of our
revenue from our subscription-based premium services.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists of product costs, including costs of contract manufacturers for production, shipping and handling costs, warranty replacement costs,
packaging, costs related to the Fitbit Force recall, fulfillment costs, manufacturing and tooling equipment depreciation, warehousing costs, excess and obsolete
inventory write-downs, and certain allocated costs related to management, facilities, and personnel-related expenses and other expenses associated with supply chain
logistics. Personnel-related expenses include salaries, bonuses, benefits, and stock-based compensation.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses.
Research and Development . Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, consulting and contractor expenses, tooling
and prototype materials, and allocated overhead costs.
Substantially all of our research and development expenses are related to developing new products and services and improving our existing products and
services. To date, research and development expenses have been expensed as incurred, because the period between achieving technological feasibility and the release
of
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products and services for sale has been short and development costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant.
We expect our research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to make significant investments in developing new products
and services and enhancing existing products and services.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses represent the largest component of our operating expenses and consist primarily of advertising and
marketing promotions of our products and services and personnel-related expenses, as well as sales incentives, trade show and event costs, sponsorship costs,
consulting and contractor expenses, travel, POP display expenses and related amortization, and allocated overhead costs. We expect our sales and marketing
expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to actively promote our products and services.
General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related expenses for our finance, legal, human resources, and
administrative personnel, as well as the costs of professional services, any allocated overhead, information technology, and other administrative expenses. We expect
our general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars due to the anticipated growth of our business and related infrastructure as well as legal,
accounting, insurance, investor relations, and other costs associated with becoming a public company.
Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net consists of interest expense associated with our debt financing arrangements, amortization of debt issuance costs, and interest income
earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net consists of mark-to-market adjustments for the revaluation of our redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability and
foreign currency gains and losses.
Income Tax Expense
We are subject to income taxes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. These foreign jurisdictions have statutory tax rates
different from those in the United States. Accordingly, our effective tax rates will vary depending on the relative proportion of foreign to U.S. income, the utilization
of foreign tax credits, and changes in tax laws.
Fitbit Force Product Recall
In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force after some of our users experienced allergic reactions to adhesives in the wristband. This recall primarily impacted
our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014. We established a reserve for the Fitbit Force recall after considering various factors including
cost estimates for customer returns, logistics and handling fees for managing product returns and processing refunds, obsolescence of on-hand inventory,
cancellation charges for existing purchase commitments, rework of component inventory with the contract manufacturer, legal fees and settlement costs, and writeoffs of tooling and manufacturing equipment.
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The recall had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:
Three Months Ended
March 31,

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014

2014

2015

(in thousands)

Reduction of revenue
Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses (benefit)
Impact on income (loss) before income taxes

$ (30,607)
51,205
(81,812)
2,838
$ (84,650)

$

(8,112)
11,339
(19,451)
3,389
$ (22,840)

$ (11,561)
10,602
(22,163)
2,876
$ (25,039)

$

$

—
(2,040)
2,040
(142)
2,182

During 2013, incremental cost of revenue related to the recall included charges to the recall reserve of $49.5 million and a write-off of tooling and
manufacturing equipment of $1.7 million, which was recognized as incurred. During 2014, general and administrative expenses included legal fees of $2.9 million,
which were recognized as incurred, and legal settlement costs of $0.5 million, which were included in the Fitbit Force recall reserve. During the three months ended
March 31, 2015, general and administrative expenses consisted of the benefit to legal expenses of $0.1 million, which was not included in the Fitbit Force recall
reserve. See note 6 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for additional information.
Operating Results
The following tables set forth the components of our consolidated statements of operations for each of the periods presented and as a percentage of our
revenue for those periods. The period-to-period comparison of operating results is not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

2012

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data :
Revenue
Cost of revenue (2)
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development (2)
Sales and marketing (2)
General and administrative (2)
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2013 (1)
2014 (1)
(in thousands)

$ 76,373
49,733
26,640

Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
62

$ 271,087
210,836
60,251

16,210
10,237
3,968
30,415
(3,775)
(176)
26

27,873
26,847
14,485
69,205
(8,954)
(1,082)
(3,649)

(3,925)
291
$ (4,216)

(13,685)
37,937
$ (51,622)

$ 745,433
387,776
357,657
54,167
112,005
33,556
199,728
157,929
(2,222)
(15,934)
139,773
7,996
$ 131,777

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 (1)
2015 (1)

$ 108,815
64,046
44,769
9,088
11,273
8,617
28,978
15,791
(409)
(1,219)
14,163
5,291
$ 8,872

$ 336,754
167,545
169,209
22,426
43,867
12,981
79,274
89,935
(467)
(13,077)
76,391
28,394
$ 47,997
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(1)

In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information. The recall, which primarily affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the
first quarter of 2014, had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2015

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014

2014
(in thousands)

Reduction of revenue
Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses (benefit)
Impact on income (loss) before income taxes
(2)

$ (30,607)
51,205
(81,812)
2,838
$ (84,650)

$ (8,112)
11,339
(19,451)
3,389
$ (22,840)

$ (11,561)
10,602
(22,163)
2,876
$ (25,039)

$

—
(2,040)
2,040
(142)
$ 2,182

Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total

$ 15
62
29
26
$ 132

2012

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data :
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)

100%
65
35
21
14
5
40
(5)
—
—
(5)
—
(5)%
63

$ 37
288
204
91
$ 620

$ 890
2,350
1,295
2,269
$6,804

$

59
92
63
100
$ 314

Year Ended December 31,
2013 (1)
2014 (1)
(as a percentage of revenue)

$

446
1,879
1,307
1,271
$ 4,903
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 (1)
2015 (1)

100%
78
22

100%
52
48

100%
59
41

100%
50
50

10
10
5
25
(3)
—
(2)
(5)
14
(19)%

7
15
5
27
21
—
(2)
19
1
18%

9
10
8
27
14
—
(1)
13
5
8%

7
13
4
24
26
—
(4)
22
8
14%
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(1)

In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information. The recall, which primarily affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the
first quarter of 2014, had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:
Three Months Ended
Year Ended December 31,
March 31,
2013
2014
2014
2015
(as a percentage of revenue)
19%
2%
9%
(1)%
(30)
(3)
(20)
1
1
—
3
—
(31)%
(3)%
(23)%
1%

Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses
Impact on income (loss) before taxes

Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and 2015
Revenue
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 (1)
2015
(in thousands)

Revenue
(1)

$108,815

$336,754

Change
$

%

$227,939

209%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in a decrease to revenue of $11.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

Revenue increased $227.9 million, or 209%, from $108.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $336.8 million for three months ended March
31, 2015. A substantial majority of the increase was due to an increase in the number of devices sold from 1.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2014 to
3.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2015, including $233.4 million from new products introduced in the fourth quarter of 2014. U.S. revenue, based on
ship-to destinations, increased $175.5 million, or 195%, from $89.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $265.3 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2015 and international revenue, based on ship-to destinations, increased by $52.4 million, or 276%, from $19.0 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 to $71.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015.
Cost of Revenue
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 (1)
2015 (1)
(dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Gross margin
(1)

$64,046
44,769
41%

$167,545
169,209
50%

Change
$

$103,499
124,440

%

162%
278%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in an increase to cost of revenue of $10.6 million and a benefit to cost of revenue of $2.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, a decrease in
gross profit of $22.2 million and an increase in gross profit of $2.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, and a decrease of 20 percentage points and an increase of 1 percentage
point in gross margin in the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

Cost of revenue increased $103.5 million, or 162%, from $64.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $167.5 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the number of devices sold, partially offset by a decrease of $12.6 million in costs, from
$10.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2014 to a benefit of $2.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2015, incurred in connection with the
recall of the Fitbit Force.
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Gross margin increased to 50% for the three months ended March 31, 2015 from 41% for the three months ended March 31, 2014. The increase in gross
margin was primarily due to a reduction in costs incurred in connection with the recall of the Fitbit Force and was also positively impacted by the mix of products
sold.
Research and Development
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2015
(in thousands)

Change

2014

Research and development

$9,088

$22,426

$

%

$13,338

147%

Research and development expenses increased $13.3 million, or 147%, from $9.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $22.4 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to a $9.7 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to a 119% increase in headcount,
and a $2.7 million increase in consultant and contractor expenses.
Sales and Marketing
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
(in thousands)

Sales and marketing

$11,273

$43,867

Change
$

%

$32,594

289%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $32.6 million, or 289%, from $11.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $43.9 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to a $24.8 million increase in expenses associated with advertising costs and other marketing
programs. In addition, personnel-related expenses increased $3.8 million due to a 92% increase in headcount, and consulting and contractor expenses increased $3.3
million.
General and Administrative
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 (1)
2015
(in thousands)

General and administrative
(1)

$8,617

$12,981

Change
$

%

$4,364

51%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in an increase to general and administrative expenses of $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for
additional information.

General and administrative expenses increased $4.4 million, or 51%, from $8.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $13.0 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to a $3.3 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to a 90% increase in headcount, a
$1.7 million increase in consulting and contractor expenses, and a $0.6 million increase in allocated overhead, partially offset by a $1.9 million decrease in legal
fees.
Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2015

Change

2014

$

%

(in thousands)

Interest expense, net
Other expense, net

$ (409)
(1,219
)
65

$

(467)
(13,077)

$

(58)

14%

(11,858)

973%
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Other expense, net, increased $11.9 million, or 973%, from $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $13.1 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $9.0 million in charges related to the revaluation of our convertible preferred stock warrant
liability and a $2.8 million increase in foreign exchange loss.
Income Tax Expense
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2015
(in thousands)

Change

2014

Income tax expense

$5,291

$28,394

$

%

$23,103

437%

Income tax expense increased $23.1 million, or 437%, from $5.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 to $28.4 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2015. The increase was primarily due to the increase in earnings in the three months ended March 31, 2015.
Comparison of 2013 and 2014
Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2013 (1)
2014 (1)
(in thousands)

Revenue
(1)

$271,087

$745,433

Change
$

$474,346

%

175%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in a decrease to revenue of $30.6 million and $8.1 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

Revenue increased $474.3 million, or 175%, from $271.1 million for 2013 to $745.4 million for 2014. A substantial majority of the increase was due to an
increase in the number of devices sold from 4.5 million in 2013 to 10.9 million in 2014, including $151.9 million from new products that we began selling in 2014.
U.S. revenue, based on ship-to destinations, increased $356.5 million, or 173%, from $206.1 million for 2013 to $562.6 million for 2014 and international revenue,
based on ship-to destinations, increased by $117.9 million, or 181%, from $65.0 million for 2013 to $182.9 million for 2014.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
Change
2013 (1)
2014 (1)
$
(dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Gross margin
(1)

$ 210,836
60,251
22%

$ 387,776
357,657
48%

$176,940
297,406

%

84%
494%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in an increase to cost of revenue of $51.2 million and $11.3 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively, a decrease in gross profit of $81.8 million and $19.5 million in 2013 and 2014,
respectively, and a decrease of 30 percentage points and 3 percentage points in gross margin in 2013 and 2014, respectively. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

Cost of revenue increased $176.9 million, or 84%, from $210.8 million for 2013 to $387.8 million for 2014. The increase was primarily due to the increase in
the number of devices sold, partially offset by a decrease of $39.9 million in costs, from $51.2 million in 2013 to $11.3 million in 2014, incurred in connection with
the recall of the Fitbit Force.
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Gross margin increased to 48% for 2014 from 22% for 2013. The increase in gross margin was primarily due to a reduction in costs incurred in connection
with the recall of the Fitbit Force.
Research and Development
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Research and development

$ 27,873

$ 54,167

Change
$

%

$26,294

94%

Research and development expenses increased $26.3 million, or 94%, from $27.9 million for 2013 to $54.2 million for 2014. The increase was primarily due
to a $13.9 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to a 110% increase in headcount, a $12.9 million increase in consultant and contractor expenses, and a
$3.6 million increase in allocated overhead, which was partially offset by a decrease in expenses for tooling and prototype materials of $4.2 million.
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Sales and marketing

$ 26,847

$ 112,005

Change
$

%

$85,158

317%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $85.2 million, or 317%, from $26.8 million for 2013 to $112.0 million for 2014. The increase was primarily due to a
$66.9 million increase in expenses associated with advertising costs and other marketing programs. In addition, consulting and contractor expenses increased
$9.6 million and personnel-related expenses increased $9.3 million due to a 131% increase in headcount, partially offset by a decrease of $0.6 million of other
expenses.
General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,
2013 (1)
2014 (1)
(in thousands)

General and administrative
(1)

$

14,485

$

33,556

Change
$

%

$19,071

132%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in an increase to general and administrative expenses of $2.8 million and $3.4 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for
additional information.

General and administrative expenses increased $19.1 million, or 132%, from $14.5 million for 2013 to $33.6 million for 2014. The increase was primarily due
to a $6.8 million increase in legal fees, a $5.7 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to a 64% increase in headcount, a $2.2 million increase in allocated
overhead, and a $2.7 million increase in consulting and contractor expenses.
Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Interest expense, net
Other expense, net

$ (1,082)
(3,649)

$ (2,222)
(15,934)

Change
$

$ (1,140)
(12,285)

%

105%
337%

Interest expense, net increased $1.1 million, or 105%, from $1.1 million for 2013 to $2.2 million for 2014. The increase was primarily due to an increase in
average indebtedness outstanding compared to 2013. Other
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expense, net, increased $12.3 million, or 337%, from $3.6 million for 2013 to $15.9 million for 2014. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $9.9 million
in charges related to the revaluation of our convertible preferred stock warrant liability and a $2.5 million increase in foreign exchange loss.
Income Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Income tax expense

$ 37,937

$ 7,996

Change
$

%

$(29,941)

(79)%

Income tax expense decreased $29.9 million, or 79%, from $37.9 million for 2013 to $8.0 million for 2014. Our effective tax rate was 277.2% and 5.7% for
2013 and 2014, respectively. The decrease in income tax expense and effective tax rate in 2014 was due to a $51.3 million tax benefit related to the release of a
valuation allowance on deferred tax assets for accruals, which includes the impact of costs incurred in 2013 in connection with the Fitbit Force recall, and tax credits
from prior years. This non-recurring tax benefit is offset by income tax expense on earnings in 2014 and a downward revaluation of our deferred tax assets due to a
change in state tax law enacted in 2014.
Comparison of 2012 and 2013
Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013 (1)
(in thousands)

Revenue
(1)

$ 76,373

$ 271,087

Change
$

%

$194,714

255%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in a decrease to revenue of $30.6 million in 2013. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

Revenue increased $194.7 million, or 255%, from $76.4 million for 2012 to $271.1 million for 2013. A substantial majority of the change was due to an
increase in the number of devices sold from 1.3 million in 2012 to 4.5 million in 2013, including $141.1 million from new products that we began selling in 2013.
U.S. revenue, based on ship-to destinations, increased $138.8 million, or 206%, from $67.3 million for 2012 to $206.1 million for 2013 and international revenue,
based on ship-to destinations, increased by $55.9 million, or 614%, from $9.1 million for 2012 to $65.0 million for 2013.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013 (1)
(dollars in thousands)

Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Gross margin
(1)

$49,733
26,640
35%

$ 210,836
60,251
22%

Change
$

$161,103
33,611

%

324%
126%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in an increase to cost of revenue of $51.2 million in 2013, a decrease in gross profit of $81.8 million in 2013, and a decrease of 30 percentage points in gross margin in 2013. See
the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

Cost of revenue increased $161.1 million, or 324%, from $49.7 million for 2012 to $210.8 million for 2013. The increase was primarily due to the increase in
the number of devices sold and $51.2 million in costs incurred in connection with the recall of the Fitbit Force.
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Gross margin decreased to 22% for 2013 from 35% for 2012. The decrease in gross margin was primarily due to an increase in costs incurred in connection
with the recall of the Fitbit Force partially offset by improved margins on our products.
Research and Development
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
(in thousands)

Research and development

$ 16,210

$ 27,873

Change
$

%

$11,663

72%

Research and development expenses increased $11.7 million, or 72%, from $16.2 million for 2012 to $27.9 million for 2013. The increase was primarily due
to a $5.5 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to a 96% increase in headcount and a $5.2 million increase in expenses for tooling and prototype
materials associated with new product introductions in 2013.
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
(in thousands)

Sales and marketing

$ 10,237

$ 26,847

Change
$

%

$16,610

162%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $16.6 million, or 162%, from $10.2 million for 2012 to $26.8 million for 2013. The increase was primarily due to an
$8.0 million increase in marketing expenses associated with increased advertising and promotional activities. In addition, consulting and contractor expenses
increased $3.3 million and personnel-related expenses increased $3.0 million due to a 55% increase in headcount.
General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,
2013 (1)
2012
(in thousands)

General and administrative
(1)

$ 3,968

$ 14,485

Change
$

%

$10,517

265%

The Fitbit Force recall resulted in an increase to general and administrative expenses of $2.8 million in 2013. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information.

General and administrative expenses increased $10.5 million, or 265%, from $4.0 million for 2012 to $14.5 million for 2013. The increase was primarily due
to a $4.3 million increase in legal fees, a $2.5 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to a 133% increase in headcount, and a $2.1 million increase in
allocated overhead.
Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), Net
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
(in thousands)

Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net

$ (176)
26

$

(1,082)
(3,649)

Change
$

$ (906)
(3,675)

%

515%
NM

Interest expense, net increased $0.9 million, or 515%, from $0.2 million for 2012 to $1.1 million for 2013. The increase was due to an increase in average
indebtedness outstanding compared to 2012. Other income (expense), net increased $3.7 million from 2012 primarily due to an increase of $3.4 million in charges
related to the revaluation of our convertible preferred stock warrant liability.
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Income Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
(in thousands)

Income tax expense

$

291

$

37,937

Change
$

%

$37,646

NM

Income tax expense increased $37.6 million, from $0.3 million for 2012 to $37.9 million for 2013. The increase was primarily due to the continued
recognition of a full valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets, which included the accrual for the Fitbit Force recall.
Quarterly Results of Operations and Key Metrics
Quarterly Results of Operations
The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the eight quarterly periods ended March 31, 2015.
The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this
prospectus and, in our opinion, includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the results of operations
for these periods. This information should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in the
prospectus. These quarterly results are not necessarily indicative of our operating results for a full year or any future period.

Consolidated statement of operations data :
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31,
Jun. 30,
2014 (1)
2014 (1)
(in thousands)

Jun. 30,
2013

Sept. 30,
2013

Dec. 31,
2013 (1)

$ 47,169
25,947
21,222

$ 83,667
42,412
41,255

$ 107,130
124,345
(17,215)

$ 108,815
64,046
44,769

6,507
5,433
2,154
14,094
7,128
(268)
(655)
6,205
3,325
$ 2,880

7,766
6,159
2,853
16,778
24,477
(274)
(1,221)
22,982
12,297
$ 10,685

8,254
11,038
8,140
27,432
(44,647)
(344)
(1,564)
(46,555)
20,341
$ (66,896)

9,088
11,273
8,617
28,978
15,791
(409)
(1,219)
14,163
5,291
$ 8,872
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Sept. 30,
2014 (1)

Dec. 31,
2014 (1)

Mar. 31,
2015 (1)

$ 113,572
55,183
58,389

$ 152,862
69,257
83,605

$ 370,184
199,290
170,894

$ 336,754
167,545
169,209

11,809
13,311
7,443
32,563
25,826
(452)
(3,687)
21,687
6,934
$ 14,753

14,945
17,539
7,849
40,333
43,272
(680)
(2,816)
39,776
(29,136)
$ 68,912

18,325
69,882
9,647
97,854
73,040
(681)
(8,212)
64,147
24,907
$ 39,240

22,426
43,867
12,981
79,274
89,935
(467)
(13,077)
76,391
28,394
$ 47,997
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(1)

In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information. The recall, which primarily affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the
first quarter of 2014, had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:

(Reduction of) increase to revenue
Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses (benefit)
Impact on income (loss) before income taxes

Dec. 31,
2013

Mar. 31,
2014

$ (30,607)
51,205
(81,812)
2,838
$ (84,650)

$ (11,561)
10,602
(22,163)
2,876
$ (25,039)

Three Months Ended
Jun. 30,
Sept. 30,
2014
2014
(in thousands)
$
—
$
—
—
(1,485)
—
1,485
1,483
2
$ (1,483)
$
1,483

Dec. 31,
2014

Mar. 31,
2015

$

$

3,449
2,222
1,227
(972)
2,199

$

$

—
(2,040)
2,040
(142)
2,182

The following table sets forth the components of our consolidated statements of operations data, for each of the periods presented, as a percentage of revenue:
Jun. 30,
2013

Consolidated statements of operations data :
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)
(1)

Sept. 30,
2013

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31,
Jun. 30,
2014 (1)
2014 (1)
(as a percentage of revenue)

Dec. 31,
2013 (1)

Sept. 30,
2014 (1)

Dec. 31,
2014 (1)

Mar. 31,
2015 (1)

100%
55
45

100%
51
49

100%
116
(16)

100%
59
41

100%
49
51

100%
45
55

100%
54
46

100%
50
50

14
11
5
30
15
(1)
(1)
13
7
6%

9
7
4
20
29
—
(1)
28
15
13%

8
10
8
26
(42)
—
(1)
(43)
19
(62)%

9
10
8
27
14
—
(1)
13
5
8%

10
12
7
29
22
—
(3)
19
6
13%

10
12
5
27
28
—
(2)
26
(19)
45%

5
18
3
26
20
—
(2)
18
7
11%

7
13
4
24
26
—
(4)
22
8
14%

In March 2014, we recalled the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Product Recall” for additional information. The recall, which primarily affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the
first quarter of 2014, had the following effect on our income (loss) before income taxes:

Incremental (benefit to) cost of revenue
Impact on gross profit
Incremental general and administrative expenses (benefit)
Impact on income (loss) before income taxes

Dec. 31,

Mar. 31,

2013

2014

48%
(76)
3
(79)%

71

9%
(20)
3
(23)%

Three Months Ended
Jun. 30,
Sept. 30,
2014
2014
(as a percentage of revenue)
—%
(1)%
—
1
1
—
(1)%
1%

Dec. 31,
2014
1%
1
—
1%

Mar. 31,
2015
(1)%
1
—
1%
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Quarterly Trends
Our quarterly revenue increased sequentially for all periods presented due primarily to increases in the number of devices sold, which was partly the result of
the introduction of five new devices since the beginning of 2013, and growth in international sales. Generally, we have experienced the highest levels of revenue in
the fourth quarter of the year compared to other quarters due in large part to seasonal holiday demand.
Quarterly costs and expenses generally increased sequentially for all periods presented, primarily due to the increase of personnel-related expenses from
increases in headcount and marketing and advertising expenses from our efforts to increase sales of our products and services. The increase in expenses for the three
months ended December 31, 2014 was primarily due to an increase in expenses associated with advertising costs and other marketing programs for the 2014 holiday
season. The Fitbit Force recall significantly affected our results for the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force
Product Recall” for additional information.
Overall operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of a variety of factors, including seasonal factors and economic cycles that influence
consumer retail product purchase trends.
Key Metrics

Devices sold
Adjusted EBITDA

Jun. 30,
2013

Sept. 30,
2013

Dec. 31,
2013

745
$7,765

1,291
$25,345

1,919
$41,199

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31,
Jun. 30,
2014
2014
(in thousands)

1,575
$42,028

1,720
$29,088

Sept. 30,
2014

Dec. 31,
2014

Mar. 31,
2015

2,332
$44,320

5,277
$75,606

3,866
$93,383

Sept. 30,
2014

Dec. 31,
2014

Mar. 31,
2015

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA:

Net income (loss)
Impact of Fitbit Force recall
Stock-based compensation expense
Revaluation of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant
liability
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense, net
Income tax expense (benefit)
Adjusted EBITDA

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31,
Jun. 30,
2014
2014
(in thousands)

Jun. 30,
2013

Sept. 30,
2013

Dec. 31,
2013

$2,880
—
116

$10,685
—
165

$(66,896)
84,650
275

$ 8,872
25,039
314

$14,753
1,483
661

$ 68,912
(1,483)
2,470

$39,240
(2,199)
3,359

$47,997
(2,182)
4,903

496
680
268
3,325
$7,765

1,224
700
274
12,297
$25,345

1,305
1,180
344
20,341
$ 41,199

1,353
750
409
5,291
$42,028

3,842
963
452
6,934
$29,088

1,626
1,251
680
(29,136)
$ 44,320

6,451
3,167
681
24,907
$75,606

10,335
3,469
467
28,394
$93,383

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our operations have been financed primarily through cash flow from operating activities, the net proceeds from the sale of our preferred equity securities, and
borrowings under our credit facilities. As of March 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of $237.8 million and total long-term debt of $159.6 million,
excluding $0.4 million of debt discount. Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we repaid $160.0 million of our long-term debt, which reduced our cash and cash
equivalents by an equivalent amount. As a result, the long-term debt that would have been classified as long-term debt, less current portion, that was repaid was
classified as long-term debt, current portion, on our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2015.
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We believe our existing cash and cash equivalent balances and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital
expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements may vary materially from those currently planned and will depend on many
factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the timing and extent of spending on research and development efforts and other business initiatives, the expansion of
sales and marketing activities, the timing of new product introductions, market acceptance of our products and overall economic conditions. To the extent that
current and anticipated future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and requirements, we may be required to seek additional
equity or debt financing. The sale of additional equity would result in additional dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of debt financing would result in debt
service obligations and the instruments governing such debt could provide for operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations.
Credit Facilities
In August 2014, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement, or Asset-Based Credit Facility, which allows us to borrow up to $180.0 million
and a revolving credit and guarantee agreement, or Cash Flow Facility, which allows us to borrow up to $50.0 million.
Asset-Based Credit Facility
We entered into the Asset-Based Credit Facility with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, as administrative agent and lender, and several other lenders, including
affiliates of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. The Asset-Based Credit Facility allows us to
borrow up to the lesser of (i) $180.0 million, including up to $50.0 million for the issuance of letters of credit and up to $25.0 million for swing line loans and (ii) the
borrowing base then in effect less the amount then outstanding under letters of credit and loans. The borrowing base is determined by our collateral agents based on
several variables, including percentages of the book value of certain eligible accounts receivable and a percentage of certain eligible inventories. Borrowings under
the Asset-Based Credit Facility may be drawn as Alternate Base Rate, or ABR, loans or Eurodollar loans, and matures in August 2018. ABR loans bear interest at a
variable rate equal to the applicable margin plus the highest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%, and (iii) the Eurodollar rate plus
1.0%, but in any case at a minimum rate of 3.25% per annum. Eurodollar loans bear interest at a variable rate based on the LIBOR rate and Euro currency reserve
requirements. We are also required to pay an annual commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the facility of 0.25%, 0.35%, or 0.45%, based on usage
of the facility.
We have the option to repay our borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility without penalty prior to maturity. The Asset-Based Credit Facility requires
us to comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.1:1, consolidated leverage ratios of
between 3:1 and 2:1, and levels of liquidity of not less than $15.0 million. The Asset-Based Credit Facility also requires us to comply with certain non-financial
covenants. We were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015.
As of March 31, 2015, we had $160.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility. Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we repaid
$160.0 million of our indebtedness under our Asset-Based Credit Facility.
Cash Flow Facility
We entered into the Cash Flow Facility with an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and several other lenders,
including SVB and an affiliate of SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. In October 2014, we entered into an incremental commitment joinder agreement with an
affiliate of Barclays Capital Inc., increasing the borrowing limit under the Cash Flow Facility. The Cash Flow Facility allows us to borrow up to $50.0 million,
including up to $10.0 million for the issuance of letters of credit and up
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to $10.0 million for swing line loans, and matures in August 2018. Borrowings under our Cash Flow Facility may also be drawn as ABR loans or Eurodollar loans.
ABR loans under our Cash Flow Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to the applicable margin plus the highest of (i) 3.5%, (ii) the prime rate, (iii) the federal
funds effective rate plus 0.5%, and (iv) the adjusted LIBOR rate plus 1.0%. Eurodollar loans under our Cash Flow Facility bear interest at a variable rate for any day
based on the LIBOR rate and Euro currency reserve requirements. We are also required to pay an annual commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the
facility of 0.375% or 0.5%, based on usage of the facility. The Cash Flow Facility also requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining
certain consolidated leverage ratios of between 3:1 and 2:1, and other non-financial covenants. We were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31,
2014 and March 31, 2015. As of March 31, 2015 we had no outstanding borrowings under the Cash Flow Facility.
Our obligations under both of our credit facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets, including our intellectual property.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

$(6,884)
(2,505)
7,749
$(1,640)

$33,171
(9,834)
45,243
$68,580

$ 18,774
(24,185)
119,264
$113,853

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015

$ (9,483)
(599)
27,052
$16,970

$ 32,660
(16,046)
25,566
$ 42,180

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities of $32.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015 was primarily due to net income of $48.0 million and
non-cash adjustments of $16.8 million, partially offset by a decrease in net change in operating assets and liabilities of $32.2 million. Non-cash adjustments
primarily consisted of the revaluation of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability and stock-based compensation expense. The decrease in net
change in operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $64.3 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities related to
growth of expenditures to support general business growth, a $24.2 million increase in inventories, and a $12.9 million decrease in income tax payable, partially
offset by a $77.4 million decrease in accounts receivable. Our days sales outstanding in accounts receivable decreased from 58 days as of December 31, 2014 to
43 days as of March 31, 2015, primarily due to timing of revenue within the quarter. Inventory levels have increased to support demand for the new products
announced in the fourth quarter of 2014.
Net cash used in operating activities of $9.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was primarily due to a decrease in net change in operating
assets and liabilities of $21.6 million, partially offset by net income of $8.9 million and non-cash adjustments of $3.3 million. The decrease in net change in
operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $46.0 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities, partially offset by a
$31.0 million decrease in accounts receivable.
Net cash provided by operating activities of $18.8 million for 2014 was primarily due to net income of $131.8 million, partially offset by a decrease in net
change in operating assets and liabilities of $102.8 million, and non-cash adjustments of $10.2 million. The decrease in net change in operating assets and liabilities
was primarily due to a $158.8 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales in the fourth quarter of 2014 as a result of increased product demand, a
$61.6 million increase in inventories as a result of a decrease in
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inventory turnover during 2014 primarily due to increased inventory levels for new products announced in the fourth quarter of 2014, and a $60.5 million decrease in
Fitbit Force recall liabilities, partially offset by a $171.5 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities related to growth of
expenditures to support general business growth. Non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of deferred taxes, partially offset by the revaluation of the redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrant liability. Our days sales outstanding in accounts receivable decreased from 69 days as of December 31, 2013 to 58 days as
of December 31, 2014 due to stronger collections in the fourth quarter of 2014 compared to the fourth quarter of 2013.
Net cash provided by operating activities of $33.2 million for 2013 was primarily due to an increase in net change in operating assets and liabilities of $64.0
million and non-cash adjustments of $20.8 million, partially offset by a net loss of $51.6 million. The increase in net change in operating assets and liabilities was
primarily due to a $77.9 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities related to growth of expenditures to support general business
growth, and a $72.7 million increase in Fitbit Force recall liabilities, partially offset by a $55.6 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales in the
fourth quarter of 2013 as a result of increased product demand, and a $47.4 million increase in inventories driven by higher levels of inventory to support demand.
Non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of provisions for inventory obsolescence related to the Fitbit Force recall and the revaluation of the redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrant liability. Our days sales outstanding in accounts receivable decreased from 73 days as of December 31, 2012 to 69 days as of
December 31, 2013 due to stronger collections in the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to the fourth quarter of 2012.
Net cash used in operating activities of $6.9 million for 2012 was primarily due to a decrease in net change in operating assets and liabilities of $4.5 million
and a net loss of $4.2 million, partially offset by non-cash adjustments of $1.8 million. The increase in net change in operating assets and liabilities was primarily
due to a $22.2 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities related to growth of expenditures to support general business growth,
partially offset by a $20.1 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales in the fourth quarter of 2012 as a result of increased product demand, and a
$9.4 million increase in inventories due to increased inventory levels for products released in the fourth quarter of 2012. Non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of
depreciation and amortization.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2015 of $16.0 million was due to the cash portion of the acquisition of FitStar of $11.0
million, net of cash acquired, and purchases of property and equipment.
Cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 of $0.6 million was due to $2.9 million used for purchases of property and
equipment, partially offset by a $2.3 million increase in restricted cash related to our operating lease obligations.
Cash used in investing activities for 2014 of $24.2 million was due to $26.5 million used for purchases of property and equipment, partially offset by a
decrease of $2.3 million in restricted cash related to operating lease obligations.
Cash used in investing activities for 2013 of $9.8 million was due to $7.5 million used for purchases of property and equipment, and a $2.3 million increase in
restricted cash related to our operating lease obligations.
Cash used in investing activities for 2012 of $2.5 million related to purchases of property and equipment.
In March 2015, we acquired FitStar for total consideration of $32.8 million, comprised of $13.6 million of common stock, $11.5 million of cash, and
$7.7 million of contingent consideration. We determined the fair
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market value of the contingent consideration, according to which we may be obligated to issue additional common stock or pay cash, to be $7.7 million as of the
acquisition date. The actual amount of additional common stock or cash to be paid, if any, will depend on market-based events that may occur in the future. We may
continue to use cash in the future to acquire businesses and technologies that enhance and expand our product offerings. Due to the nature of these transactions, it is
difficult to predict the amount and timing of such cash requirements to complete such transactions. We may be required to raise additional funds to complete future
acquisitions.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2015 of $25.6 million was primarily related to net borrowings of $25.5 million
under our credit facilities.
Cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 of $27.1 million was primarily related to net borrowings of $27.0 million
under our credit facilities.
Cash provided by financing activities for 2014 of $119.3 million was primarily related to net borrowings of $119.1 million under our credit facilities.
Cash provided by financing activities for 2013 of $45.2 million primarily consisted of net proceeds of $42.8 million related to the issuance of our Series D
convertible preferred stock and net borrowings of $2.2 million under our credit facilities as well as proceeds from the issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options of $0.2 million.
Cash provided by financing activities for 2012 primarily consisted of $7.7 million of net borrowings under our credit facilities, net of issuance costs.
Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments
The following table summarizes our non-cancelable contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014:
Payments Due By Period
More than

Debt principal and interest (1)
Operating leases (2)
Total
(1)
(2)

Total

Less than
1 Year

$132,589
20,188
$152,777

$132,589
4,224
$136,813

1-3
Years
(in thousands)

$

—
11,365
$11,365

3-5
Years

$

—
4,599
$4,599

5 Years

$
$

—
—
—

Interest payments were calculated using the applicable rate as of December 31, 2014. See note 7 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. Subsequent to
December 31, 2014, we repaid $133.0 million of our long-term debt. As a result, the long-term debt that would have been classified as long-term debt, less current portion, that was repaid was classified as longterm debt, current portion, on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014.
We lease our facilities under long-term operating leases, which expire at various dates through April 2020. The lease agreements frequently include provisions which require us to pay taxes, insurance, or
maintenance costs.

Purchase orders or contracts for the purchase of certain goods and services are not included in the preceding table. The aggregate amount of purchase orders
open as of December 31, 2014 was approximately $257.0 million. We cannot determine the aggregate amount of such purchase orders that represent contractual
obligations because purchase orders may represent authorizations to purchase rather than binding agreements. Our purchase orders are based on our current needs
and are fulfilled by our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers within short periods of time. We subcontract with other companies to manufacture
our products. During the normal course of business, we and our contract manufacturers procure components based
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upon a forecasted production plan. If we cancel all or part of the orders, we may be liable to our suppliers and contract manufacturers for the cost of the unutilized
component orders or components purchased by our contract manufactures.
The table above excludes the liability for uncertain tax positions of $10.0 million as of December 31, 2014, due to the uncertainty of when the related tax
settlements will become due.
During the three months ended March 31, 2015, we entered into additional contractual obligations. Our total future non-cancelable minimum payments under
non-cancelable contractual obligations were $185.5 million as of March 31, 2015, which consisted of $159.6 million of debt principal and interest and $25.9 million
of operating leases. Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we repaid $160.0 million of our long-term debt. The total future non-cancelable minimum payments under noncancelable contractual obligations exclude the liability for uncertain tax positions of $11.1 million as of March 31, 2015. The aggregate amount of purchase orders
open as of March 31, 2015 was approximately $314.1 million.
Subsequent to March 31, 2015, we entered into non-binding letters of intent to enter into new operating lease agreements. The leases, if entered into, would
increase the amount of our leased space in San Francisco, California, expire four to nine years from their respective commencement dates and would, if entered into,
increase our total future operating lease obligations by approximately $101.4 million.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.
Critical Accounting Polices and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported
revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we
believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe that the accounting
policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving
management’s estimates, assumptions, and judgments.
Revenue Recognition
We generate substantially all of our revenue from the sale of our connected health and fitness devices and accessories. We also generate a small portion of our
revenue from our subscription-based premium services. We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales
price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. We consider delivery of our products to have occurred once title and risk of loss has been
transferred. We recognize revenue, net of estimated sales returns, sales incentives, discounts, and sales tax. We generally recognize revenue for products sold
through retailers and distributors on a sell-in basis. We have determined our multiple element arrangements generally include three separate units of accounting. The
first deliverable is the hardware and firmware essential to the functionality of our connected health and fitness devices delivered at the time of sale. The second
deliverable is the software services included with the products, which are provided free of charge and enables users to sync, view, and access real-time data on our
online dashboard and mobile apps. The third deliverable is the embedded right
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included with the purchase of the device to receive, on a when-and-if-available basis, future unspecified firmware upgrades and features relating to the product’s
essential firmware. Commencing in the first quarter of 2015, we began accounting for the embedded right as a separate unit of accounting, which is when we
believe, through recent public announcements, we had created an implied obligation to, from time to time, provide future unspecified firmware upgrades and features
to the firmware to improve and add new functionality to our health and fitness devices.
We allocate revenue to all deliverables based on their relative selling prices. We use a hierarchy to determine the selling price to be used for allocating
revenue to deliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value, (ii) third-party evidence, or TPE, and (iii) best estimate of the selling price, or
BESP, of selling price. We currently cannot establish VSOE for any of our deliverables since none of the deliverables are sold separately. Our process for
determining BESP considers multiple factors including consumer behaviors and our internal pricing model and may vary depending upon the facts and
circumstances related to each deliverable. BESP for our connected health and fitness devices and unspecified upgrade rights reflect our best estimate of the selling
prices if they were sold regularly on a stand-alone basis and comprises the majority of the arrangement consideration. BESP for upgrade rights currently ranges from
$1 to $5. TPE for our online dashboard and mobile apps is currently estimated at $0.99.
Amounts allocated to the delivered health and fitness devices are recognized at the time of delivery, provided the other conditions for revenue recognition
have been met. Amounts allocated to our online dashboard and mobile apps and unspecified upgrade rights are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated usage period of approximately ten months.
We offer our users the ability to purchase subscription-based premium services, through which our users receive incremental features, including access to a
digital personal trainer and in-depth analytics regarding the user’s personal metrics. Amounts paid for premium subscriptions are deferred and recognized ratably
over the service period which is typically 12 months. Revenue from subscription-based premium services was less than 1% of revenue for all periods presented.
In addition, we offer access to a customized corporate dashboard tool to certain customers in our corporate wellness offering. This tool is currently being
offered at no cost for the first year. We are currently unable to establish VSOE or TPE for the corporate dashboard tool. Current BESP of $20,000 for the corporate
dashboard is determined based on our internal pricing model for anticipated renewals for existing customers and pricing for new customers. Revenue allocated to the
corporate dashboard is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated access period of 12 months. Revenue from the corporate dashboard tool
was less than 1% of revenue for all periods presented.
We account for shipping and handling fees billed to customers as revenue. Sales taxes and value added taxes collected from customers are remitted to
governmental authorities, are not included in revenue, and are reflected as a liability on our consolidated balance sheets.
Rights of Return, Stock Rotation Rights, and Price Protection
We offer limited rights of return, stock rotation rights, and price protection under various policies and programs with our retailer and distributor customers and
end-users. Below is a summary of the general provisions of such policies and programs:
•
•

Certain retailers and distributors are allowed to return products that were originally sold through to an end-user, called “open box” returns, and such
returns may be made at any time after original sale.
All purchases through Fitbit.com are covered by a 45-day right of return.

•

Distributors are allowed stock rotation rights which are limited rights of return of products purchased during a prior period, generally one quarter.
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•

Distributors and retailers are allowed return rights for defective products.

•

Certain distributors are offered price protection that allows for the right to a partial credit for unsold inventory held by the distributor if we reduce the
selling price of a product.

We meet all conditions required to recognize revenue at the time of sale when a right of return exists. For example, our price to the buyer is fixed or
determinable at time of sale; the buyer’s obligation to pay is not contingent on resale of the product; and we are able to reasonably estimate the amount of future
returns. We estimate and record reserves for these policies and programs as a reduction of revenue and accounts receivable. On a quarterly basis, the amount of
revenue that is reserved for future returns is calculated based on historical trends and data specific to each reporting period. We review the actual returns evidenced
in prior quarters as a percent of related revenue to determine the historical returns rate. We then apply the historical rate of returns to the current period revenue as a
basis for estimating future returns. Through March 31, 2015, actual returns have primarily been open-box returns. In addition, through March 31, 2015, we have had
minimal stock rotation or price protection claims. When necessary, we also provide a specific reserve for products in the distribution channel in excess of estimated
requirements. This estimate can be affected by the amount of a particular product in the channel, the rate of sell-through, product plans, and other factors. We also
consider whether there are circumstances which may result in anticipated returns higher than the historical return rate from direct customers and record an additional
reserve as necessary.
Sales Incentives
We offer sales incentives such as cooperative advertising and marketing development fund programs, rebates, and other incentives. We record cooperative
advertising and marketing development fund programs with customers as a reduction to revenue unless we receive an identifiable benefit in exchange for credits
claimed by the customer and can reasonably estimate the fair value of the identifiable benefit received, in which case we will record it as a marketing expense. We
recognize a liability with a reduction to revenue for rebates or other incentives based on the estimated amount of rebates or credits that will be claimed by customers.
Inventories
Inventories consist of finished goods and component parts, which are purchased from contract manufacturers and component suppliers. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis. We assess the valuation of inventory and periodically write down the value for estimated excess and
obsolete inventory based upon estimates of future demand and market conditions.
Product Warranty
We offer a standard product warranty that our products will operate under normal use for a period of one-year from the date of original purchase, except in the
European Union where we provide a two-year warranty. We have the obligation, at our option, to either repair or replace the defective product. At the time revenue
is recognized, an estimate of future warranty costs is recorded as a component of cost of revenues. Factors that affect the warranty obligation include product failure
rates and service delivery costs incurred in correcting the product failures. The warranty obligation does not consider historical experience of the Fitbit Force product
as a separate reserve has been established for the Fitbit Force recall. Our products are manufactured by contractor manufacturers, and in certain cases, we may have
recourse to such contract manufacturers.
Fitbit Force Product Recall
We established reserves for the Fitbit Force recall when circumstances giving rise to the recall became known. We considered various factors in estimating the
product recall exposure.
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These include estimates for:
•

refunds and product returns from retailer and distributor customers and end-users, which were charged to revenue and cost of revenue on the
consolidated statements of operations;

•

logistics and handling fees for managing product returns and processing refunds, obsolescence of on-hand inventory, cancellation charges for existing
purchase commitments and rework of component inventory by our contract manufacturers, write-offs of tooling and manufacturing equipment, which
were charged to cost of revenue on the consolidated statements of operations; and

•

legal fees and settlement costs, which were charged to general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

These factors above are updated and reevaluated each period and the related reserves are adjusted when factors indicate that the recall reserves are either
insufficient to cover or exceed the estimated product recall expenses.
Business Combinations, Goodwill, and Intangible Assets
We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to tangible assets, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values.
The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is allocated to goodwill. The allocation of the
purchase consideration requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates can include,
but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, and trade names from a market participant perspective, useful lives,
and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable
and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any
subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.
We assess goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be
recoverable. Consistent with our determination that we have one reporting segment, we have determined that there is one reporting unit and test goodwill for
impairment at the entity level. We test goodwill using the two-step process in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other . In the first step, we
compare the carrying amount of the reporting unit to the fair value based on the fair value of our common stock. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the
carrying value, goodwill is not considered impaired and no further testing is required. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, goodwill is
potentially impaired and the second step of the impairment test must be performed. In the second step, we would compare the implied fair value of the goodwill, as
defined by ASC 350, to its carrying amount to determine the amount of impairment loss, if any.
Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. We evaluate the recoverability of our intangible assets for possible
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by
a comparison of the carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such review indicates that the carrying amount of
property and equipment and intangible assets is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value. We have not recorded any such
impairment charge during the years presented.
Income Taxes
We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected
future consequences of temporary differences between the
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financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. We make estimates, assumptions, and judgments to determine our expense
(benefit) for income taxes and also for deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowances recorded against our deferred tax assets. We assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation
allowance.
The calculation of our expense (benefit) for income taxes involves the use of estimates, assumptions, and judgments while taking into account current tax
laws, our interpretation of current tax laws, and possible outcomes of future tax audits. We have established reserves to address potential exposures related to tax
positions that could be challenged by tax authorities. Although we believe our estimates, assumptions, and judgments to be reasonable, any changes in tax law or our
interpretation of tax laws and the resolutions of potential tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our consolidated financial
statements.
The calculation of our deferred tax asset balance involves the use of estimates, assumptions, and judgments while taking into account estimates of the amounts
and type of future taxable income. Actual future operating results and the underlying amount and type of income could differ materially from our estimates,
assumptions, and judgments, thereby impacting our financial position and operating results.
We include interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits
have been recognized in the appropriate periods presented.
Estimated Fair Value of Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants
Warrants for shares that are contingently redeemable, such as our convertible preferred stock are accounted for as freestanding instruments. These warrants
are classified as liabilities on our balance sheets and are recorded at their estimated fair value. At the end of each reporting period, changes in the estimated fair value
during the period are recorded as a component of other income (expense), net. We will continue to adjust these liabilities for changes in fair value until the earlier of
the expiration or the exercise of the warrants, or upon their automatic conversion into warrants to purchase common stock in connection with this offering such that
they qualify for equity classification and no further remeasurement is required.
We estimate the fair values of our convertible preferred stock warrants using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on inputs as of the valuation
measurement dates, including the fair values of our convertible preferred stock, the estimated volatility of the price of our convertible preferred stock, the expected
term of the warrants, and the risk-free interest rates.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over
the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award.
Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires judgment. The fair value of RSUs is the fair value of our common stock on the
grant date. We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the grant date fair value of stock
options using an option-pricing model is affected by our estimated common stock fair value as well as assumptions regarding a number of variables. These variables
include the fair value of our common stock, our expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the options, expected term of the stock option, riskfree interest rates, and expected dividends, which are estimated as follows:
Fair Value of Our Common Stock . The fair value of the shares of common stock underlying stock options has historically been established by our board of
directors, which is responsible for these estimates, and has been
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based in part upon a valuation provided by an independent third-party valuation firm. Because there has been no public market for our common stock, our board of
directors considered this independent valuation and other factors, including, but not limited to, revenue growth, the current status of the technical and commercial
success of our operations, our financial condition, the stage of our development and competition to establish the fair value of our common stock at the time of grant
of the option. The fair value of the underlying common stock will be determined by the board of directors until such time as our common stock is listed on a stock
exchange.
Expected Term . The expected term represents the period over which we anticipate stock-based awards to be outstanding. We do not have sufficient historical
exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term due to the limited period of time stock-based awards have been exercisable. As a
result, for stock options, we used the simplified method to calculate the expected term estimate based on the vesting and contractual terms of the option. Under the
simplified method, the expected term is equal to the average of the stock-based award’s weighted average vesting period and its contractual term.
Volatility . Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which the stock price is expected to fluctuate. We estimate the expected volatility of the common
stock underlying our stock options at the grant date by taking the average historical volatility of the common stock of a group of comparable publicly traded
companies over a period equal to the expected life of the options.
Risk-Free Rate . The risk-free interest rate is estimated average interest rate based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon notes with terms consistent with the expected
term of the awards.
Dividend Yield . We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently,
we used an expected dividend yield of zero.
The following table summarizes the assumptions relating to our stock options as follows:
2012

Expected term (in years)
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
(1)

6.25
60.0% – 60.62%
0.95% – 1.17%
—%

Year Ended December 31,
2013

6.00 – 6.25
60.57% – 62.03%
1.04% – 1.93%
—%

2014

6.25
54.83% – 60.94%
1.73% – 2.04%
—%

Three Months Ended March 31,
2014 (1)
2015

—
—%
—%
—%

6.25
52.98% – 56.90%
1.59% – 1.73%
—%

We did not grant any stock options in the three months ended March 31, 2014.

In addition, we are required to estimate the amount of stock-based compensation we expect to be forfeited based on our historical experience. The
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the stock-based awards represent management judgment. As a result, if factors change and different assumptions are
used, the stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future.
Common Stock Valuations
Given the absence of a public trading market of our common stock, and in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Accounting
and Valuation Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation , our board of directors exercised reasonable judgment and
considered numerous and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of fair value of our common stock, including independent third-party valuations of our
common stock; the prices at which we sold shares of our convertible preferred stock to outside investors in arms-length transactions; the rights, preferences, and
privileges of our convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; our operating results, financial position, and capital resources; current business
conditions and projections; the lack of marketability of our common stock; the
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hiring of key personnel and the experience of our management; the introduction of new products; our stage of development and material risks related to our business;
the fact that the option grants involve illiquid securities in a private company; the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or a sale
of our company given the prevailing market conditions and the nature and history of our business; industry trends and competitive environment; trends in consumer
spending, including consumer confidence; and overall economic indicators, including gross domestic product, employment, inflation and interest rates, and the
general economic outlook.
We performed valuations of our common stock that took into account the factors described above. We used two valuation approaches to determine the equity
value of our business. The income approach estimates the fair value of a company based on the present value of the company’s future estimated cash flows and the
residual value of the company beyond the forecast period. These future cash flows, including the cash flows beyond the forecast period for the residual value, are
discounted to their present values using an appropriate discount rate, to reflect the risks inherent in the company achieving these estimated cash flows. The second
valuation approach is the market approach. We used a combination of the guideline public company method and the guideline transaction method in applying the
market approach. The guideline public company method is based upon the premise that indications of value for a given entity can be estimated based upon the
observed valuation multiples of comparable public companies, the equity of which is freely-traded by investors in the public securities markets. The guideline
transaction method is based upon the premise that indications of value for a given entity can be estimated based upon the valuation multiples implied by transactions
involving companies that are comparable to the subject entity. We used both of these valuation approaches at each valuation date and weighted the methodologies
equally. The resulting value was then allocated to shares of convertible preferred stock, common stock, warrants, and options using an option-pricing model.
Additionally, we have applied a discount for lack of marketability to the value of the common stock to account for a lack of access to an active public market.
Following this offering, it will not be necessary to determine the fair value of our Class A common stock using these valuation approaches as shares of our
Class A common stock will be traded in the public market.
Based on an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2015 was $607.0 million, with $268.9 million related to vested stock options. In addition,
we granted 291,630 RSUs to employees in March 2015 with a grant date fair value of $3.7 million and 212,153 RSUs to employees in May 2015.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate and foreign currency risks as follows:
Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of $195.6 million and $237.8 million, respectively, which consisted
primarily of bank deposits and money market funds. Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. However, historical fluctuations of interest
income have not been significant.
As of December 31, 2014, we had indebtedness of $125.0 million under the Asset-Based Credit Facility and $8.0 million under the Cash Flow Facility. The
borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility bore interest at a rate of 4.25% as of December 31, 2014. The borrowings under the Cash Flow Facility bore
interest at 3.59% as of December 31, 2014 and were repaid in March 2015. As of March 31, 2015, we had indebtedness of $160.0 million under the Asset-Based
Credit Facility. The borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility bore interest at a rate of 4.25% as of March 31, 2015 and were repaid in April 2015.
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To date, we have not been exposed, nor do we anticipate being exposed, to material risks due to changes in interest rates. A hypothetical 10% change in
interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Foreign Currency Risk
To date, all of our inventory purchases have been denominated in U.S. dollars. Our international sales are primarily denominated in foreign currencies and any
unfavorable movement in the exchange rate between U.S. dollars and the currencies in which we conduct sales in foreign countries could have an adverse impact on
our revenue. A portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States and are denominated in foreign currencies, which are also subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, our suppliers incur many costs, including labor costs, in other currencies. To the extent
that exchange rates move unfavorably for our suppliers, they may seek to pass these additional costs on to us, which could have a material impact on our gross
margins. Our operating results and cash flows are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. However, we believe that the
exposure to foreign currency fluctuation from operating expenses is relatively small at this time as the related costs do not constitute a significant portion of our total
expenses. We recognized net gains (losses) of $(0.2) million, $(2.7) million, $0.1 million, and $(2.7) million from foreign currency gains and losses in 2013, 2014,
and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively. Foreign currency gains and losses were insignificant in 2012. As we grow our operations,
our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant. In December 2014, we entered into foreign currency exchange contracts for hedging. It is
difficult to predict the effect hedging activities would have on our operating results. We analyzed our foreign currency exposure to identify assets and liabilities
denominated in other currencies. A hypothetical 10% change in exchange rates between those currencies and the U.S. dollar would not have materially affected our
operating results.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, or ASU 2014-09, regarding Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers . This ASU affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer
goods and services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance when it
becomes effective. The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In doing so, companies will need to use more
judgment and make more estimates than under the currently effective guidance. These may include identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating
the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that period. Early adoption is not permitted. The FASB recently
issued an exposure draft of a proposed ASU that would delay the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year and allow for early adoption. We are currently
evaluating the impact of this guidance on our financial statements.
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LETTER FROM JAMES PARK AND ERIC N. FRIEDMAN
Over 8 years ago, in early 2007, we started Fitbit with the vision that sensors, data, and amazing software could transform the way people think about health
and fitness. Success was never obvious, easy, or guaranteed, and we would like to thank everyone who joined us on the journey. Thanks to the employees of Fitbit
who believed in the vision and who have worked passionately to create something incredible out of nothing. Thanks to our users who have trusted our products and
our company to improve their lives. Thanks to our investors who believed in us and the opportunity.
The journey is not over and, in fact, it is just beginning. This offering is just one milestone among the many that we have reached in the past and will reach in
the future. We hope that all of us will continue as we have in the past: focused on the long-term and creating and transforming while remaining humble and deeply
appreciative of everything that we achieve and are given.
James and Eric
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BUSINESS
Our Mission
Fitbit helps people lead healthier, more active lives by empowering them with data, inspiration, and guidance to reach their goals.
Overview
Fitbit is transforming the way millions of people around the world achieve their health and fitness goals. The Fitbit platform combines connected health and
fitness devices with software and services, including an online dashboard and mobile apps, data analytics, motivational and social tools, personalized insights, and
virtual coaching through customized fitness plans and interactive workouts. Our platform helps people become more active, exercise more, sleep better, eat smarter,
and manage their weight. Fitbit appeals to a large, mainstream health and fitness market by addressing these key needs with advanced technology embedded in
simple-to-use products and services. We pioneered the connected health and fitness market starting in 2007, and since then, we have grown into a leading global
health and fitness brand. As of March 31, 2015, we have sold over 20.8 million devices since inception. According to The NPD Group, we held the leading position
in the U.S. connected activity tracker market, with an 85% share, by dollars, in the first quarter of 2015. *
The core of our platform is our family of six wearable connected health and fitness trackers. These wrist-based and “clippable” devices automatically track
users’ daily steps, calories burned, distance traveled, floors climbed, and active minutes and display real-time feedback to encourage them to become more active in
their daily lives. Most of our trackers also measure sleep duration and quality, and our more advanced products track heart rate and GPS-based information such as
speed, distance, and exercise routes. Several of our devices also feature deeper integration with smartphones, such as the ability to receive call and text notifications
and control music. In addition, we offer a Wi-Fi connected scale that records weight, body fat, and BMI. We dedicate significant resources to developing proprietary
sensors, algorithms, and software to ensure that our products have highly accurate measurements, insightful analytics, compact sizes, durability, and long battery
lives. We are able to enhance the functionality and features of our connected devices through wireless updates.
Our platform also includes our online dashboard and mobile apps, which wirelessly and automatically sync with our devices. Our platform allows our users to
see trends and achievements, access motivational tools such as virtual badges and real-time progress notifications, and connect, support, and compete with friends
and family. Our direct connection with our users enables us to provide personalized insights, premium services, and information about new products and services.
Premium services include virtual coaching through customized fitness plans and interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile devices and computers. In
addition, we extend the value of our platform through our open API, which enables third-party developers to create health and fitness apps that interact with our
platform. Through our open platform and our large community of users, we have established a growing ecosystem that includes thousands of third-party health and
fitness apps that connect with our products and enhance the Fitbit experience.
*

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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Our platform enables all types of people to get fit their own way, whatever their interests and goals. Our users range from people interested in improving their
health and fitness through everyday activities to endurance athletes seeking to maximize their performance. To address this range of needs, we design our devices,
apps, and services to be easy to use so that they fit seamlessly into peoples’ daily lives or activities. Our users can sync their Fitbit devices with, and view their
dashboard on, their computers and over 150 mobile devices, including iOS, Android, and Windows Phone products. This broad compatibility, combined with our
market-leading position, has enabled us to attract what we believe is the largest community of connected health and fitness device users. The size of our user
community increases the likelihood that our users will be able to find and engage with friends and family, creating positive network effects that reinforce our growth.
In addition, data from our large community enables us to enhance our product features, provide improved insights, and offer more valuable guidance for our users.
We have rapidly grown to become a leading global health and fitness brand. We sell our products in over 45,000 retail stores and in more than 50 countries,
through our retailers’ websites, through our online store at Fitbit.com, and as part of our corporate wellness offering. Our broad distribution and market-leading
connected health and fitness platform have driven significant growth since our founding. In 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014, we had revenue of $14.5 million, $76.4
million, $271.1 million, and $745.4 million, respectively, net income (loss) of $(4.3) million, $(4.2) million, $(51.6) million, and $131.8 million, respectively, and
adjusted EBITDA of $(4.0) million, ($2.4) million, $79.0 million, and $191.0 million, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, we had
revenue of $108.8 million and $336.8 million, respectively, net income of $8.9 million and $48.0 million, respectively, and adjusted EBITDA of $42.0 million and
$93.4 million, respectively. See the section titled “Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data—Adjusted EBITDA” for information regarding our use of
adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss). The number of devices we sold grew from 0.2 million in 2011, to 1.3 million in
2012, to 4.5 million in 2013, and to 10.9 million in 2014, and from 1.6 million in the three months ended March 31, 2014 to 3.9 million in the three months ended
March 31, 2015. We also had 0.6 million, 2.6 million, 6.7 million, and 9.5 million active users as of December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, and March 31, 2015,
respectively. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics” for additional
information regarding devices sold and active users and limitations of the active user metric.
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Powerful Trends Driving Our Market
Several powerful trends are driving the growth of the connected health and fitness market:
•
Individuals and employers are increasingly focused on health and fitness. A variety of factors, such as changing consumer lifestyles and
demographics, combined with rising healthcare costs and employers’ increased emphasis on productivity, are leading individuals and employers to
increasingly focus on health and fitness. Based on information from industry sources, we estimate consumers spent over $200 billion in 2014 on health
and fitness services, such as gym and health club memberships, commercial weight management services, and consumer health products, such as
weight management products and dietary supplements. In addition, IBISWorld estimates that the corporate wellness industry will grow from $7.4
billion in 2014 to $11.3 billion in 2019 in the United States. *
•
Advances in technology have enabled the emergence of connected devices. Recent technological advances in sensors, lower power components, and
longer-life batteries, combined with the introduction of wireless standards, such as Bluetooth low energy, have enabled the emergence of connected
devices that are smaller, more power-efficient, track a broader range of biometric data, and fit a wide range of consumer preferences.
•
Mobile devices have become the preferred platform for accessing information. The rapid and broad proliferation of smartphones and tablets has
transformed the way individuals interact with applications and content online. Mobile devices have become the preferred platform for people to access
information and manage their lives, as well as the primary hub to connect a variety of consumer devices. According to Gartner, by 2018 more than 50%
of users will go to a tablet or smartphone first for all online activities. *
•
More individuals are turning to technology solutions to improve health and fitness. Individuals are increasingly using mobile apps and other software
to improve health and fitness, allowing consumers to directly manage and track their health and fitness in unprecedented ways. According to The NPD
Group, over 25% of U.S. consumers reported using a fitness app on their smartphone. * Google also reported that health and fitness was the fastest
growing app category on Google Play in 2014. Individuals are seeking to better understand their own health and fitness and achieve related goals
through more personalized data and insights. Individuals want to access this information anytime and anywhere and also to connect with others for
motivation and encouragement. This has driven the increase in software-based analytics and mobile apps for health and fitness, allowing consumers to
directly manage and track their health and fitness in unprecedented ways.
+

*

Our active user metric tracks the number of users who have an active subscription to our services, who paired a tracker or scale to an account, or who logged at least 100 steps or took a weight measurement within
three months of the measurement date. Therefore, the active user metric does not measure continual engagement of individual users with our platform and should not be used for that purpose. See the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Business Metrics—Active Users” for a description of the limitations related to the active user metric.
See “Industry and Market Data.”
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Our Market Opportunity
According to IDC, consumer spend on the wearable devices market is growing faster than on any segment in the global consumer electronics market. * In
2014, shipments of wearable devices more than tripled compared to the prior year, reaching a total of 19.6 million units shipped. * IDC expects the market for
wearable devices will reach 126.1 million units shipped in 2019, representing a $27.9 billion worldwide revenue opportunity. * We believe that we have been one of
the drivers of the growth of the wearable devices market, and that the future growth of this market represents a significant opportunity for us. Further, as we continue
to expand our platform and as consumers increasingly view our connected health and fitness products and services as an alternative or complement to other health
and wellness activities, we believe there is an opportunity to extend our addressable market to the broader health and fitness market. Based on information from
industry sources, we estimate this market represents an over $200 billion opportunity and includes consumer spend on health and fitness services, such as gym and
health club memberships, commercial weight management services, and consumer health products, such as weight management products and dietary supplements.
The broader health and fitness market, however, presents several challenges to overcome before we are able to take advantage of this opportunity, including
competition from larger, more established traditional health and fitness companies, uncertainty as to whether consumers will adopt our products and services as an
alternative or complement to other health and wellness activities, and our relative lack of experience selling other products and services. Furthermore, while we
believe that our active user metric is an indicator of the size and growth of our community, it is not a measure of the levels of continuous engagement of our
individual users over periods of time and does not track the number of individual users that have become inactive on our platform in a period. As such, our active
user metric is not necessarily an indicator of the size and growth of our engaged user community, who we believe to be the most likely to purchase additional
products and services on our platform, such as our subscription-based premium services.
Our Solution—The Fitbit Platform
Our leading connected health and fitness platform is designed to enable our users to improve their health and fitness by:
•
Tracking activities through our connected health and fitness devices. We empower users to live healthier, more active lifestyles by both tracking the
information that matters most to them and providing them with real-time feedback. Our connected health and fitness devices span multiple styles, form
factors, and price points, addressing the needs of everyone—from people simply looking to get fit by increasing their activity levels to endurance
athletes seeking to maximize their performance. Our devices, which include wrist-based and clippable fitness trackers and our Wi-Fi connected scale,
feature proprietary and advanced sensor technologies and algorithms as well as high accuracy and long battery life. In addition, the ease of use and
small, lightweight, and durable designs of our devices make them fit effortlessly into our users’ lifestyles.
•

•
*

Learning through our online dashboard and mobile apps. We offer our users a personalized online dashboard and mobile apps that sync
automatically with, and display data from, our connected health and fitness devices. We provide our users with a wide range of information and
analytics, such as charts and graphs of their progress and the ability to log caloric intake. Both our online dashboard and mobile apps are free and work
with all of our connected health and fitness devices. Our internally-developed software is regularly updated and enhanced, increasing the utility of our
health and fitness platform. Our apps were ranked in the top five among Health & Fitness apps in both the iOS App Store and Google Play during 2014
and during the first quarter of 2015.
Staying motivated through social features, notifications, challenges, and virtual badges. Our products help millions of users achieve their goals both
individually and within the community that

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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they choose. On an individual level, we motivate users by delivering real-time feedback, including notifications, leaderboard and challenge updates,
and virtual badges. Our platform also offers users social features that allow them to receive and provide support and engage in friendly competition.
Users can securely share some or all of their health and fitness information on an opt-in basis with friends, family, and other parties and compete
against each other on key statistics through leaderboards and daily or multi-day fitness challenges. In addition, users can choose to share their data with
thousands of third-party apps and through social networks on an opt-in basis. As users create more connections on our network, they often benefit from
higher levels of fitness activity and overall value from our platform. Users with just one or more friend on our platform take on average approximately
8% more steps per day than users with no friends on our platform and are more than twice as likely to remain active on our platform for longer than 18
months.
•

Improving health and fitness through goal-setting, personalized insights, premium services, and virtual coaching. Our primary goal is to help our
users improve their health and fitness. We believe our platform assists users in changing their daily behavior, such as eating healthier foods or going for
a run or walking more to reach a goal or win a challenge. We empower our users to set their own health and fitness goals and track their progress
towards these goals. We also offer premium services on a subscription basis that provide personalized insights and virtual coaching through customized
fitness plans and interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile devices and computers. Our premium services feature in-depth data analysis
and personalized reports, as well as benchmarking against peers.

Our Competitive Strengths—What Sets Us Apart
We believe the following strengths will allow us to maintain and extend our leadership position:
•

Leading market position and global brand. Our singular focus on building a connected health and fitness platform, coupled with our leading market
share, has led to our brand becoming synonymous with the connected health and fitness category. According to The NPD Group, we had the highest
selling connected activity trackers in the United States in the first quarter of 2015, with an 85% share of the U.S. connected activity tracker market, by
dollars, up from 70% for the year 2014 and 59% for the year 2013. * In addition, according to The NPD Group, Fitbit Surge, which we began selling in
December 2014, was the highest selling GPS fitness watch in the United States in the first quarter of 2015, with a 61% share of the U.S. GPS fitness
watch market, by dollars, up from 3% in 2014. * We also had nine of the top ten selling fitness activity trackers stock keeping units, or SKUs, in 2014,
according to The NPD Group. * Since launching our first connected health and fitness device in September 2009, we have sold over 20.8 million
connected health and fitness devices as of March 31, 2015, including more than 10.9 million in 2014.

•

Broad range of connected health and fitness devices. We believe everyone’s approach to fitness is different, so we offer our users a range of
connected health and fitness devices spanning multiple styles, form factors, and price points to allow people to find the devices that fit their lifestyles
and goals. In addition to our wrist-based and clippable wearable health and fitness devices, we also offer a Wi-Fi connected scale that tracks weight,
body fat, and BMI. We believe the breadth of our connected health and fitness devices provides us with a competitive advantage over our competitors,
which often have a more limited line of products.
Advanced, purpose-built hardware and software technologies. Our connected health and fitness devices leverage industry-standard technologies, such
as Bluetooth low energy, as well as proprietary technologies, such as our PurePulse continuous heart rate tracking, and our algorithms that more
accurately measure and analyze user health and fitness metrics. We devote significant resources to ensure that our devices effortlessly fit into our users’
lifestyles. For example, we design our small, lightweight, durable, and fashionable products to be optimized for power efficiency, which enables

•

*

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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automatic wireless data syncing without compromising battery life. We place a similarly strong emphasis on our online dashboard and mobile apps to
provide users with visualization of their progress and personalized guidance. Our highly-scalable cloud infrastructure enables millions of users around
the world to engage with our platform in real-time.
•

•

•

•

Broad mobile compatibility and open API. Our broad mobile compatibility and open API enable a large and growing health and fitness ecosystem that
provides additional value to our existing users and extends our reach to potential new users. Our users can sync their Fitbit devices with, and view their
online dashboard on, their computers and over 150 mobile devices, including iOS, Android, and Windows Phone products. This broad compatibility,
combined with our market-leading position, has enabled us to build what we believe is the largest community of connected health and fitness device
users. It also maximizes our addressable market as our connected health and fitness devices and mobile apps operate on more consumer devices.
Additionally, we enable seamless integration with thousands of apps across iOS, Android, and Windows Phone through our open API, which allows
our users to share data with third-party apps on an opt-in basis. During March 2015, our platform received on average over 200 million daily API
requests from third-party apps and sent on average over 50 million daily API requests to third-party APIs, which demonstrates the breadth of our health
and fitness ecosystem.
Broad and differentiated go-to-market strategy . We have developed a broad go-to-market strategy that reaches individuals regardless of where they
shop. We sell our products in over 45,000 retail stores and in more than 50 countries, through our retailers’ websites, through our online store at
Fitbit.com, and as part of our corporate wellness offering. We believe the breadth and depth of our established selling channels and prominent presence
in retail stores are unmatched in the connected health and fitness category and would be difficult for a competitor to replicate.
Large and growing community and powerful network effects. The total number of registered users on our platform has grown from 1.1 million as of
December 31, 2012, to 4.5 million as of December 31, 2013, to 14.6 million as of December 31, 2014, and to 19.0 million as of March 31, 2015. We
believe the size of our community of users makes it more likely that users can connect with friends and family and attracts many new users to our
platform. Each of our users add value to our platform by making progress towards their goals and syncing their data with our platform, which we
leverage to provide better insights for our users. As our community of users continues to grow, we will develop a deeper understanding of our users and
expect to deliver additional value to them through more detailed insights and analysis. We believe the growth and scale of our user community allows
users to become not only more engaged with personalized and relevant content, but also less likely to leave a community in which many of their friends
and family are active members.
Direct relationship and continuous communication with our users. The connectivity of our devices allows us to better understand our users’ health
and fitness goals. This connectivity also allows us to communicate the most relevant analysis, features, advice, and content to our users throughout the
day with our online dashboard, mobile apps, emails, and notifications. We also utilize these communication channels to help our users become aware of
our new products and services.

Our Growth Strategy
We intend to maintain and extend our position as the leading platform for connected health and fitness. Key elements of our growth strategy include:
•
Continue to introduce innovative products. We will continue to develop the world’s most innovative and diverse connected health and fitness devices.
Furthermore, we plan to continue to make significant investments in research and development to further strengthen our platform through both
internally-developed and acquired technologies. In 2013 and 2014, we introduced five new connected health and fitness devices and added features
including automatic sleep detection, heart rate tracking, call and text notifications, music control, and GPS tracking for speed, distance, and exercise
routes.
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•

Introduce new features and services. We will continue to introduce innovative new features and services to increase user engagement and revenue. We
believe that new features, such as heart rate tracking and automatic sleep detection, allow us to attract new users to our platform and also increase
overall user satisfaction. We will also continue to enhance our online dashboard and mobile apps, provide greater personalized guidance, and additional
premium services offerings. For example, we acquired FitStar in March 2015 to enhance our software and services offerings through interactive videobased exercise experiences on mobile devices and computers. Because we do not measure the levels of continuous engagement of our individual users
over periods of time and our active user metric does not track the number of individual users that have become inactive on our platform in a period,
however, it may be difficult for us to assess the market acceptance of our new features and services.

•

Expand brand awareness and drive sales of our products and services. We intend to increase our marketing efforts to further expand global awareness
of our brand and drive greater sales of our products and services. We intend to increase our global advertising efforts as well as seek new partnerships,
such as our partnership with Tory Burch, to extend our brand’s reach and addressable market.
Increase global distribution through select new channels. We believe that international markets represent a significant growth opportunity for us and
we intend to expand sales of our products and services globally through select retailers and strategic partnerships.

•
•

Further penetrate the corporate wellness market. We intend to increase our focus on building relationships with employers and wellness providers and
increase revenue through employee wellness programs, although it may be challenging to increase market acceptance of our corporate wellness
offerings because we do not track continuous engagement of our individual users over periods of time. The corporate wellness market for connected
health and fitness devices is new and is subject to a variety of challenges, including whether employers will continue to invest in such programs, long
sales cycles, and substantial upfront sales costs. However, we believe that as healthcare costs continue to rise and as employers continue to seek ways to
keep their employees active, engaged, and productive, more employers will implement or enhance their corporate wellness programs. In order to grow
our corporate wellness presence, we intend to enhance our corporate wellness offering as well as expand our sales team focused on this market.

Our Users
We aim to empower all people to improve their health and fitness, whatever their lifestyle or goals. Our community of users generally falls into three fitness
levels and we design and market our products to them accordingly:
Everyday users represent our largest group of users. These users are looking to incorporate more activity into their daily routines as the primary means to
improve their overall fitness through everyday activities, such as walking more or taking the stairs instead of the elevator. They are most interested in receiving
feedback on daily activity measures such as steps, distance, calories burned, and active minutes. We primarily market the Fitbit Zip, Fitbit One, Fitbit Flex, and
Fitbit Charge to Everyday users.
Active users exercise regularly to reach their fitness goals through activities such as running, using cardio equipment, and playing sports recreationally. As a
result, these users are often interested in monitoring exercise intensity through heart rate tracking in addition to activity tracking. We primarily market the Fitbit
Charge HR to Active users.
92

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
Performance users train regularly to improve their performance and achieve their personal bests. These users participate in endurance sports and fitness
activities with higher intensity and longer duration, such as interval or distance running and cycling, and thrive on personal improvement and competition.
Accordingly, these users are interested in GPS tracking of speed, distance, and exercise routes, in addition to heart rate and daily activity tracking. We primarily
market the Fitbit Surge to Performance users.

What Our Connected Health and Fitness Devices Track
With each successive product offering, we have expanded the features and accuracy of our products and now track the following measures:
•
Steps. The cornerstone of our initial product offering, our trackers use accelerometers and proprietary algorithms that count the number of steps taken
throughout their day.
•
Calories burned. Our users can estimate the amount of calories burned throughout the day based on several methods depending on the tracker. We
believe our more advanced devices that use our PurePulse heart rate tracking technology provide a more accurate estimate of calorie burn than nonPurePulse based products.
•
•

•
•
•

Distance traveled. Our users can track the distance they have traveled throughout the day as a function of the number of steps they have taken
throughout the day or through built-in GPS, depending upon the tracker.
Heart rate. On trackers that are outfitted with our proprietary PurePulse technology, our users are able to automatically and continuously track their
heart rate during everyday activity and exercise. Our PurePulse technology uses wrist-based optical LEDs, which measures heart rate using light
reflection. We believe our PurePulse technology makes heart rate relevant as a means to more accurately measure calorie burn, maintain intensity
during exercise, and train more effectively by using heart rate zones. Additionally, our heart rate tracking technology can conveniently provide our
users with their resting heart rate, which is a widely used indicator of cardiovascular fitness and conditioning.
Floors climbed. Using a built-in altimeter sensor, our users are able to track flights of stairs climbed, which encourages users to take the stairs instead
of using an escalator or elevator.
Sleep duration and quality. Users can track their sleep duration and quality on many of our connected health and fitness trackers, including restless and
awake episodes throughout the night. Our newer trackers allow users to track this data automatically.
Active minutes. Our trackers detect the number of minutes our users are more active. The Centers for Disease Control recommends that people strive
for 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic activity per week.
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•

GPS-based tracking. Our Fitbit Surge allows our users to track their speed, distance, and exercise routes using the GPS capability integrated into the
device during activities such as running, cycling, hiking, and walking. For those without Fitbit Surge, our mobile apps provide GPS tracking using the
phone’s GPS capability.

•

Weight, body fat, and BMI. Our Aria Wi-Fi connected scale allows users to track weight, BMI, lean mass, and body fat percentage separately and
privately for up to eight users, helping individuals to track progress towards and achieve their body composition goals.
Caloric intake. Through our mobile apps, we provide a database with more than 300,000 specific food items that can be searched and tracked. Users
can log food consumption and set calorie budgets based on their caloric intake and daily activity to achieve a desired weight goal.

•
Our Devices

We believe everyone’s approach to fitness is different, so we have created products with a wide variety of styles, sizes, features, and price points.
Fitbit Zip is our entry-level wireless activity tracker for Everyday users that allows them to track the most important daily activity statistics such as steps,
distance, calories burned, and active minutes. As a clippable tracker, Fitbit Zip can be worn discreetly in a pocket or on a belt. We offer the Fitbit Zip in five colors
with a replaceable watch battery that lasts up to six months. Fitbit Zip has a U.S. MSRP of $59.95.
Fitbit One is a more advanced clippable wireless tracker for Everyday users that tracks stairs climbed and sleep in addition to daily steps, distance, calories
burned, and active minutes. Fitbit One also has a silent alarm that gently vibrates to wake users at a desired time. Fitbit One is available in two colors and offers a
rechargeable battery that lasts ten to fourteen days. Fitbit One has a U.S. MSRP of $99.95.
Fitbit Flex is our first wristband-style tracker, with a sleek and stylish design intended for Everyday users. Fitbit Flex tracks steps, distance, calories burned,
active minutes, and sleep. Fitbit Flex also has a silent alarm that gently vibrates to wake users at a desired time. We believe that our wristband users, as compared to
our clippable tracker users, are more open to wearing an activity tracker in a visible location and more interested in easy and quick access to information. Fitbit Flex
features LED lights to show users’ progress towards their primary daily goal, with each light representing the achievement of 20% of their goal. We also offer users
the ability to change wristbands for different colors to match their mood or personal style. Fitbit Flex is available in ten colors and its rechargeable battery lasts up to
five days. Fitbit Flex has a U.S. MSRP of $99.95.
Fitbit Charge is our premier wireless activity and sleep wristband for Everyday users that we began selling in October 2014. It tracks steps, distance, calories
burned, active minutes, floors climbed, and sleep. Designed for users who want instant access to activity statistics during their day, Fitbit Charge features a bright
OLED display that shows users’ daily activity and time of day, as well as incoming caller ID notifications when the device is paired with the user’s phone. Fitbit
Charge tracks sleep automatically and similar to the Fitbit Flex and Fitbit One, offers a silent wake alarm. Fitbit Charge is available in four colors and three sizes and
is powered by a rechargeable battery that lasts seven to ten days. Fitbit Charge has a U.S. MSRP of $129.95.
Fitbit Charge HR is a wireless heart rate and activity wristband for Active users that we began selling in December 2014. Fitbit Charge HR offers all the
features available on the Fitbit Charge and also includes our proprietary PurePulse heart rate tracking technology. Fitbit Charge HR is available in two colors and
three sizes, and uses a rechargeable battery that lasts up to five days. Fitbit Charge HR has a U.S. MSRP of $149.95.
Fitbit Surge is our fitness “super watch” for Performance users that we began selling in December 2014. It combines popular features of a GPS watch, heart
rate tracker, activity tracker, and smartwatch. On its touch screen LCD display, Fitbit Surge displays real-time statistics from its built-in GPS tracker such as speed,
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distance, and exercise routes. Fitbit Surge incorporates our PurePulse heart rate technology and can track heart rate during a variety of distinct cardiovascular
workouts and other exercises. It is also designed with advanced smartwatch features, including text and call notifications and music control. Like our other trackers,
it measures daily activities such as steps, distance, calories burned, floors climbed, and active minutes and automatically tracks sleep at night. Fitbit Surge is
available in three colors and three sizes and incorporates a rechargeable battery that lasts up to seven days. Fitbit Surge has a U.S. MRSP of $249.95.

Aria is our Wi-Fi connected scale that tracks weight, body fat percentage, and BMI. Aria identifies users and shows their weight and body fat percentage on
its easy-to-read display. The device recognizes up to eight individual users separately and privately. Aria is available in two colors and runs on standard AA
batteries. Aria has a U.S. MSRP of $129.95.

Fitbit Accessories include colored bands for Fitbit Flex, colored clips for Fitbit One and Fitbit Zip, device charging cables, wireless sync dongles, band clasps,
sleep bands, and Fitbit apparel. In addition, our partner Tory Burch offers a pendant and wristband accessory collection for Fitbit Flex. These accessories are offered
at U.S. MSRPs ranging from $4.95 to $195.00.
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Our Interactive Experience
Fitbit online dashboard and mobile apps. We offer our users a personalized online dashboard and mobile apps that sync automatically with, and display realtime data from, our connected health and fitness devices. Through these offerings, we provide users with charts and graphs of their progress, deeper analysis of their
activities, and the ability to log caloric intake. Additionally, we motivate users through real-time feedback including notifications, leaderboard and challenge
updates, and virtual badges. Our platform also offers users social features, such as leaderboards and challenges, that allow users to receive and provide support and
engage in friendly competition. Our online dashboard and mobile apps are available for free through the iOS App Store, Google Play, Windows Store, and on
Fitbit.com.

Fitbit Premium is our premium membership that serves as a 24/7 virtual personal trainer delivered to users through any web browser. The program features
personalized and dynamic 12 week fitness plans to gradually increase activity levels. It also includes personalized reports and analysis of weekly data accompanied
by recommended health and fitness targets and comparisons against peer benchmarks for weight, activity, and sleep. Fitbit Premium is offered on a subscription
basis for U.S. $49.99 per year.
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FitStar. In March 2015, we acquired FitStar, a provider of interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile devices and computers that utilize
proprietary algorithms to adjust and customize workouts for individual users based on data gathered during their workouts. Through our FitStar offerings, we
provide exercise programs through personal trainer and yoga apps that continuously adjust to our users based on feedback throughout the workout. FitStar is offered
monthly for U.S. $7.99 or on an annual subscription basis for U.S. $39.99 per year.

Compatibility and Wireless Syncing
In order to reach the widest set of users and facilitate a strong social experience on our platform, we focus on ensuring that our devices are compatible with a
broad range of mobile devices and operating systems. Currently, our users can sync their Fitbit devices with, and use their online dashboard on, over 150 mobile
devices including iOS, Android, and Windows Phone operating systems. Additionally, our users can access their online dashboard through a web browser on any
smartphone, tablet, PC, or Mac.
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Our connected health and fitness trackers wirelessly sync with our online dashboard and mobile apps through Bluetooth low energy technology. This power
efficient technology enables our devices to sync with our mobile apps automatically, allowing us to provide users with real-time feedback and notifications. For
syncing our fitness trackers with computers, we include a Bluetooth low energy wireless sync dongle with each fitness tracker that plugs into any computer’s USB
port. Our Aria Wi-Fi connected scale syncs data wirelessly and automatically with users’ computers through their home Wi-Fi network. The combination of our
cross-platform compatibility and wireless syncing capabilities provides our users with the most seamless connected health and fitness experience in the market and
differentiates us from our competitors, which may only sync to a single mobile operating system, such as iOS, or to a more limited number of Android mobile
devices, or not to computers at all.
Our Commitment to Privacy
We take privacy seriously and offer our users high levels of privacy and security. We are committed to respecting our users’ privacy, letting our users decide
how their information is used and shared, and keeping their data safe.
We have developed our data collection and use practices in accordance with the Fair Information Practice Principles, more commonly known as FIPPs. We
are committed to the following privacy principles as outlined in our privacy policy:
•

Limited Collection. We only collect data that is useful to improving our products, services, and user experience.

•

Transparent and Easy to Understand Policies. We are transparent about our data practices and explain them in clear language.

•

No Unexpected Uses. We never sell user data or use it other than as described in our privacy policy.

•

Clear Notice and Consent. We only share personally identifiable data with third parties, including employers, when our users consent to the sharing
and under the limited circumstances outlined in our privacy policy where users’ personally identifiable data can be shared without specific consent,
such as our receipt of search warrants or subpoenas from law enforcement agencies or in response to a validly issued legal process in a civil litigation
matter. We do not currently share information such as heart rate data or geolocation data with employers under our corporate wellness offerings and do
not intend to share such data in the future without specific user consent.

•

Prioritize Security. We take the security of our users’ data seriously. We use a combination of technical and administrative security controls to
maintain the security of user data.

Our platform enables users to share information from Fitbit on an opt-in basis with friends, family, and other parties. Users may link their Fitbit accounts to
third-party apps, send status updates on social networks, such as Facebook and Twitter, or share certain data with employers as part of a corporate wellness program.
We allow our users to revoke their consent to share data with third parties at any time using their Fitbit account settings. If users choose to share their data with a
third party, the data is governed by the privacy policy of the third party.
Research and Development
We are passionate about developing innovative products and services that empower our users to reach their health and fitness goals. We believe our future
success depends on our ability to develop new products and features that expand the versatility and performance of our existing platform and we plan to continue to
invest significant resources to enhance performance, functionality, and convenience and style for our users.
Our global research and development team supports the design and development of our connected health and fitness devices, proprietary sensors, firmware,
data algorithms, and online dashboard and mobile apps. The team is comprised of dedicated research employees, electrical engineers, mechanical engineers,
firmware
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engineers, site operations engineers, and mobile app developers. Our research and development team is primarily based at our headquarters in San Francisco,
California as well as several other worldwide locations.
Our research and development expenses were $16.2 million, $27.9 million, and $54.2 million, for 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively, and $9.1 million and
$22.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively.
Manufacturing, Logistics and Fulfillment
We outsource the manufacturing of our products to several contract manufacturers, including Flextronics which is our primary contract manufacturer. These
contract manufacturers produce our products in their facilities located in Asia. The components used in our products are sourced either directly by us or on our
behalf by our contract manufacturers from a variety of component suppliers selected by us and located worldwide. Our operations employees coordinate our
relationships with our contract manufacturers and component suppliers. We believe that using outsourced manufacturing enables greater scale and flexibility at
lower costs than establishing our own manufacturing facilities. We evaluate on an ongoing basis our current contract manufacturers and component suppliers,
including, whether or not to utilize new or alternative contract manufacturers or component suppliers.
Under our agreement with Flextronics, Flextronics manufactures certain of our products using design specifications, quality assurance programs, and
standards that we establish. We pay for and own all tooling and other equipment specifically required to manufacture our products and have purchase commitments
based on our purchase orders and demand forecasts for certain amounts of finished goods, works-in-progress, and components purchased in order to support such
purchase orders and forecasts. The agreement has an initial term of one-year that ends in March 2016, and automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless
either party provides at least 90 days prior written notice. We may terminate for convenience upon providing at least 90 days prior written notice and Flextronics
may terminate for convenience upon providing at least 180 days prior written notice.
We work with third-party fulfillment partners that deliver our products from multiple locations worldwide, which allows us to reduce order fulfillment time,
reduce shipping costs, and improve inventory flexibility.
Sales Channels and Customers
We sell our products through three primary channels:
Retail channel. We offer our products in over 45,000 retail stores and in more than 50 countries. We focus on building close relationships with our retailers,
working with them to merchandise our products in a compelling manner both in-store and on their e-Commerce sites, promote our products through their marketing
efforts, and educate their sales forces about our products.
•

Consumer electronics and specialty retailers. Our products are sold by retailers with a large domestic and international presence such as Best Buy.

•

e-Commerce retailers. Our products are sold on Amazon.com, in addition to e-Commerce sites of our retailers.

•

Mass merchant , department store, and club retailers. Our products are sold by large retailers, including Costco, Target, and Walmart.

•

Sporting goods and outdoors retailers. Our products are sold by sporting goods and outdoors retailers, including Dick’s Sporting Goods, REI, and The
Sports Authority.
Wireless carriers. Our products are sold by wireless carriers, including AT&T, Sprint, and Verizon.

•

Consumer direct channel. We sell our full line of products directly to consumers in the United States and other countries through our online store at
Fitbit.com. We drive consumers to our website through online and offline advertising as well as marketing promotions.
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Corporate wellness channel. We offer products and services to employers looking to enhance their employee wellness programs. We sell our corporate
wellness offering directly to employers or through partners, such as wellness program providers and insurance companies. Through our corporate wellness offering
employers can purchase our products in bulk for their employees. We also offer a range of other services to maximize wellness program success, such as easy
employee onboarding, an engaging employee leaderboard, real-time group reporting for company administrators, and employee insight into progress towards
program goals. We can also integrate with our partners’ existing wellness programs.
Marketing and Advertising
Our marketing and advertising programs are focused on building global brand awareness, increasing product adoption, and driving sales. Our marketing and
advertising efforts target a wide range of consumers and leverage traditional advertising methods (including television, cinema, and print magazines), sponsorships
and public relations, digital marketing, channel marketing, and endorsements by professional athletes and celebrities.
Our in-store merchandising strategy focuses on our POP displays. We provide retailers with freestanding, in-line, and endcap POP displays of varying sizes.
These displays communicate our marketing messages, present our products and their features and, in many cases, allow consumers to try on our devices and view an
interactive app that enables them to learn more about our products.

Intellectual Property
Intellectual property is an important aspect of our business, and we seek protection for our intellectual property as appropriate. We rely upon a combination of
patent, copyright, trade secret, and trademark laws and contractual restrictions, such as confidentiality agreements and licenses, to establish and protect our
proprietary rights.
As the leader in the fast-growing market for connected health and fitness devices, we have developed a significant patent portfolio to protect certain elements
of our proprietary technology. As of March 31, 2015, we had 77 issued patents and 132 patent applications pending in the United States. We continually review our
development efforts to assess the existence and patentability of new intellectual property. We pursue the registration of our domain names and trademarks and
service marks in the United States and in certain locations outside the United States. To protect our brand, as of March 31, 2015, we had an international trademark
portfolio comprised of 65 registered trademarks and 139 trademark applications pending with filings in 68 countries.
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Competition
According to The NPD Group, we held the leading position in the U.S. connected activity tracker market, with an 85% share, by dollars, in the first quarter of
2015. * However, the market for connected health and fitness devices is both evolving and competitive. The connected health and fitness devices category has a
multitude of participants including specialized consumer electronics companies such as Garmin, Jawbone, and Misfit, and traditional health and fitness companies
such as adidas and Under Armour. In addition, many large, broad-based consumer electronics companies either compete in our market or adjacent markets or have
announced plans to do so, including Apple, Google, LG, Microsoft, and Samsung. For example, Apple has recently introduced the Apple Watch smartwatch, with
broad-based functionalities, including some health and fitness tracking capabilities. We also compete with a wide range of stand-alone health and fitness-related
mobile apps that can be purchased or downloaded through mobile app stores.
The principal competitive factors in our market include:
•
brand awareness and focus;
•

breadth of product offerings;

•

battery life, sensor technology, and tracking features;

•

online and mobile app experience;

•

strength of sales and marketing efforts; and

•

distribution strategy.

We believe we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors as a result of our leading market position and global brand, advanced and
proprietary sensor technologies, software-driven online dashboard and mobile apps, our motivational and social tools, and our premium software offerings. By
offering a broad range of products spanning styles and affordable price points and cross-platform compatibility, we empower a wide range of individuals with
different fitness routines and goals that are difficult for other competitors to address. Moreover, our singular focus on building a connected health and fitness
platform, coupled with a leading market share, has led to our brand becoming synonymous with the connected health and fitness category. This singular focus on
health and fitness has driven us to dedicate significant resources to developing proprietary sensors, algorithms, and software to ensure that our products, which are
specifically oriented towards health and fitness, have accurate measurements, insightful analytics, compact sizes, durability, and long battery lives. We believe this
singular focus allows us to compete favorably with companies that have introduced or have announced plans to introduce devices with broad-based functionalities,
including health and fitness tracking capabilities, which are not necessarily optimized for health and fitness usage. Furthermore, our platform and open API have
together enabled us to establish a large and growing health and fitness ecosystem that not only provides additional value to our existing users, but also extends our
reach to potential new users. This broad compatibility, combined with our market-leading position, has enabled us to attract what we believe is the largest
community of connected health and fitness device users, making it more likely that users can connect with friends and family and creating positive network effects
that reinforce our growth.
Employees
As of December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, and March 31, 2015, we had 115, 222, 469, and 579 global employees, respectively. We have not experienced any
work stoppages. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
Facilities
We are a global company with our corporate headquarters located in San Francisco, California. This facility comprises approximately 92,000 square feet of
space. Our current lease, entered into in September 2013, expires
*

See “Industry and Market Data.”
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in April 2020 with the option to extend the term of the lease for an additional five years. We also lease additional office space in San Francisco and around the
world.
Legal Proceedings
On May 27, 2015, Jawbone filed a lawsuit against us and certain of our employees who were formerly employed by Jawbone in the Superior Court of the
State of California in the County of San Francisco alleging trade secret misappropriation, breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair
dealing, and unfair and unlawful business practices. The complaint alleges, among other things, that prior to leaving Jawbone at various times in 2015, the
employees downloaded Jawbone company documents and materials, including allegedly confidential and trade secret information, and that these employees are
using such information in the development of our products. The complaint also alleges that we recruited those employees with the intent of using Jawbone’s
proprietary information. The complaint seeks unspecified damages, including punitive damages, and injunctive relief.
On June 10, 2015, Jawbone and BodyMedia, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jawbone, filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California. Jawbone and BodyMedia allege that we are infringing three U.S. patents held by Jawbone or BodyMedia: U.S. Patent No. 8,446,275
titled “General Health and Wellness Management Method and Apparatus For A Wellness Application Using Data From a Data-Capable Band,” U.S. Patent
No. 8,073,707 titled “System For Detecting, Monitoring, And Reporting An Individual’s Physiological Or Contextual Status,” and U.S. Patent No. 8,398,546 titled
“System For Monitoring And Managing Body Weight And Other Physiological Conditions Including Iterative And Personalized Planning, Intervention And
Reporting Capability.” Jawbone and BodyMedia allege that these patents have been infringed by a substantial majority of the products that we have sold historically,
as well as several of our current products. With respect to each of the patents, the complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages and attorney’s fees from us
and to permanently enjoin us from making, manufacturing, using, selling, importing, or offering our products for sale. The complaint also notes that Jawbone and
BodyMedia intend to file a complaint requesting the ITC to commence an investigation against us that we are unlawfully importing and selling products into and
within the United States that allegedly infringe on their patents. If the ITC were to determine that we infringe any of the Jawbone or BodyMedia patents, the ITC
could issue a preclusion order which would prevent us from importing our products into the United States from contract manufacturers outside of the United States.
We intend to vigorously defend these litigation matters and, based on our preliminary review, we believe we have valid defenses with respect to each of these
matters. However, litigation is inherently uncertain, and any judgment or injunctive relief entered against us or any adverse settlement could materially and adversely
impact our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects. Because we are in the early stages of these litigation matters, we are unable to estimate a
reasonably possible range of loss, if any, that may result from this matter. In addition, litigation can involve significant management time and attention, and the cost
of litigation can be expensive, regardless of outcome.
Further, we are and, from time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business.
We are not presently a party to any other legal proceedings that in the opinion of our management, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken
together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, or cash flows.
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MANAGEMENT
Executive Officers and Directors
The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and directors as of May 15, 2015.
Name

Age

Position(s)

Executive Officers
James Park
Eric N. Friedman

38
38

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman
Chief Technology Officer and Director

William Zerella
Hansgregory C. Hartmann

58
57

Chief Financial Officer
Chief Operations Officer

Andy Missan
Timothy Roberts

53
43

Vice President and General Counsel
Vice President, Interactive

Edward M. Scal
Non-Employee Directors
Jonathan D. Callaghan (2)(3)*
Steven Murray (1)(3)
Christopher Paisley (1)(2)

55

Chief Revenue Officer

46
46
62

Director
Director
Director

*
(1)
(2)
(3)

Lead independent director.
Member of the audit committee.
Member of the compensation committee.
Member of the nominating and governance committee.

Executive Officers
James Park is our co-founder and has served as a member of our board of directors since March 2007, as our Chairman since May 2015, and as our President
and Chief Executive Officer since September 2007. Previously, Mr. Park served as a Director of Product Development at CNET Networks, Inc., an online media
company. Prior to CNET Networks, Mr. Park served as the President and a co-founder of Wind-Up Labs, Inc., an online photo sharing company acquired by CNET
Networks in April 2005. He was also Chief Technology Officer and a co-founder of Epesi Technologies, Inc., a software company. Mr. Park attended Harvard
College where he studied computer science. Mr. Park was selected to serve as a member of our board of directors due to the perspective and experience he brings as
our co-founder, President, and Chief Executive Officer.
Eric N. Friedman is our co-founder and has served as a member of our board of directors since March 2007 and as an executive officer since September 2007,
including most recently as our Chief Technology Officer. Previously, Mr. Friedman served as an engineer manager at CNET Networks. Prior to CNET Networks,
Mr. Friedman served as a co-founder of Wind-Up Labs, a founding engineer of Epesi Technologies, and a technical member of the Real-Time Collaboration Group
at Microsoft Corporation. Mr. Friedman holds a B.S. and an M.S. in computer science from Yale University. Mr. Friedman was selected to serve as a member of our
board of directors due to the perspective and experience he brings as our co-founder and Chief Technology Officer.
William Zerella has served as our Chief Financial Officer since June 2014. From October 2011 to June 2014, Mr. Zerella served as Chief Financial Officer of
Vocera Communications, Inc., a publicly held wireless healthcare communications company. Prior to Vocera, from July 2006 to September 2011, Mr. Zerella served
as
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Chief Financial Officer for Force10 Networks Inc., a networking company acquired by Dell Inc. Prior to Force10, Mr. Zerella served as Chief Financial Officer at
Infinera Corporation, a telecom equipment provider, and Chief Financial Officer at Calient Networks, Inc., an optical equipment provider. Mr. Zerella has also held
various other senior level financial and business management positions at several companies, including GTECH Corporation and Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Mr. Zerella holds a B.S. in accounting from the New York Institute of Technology and an M.B.A. from the Leonard N. Stern School of Business at New York
University.
Hansgregory C. Hartmann has served as our Chief Operations Officer since February 2011. From April 2010 to February 2011, Mr. Hartmann served as
Chief Operations Officer of Skyline Solar, Inc., a supplier of solar energy systems. From February 2009 to July 2009, Mr. Hartmann served as Vice President of
Operations at Element Labs, Inc., a manufacturer of LED technology, and from August 2009 to March 2010 as Vice President of Operations and Hardware
Engineering at Element Labs. After Element Labs was acquired by Barco N.V. in March 2010, Mr. Hartmann served as Vice President and General Manager of
Barco Video Lighting Solutions until April 2010. Mr. Hartmann previously served as Senior Vice President of Operations at Dash Navigation, Inc., a provider of
automotive GPS solutions, Senior Vice President of Operations at OQO, Inc., a computer hardware company, Vice President of Operations at Wave7 Optics, Inc., an
optical networks company, Vice President of Operations at Force10 Networks, Vice President of Operations at ConvergeNet Technologies, Inc., a data storage
company, and Vice President of Manufacturing Operations at JetFax, Inc., an internet fax services company. Prior to JetFax, Mr. Hartmann served for approximately
15 years in various quality, operations, and marketing management roles at Hewlett-Packard Company, an information technology company. Mr. Hartmann holds a
B.S. in electrical engineering from New Jersey Institute of Technology and an M.S. in manufacturing systems engineering from Stanford University.
Andy Missan has served as our Vice President and General Counsel since March 2013. From July 2009 to October 2012, Mr. Missan served as Vice President
and General Counsel at Bytemobile, Inc., a mobile video optimization company. Prior to Bytemobile, Mr. Missan served as Vice President and General Counsel of
MobiTV, Inc., a provider of mobile video solutions, Vice President and General Counsel of Danger, Inc., a mobile devices and services company, and Vice President
and General Counsel of Replay TV, Inc., a DVR technology company. He has also held senior legal and business affairs positions at the RCA Records Label/BMG
Entertainment and Sony Music Entertainment Inc. Mr. Missan holds a B.A. in government from Oberlin College and a J.D. from Northwestern University School of
Law.
Timothy Roberts has served as our Vice President, Interactive since September 2010. From July 2007 to September 2010, Mr. Roberts served as the founder
and Chief Executive Officer of Infectious, LLC, a print-on-demand platform. Prior to Infectious, Mr. Roberts served as the Vice President of Product and Marketing
at Odeo, Inc., a podcasting company, Senior Director of Product Management at Yahoo! Inc., an internet company, Vice President of Product Management and cofounder of Bigstep.com, a hosting company acquired by Affinity Internet in 2002, and Director of Products at T/Maker Company, a personal computer software
company acquired by Deluxe Corporation in 1994. Mr. Roberts holds a B.A. in psychology from Vassar College.
Edward M. Scal has served as our Chief Revenue Officer since October 2010. From November 2007 to October 2010, Mr. Scal served as a partner at Avanti
Growth Partners, a private equity and consulting firm. Prior to Avanti, Mr. Scal served as Executive Vice President and a member of the board of directors of
CamelBak Products LLC, an outdoor equipment company, Senior Vice President at Kransco Partners LLP, a private equity firm, Director of Business Development
at Kransco Group Companies, a toy company, Director of Development at Visa International, a financial services company, Product Manager at General Mills, a
food products company, and as an analyst at Cambridge Associates. Mr. Scal holds a B.A. in history from Williams College and an M.B.A. from Stanford Business
School.
Non-Employee Directors
Jonathan D. Callaghan has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2008. Mr. Callaghan is a founder and has served as a Managing
Partner of True Ventures, a venture capital firm, since
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January 2006. Prior to True Ventures, Mr. Callaghan served as a Managing Director at Globespan Capital, a venture capital firm, and as a Managing Partner at
CMGI@Ventures, CMGI Inc.’s affiliated venture capital group. Prior to this, Mr. Callaghan worked for AOL Inc.’s Greenhouse, the venture capital/incubator for
AOL, and as an associate at Summit Partners. Mr. Callaghan holds an A.B. in government from Dartmouth College and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
Mr. Callaghan was selected to serve as a member of our board of directors due to his extensive experience with technology companies.
Steven Murray has served as a member of our board of directors since June 2013. Mr. Murray is a Partner at SoftBank Capital, a venture capital firm, where
he has worked since April 1996. Prior to this, Mr. Murray worked for Deloitte & Touche LLP where he specialized in serving high growth technology based
businesses. Mr. Murray also serves on the board of directors of a number of private companies. Mr. Murray holds a B.S. in accounting from Boston College.
Mr. Murray was selected to serve as a member of our board of directors due to his extensive experience with technology companies.
Christopher Paisley has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2015. Mr. Paisley has served as the Dean’s Executive Professor of
Accounting at the Leavey School of Business at Santa Clara University since January 2001. Prior to this, Mr. Paisley served as Senior Vice President of Finance and
Chief Financial Officer for 3Com Corporation, a digital electronics manufacturer. Mr. Paisley currently serves on the boards of directors of Ambarella, Inc., Bridge
Capital Holdings, Control4 Corporation, Equinix, Inc., Fortinet, Inc., and YuMe, Inc. He also previously served as a director of 3PAR Inc. and Volterra
Semiconductor Corporation. Mr. Paisley holds a B.A. in business economics from the University of California, Santa Barbara and an M.B.A. from the Anderson
School at the University of California, Los Angeles. Mr. Paisley was selected to serve as a member of our board of directors due to his extensive experience in the
financial services industry and academia.
Election of Officers
Our executive officers are elected by, and serve at the discretion of, our board of directors. There are no familial relationships among our directors and
executive officers.
Board of Directors Composition
Current Board of Directors
Under our second amended and restated bylaws as in effect prior to the completion of this offering, our board of directors may set the authorized number of
directors. Our board of directors has set the authorized number of directors as seven. Our board of directors currently consists of five members with two vacancies.
Pursuant to our third amended and restated voting agreement dated as of June 6, 2013, Messrs. Park, Friedman, Callaghan, Murray, and Paisley have been
designated to serve as members of our board of directors. Pursuant to that agreement, Messrs. Park and Friedman were designated as the representatives of our
common stock, Mr. Callaghan was designated as the representative of our Series A-1 convertible preferred stock, Mr. Murray was designated as the representative of
our Series D convertible preferred stock, and Mr. Paisley was designated jointly by the holders of our common stock and convertible preferred stock as an
independent director. The amended and restated voting agreement will terminate in connection with this offering and there will be no contractual obligations
regarding the election of our directors. After this offering, the number of directors will be fixed by our board of directors, subject to the terms of our restated
certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws that will become effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering. Currently serving members of our
board of directors will continue to serve as directors until their death, resignation, or removal or until their successors are duly elected by the holders of our common
stock.
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Board of Directors
Although our board of directors will not initially be classified following this offering, our restated certificate of incorporation that will be in effect
immediately prior to the completion of this offering provides that, at such time as the outstanding shares of our Class B common stock represent less than a majority
of the combined voting power of our common stock, our board of directors will be divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of
directors will be elected at each annual meeting of our stockholders, with the other classes continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms. Each
director’s term will continue until the election and qualification of his or her successor, or his or her earlier death, resignation, or removal.
Only our board of directors may fill vacancies on our board. After our board of directors is classified, any additional directorships resulting from an increase
in the number of directors will be distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the total number of
directors.
The classification of our board of directors may have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in our control or management. See the section titled
“Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeover Provisions—Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws Provisions” for additional information.
Director Independence
The listing rules of the New York Stock Exchange generally require that a majority of the members of a listed company’s board of directors be independent
within specified periods following the closing of an initial public offering. In addition, the listing rules generally require that, subject to specified exceptions, each
member of a listed company’s audit, compensation, and nominating and governance committees be independent.
Our board of directors has determined that none of our non-employee directors has a material relationship with us and that each of these directors is
“independent” as that term is defined under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. In making this determination, our board of directors considered the
relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their
independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director, and the transactions described in the section titled “Certain
Relationships and Related-Party Transactions.”
Lead Independent Director
Our board of directors has appointed Mr. Callaghan to serve as our lead independent director upon the completion of this offering. As lead independent
director, Mr. Callaghan will preside over periodic meetings of our independent directors, serve as a liaison between the chairperson of our board of directors and the
independent directors, and perform such additional duties as our board of directors may otherwise determine and delegate.
Committees of Our Board of Directors
Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and governance committee. The composition and
responsibilities of each committee are described below. Members serve on these committees until their resignations or until otherwise determined by our board of
directors. Prior to the completion of this offering, our board of directors will adopt a charter for each of these committees. Following the completion of this offering,
copies of the charters for each committee will be available without charge on the Investor Relations portion of our website.
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Audit Committee
Our audit committee is comprised of Mr. Paisley, who is the chair of the audit committee, and Mr. Murray. Each member of our audit committee is
independent under the current New York Stock Exchange and SEC rules and regulations and we intend to comply with the requirement to have a minimum of three
members on our audit committee within the applicable transition period. Each member of our audit committee is financially literate as required by current New York
Stock Exchange listing standards. In addition, our board of directors has determined that Mr. Paisley is an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of
Item 407(d) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act. Our audit committee will, among other things:
•

select a qualified firm to serve as the independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements;

•

help to ensure the independence and performance of the independent registered public accounting firm;

•

discuss the scope and results of the audit with the independent registered public accounting firm, and review, with management and the independent
accountants, our interim and year-end operating results;

•

review our policies on risk assessment and risk management;

•

obtain and review a report by the independent registered public accounting firm at least annually, that describes our internal quality-control procedures,
any material issues with such procedures, and any steps taken to deal with such issues;

•

approve (or, as permitted, pre-approve) all audit and all permissible non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting
firm; and

•

review related-party transactions and proposed waivers.

Compensation Committee
Our compensation committee is comprised of Mr. Callaghan, who is the chair of the compensation committee, and Mr. Paisley. The composition of our
compensation committee meets the requirements for independence under current New York Stock Exchange and SEC rules and regulations. Each member of this
committee is also a non-employee director, as defined pursuant to Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and an outside director, as defined pursuant to
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The purpose of our compensation committee is to discharge the responsibilities of
our board of directors relating to compensation of our executive officers. Our compensation committee will, among other things:
•

determine and approve, or make recommendations to our board of directors regarding, the compensation of our executive officers;

•

recommend to our board of directors the compensation of our non-employee directors;

•

administer our stock and equity incentive plans;

•

review and approve, or make recommendations to our board of directors regarding cash-based and equity-based incentive compensation plans; and

•

review our overall compensation strategy.

Nominating and Governance Committee
The nominating and governance committee is comprised of Mr. Murray, who is the chair of the nominating and governance committee, and Mr. Callaghan.
The composition of our nominating and governance committee meets the requirements for independence under current New York Stock Exchange and SEC rules
and regulations. Our nominating and governance committee will, among other things:
•
identify and recommend candidates for membership on our board of directors;
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•

oversee the process of evaluating the performance of our board of directors and each committee of the board of directors;

•

consider and make recommendations to our board of directors regarding the composition of our board of directors and its committees;

•

develop and make recommendations to our board of directors regarding corporate governance guidelines and policies; and

•

advise our board of directors on corporate governance matters.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
None of the members of our compensation committee is or has been an officer or employee of our company. None of our executive officers has served as a
member of the board of directors, or as a member of the compensation or similar committee, of any entity that has one or more executive officers who served on our
board of directors or compensation committee during 2014.
In June 2013 through August 2013, we sold shares of our Series D convertible preferred stock to True Ventures II, L.P. and Foundry Venture Capital 2007,
L.P. and Foundry Group Select Fund, LP., or together, the Foundry Group Funds. Mr. Callaghan, a member of our compensation committee, is a founder and a
managing partner of True Ventures. Brad Feld, who was a member of our board of directors and our compensation committee from August 2010 to May 2015, is a
founder and managing director of Foundry Group. See the section titled “Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions—Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock Financing” for additional information.
Codes of Conduct and Ethics
Our board of directors has adopted codes of conduct and ethics that apply to all of our employees, officers, and directors. The full text of our codes of conduct
and ethics will be posted on the Investor Relations section of our website. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our codes of conduct and
ethics, or waivers of these provisions, on our website or in filings under the Exchange Act.
Director Compensation
In 2014, we did not pay any fees to, make any equity awards or non-equity awards to, or pay any other compensation to any of the non-employee members of
our board of directors. All compensation that we paid to Messrs. Park and Friedman, our only employee directors, is set forth in the table below in the section titled
“Executive Compensation—Summary Compensation Table.” No compensation was paid to our employee directors in their capacities as directors in 2014. As of
December 31, 2014, none of our directors held outstanding stock options or other equity awards.
In February 2015, we granted Mr. Paisley an option to purchase 60,000 shares of our Class B common stock as compensation for Mr. Paisley’s service as a
member of our board of directors as described below in the section titled “—Non-Employee Director Equity Compensation.” This stock option vests in equal
monthly installments over two years. In the event of a change of control, all of the unvested shares subject to this option will become immediately vested and
exercisable as of the date immediately prior to the change of control.
In January 2015, our board of directors approved the following cash and equity compensation for our non-employee directors:
Non-Employee Director Equity Compensation
Initial Equity Grant. Each non-employee director appointed to our board of directors on or following January 2015 and prior to the completion of this offering
will be granted an option to purchase 60,000 shares of
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our Class B common stock, with each such option vesting in equal monthly installments over two years. In the event of a change of control, all of the unvested
shares subject to each such option will become immediately vested and exercisable as of the date immediately prior to the change of control.
Following the completion of this offering, instead of receiving a stock option grant as described above, each non-employee director appointed to our board of
directors will be automatically granted an initial grant of RSUs on the date of his or her appointment to the board of directors having an aggregate fair market value
of $150,000 (with such amount pro-rated based on the number of days between the date of such director’s appointment and the date of our first annual meeting of
stockholders following the date of grant (or to the extent that we have not determined the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders on or before the date of
grant, May 15 following the date of grant)). The RSUs will fully vest on the date of our first annual meeting of stockholders following the date of grant or
immediately prior to the consummation of a change of control event. If an individual is appointed as a non-employee director at an annual meeting of stockholders,
he or she will be granted an annual equity grant, as described below, in lieu of the initial equity grant.
Annual Equity Grant . On the date of each annual meeting of stockholders following the completion of this offering (commencing with our 2016 annual
meeting of stockholders), each non-employee director who is serving on our board of directors on the date of such annual meeting will be automatically granted
RSUs having an aggregate fair market value of $150,000. The RSUs will fully vest on the earlier of (i) the date of the following year’s annual meeting of
stockholders (but only for a non-employee director who does not stand for re-election at, or is not re-elected at, the following year’s annual meeting of stockholders
but who otherwise serves on the board of directors until the date of such meeting) and (ii) the date that is one year following the date of grant.
Non-Employee Director Cash Compensation
Following the completion of this offering, each non-employee director will also be entitled to receive an annual cash retainer of $40,000 for service on the
board of directors and additional annual cash compensation for committee membership as follows:
•

Audit committee member: $10,000

•

Audit committee chair: $20,000

•

Compensation committee member: $7,500

•

Compensation committee chair: $15,000

•

Nominating and governance committee member: $5,000

•

Nominating and governance committee chair: $10,000
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table
The following table provides information regarding all compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to our President and Chief Executive Officer and our two
most highly compensated executive officers (other than our President and Chief Executive Officer) for 2014.

Bonus (1)

Options
Awards
($) (2)

$ 222,179(4)

$ 80,000

$ 7,532,909

2014

222,179(4)

80,000

2014

169,423(4)

40,833

Name and Principal Position

Year

James Park
President and Chief Executive Officer

2014

Eric N. Friedman
Chief Technology Officer
William Zerella
Chief Financial Officer
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Salary
($)

All Other
Compensation
($) (3)

$

Total
($)

9,537

$ 7,844,625

7,532,909

12,707

7,847,795

4,774,211

6,622

4,991,089

The amounts reported in this column represent bonuses awarded at the discretion of our board of directors.
The amounts reported in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock options granted to the named executive officers during 2014 as computed in accordance with FASB Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of the stock options reported in this column are set forth in note 12 of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements included in this prospectus.
The amounts reported in this column represent life insurance and health insurance premiums paid by us on behalf of our named executive officers. We also pay such premiums on behalf of all of our employees.
As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Park and Mr. Friedman had a base salary of $250,000, and Mr. Zerella had a base salary of $300,000 (prorated for 2014 to his start date).

Offer Letters and Employment Arrangements
We currently do not have employment agreements or offer letters with any of our named executive officers other than Mr. Zerella. All of our named executive
officers are employed on an at-will basis, with no fixed term of employment. Each of our named executive officers will receive benefits upon certain qualifying
terminations as described in the section titled “—Potential Payments upon Termination, Change of Control, or IPO.”
James Park
As a founder, Mr. Park, our President and Chief Executive Officer, did not enter into an offer letter or any other formal arrangement or understanding with us
regarding his employment. We currently have no employment agreement with Mr. Park. Mr. Park is an at-will employee.
Eric N. Friedman
As a founder, Mr. Friedman, our Chief Technology Officer, did not enter into an offer letter or any other formal arrangement or understanding with us
regarding his employment. We currently have no employment agreement with Mr. Friedman. Mr. Friedman is an at-will employee.
William Zerella
Mr. Zerella is party to an offer letter with us dated April 24, 2014 pursuant to which he agreed to serve as our Chief Financial Officer. He is eligible to receive
an annual bonus of up to $70,000 (prorated for 2014 to his start date). Pursuant to the offer letter, Mr. Zerella also received an option to purchase 2,162,031 shares of
our Class B common stock.
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Change of Control, or IPO
Prior to this offering, we will enter into retention agreements with each of our executive officers, including our named executive officers, which provide for
the following benefits upon a qualifying termination, which means a termination by us without cause or a termination by the executive for good reason (as such
terms are defined in the retention agreement), outside of a change in control (as such term is defined in the retention agreement) in exchange for a customary release
of claims: (i) a lump sum severance payment of 12 months of base salary to our President and Chief Executive Officer and nine months to our other executive
officers, including our other named executive officers, and (ii) payment of premiums for continued medical benefits (or equivalent cash payment if applicable law so
requires) for up to 12 months to our President and Chief Executive Officer and up to nine months to our other executive officers, including our other named
executive officers. If the executive officer is subject to a qualifying termination within the three months preceding a change in control (but after a legally binding and
definitive agreement for a potential change of control has been executed) or within the 12 months following a change in control, the retention agreements provide the
following benefits in exchange for a customary release of claims: (i) a lump sum severance payment of 18 months of base salary to our President and Chief
Executive Officer and 12 months to our other executive officers, including our other named executive officers, (ii) a lump sum payment equal to the executive
officer’s then-current target bonus opportunity, multiplied by a factor of 150% for our President and Chief Executive Officer and 100% for our other executive
officers, including our other named executive officers, (iii) 100% acceleration of any then-unvested equity awards for our executive officers, including our named
executive officers, and (iv) payment of premiums for continued medical benefits (or equivalent cash payment if applicable law so requires) for up to 18 months to
our President and Chief Executive Officer and up to 12 months to our other executive officers, including our other named executive officers. Each retention
agreement is in effect for three years, with automatic three-year renewals unless notice is given by us to the executive officer three months prior to expiration.
The benefits under the retention agreements supersede all other cash severance and vesting acceleration arrangements, except for the stock option awards
granted to each of Messrs. Park and Friedman in August 2014, which provide that they will each receive accelerated vesting with respect to 50% of the total number
of unvested shares subject to such stock option awards in connection with an involuntary termination (as defined in their respective stock option agreements) of
employment upon or within 12 months following this offering or a change of control (as defined in their respective stock option agreements).
2014 Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End Table

Grant
Date

Name

James Park

9/27/2011(2)
8/7/2014(4)
9/27/2011(2)
8/7/2014(4)
6/10/2014(5)

Eric N. Friedman
William Zerella
(1)
(2)
(3)

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

1,669,833
—
1,669,833
—
—

Option Awards (1)
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable

385,347(3)
3,243,048
385,347
3,243,048
2,162,031

Options
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration
Date

$ 0.06
3.64
0.06
3.64
2.30

9/26/2021
8/6/2024
9/26/2021
8/6/2024
6/9/2024

All of the outstanding equity awards described in this table were granted under our 2007 Plan.
1/4th of the total number of shares subject to the option vested on September 27, 2012 and the remaining shares subject to the option vest at a rate of 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on
each month thereafter, subject to continued service to us through each vesting date. These awards are subject to acceleration benefits upon certain qualifying terminations as described in the section titled “—
Potential Payments upon Termination, Change of Control, or IPO.”
In August 2014, our board of directors approved a modification to this stock option to provide that, in the event Mr. Park is terminated prior to the closing of this offering, the post-termination exercise period of
the stock option will be extended to be until the earlier of (i) the six-year anniversary of Mr. Park’s termination and (ii) the applicable ten-year expiration date of the stock option, provided
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(4)

(5)

however, that the extended exercise period will terminate on the one-year anniversary of this offering or the closing of a liquidation event of the company. The stock-based compensation expense related to this
modification is immaterial.
1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option vested on May 1, 2015 and the remaining shares subject to the option vest at a rate of 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on each
month thereafter, subject to continued service to us through each vesting date. In connection with an involuntary termination of employment upon or within 12 months following a change of control or this
offering, 50% of the total number of unvested shares subject to the option will become immediately vested and exercisable. In addition, these awards are subject to certain other acceleration benefits upon certain
qualifying terminations as described in the section titled “—Potential Payments upon Termination, Change of Control, or IPO.”
1/4th of the total number of shares subject to the option vest on June 9, 2015 and the remaining shares subject to the option vest at a rate of 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on each month
thereafter, subject to continued service to us through each vesting date. This award is subject to acceleration benefits upon certain qualifying terminations as described in the section titled “—Potential Payments
upon Termination, Change of Control, or IPO.”

Employee Benefit Plans
Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan
Our board of directors originally adopted our 2007 Plan in September 2007, which was subsequently approved by our stockholders in October 2007. Our 2007
Plan was most recently amended in March 2015.
The 2007 Plan provides for the grant of both incentive stock options, which qualify for favorable tax treatment to their recipients under Section 422 of the
Code, and non-statutory stock options, as well as for the issuance of RSUs and shares of restricted stock. We may grant incentive stock options only to our
employees. We may grant non-statutory stock options and RSUs, as well as issue shares of restricted stock to our employees, directors, and consultants.
The exercise price of each incentive stock option must be at least equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. However, the
exercise price of incentive stock options granted to 10% stockholders must be at least equal to 110% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of
grant. The maximum permitted term of options granted under our 2007 Plan is ten years. However, the maximum permitted term of options granted to 10%
stockholders is five years.
RSUs are awards representing the right to receive shares of our Class B common stock at a specified date in the future, subject to forfeiture of that right
because of a termination of employment or service or failure to achieve certain performance conditions.
In the event we are a party to a merger or consolidation, the 2007 Plan provides that our board of directors, in its discretion, may take one or more of the
following actions: (i) provide for the acceleration of any time period relating to the exercise or realization of an award, (ii) provide for the purchase of an award upon
the participant’s request for an amount of cash or other property that could have been received upon the exercise or realization of an award immediately prior to the
consummation of the merger or consolidation, had the award been currently exercisable or payable, (iii) adjust the terms of the award in a manner determined by the
board of directors, (iv) cause the award to be assumed, or new rights substituted therefor, by another entity, or (v) make such other provision as the board of directors
may consider equitable and in the best interests of the company.
As of March 31, 2015, we had reserved 60,891,431 shares of our Class B common stock for issuance under our 2007 Plan. As of March 31, 2015, options to
purchase 47,337,190 of these shares remained outstanding, 291,630 of these shares subject to the settlement of RSUs remained outstanding, and 8,938,879 shares
remained available for future grant. The stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2015, had a weighted-average exercise price of $2.19 per share. Our 2015 Plan
will be effective upon the date immediately prior to the date of this prospectus. As a result, we will not grant any additional stock options under the 2007 Plan
following that date, and the 2007 Plan will terminate at that time. However, any outstanding stock options and RSUs granted under the 2007 Plan will remain
outstanding, subject to the terms of our 2007 Plan and applicable award agreements, until such shares are issued under those awards (by exercise of stock options or
settlement of RSUs) or until the awards terminate or expire by their terms. Stock options and RSUs granted under the 2007 Plan generally have terms similar to
those described below with respect to stock options and RSUs granted under our 2015 Plan.
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2015 Equity Incentive Plan
In May 2015, our board of directors and our stockholders adopted and approved our 2015 Plan. The 2015 Plan will become effective on the date immediately
prior to the date of this prospectus and will serve as the successor to our 2007 Plan. Any remaining shares available for issuance under our 2007 Plan will become
reserved for issuance under our 2015 Plan, and we will cease granting awards under the 2007 Plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance under our 2015 Plan
will increase automatically on the first day of January of each of 2016 through 2025 by the number of shares of Class A common stock equal to 5% of the total
outstanding shares of our common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31. However, our board of directors may reduce the amount of the increase in
any particular year. In addition, the following shares of our Class A common stock will be available for grant and issuance under our 2015 Plan:
•

shares issuable upon the exercise of options or subject to other awards under our 2007 Plan prior to the date of this offering that cease to be subject to
such options or other awards by forfeiture or otherwise after the date of this offering;

•

shares issued under our 2007 Plan that are forfeited or repurchased by us after the date of this offering;

•
•

shares subject to awards granted under our 2015 Plan that cease to be subject to the awards for any reason other than exercises of stock options or stock
appreciation rights;
shares issued or subject to awards granted under our 2015 Plan that are subsequently forfeited or repurchased by us at the original issue price;

•

shares surrendered, cancelled, or exchanged for cash or a different award (or combination thereof); and

•

shares subject to awards under our 2007 Plan that are used to pay the exercise price of a stock option or withheld to satisfy the tax withholding
obligations related to any award.

Our 2015 Plan authorizes the award of stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights, RSUs, performance awards, and stock bonuses. No
person will be eligible to receive more than 3,000,000 shares in any calendar year under our 2015 Plan other than a new employee of ours, who will be eligible to
receive no more than 6,000,000 shares under the plan in the calendar year in which the employee commences employment. The aggregate number of shares that may
be subject to awards granted to any one non-employee director pursuant to the 2015 Plan in any calendar year shall not exceed 1,500,000. No more than 37,500,000
shares may be issued as incentive stock options under the 2015 Plan.
Our 2015 Plan will be administered by our compensation committee, all of the members of which are outside directors as defined under applicable federal tax
laws, or by our board of directors acting in place of our compensation committee. The compensation committee will have the authority to construe and interpret our
2015 Plan, grant awards, and make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the plan.
Our 2015 Plan will provide for the grant of awards to our employees, directors, consultants, independent contractors, and advisors, provided the consultants,
independent contractors, directors, and advisors render services not in connection with the offer and sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction. The exercise
price of stock options must be at least equal to the fair market value of our Class A common stock on the date of grant.
We anticipate that in general, stock options will vest over a four-year period. Stock options may vest based on time or achievement of performance conditions.
Our compensation committee may provide for stock options to be exercised only as they vest or to be immediately exercisable with any shares issued on exercise
being subject to our right of repurchase that lapses as the shares vest. The maximum term of stock options granted under our 2015 Plan is ten years.
A restricted stock award is an offer by us to sell shares of our Class A common stock subject to restrictions, which may vest based on time or achievement of
performance conditions. The price, if any, of a restricted stock award will be determined by the compensation committee. Unless otherwise determined by the
compensation committee at the time of award, vesting will cease on the date the holder no longer provides services to us and unvested shares will be forfeited to or
repurchased by us.
Stock appreciation rights provide for a payment, or payments, in cash or shares of our Class A common stock, to the holder based upon the difference between
the fair market value of our Class A common stock on the
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date of exercise and the stated exercise price at grant up to a maximum amount of cash or number of shares. Stock appreciation rights may vest based on time or
achievement of performance conditions.
RSUs represent the right to receive shares of our Class A common stock at a specified date in the future, subject to forfeiture of that right because of
termination of employment or failure to achieve certain performance conditions. If an RSU has not been forfeited, then on the date specified in the RSU agreement,
we will deliver to the holder of the RSU whole shares of our Class A common stock (which may be subject to additional restrictions), cash, or a combination of our
Class A common stock and cash.
Performance awards cover a number of shares of our Class A common stock that may be settled upon achievement of the pre-established performance
conditions in cash or by issuance of the underlying shares. These awards are subject to forfeiture prior to settlement due to termination of employment or failure to
achieve the performance conditions.
Stock bonuses may be granted as additional compensation for past services or performance, in the form of cash, Class A common stock, or a combination
thereof, and may be subject to restrictions, which may vest based on time or achievement of performance conditions.
In the event there is a specified type of change in our capital structure without our receipt of consideration, such as a stock split, appropriate adjustments will
be made to the number of shares reserved under our 2015 Plan, the maximum number of shares that can be granted in a calendar year and the number of shares and
exercise price, if applicable, of all outstanding awards under our 2015 Plan.
Awards granted under our 2015 Plan may not be transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or as determined by
our compensation committee. Unless otherwise permitted by our compensation committee, stock options may be exercised during the lifetime of the optionee only
by the optionee or the optionee’s guardian or legal representative. Stock options granted under our 2015 Plan generally may be exercised for a period of three
months after the termination of the optionee’s service to us, for a period of 12 months in the case of death or for a period of six months in the case of disability, or
such longer period as our compensation committee may provide. Stock options generally terminate immediately upon termination of employment for cause.
Our 2015 Plan provides that, in the event of a sale, lease, or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets or specified types of mergers or
consolidations, or a corporate transaction, outstanding awards under our 2015 Plan may be assumed or replaced by any surviving or acquiring corporation; the
surviving or acquiring corporation may substitute similar awards for those outstanding under our 2015 Plan; outstanding awards may be settled for the full value of
such outstanding award (whether or not then vested or exercisable) in cash, cash equivalents, or securities of the successor entity with payment deferred until the
date or dates the award would have become exercisable or vested; or outstanding awards may be terminated for no consideration. Our board of directors has the
discretion to provide that a stock award under our 2015 Plan will immediately vest as to all or any portion of the shares subject to the stock award at the time of a
corporate transaction or in the event a participant’s service with us or a successor entity is terminated actually or constructively within a designated period following
the occurrence of the transaction. Stock awards held by participants under our 2015 Plan will not vest automatically on such an accelerated basis unless specifically
provided in the participant’s applicable award agreement. In the event of a corporate transaction, the vesting of all awards granted to non-employee directors shall
accelerate and such awards shall become exercisable (as applicable) in full upon the consummation of the corporate transaction.
Our 2015 Plan will terminate ten years from the date our board of directors approved the plan, unless it is terminated earlier by our board of directors. Our
board of directors may amend or terminate our 2015 Plan at any time. If our board of directors amends our 2015 Plan, it does not need to ask for stockholder
approval of the amendment unless required by applicable law.
114

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In May 2015, our board of directors and our stockholders adopted and approved our 2015 ESPP. The 2015 ESPP will become effective upon the completion
of this offering. We have adopted the 2015 ESPP in order to enable eligible employees to purchase shares of our Class A common stock at a discount following the
date of this offering. Purchases will be accomplished through participation in discrete offering periods. Our 2015 ESPP is intended to qualify as an employee stock
purchase plan under Section 423 of the Code. We initially reserved 3,750,000 shares of our Class A common stock for issuance under our 2015 ESPP. The number
of shares reserved for issuance under our 2015 ESPP will increase automatically on the 1st day of January of each calendar year following the first offering date by
the number of shares equal to 1% of the total outstanding shares of our common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31 (rounded to the nearest whole
share). However, our board of directors may reduce the amount of the increase in any particular year. The aggregate number of shares issued over the term of our
2015 ESPP will not exceed 37,500,000 shares of our Class A common stock.
Our compensation committee will administer our 2015 ESPP. Our employees generally are eligible to participate in our 2015 ESPP if they are employed by us
for at least 20 hours per week and more than five months in a calendar year. Employees who are 5% stockholders, or would become 5% stockholders as a result of
their participation in our 2015 ESPP, are ineligible to participate in our 2015 ESPP. We may impose additional restrictions on eligibility. Under our 2015 ESPP,
eligible employees will be able to acquire shares of our Class A common stock by accumulating funds through payroll deductions. Our eligible employees will be
able to select a rate of payroll deduction between 1% and 15% of their base cash compensation. We will also have the right to amend or terminate our 2015 ESPP at
any time. Our 2015 ESPP will terminate on the tenth anniversary of the first offering date, unless it is terminated earlier by our board of directors.
When an initial offering period commences, our employees who meet the eligibility requirements for participation in that offering period will automatically be
granted a nontransferable option to purchase shares in that offering period. For subsequent offering periods, new participants will be required to enroll in a timely
manner. Once an employee is enrolled, participation will be automatic in subsequent offering periods. An employee’s participation automatically ends upon
termination of employment for any reason.
Except for the first offering period, each offering period will run for no more than six months, with purchases occurring every six months. The first offering
period will begin upon the date of this prospectus and will end approximately eleven months following the date of this prospectus. An employee’s participation
automatically ends upon termination of employment for any reason.
No participant will have the right to purchase shares of our Class A common stock in an amount, when aggregated with purchase rights under all our
employee stock purchase plans that are also in effect in the same calendar year, that have a fair market value of more than $25,000, determined as of the first day of
the applicable purchase period, for each calendar year in which that right is outstanding. In addition, no participant will be permitted to purchase more than 3,750
shares of our Class A common stock during any one purchase period or a lesser amount determined by our compensation committee. The purchase price for shares
of our Class A common stock purchased under our 2015 ESPP will be 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of our Class A common stock on (i) the first trading
day of the applicable offering period and (ii) the last trading day of each purchase period in the applicable offering period.
If we experience a change in control transaction, any offering period that commenced prior to the closing of the proposed change in control transaction will be
shortened and terminated on a new purchase date. The new purchase date will occur prior to the closing of the proposed change in control transaction, and our 2015
ESPP will then terminate on the closing of the proposed change in control.
401(k) Plan
We maintain a retirement plan for the benefit of our employees. The plan is intended to qualify as a tax-qualified 401(k) plan so that contributions to the 401
(k) plan, and income earned on such contributions, are
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not taxable to participants until withdrawn or distributed from the 401(k) plan (except in the case of contributions under the 401(k) plan designated as Roth
contributions). The 401(k) plan provides that each participant may contribute up to 90% of his or her pre-tax compensation, up to an annual statutory limit.
Participants who are at least 50 years old can also contribute additional amounts based on statutory limits for “catch-up” contributions. Under the 401(k) plan, each
employee is fully vested in his or her deferred salary contributions. Employee contributions are held and invested by the plan’s trustee as directed by participants.
Our 401(k) plan provides for discretionary matching of employee contributions.
Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Our restated certificate of incorporation, which will become effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering, contains provisions that limit the
liability of our directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Consequently, our directors will not be personally liable to us or our
stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability:
•
for any breach of their duty of loyalty to our company or our stockholders;
•

for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

•

unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or

•

for any transaction from which they derived an improper personal benefit.

Any amendment to or repeal of these provisions will not eliminate or reduce the effect of these provisions in respect of any act, omission, or claim that
occurred or arose prior to that amendment or repeal. If the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended to provide for further limitations on the personal liability
of directors of corporations, then the personal liability of our directors will be further limited to the greatest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation
Law.
Our restated bylaws, which will become effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering, provide that we will indemnify, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was
one of our directors or officers or is or was serving at our request as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise.
Our restated bylaws provide that we may indemnify to the fullest extent permitted by law any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any
action, suit, or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was one of our employees or agents or is or was serving at our request as an employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise. Our restated bylaws also provide that we must advance expenses incurred by or on behalf of
a director or officer in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, subject to very limited exceptions.
We have also entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers that are broader than the specific indemnification
provisions contained in the Delaware General Corporation Law. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to indemnify our directors and
executive officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service. These indemnification agreements also require us to advance all expenses
incurred by the directors and executive officers in investigating or defending any such action, suit, or proceeding. We believe that these agreements are necessary to
attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as directors and executive officers.
The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws or in these indemnification
agreements may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. They may also reduce the likelihood of
derivative litigation against our directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s
investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of
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settlement and damage awards against directors and officers as required by these indemnification provisions. At present, we are not aware of any pending litigation
or proceeding involving any person who is or was one of our directors, officers, employees, or other agents or is or was serving at our request as a director, officer,
employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, for which indemnification is sought, and we are not aware of any
threatened litigation that may result in claims for indemnification.
We have obtained insurance policies under which, subject to the limitations of the policies, coverage is provided to our directors and officers against loss
arising from claims made by reason of breach of fiduciary duty or other wrongful acts as a director or officer, including claims relating to public securities matters,
and to us with respect to payments that may be made by us to these officers and directors pursuant to our indemnification obligations or otherwise as a matter of law.
Certain of our non-employee directors may, through their relationships with their employers, be insured or indemnified against certain liabilities incurred in
their capacity as members of our board of directors.
The underwriting agreement will provide for indemnification by the underwriters of us and our officers, directors, and employees for certain liabilities arising
under the Securities Act or otherwise.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers, or persons controlling our company pursuant
to the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act
and is therefore unenforceable.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the compensation arrangements discussed in the sections titled “Management” and “Executive Compensation,” the following is a description of
each transaction since January 1, 2012 and each currently proposed transaction in which:
•
we have been or are to be a participant;
•

the amount involved exceeds or will exceed $120,000; and

•

any of our directors, executive officers, or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or any immediate family member of or person sharing the
household with any of these individuals, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Series D Convertible Preferred Stock Financing
Between June 2013 and August 2013, we sold an aggregate of 29,149,887 shares of our Series D convertible preferred stock at a purchase price of $1.4751
per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $43.0 million. Each share of our Series D convertible preferred stock will convert automatically into one
share of our Class B common stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering.
The following table summarizes the Series D convertible preferred stock purchased by members of our board of directors or their affiliates and holders of
more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock:
Shares of Series D
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Name of Stockholder

SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P. (1)
True Ventures II, L.P. (2)
Foundry Group Select Fund, LP (3)
(1)
(2)
(3)

10,168,572
677,904
6,779,040

Total Purchase Price ($)

15,000,000
999,999
9,999,988

SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P. holds more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock. Steven Murray, a member of our board of directors, is a Partner of SoftBank Capital, an entity affiliated with
SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P.
True Ventures II, L.P. holds more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock. Jonathan D. Callaghan, a member of our board of directors, is a Managing Partner of True Ventures, an entity affiliated with True
Ventures II, L.P.
Foundry Group Select Fund, LP and Foundry Venture Capital 2007, L.P., together, hold more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock. Brad Feld, who was a member of our board of directors from August 2010
to May 2015, is a Managing Director of Foundry Group, an affiliate of the Foundry Group Funds.

Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement
We have entered into an amended and restated investors’ rights agreement with certain holders of our convertible preferred stock, including entities affiliated
with the Foundry Group Funds, SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P., and True Ventures II, L.P. Jonathan D. Callaghan and Steven Murray, members of our
board of directors, are affiliated with True Ventures and SoftBank Capital, respectively. Brad Feld, who was a member of our board of directors from August 2010
to May 2015, is affiliated with the Foundry Group Funds. These stockholders are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares following this
offering. See the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights” for additional information.
Indemnification Agreements
We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. The indemnification agreements and our restated bylaws,
which will become effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering, will require us to indemnify our directors to the fullest extent not prohibited by
Delaware law. Subject to certain limitations, our restated bylaws also require us to advance expenses incurred by our directors and officers. See the section titled
“Executive Compensation—Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers” for additional information.
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SoftBank Distribution Agreement
In connection with a distribution agreement we entered into with SoftBank BB Corporation, or SoftBank BB, an entity affiliated with SoftBank PrinceVille
Investments, L.P. that holds more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock, SoftBank BB paid us $17.6 million and $0.5 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively. In
2012, SoftBank BB paid us an immaterial amount in connection with the distribution agreement. In 2013, we paid SoftBank BB $0.1 million for promotional
services rendered in Japan by SoftBank BB under the distribution agreement. In the three months ended March 31, 2015, we repaid SoftBank BB $2.8 million for
sales returns accepted in 2014, and SoftBank BB paid us $0.5 million, due to an amendment of the distribution agreement. Steven Murray, a member of our board of
directors, is a Partner of SoftBank Capital, an entity affiliated with SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P.
Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions with Related Parties
Our related-person transactions policy adopted by our board of directors and the charter of our audit committee to be adopted by our board of directors and in
effect immediately prior to the completion of this offering require that any transaction with a related person that must be reported under applicable rules of the SEC
must be reviewed and approved or ratified by our audit committee, unless the related party is, or is associated with, a member of that committee, in which event the
transaction must be reviewed and approved by our nominating and governance committee.
Prior to the adoption of our related-person transactions policy, we had no formal, written policy or procedure for the review and approval of related-party
transactions. However, our practice has been to have all related-party transactions reviewed and approved by a majority of the disinterested members of our board of
directors, including the transactions described above.
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PRINCIPAL AND SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
The following table presents certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 31, 2015, and as adjusted to
reflect the sale of Class A common stock offered by us and the selling stockholders in this offering assuming no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters’ option
to purchase additional shares to cover over-allotments, by:
•

each of our current directors;

•

each of our named executive officers;

•

all of our directors and executive officers as a group;

•

each stockholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of Class A or Class B common stock; and

•

each selling stockholder.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, based on information
furnished to us, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares that they beneficially own, subject to
applicable community property laws. We have deemed shares of our common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of
March 31, 2015 to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the option for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that
person but have not treated them as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
We have based percentage ownership of our common stock before this offering on no shares of our Class A common stock and 182,263,119 shares of our
Class B common stock outstanding on March 31, 2015, which includes 139,851,483 shares of Class B common stock resulting from the automatic conversion of all
outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock in connection with this offering, as if this conversion had occurred as of March 31, 2015. Percentage ownership
of our common stock after this offering (assuming no exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares to cover over-allotments) also assumes the
sale by us and the selling stockholders of 29,850,000 shares of Class A common stock in this offering (including the shares that are issued upon the net exercise of
warrants to purchase shares of our Class B common stock and sold in this offering). Percentage ownership of our common stock after this offering (assuming full
exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares to cover over-allotments) also assumes the sale by the selling stockholders of an additional
4,477,500 shares of Class A common stock (including the shares that are issued upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase shares of our Class B common stock
and sold in this offering). Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner in the table below is c/o Fitbit, Inc., 405 Howard Street, San Francisco,
California 94105.
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Shares
Beneficially
Owned Before
this Offering
Class B
Name of Beneficial
Owner
Named Executive Officers and Directors:
James Park (2)
Eric N. Friedman (3)
William Zerella
Jonathan D. Callaghan (4)
Steven Murray (5)
Christopher Paisley (6)
All executive officers and directors as a
group (10 persons) (7)
5% Stockholders:
Foundry Group Funds (8)
True Ventures II, L.P. (9)
SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P. (10)
Other Selling Stockholders:
Sapphire Ventures Fund I, LP (11)
SoftTech VC Funds (12)
Qualcomm Incorporated (13)
Martin David Green
Gokhan Kutlu
SVB Financial Group (14)
WestRiver Mezzanine Loans, LLC (15)
*
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

Shares

%

Number
of Shares
Being
Offered
(Assuming
% Total
Voting
Power
Before
this
Offering (1)

No
Exercise
of OverAllotment
Option)

Shares Beneficially
Owned After this Offering
(Assuming No Exercise of
Over-Allotment Option)
Class A

Class B

% Total
Voting
Power After
this
Offering (1)
(Assuming
No
Exercise of
OverAllotment
Option)

Number
of shares
Being
Offered
(Assuming
Full
Exercise
of OverAllotment
Option)

Shares Beneficially
Owned After this Offering
(Assuming Full Exercise of
Over-Allotment Option)
Class A

Class B

% Total
Voting
Power After
this
Offering (1)
(Assuming
Full
Exercise of
OverAllotment
Option)

Shares

%

Shares

%

Shares

%

Shares

%

20,018,870
20,065,214
—
40,865,292
10,168,572
10,000

10.9
10.9
—
22.4
5.6
*

10.9
10.9
—
22.4
5.6
*

684,886
684,886
—
1,958,567
515,625
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

19,333,984
19,380,328
—
38,906,725
9,652,947
10,000

10.9
10.9
—
22.2
5.5
—

10.8
10.8
—
21.9
5.4
—

1,095,817
1,095,817
—
3,133,708
825,000
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

18,923,053
18,969,397
—
37,731,584
9,343,572
10,000

11.0
11.0
—
22.1
5.5
—

10.8
10.8
—
21.7
5.4
—

101,340,802

52.7

52.7

3,843,964

—

—

97,496,838

52.7

51.9

6,150,342

—

—

95,190,460

52.7

51.8

52,727,652
40,865,292
10,168,572

28.9
22.4
5.6

28.9
22.4
5.6

2,887,238
1,958,567
515,625

—
—
—

—
—
—

49,840,414
38,906,725
9,652,947

28.5
22.2
5.5

28.0
21.9
5.4

4,619,579
3,133,708
825,000

—
—
—

—
—
—

48,108,073
37,731,584
9,343,572

28.2
22.1
5.5

27.7
21.7
5.4

6,779,040
6,200,088
3,389,523
600,000
872,820
1,144,992
810,000

3.7
3.4
1.9
*
*
*
*

3.7
3.4
1.9
*
*
*
*

371,205
93,751
105,923
32,855
20,513
62,697
44,354

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

6,407,835
6,106,337
3,283,600
567,145
852,307
1,081,380
763,583

3.7
3.5
1.9
*
*
*
*

3.6
3.4
1.8
*
*
*
*

593,928
150,002
169,477
52,568
32,821
100,316
70,967

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

6,185,112
6,050,086
3,220,046
547,432
839,999
1,043,212
735,732

3.6
3.5
1.9
*
*
*
*

3.6
3.5
1.9
*
*
*
*

Less than 1 percent
Percentage of total voting power represents voting power with respect to all shares of our Class A and Class B common stock, as a single class. The holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes
per share, and holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share. See the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Common Stock” for additional information about the voting rights of
our Class A and Class B common stock.
Consists of (i) 18,067,392 shares of Class B common stock held by Mr. Park and (ii) 1,951,478 shares of Class B common stock subject to options held by Mr. Park that are exercisable within 60 days of
March 31, 2015.
Consists of (i) 14,467,392 shares of Class B common stock held by Mr. Friedman, (ii) 3,600,000 shares of Class B common stock held by Mr. Friedman as trustee of the Friedman 2015 GRAT, (iii) 46,344
shares of Class B common stock held by the Norman D. Andron Trust, of which Mr. Friedman is a co-trustee and beneficiary, and (iv) 1,951,478 shares of Class B common stock subject to options held by
Mr. Friedman that are exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2015.
Consists of the shares of Class B common stock referred to in footnote (9) below.
Consists of the shares of Class B common stock referred to in footnote (10) below.
Consists of 10,000 shares of Class B common stock subject to options held by Mr. Paisley that are exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2015.
Consists of (i) 91,425,462 shares of Class B common stock and (ii) 9,915,340 shares of Class B common stock subject to options that are exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2015 held by all our executive
officers and directors, as a group.
Consists of (i) 45,948,612 shares of Class B common stock held by Foundry Venture Capital 2007, L.P. and (ii) 6,779,040 of Class B common stock held by Foundry Group Select Fund, LP. Foundry Venture
2007, LLC is the general partner of Foundry Venture Capital 2007, L.P. and Foundry Select Fund GP, LLC is the general partner of Foundry Group Select Fund, LP. Seth Levine, Ryan McIntyre, Jason
Mendelson, and Brad Feld, who was a member of our board of directors from August 2010 to May 2015, are the managing members of Foundry Group, an affiliate of the Foundry Group Funds and, therefore,
may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power over the shares held by the Foundry Group Funds. The address for these entities is 1050 Walnut Street, Suite 210, Boulder, Colorado 80302.
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(9)

(10)
(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)

(15)

Consists of 40,865,292 shares held of record by True Ventures II, L.P., or TV II, a Delaware limited partnership, for itself and as nominee for True Ventures II-A, L.P., or TV II-A, a Delaware limited
partnership. True Venture Partners II, L.L.C., or TVP II, a Delaware limited liability company, is the general partner of each of TV II and TV II-A. Jonathan D. Callaghan and Philip Black are the managing
members of TVP II and, therefore, may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power over the shares held by TV II and TV II-A. The address for these entities is 530 Lytton Avenue, Suite 303, Palo Alto,
California 94301.
Consists of 10,168,572 shares of Class B common stock held by SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P. SB PV GP L.P. is the general partner of SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P. and SB PV GP LLC is
the general partner of SB PV GP L.P. The managing members of SB PV GP LLC are Ronald D. Fisher, Kabir Misra, and Steven Murray, and, therefore, may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power
over the shares held by SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P. The address for these entities is 38 Glen Avenue, Newton, Massachusetts 02459.
Consists of 6,779,040 shares of Class B common stock held by Sapphire Ventures Fund I, LP., or Sapphire LP. Sapphire Ventures (GPE) I, L.L.C., or Sapphire GPE, is the general partner of Sapphire LP. Nino
Marakovic, Richard Douglas Higgins, Jayendra Das, David Hartwig, and Andreas Weiskam, as the managing members of Sapphire GPE, share voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares held by
Sapphire LP. The address for each of these entities is c/o Sapphire Ventures, 3408 Hillview Avenue, Palo Alto, California 94304.
Consists of (i) 3,803,868 shares of Class B common stock held by SoftTech VC III, L.P., or SoftTech III, and (ii) 2,396,220 shares of Class B common stock held by SoftTech VC II, L.P., or SoftTech II, and
together with SoftTech III, the SoftTech VC Funds. SoftTech VC II, L.L.C., or SoftTech II LLC, is the general partner of SoftTech II, and SoftTech VC III, L.L.C., or SoftTech III LLC, is the general partner of
SoftTech III. J.F. Clavier is the managing member of SoftTech II LLC and SoftTech III LLC and has sole voting and dispositive power over the shares held by SoftTech II and SoftTech III. The address for
these entities is 530 Lytton Ave, 2 nd Floor, Palo Alto, California 94301.
Consists of 3,389,523 shares of Class B common stock held by Qualcomm Incorporated. Qualcomm Incorporated is a public company traded on the NASDAQ Global Market. Its address is 5775 Morehouse
Drive, San Diego, California 92121.
Consists of 1,144,992 shares of Class B common stock subject to warrants held by SVB Financial Group. The shares beneficially owned after this offering, assuming no exercise and full exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option, reflect the forfeiture of 915 and 549 shares of Class B common stock, respectively, as a result of the net exercise of warrants to purchase 63,612 shares and 38,168 shares of
Class B common stock, respectively, at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. SVB Financial Group
is a reporting company listed on the NASDAQ Global Market. Through the authority delegated by SVB Financial Group’s Finance Committee of the Board of Directors, Michael Descheneaux, Chief Financial
Officer of SVB Financial Group, has voting and dispositive power over the warrants and underlying shares held by SVB Financial Group. SVB Financial Group is an affiliate of a broker-dealer. At the time of
issuance, SVB Financial Group represented to the company that it acquired the securities as an investment, purchased the shares to be sold in the ordinary course of business and, at the time of the purchase, had
no agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the shares. The address of SVB Financial Group’s headquarters is 3003 Tasman Drive, Santa Clara, California 95054.
Consists of 810,000 shares of Class B common stock subject to warrants held by WestRiver Mezzanine Loans, LLC. The shares beneficially owned after this offering, assuming no exercise and full exercise of
the underwriters’ over-allotment option, reflect the forfeiture of 2,063 and 1,238 shares of Class B common stock, respectively, as a result of the net exercise of warrants to purchase 46,417 shares and 27,851
shares of Class B common stock, respectively, at an assumed initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, which is the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. Erik
Anderson is the managing member of WestRiver Mezzanine Loans, LLC and has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to these shares. The address of WestRiver Mezzanine Loans, LLC is 3720
Carillon Point, Kirkland, Washington 98033.

122

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following description summarizes the most important terms of our capital stock, as they will be in effect following this offering. Because it is only a
summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. We expect to adopt a restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws that will
become effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering, and this description summarizes provisions that are expected to be included in these
documents. For a complete description, you should refer to our restated certificate of incorporation, restated bylaws, and third amended and restated investors’ rights
agreement, which are included as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, and to the applicable provisions of Delaware law. Upon
the completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of 600,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 350,000,000
shares of Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share.
Assuming the conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock into shares of our Class B common stock, which will occur immediately
prior to the completion of this offering, as of March 31, 2015, there were outstanding:
•

no shares of our Class A common stock;

•

182,263,119 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding, held by 130 stockholders of record;

•

47,337,190 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options;

•

291,630 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon the settlement of outstanding RSUs; and

•

1,954,992 shares of our Class B common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants.

Common Stock
Dividend Rights
Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive
dividends out of funds legally available if our board of directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the times and in the amounts that
our board of directors may determine. See the section titled “Dividend Policy” for additional information.
Voting Rights
Holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Class A common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders
and holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes for each share of Class B common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders.
Holders of shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote together as a single class on all matters (including the election of directors)
submitted to a vote of stockholders, unless otherwise required by law. Our restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting for the election
of directors. As a result, the holders of a majority of our voting shares can elect all of the directors then standing for election.
No Preemptive or Similar Rights
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to redemption or sinking fund provisions.
Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions
Upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among the
holders of our Class A and Class B common stock and any
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participating preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment
of liquidation preferences on, if any, any outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Conversion
Each outstanding share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class A common stock. In addition,
each share of Class B common stock will convert automatically into one share of Class A common stock upon any transfer, whether or not for value, which occurs
after the closing of this offering, except for certain permitted transfers described in our restated certificate of incorporation, including transfers to family members,
trusts solely for the benefit of the stockholder or their family members, and partnerships, corporations, and other entities exclusively owned by the stockholder or
their family members. Once converted or transferred and converted into Class A common stock, the Class B common stock will not be reissued.
All the outstanding shares of Class B common stock will convert automatically into shares of Class A common stock on the earlier of twelve years from the
date of this prospectus or the date that holders of a majority of our Class B common stock elect to convert the Class B common stock to Class A common stock.
Following such conversion, each share of Class A common stock will have one vote per share and the rights of the holders of all outstanding common stock will be
identical. Once converted into Class A common stock, the Class B common stock may not be reissued.
Fully Paid and Non-Assessable
All of the outstanding shares of our Class A and Class B common stock are, and the shares of our Class A common stock to be issued pursuant to this offering
will be, fully paid and non-assessable.
Preferred Stock
Following the completion of this offering, our board of directors will be authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue preferred stock
in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series, and to fix the designation, powers, preferences, and rights of
the shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations, or restrictions, in each case without further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of
directors can also increase or decrease the number of shares of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding,
without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that
could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our Class A or Class B common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing
flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a
change in our control and might adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our Class A and
Class B common stock. We have no current plan to issue any shares of preferred stock.
Options
As of March 31, 2015, we had outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 47,337,190 shares of our Class B common stock, with a weighted-average
exercise price of $2.19 per share, granted pursuant to our 2007 Plan.
RSUs
As of March 31, 2015, we had outstanding RSUs that may be settled for an aggregate of 291,630 shares of our Class B common stock granted pursuant to our
2007 Plan.
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Warrants
As of March 31, 2015, we had outstanding the following warrants to purchase shares of our capital stock:
Total Number
of
Shares
Subject to
Warrants

Type of Capital Stock

Series B convertible preferred stock
Series C convertible preferred stock
Series C convertible preferred stock

277,992
57,000
1,620,000

Exercise Price
Per Share($)

$

0.2158
0.3345
0.6667

Expiration Dates

6/10/2018
4/11/2019
9/27/2019

In connection with this offering, the warrants to purchase shares of our Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock will convert automatically into
warrants to purchase a like number of shares of our Class B common stock. The exercise prices of these warrants may be paid either in cash or by surrendering the
right to receive shares of our common stock having a value equal to the exercise price.
Registration Rights
Pursuant to the terms of our third amended and restated investors’ rights agreement, immediately following this offering, the holders of 170,475,781 shares of
our Class B common stock will be entitled to rights with respect to the registration of these shares under the Securities Act as described below, of which the holders
of 36,609,975 shares of our Class B common stock or warrants to purchase shares of our Class B common stock will only be entitled to piggyback registration
rights.
Demand Registration Rights
At any time after six months from the date of this offering, the holders of at least 51% of the then-outstanding shares having registration rights can request that
we file a registration statement covering registrable securities. If the holders requesting registration intend to distribute their shares by means of an underwriting, the
underwriters of such offering will have the right to limit the number of shares to be underwritten for reasons related to the marketing of the shares. We are only
required to file two registration statements that are declared effective upon exercise of these demand registration rights. We may postpone the filing of a registration
statement for up to 120 days once in a 12-month period if our board of directors determines that the filing would be seriously detrimental to us and our stockholders,
and we are not required to effect the filing of a registration statement during the period beginning 60 days prior to our good faith estimate of the date of the filing of,
and ending on a date 180 days following the effective date of, a registration initiated by us.
Piggyback Registration Rights
If we register any of our securities for public sale, holders of shares having registration rights will have the right to include their shares in the registration
statement. However, this right does not apply to a registration relating to sales of shares of participants in one of our stock plans, a registration relating to a corporate
reorganization or other transaction under Rule 145 of the Securities Act, a registration on any form that does not include substantially the same information as would
be required to be included in a registration statement covering the sale of the shares having registration rights, or a registration in which the only shares being
registered are shares issuable upon conversion of debt securities that are also being registered. The underwriters of any underwritten offering will have the right, in
their sole discretion, to limit, because of marketing reasons, the number of shares registered by these holders, in which case the number of shares to be registered will
be apportioned pro rata among these holders according to the total amount of securities entitled to be included by each holder, or in a manner mutually agreed upon
by the holders.
Form S-3 Registration Rights
The holders of at least 10% of the then-outstanding shares having registration rights can request that we register all or part of their shares on Form S-3 if we
are eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 and if
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the aggregate price to the public, net of underwriters’ discounts and commissions, of the shares offered is at least $5 million. The stockholders may only require us to
effect two registration statements on Form S-3 in a 12-month period. We may postpone the filing of a registration statement on Form S-3 for up to 120 days once in
a 12-month period if our board of directors determines that the filing would be seriously detrimental to us and our stockholders.
Expenses of Registration Rights
We generally will pay all expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions and the reasonable fees and disbursements of more than one counsel
for the selling stockholders, incurred in connection with the registrations described above.
Expiration of Registration Rights
The registration rights described above will expire, with respect to any particular holder of these rights, on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the
completion of this offering or when that holder holds 1% or less of our then-outstanding common stock and can sell all of its registrable securities without restriction
under Rule 144 of the Securities Act.
Anti-Takeover Provisions
The provisions of Delaware law, our restated certificate of incorporation, and our restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying, deferring, or discouraging
another person from acquiring control of our company. These provisions, which are summarized below, may have the effect of discouraging takeover bids. They are
also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased
protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to acquire us because
negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
Delaware Law
We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delaware corporation
from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became
an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. A “business combination” includes mergers, asset sales, or other
transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the stockholder. An “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within
three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock. These provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change
in our control.
Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws Provisions
Our restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws will include a number of provisions that could deter hostile takeovers or delay or prevent
changes in control of our management team, including the following:
•

Dual Class Common Stock . As described above in the section titled “—Common Stock—Voting Rights,” our restated certificate of incorporation will
provide for a dual class common stock structure pursuant to which holders of our Class B common stock will have the ability to control the outcome of
matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding Class A and Class B
common stock, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets.
Current investors, executives, and employees will have the ability to exercise significant influence over those matters.
126

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
•

•

•

•

Board of Directors Vacancies . Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws authorize only our board of directors to fill vacant
directorships, including newly created seats. In addition, the number of directors constituting our board of directors is permitted to be set only by a
resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of directors. These provisions would prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our
board of directors and then gaining control of our board of directors by filling the resulting vacancies with its own nominees. This makes it more
difficult to change the composition of our board of directors but promotes continuity of management.
Classified Board . Initially, our board of directors will not be classified. However, our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws will
provide that our board of directors will be classified into three classes of directors at such time as the outstanding shares of our Class B common stock
represent less than a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock. Directors may be removed from office with or without cause so long
as our board of directors is not classified, and after our board of directors is classified, directors may be removed from office only for cause. The
existence of a classified board of directors could delay a successful tender offeror from obtaining majority control of our board of directors, and the
prospect of that delay might deter a potential offeror. See the section titled “Management—Board of Directors Composition” for additional information.
Supermajority Requirements for Amendments of Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws. Our restated certificate of
incorporation will further provide that the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of
voting stock will be required to amend certain provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation, including provisions relating to the classified
board, the size of the board, removal of directors, special meetings, actions by written consent, and designation of our preferred stock. In addition, the
affirmative vote of holders of 75% of the voting power of each of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock, voting separately by class,
will be required to amend the provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation relating to the terms of our Class B common stock. The affirmative
vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of voting stock will be required to amend or repeal our
restated bylaws, although our restated bylaws may be amended by a simple majority vote of our board of directors.
Stockholder Action ; Special Meeting of Stockholders . Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that special meetings of our stockholders may
be called only by a majority of our board of directors, the chairman of our board of directors, or our chief executive officer.

•

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations . Our restated bylaws provide advance notice procedures for
stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual
meeting of stockholders. Our restated bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These
provisions might preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for directors
at our annual meeting of stockholders if the proper procedures are not followed. We expect that these provisions might also discourage or deter a
potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
company.

•

No Cumulative Voting. The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election
of directors unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws do not
provide for cumulative voting.
Issuance of “Blank Check” Preferred Stock . After the filing of our restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors will have the authority,
without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock with rights and preferences, including
voting rights, designated from time to time by our board of directors. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock enables our
board of directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or
otherwise.

•
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•

Choice of Forum . Our restated certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum
for: any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any action asserting a claim against us
arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our restated certificate of incorporation, or our restated bylaws; or any action asserting a
claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. There are several pending lawsuits challenging the validity of choice of forum
provisions in other companies’ organizational documents. It is possible that a court could rule that such a provision is inapplicable or unenforceable.

Listing
We have been approved to list our Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FIT.”
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The transfer agent’s address is 250 Royall Street,
Canton, Massachusetts 02021.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our Class A common stock, and we cannot predict the effect, if any, that market sales of shares of
our Class A common stock or the availability of shares of our Class A common stock for sale will have on the market price of our Class A common stock prevailing
from time to time. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock, including shares issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options or
warrants or settlement of RSUs, in the public market following this offering could adversely affect market prices prevailing from time to time and could impair our
ability to raise capital through the sale of our equity securities.
Following the completion of this offering, based on the number of shares of our capital stock outstanding as of March 31, 2015, we will have a total of
29,850,000 shares of our Class A common stock outstanding and 174,907,670 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding. Of these outstanding shares, all of
the 29,850,000 shares of Class A common stock sold in this offering will be freely tradable, except that any shares purchased by our affiliates following this
offering, as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, would only be able to be sold in compliance with the Rule 144 limitations described below.
Shares of our Class B common stock are convertible into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock and generally convert into shares of our
Class A common stock upon transfer.
The remaining outstanding shares of our Class A and Class B common stock will be deemed “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities
Act. Restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if they are registered under the Securities Act or if they qualify for an exemption from registration
under Rule 144 or Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act, which rules are summarized below. In addition, all of our security holders have entered into
market standoff agreements with us or lock-up agreements with the underwriters under which they have agreed, subject to specific exceptions, not to sell any of our
stock for at least 180 days following the date of this prospectus, as described below. As a result of these agreements and the provisions of our third amended and
restated investors’ rights agreement described above in the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights,” subject to the provisions of Rule 144
or Rule 701, shares will be available for sale in the public market as follows:
•

beginning on the date of this prospectus, the 29,850,000 shares sold in this offering will be immediately available for sale in the public market;

•

beginning 181 days after the date of this prospectus, subject to extension as described in the section titled “Underwriters,” 174,907,670 additional
shares will become eligible for sale in the public market, of which 91,425,462 shares will be held by affiliates and subject to the volume and other
restrictions of Rule 144, as described below; and
the remainder of the shares will be eligible for sale in the public market from time to time thereafter subject to vesting and, in some cases, to the volume
and other restrictions of Rule 144, as described below.

•

Lock-Up Agreements and Market Standoff Provisions
All of our directors, executive officers, and the holders of substantially all of our outstanding equity securities are subject to lock-up agreements with the
underwriters or market standoff provisions in agreements with us that, subject to certain exceptions, prohibit them from offering for sale, selling, contracting to sell,
granting any option for the sale of, transferring, or otherwise disposing of any shares of our common stock, options, or warrants to acquire shares of our common
stock, or any security or instrument related to this common stock, option, or warrant for a period of at least 180 days following the date of this prospectus, without
the prior written consent of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC or us, as the case may be. See the section titled “Underwriters” for additional information.
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Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, once we have been subject to the public company reporting requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of
the Exchange Act, for at least 90 days, a person who is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates for purposes of the Securities Act at any time during the 90
days preceding a sale and who has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other
than our affiliates, is entitled to sell those shares without complying with the manner of sale, volume limitation, or notice provisions of Rule 144, subject to
compliance with the public information requirements of Rule 144. If such a person has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least one year,
including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates, then that person would be entitled to sell those shares without complying with any of the
requirements of Rule 144.
In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effect, our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are entitled to sell upon expiration of the
lock-up and market standoff provisions described above, within any three-month period, a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of:
•
1% of the number of shares of our Class A common stock then outstanding, which will equal approximately 298,500 shares immediately after this
offering; or
•

the average weekly trading volume of our Class A common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with
respect to that sale.

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are also subject to certain manner of sale provisions and notice
requirements and to the availability of current public information about us.
Rule 701
Rule 701 generally allows a stockholder who purchased shares of our capital stock pursuant to a written compensatory plan or contract and who is not deemed
to have been an affiliate of our company during the immediately preceding 90 days to sell these shares in reliance upon Rule 144, but without being required to
comply with the public information, holding period, volume limitation, or notice provisions of Rule 144. Rule 701 also permits affiliates of our company to sell their
Rule 701 shares under Rule 144 without complying with the holding period requirements of Rule 144. All holders of Rule 701 shares, however, are required by that
rule to wait until 90 days after the date of this prospectus before selling those shares pursuant to Rule 701. Moreover, all Rule 701 shares are subject to lock-up
agreements or market standoff provisions as described above and under the section titled “Underwriters” and will not become eligible for sale until the expiration of
those agreements.
Registration Statement
We intend to file a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act covering all of the shares of our Class B common stock subject to outstanding
stock options and RSUs and shares of our Class A common stock reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plans. We expect to file this registration statement
on, or as soon as practicable after, the effective date of this prospectus. However, the shares registered on Form S-8 will not be eligible for resale until expiration of
the lock-up agreements and market standoff provisions to which they are subject.
Registration Rights
We have granted demand, piggyback, and Form S-3 registration rights to certain of our stockholders to sell our common stock. Registration of the sale of
these shares under the Securities Act would result in these shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act immediately upon the
effectiveness of the registration, except for shares purchased by affiliates. See the section titled “Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights” for additional
information.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES TO NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK
The following summary describes the material U.S. federal income tax considerations of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of our Class A common
stock by “non-U.S. holders” (as described below under the section titled “—Non-U.S. Holder Defined”). This summary does not address all aspects of U.S. federal
income tax considerations relating thereto. This summary also does not address the tax considerations arising under the laws of any non-U.S., state, or local
jurisdiction, or under U.S. federal gift and estate tax laws, except to the limited extent provided below.
Special rules different from those described below may apply to certain non-U.S. holders that are subject to special treatment under the Code including,
without limitation:
•

banks, insurance companies, or other financial institutions;

•

corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;

•

persons subject to the alternative minimum tax or Medicare contribution tax;

•

tax-exempt entities (including private foundations) or tax-qualified retirement plans;

•

controlled foreign corporations or passive foreign investment companies;

•

persons who acquired our common stock as compensation for services;

•

dealers in securities or currencies;

•

traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings;

•

persons that own, or are deemed to own, more than 5% of our capital stock (except to the extent specifically set forth below);

•

U.S. expatriates, certain former citizens, or long-term residents of the United States;

•

persons who hold our common stock as a position in a hedging transaction, “straddle,” “conversion transaction,” or other risk reduction transaction;

•

persons who do not hold our common stock as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, for investment purposes); or

•

persons deemed to sell our common stock under the constructive sale provisions of the Code.

In addition, if a partnership or an entity or an arrangement classified as a partnership or other pass-through entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes is a
beneficial owner of our Class A common stock, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership or an owner of the entity will depend upon the status of the partner or
other owner and the activities of the partnership or other entity. Therefore, this summary does not address tax considerations applicable to partnerships that hold our
Class A common stock, and partners in such partnerships should consult their tax advisors.
This summary also does not address tax considerations applicable to entities that are disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes (regardless of their
place of organization or formation).
The information provided below is based upon provisions of the Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, administrative rulings and judicial
decisions as of the date hereof. Such authorities may be subject to differing interpretations, repealed, revoked or modified, perhaps retroactively, so as to result in
U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below. We have not requested a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, with respect
to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the following summary, and there can be no assurance that the IRS will not take a contrary position regarding
the tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of our Class A common stock, or that any such
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contrary position would not be sustained by a court. In either case, the tax considerations of owning or disposing of our Class A common stock could differ from
those described below and as a result, we cannot assure you that the tax consequences described in this discussion will not be challenged by the IRS or will be
sustained by a court if challenged by the IRS.
INVESTORS CONSIDERING THE PURCHASE OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS
REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME AND ESTATE TAX LAWS TO THEIR PARTICULAR SITUATIONS AND THE
CONSEQUENCES OF FOREIGN, STATE, OR LOCAL LAWS, AND TAX TREATIES.
Non-U.S. Holder Defined
For purposes of this summary, a “non-U.S. holder” is any beneficial owner of our Class A common stock, other than a partnership, that is not:
•
an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States (as determined under U.S. federal income tax rules);
•
•
•

a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized under the laws of the United States,
any state therein, or the District of Columbia;
a trust if it (i) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more U.S. persons have authority to control all
substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person; or
an estate whose income is subject to U.S. income tax regardless of its source.

If you are a non-U.S. citizen that is an individual, you may, in some cases, be deemed to be a resident alien (as opposed to a nonresident alien) by virtue of
being present in the United States for at least 31 days in the calendar year and for an aggregate of at least 183 days during a three-year period ending in the current
calendar year. Generally, for this purpose, all the days present in the current year, one-third of the days present in the immediately preceding year, and one-sixth of
the days present in the second preceding year, are counted.
Resident aliens are generally subject to U.S. federal income tax as if they were U.S. citizens. Such an individual is urged to consult his or her own tax advisor
regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of our Class A common stock.
Distributions
We do not expect to declare or make any distributions on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. If we do make distributions on our Class A
common stock, however, such distributions will generally constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent it is paid from our current or
accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and
profits will constitute a return of capital that is applied against and reduces, but not below zero, a non-U.S. holder’s adjusted tax basis in our Class A common stock.
Any remaining excess will be treated as gain realized on the sale or exchange of our Class A common stock as described below under the section titled “—Gain on
Disposition of our Class A Common Stock.” The amount of any distribution of property other than cash will be the fair market value of that property on the date of
distribution.
Any distribution on our Class A common stock that is treated as a dividend paid to a non-U.S. holder that is not effectively connected with the non-U.S.
holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States will generally be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified
under the terms of an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and the non-U.S. holder’s country of residence. Non-U.S. holders should consult their
tax advisors regarding their entitlement to benefits under a relevant income
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tax treaty. Generally, in order for us or our paying agent to withhold tax at a lower treaty rate, a non-U.S. holder must certify its entitlement to treaty benefits. A nonU.S. holder generally can meet this certification requirement by providing a properly executed Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (or any successor of such forms)
or appropriate substitute form to us or our paying agent. In the case of a non-U.S. holder that is an entity, Treasury regulations and the relevant tax treaty provide
rules to determine whether, for purposes of determining the applicability of a tax treaty, dividends will be treated as paid to the entity or to those holding an interest
in that entity. If the non-U.S. holder holds the stock through a financial institution or other agent acting on the holder’s behalf, the holder will be required to provide
appropriate documentation to the agent. The holder’s agent will then be required to provide certification to us or our paying agent, either directly or through other
intermediaries. A non-U.S. holder that is eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. federal withholding tax under an income tax treaty with the United States may obtain a
refund or credit of any excess amounts withheld by filing an appropriate claim for a refund with the IRS in a timely manner.
Dividends received by a non-U.S. holder that are effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by the non-U.S. holder, and if required by an
applicable income tax treaty between the United States and the non-U.S. holder’s country of residence, are attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by
the non-U.S. holder in the United States, are not subject to U.S. withholding tax. To obtain this exemption, a non-U.S. holder must provide us or our paying agent
with a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI certifying such exemption. Such effectively connected dividends, although not subject to withholding tax, are taxed at
the same graduated rates applicable to U.S. persons, net of certain deductions and credits. In addition to being taxed at graduated income tax rates, dividends
received by corporate non-U.S. holders that are effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the corporate non-U.S. holder may also be subject to an
additional “branch profits tax,” which is imposed, under certain circumstances, at a rate of 30% (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable tax treaty)
on the corporate non-U.S. holder’s effectively connected earnings and profits, subject to certain adjustments.
See the section titled “—Foreign Accounts” for additional information on withholding rules that may apply to dividends paid to foreign financial institutions
(as specifically defined by the applicable rules), or to non-financial foreign entities that have substantial direct or indirect U.S. owners.
Gain on Disposition of our Class A Common Stock
Subject to the discussions below under the sections titled “—Backup Withholding and Information Reporting” and “—Foreign Accounts,” non-U.S. holders
will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of our Class A common stock unless:
(a)
the gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. holder of a U.S. trade or business and if required by an applicable income tax treaty
between the United States and the non-U.S. holder’s country of residence, is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the non-U.S.
holder in the United States;
(b)
the non-U.S. holder is a nonresident individual and is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the sale, exchange or other
disposition of our Class A common stock, and certain other requirements are met; or
(c)
the rules of the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act, or FIRPTA, apply to treat the gain as effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business.
A non-U.S. holder described in (a) above, will be required to pay tax on the net gain derived from the sale, exchange or other disposition of our Class A
common stock at regular graduated U.S. federal income tax rates, unless a specific treaty exemption applies, and corporate non-U.S. holders described in (a) above
may be subject to the additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty.
An individual non-U.S. holder described in (b) above, will be required to pay a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from the sale, exchange or other disposition of
our Class A common stock, or such other reduced rate as
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may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty, which gain may be offset by U.S. source capital losses (even though the non-U.S. holder is not considered a
resident of the United States).
With respect to (c) above, in general, the FIRPTA rules may apply to a sale, exchange or other disposition of our Class A common stock if we are, or were
within the shorter of the five-year period preceding the disposition and the non-U.S. holder’s holding period, a U.S. real property holding corporation, or USRPHC.
We do not believe that we are a USRPHC and we do not anticipate becoming a USRPHC in the future. Even if we become a USRPHC, gain realized by a non-U.S.
holder on a disposition of our Class A common stock will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax under FIRPTA as long as (1) our common stock is regularly
traded on an established securities market, and (2) the non-U.S. holder owned, directly, indirectly and constructively, no more than 5% of our outstanding common
stock at all times within the shorter of (i) the five-year period preceding the disposition or (ii) the holder’s holding period.
See the section titled “—Foreign Accounts” for additional information regarding additional withholding rules that may apply to proceeds of a disposition of
our Class A common stock paid to foreign financial institutions (as specifically defined by the applicable rules), or to non-financial foreign entities that have
substantial direct or indirect U.S. owners.
U.S. Federal Estate Tax
The estates of nonresident alien individuals generally are subject to U.S. federal estate tax on property with a U.S. situs. Because we are a U.S. corporation,
our common stock will be U.S. situs property and therefore will be included in the taxable estate of a nonresident alien decedent, unless an applicable estate tax
treaty between the United States and the decedent’s country of residence provides otherwise. Investors are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S.
federal estate tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of our Class A common stock.
Backup Withholding and Information Reporting
The Code and the Treasury regulations require those who make specified payments to report the payments to the IRS. Among the specified payments are
dividends and proceeds paid by brokers to their customers. The required information returns enable the IRS to determine whether the recipient properly included the
payments in income. This reporting regime is reinforced by “backup withholding” rules. These rules require the payors to withhold tax from payments subject to
information reporting if the recipient fails to comply with the reporting requirements by failing to provide his taxpayer identification number or other certification of
exempt status to the payor, furnishing an incorrect identification number, or failing to report interest or dividends on his returns. The backup withholding tax rate is
currently 28%. The backup withholding rules do not apply to payments to corporations, whether domestic or foreign, provided they establish such exemption.
Payments to non-U.S. holders of dividends on common stock generally will not be subject to backup withholding, and payments of proceeds made to nonU.S. holders by a broker upon a sale of common stock will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding, in each case so long as the non-U.S.
holder certifies its nonresident status (and we or our paying agent do not have actual knowledge or reason to know the holder is a U.S. person or that the conditions
of any other exemption are not, in fact, satisfied) or otherwise establishes an exemption. U.S. backup withholding generally will not apply to a non-U.S. holder who
provides a properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E or otherwise establishes an exemption. We must report annually to the IRS any dividends
paid to each non-U.S. holder and the tax withheld, if any, with respect to these dividends. Copies of these reports may be made available to tax authorities in the
country where the non-U.S. holder resides.
Under the Treasury regulations, the payment of proceeds from the disposition of shares of our common stock by a non-U.S. holder made to or through a U.S.
office of a broker generally will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding unless the beneficial owner certifies, under penalties of perjury, among
other things, its status as a non-U.S. holder (and the broker does not have actual knowledge or reason to know the
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holder is a U.S. person) or otherwise establishes an exemption. The payment of proceeds from the disposition of shares of our common stock by a non-U.S. holder
made to or through a non-U.S. office of a broker generally will not be subject to backup withholding and information reporting, except as noted below. Information
reporting, but not backup withholding, will apply to a payment of proceeds, even if that payment is made outside of the United States, if a non-U.S. holder sells our
common stock through a non-U.S. office of a broker that is:
•
a U.S. person (including a foreign branch or office of such person);
•

a “controlled foreign corporation” for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

•

a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross income from certain periods is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business; or

•

a foreign partnership if at any time during its tax year (a) one or more of its partners are U.S. persons who, in the aggregate, hold more than 50% of the
income or capital interests of the partnership or (b) the foreign partnership is engaged in a U.S. trade or business,

unless the broker has documentary evidence that the beneficial owner is a non-U.S. holder and certain other conditions are satisfied, or the beneficial owner
otherwise establishes an exemption (and the broker has no actual knowledge or reason to know to the contrary).
Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld from a payment to a holder of common stock under the backup withholding rules can be
credited against any U.S. federal income tax liability of the holder and may entitle the holder to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the
IRS in a timely manner.
Foreign Accounts
Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, commonly referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, or FATCA, and applicable Treasury regulations
thereunder, impose a withholding tax of 30% on certain “witholdable payments,” including dividends and the gross proceeds of a disposition of our Class A
common stock paid to a foreign financial institution (as specifically defined by the applicable rules) unless such institution enters into an agreement with the U.S.
government to withhold on certain payments and to collect and provide to the U.S. tax authorities substantial information regarding U.S. account holders of such
institution (which includes certain equity holders of such institution, as well as certain account holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners). The FATCA
withholding tax of 30% will also apply to dividends and the gross proceeds of a disposition of our Class A common stock paid to a non-financial foreign entity
unless such entity provides the withholding agent with either a certification that it does not have any substantial direct or indirect U.S. owners or provides
information regarding direct and indirect U.S. owners of the entity. The 30% withholding tax described in this paragraph cannot be reduced under an income tax
treaty with the United States or by providing an IRS Form W-8BEN or similar documentation. The withholding tax described above will not apply if the foreign
financial institution or non-financial foreign entity otherwise qualifies for an exemption from the rules. Under certain circumstances, a non-U.S. holder might be
eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes. Holders should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of the withholding described
herein.
The withholding provisions described above generally apply to payments of dividends made on or after July 1, 2014 and to payments of gross proceeds from a
sale or other disposition of Class A common stock on or after January 1, 2017.
THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION OF U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY. IT IS
NOT TAX ADVICE. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE PARTICULAR U.S.
FEDERAL, GIFT, ESTATE, STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN TAX CONSEQUENCES OF PURCHASING, HOLDING, AND DISPOSING OF OUR
CLASS A COMMON STOCK, INCLUDING THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGE IN APPLICABLE LAWS.
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UNDERWRITERS
Under the terms and subject to the conditions to be contained in an underwriting agreement, the underwriters named below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co.
LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated are acting as representatives, will severally agree to purchase, and we
and the selling stockholders will agree to sell to them, severally, the number of shares of Class A common stock indicated below:
Number of
Shares

Name

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated
Barclays Capital Inc.
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc.
Piper Jaffray & Co.
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated
William Blair & Company, L.L.C.
Total

29,850,000

The underwriters will offer the shares of Class A common stock subject to their acceptance of the shares from us and the selling stockholders and subject to
prior sale. The underwriting agreement will provide that the obligations of the several underwriters to pay for and accept delivery of the shares of Class A common
stock offered by this prospectus are subject to the approval of certain legal matters by their counsel and to certain other conditions. The underwriters will be
obligated to take and pay for all of the shares of Class A common stock offered by this prospectus if any such shares are taken. However, the underwriters will not be
required to take or pay for the shares covered by the underwriters’ over-allotment option described below.
The underwriters initially propose to offer part of the shares of Class A common stock directly to the public at the offering price listed on the cover page of
this prospectus and part to certain dealers. After the initial offering of the shares of Class A common stock, the offering price and other selling terms may from time
to time be varied by the representatives.
The selling stockholders will grant to the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days from the date of this prospectus, to purchase up to 4,477,500
additional shares of Class A common stock at the public offering price listed on the cover page of this prospectus, less underwriting discounts and commissions. The
underwriters may exercise this option solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, made in connection with the offering of the shares of Class A
common stock offered by this prospectus. To the extent the option is exercised, each underwriter will become obligated, subject to certain conditions, to purchase
about the same percentage of the additional shares of Class A common stock as the number listed next to the underwriter’s name in the preceding table bears to the
total number of shares of Class A common stock listed next to the names of all underwriters in the preceding table.
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The following table shows the per share and total public offering price, underwriting discounts and commissions, and proceeds before expenses to us and the
selling stockholders. These amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase up to 4,477,500 additional shares
of Class A common stock to cover over-allotments.
Total

Public offering price
Underwriting discounts and commissions to be paid by:
Us
The selling stockholders
Proceeds before expenses, to us
Proceeds before expenses, to selling stockholders

Per Share

No Exercise

Full Exercise

$

$

$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

The estimated offering expenses, exclusive of the underwriting discounts and commissions, are approximately $4.9 million. We will agree to reimburse the
underwriters for expenses relating to clearance of this offering with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., or FINRA, up to $30,000. The underwriters
will agree to reimburse us, or will pay and not seek reimbursement from us, for certain expenses incurred by us in connection with this offering.
The underwriters have informed us that they do not intend sales to discretionary accounts to exceed 5% of the total number of shares of Class A common
stock offered by them.
We have been approved to list our Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “FIT.”
We, all of our directors and officers, and the holders of substantially all of our outstanding equity securities have agreed or will agree that, without the prior
written consent of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC on behalf of the underwriters, we and they will not, for 180 days after the date of this prospectus:
•
offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right, or warrant to
purchase, lend, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock;
•
enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of Class A
common stock or Class B common stock, whether any such transaction described in these first two bullet points is to be settled by delivery of Class A
common stock, Class B common stock, or such other securities, in cash or otherwise;
•
in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, make any demand for or exercise any right with respect to, the registration of any shares of
Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B
common stock;
•

•

in our case, file any registration statement with the SEC relating to the offering of any shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any
securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B common stock, except for the filing of registration
statements on Form S-8 with respect to the employee benefit plans described in this prospectus; or
in our case, make any public announcement of any intention to do any of the foregoing.

The restrictions described in the immediately preceding paragraph shall not apply to:
•

in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, transactions relating to shares of Class A common stock or other securities acquired in open
market transactions after the completion of this
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•

offering, provided that no filing under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is required or voluntarily made during the 180-day restricted period in
connection with subsequent sales of Class A common stock or other securities acquired in such open market transactions;
the sale of shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the underwriting agreement;

•

in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, transfers of shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B common stock by the locked-up party (i) as a bona fide gift, or
gifts, or for bona find estate planning purposes, (ii) upon death or by will, testamentary document, or intestate succession, (iii) to an immediate family
member of the locked-up party or to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the locked-up party or one or more immediate family members of the
locked-up party, (iv) not involving a change in beneficial ownership, or (v) if the locked-up party is a trust, to any trustee or beneficiary of the lockedup party or the estate of any such trustee or beneficiary;

•

in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, transfers or distributions of shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any
securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B common stock by a locked-up party that is a
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or other business entity (i) to another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or other
business entity that controls, is controlled by or managed by, or is under common control with such locked-up party, or (ii) as part of a transfer or
distribution to an equity holder of such locked-up party or to the estate of any such locked-up party;

•

in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, (i) the receipt by the locked-up party from us of shares of Class A common stock or Class B
common stock upon (A) the exercise or settlement of stock options or RSUs granted under a stock incentive plan or other equity award plan described
in this prospectus or (B) the exercise of warrants outstanding and which are described in this prospectus, or (ii) the transfer of shares of Class A
common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities convertible into Class A common stock or Class B common stock upon a vesting or settlement
event of our securities or upon the exercise of options or warrants to purchase our securities on a “cashless” or “net exercise” basis to the extent
permitted by the instruments representing such options or warrants (and any transfer to us necessary to generate such amount of cash needed for the
payment of taxes, including estimated taxes, due as a result of such vesting or exercise whether by means of a “net settlement” or otherwise) so long as
such “cashless exercise” or “net exercise” is effected solely by the surrender of outstanding stock options or warrants (or the Class A common stock or
Class B common stock issuable upon the exercise thereof) to us and our cancellation of all or a portion thereof to pay the exercise price or withholding
tax and remittance obligations, provided that in the case of (i), the shares received upon such exercise or settlement are subject to the restrictions set
forth above, and provided further that in the case of (ii), any filings under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, or any other public filing or disclosure of
such transfer by or on behalf of the locked-up party, shall clearly indicate in the footnotes thereto that such transfer of shares or securities was solely to
us pursuant to the circumstances described in this bullet point;
the establishment of a trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act for the transfer of shares of Class A common stock or Class B
common stock, provided that such plan does not provide for the transfer of Class A common stock or Class B common stock during the 180-day
restricted period and, to the extent a public announcement or filing under the Exchange Act, if any, is required of or voluntarily made by or on behalf of
the locked-up party or us regarding the establishment of such plan, such announcement or filing shall include a statement to the effect that no transfer of
Class A common stock or Class B common stock may be made under such plan during the 180-day restricted period;
in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, transfers of shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B common stock that occurs by operation of law pursuant to a
qualified domestic order in connection with a divorce settlement or other court order;

•

•
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•

•

•

•

•

•

in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, transfers of shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B common stock to us pursuant to arrangements under which we
have the option to repurchase such shares or securities at the lower of cost or fair market value in connection with the termination of employment or
service of the locked-up party or a right of first refusal with respect to the transfers of such shares or securities;
in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, the conversion or reclassification of our outstanding convertible preferred stock or other
classes of common stock into shares of Class B common stock in connection with this offering and the conversion of Class B common stock to Class A
common stock in accordance with our restated certificate of incorporation, provided that any such shares of Class A common stock or Class B common
stock received upon such conversion or reclassification shall remain subject to the restrictions set forth above;
in the case of our directors, officers, and security holders, the transfer of shares of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A common stock or Class B common stock pursuant to a bona fide third-party tender offer,
merger, consolidation, or other similar transaction that is approved by our board of directors, made to all holders of Class A common stock or Class B
common stock involving the transfer (whether by tender offer, merger, consolidation or other similar transaction), in one ore a series of related
transactions, to a person or group of affiliated persons (other than an underwriter pursuant to this offering), of our voting securities if, after such
transfer, such person or group of affiliated persons would hold more than 50% of our outstanding voting securities, after the completion of this offering,
provided, that in the event that the tender offer, merger, consolidation, or other such transaction is not completed, the Class A common stock or Class B
common stock owned by the locked-up party shall remain subject to the restrictions set forth above;
the issuance by us of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock upon the exercise (including net exercise) of a stock option or warrant,
the settlement of RSUs (including net settlement), or the conversion of a security outstanding as of the date of this prospectus, provided that such stock
option, warrant, RSU, or security is identified in this prospectus;
the issuance by us of stock options, RSUs, or restricted stock awards (including Class A common stock or Class B common stock issued upon the
settlement or exercise thereof) to our employees, officers, directors, advisors, or consultants pursuant to our employee benefit plans described in this
prospectus;
our sale or issuance of or entry into an agreement to sell or issue shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock in connection with joint
ventures, commercial relationships, or other strategic transactions and our acquisition of one or more businesses, assets, products, or technologies,
provided, that the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock that we may sell or issue or agree to sell or issue
pursuant to this bullet point does not exceed 5% of the total number of shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock issued and
outstanding immediately following the completion of this offering, and provided, further, that all such recipients of shares of Class A common stock or
Class B common stock shall sign and deliver a lock-up letter on or prior to such issuance and upon such issuance the shares will be subject to the
restrictions above; and
the issuance by us of the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock issued in connection with our acquisition of
FitStar as described in this prospectus, provided, that all such recipients of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock shall sign and
deliver a lock-up letter on or prior to such issuance and upon such issuance the shares will be subject to the restrictions above;

provided that in the case of any transfer or distribution pursuant to the third, fourth, or seventh bullet points above, each transferee, donee, or distributee shall sign
and deliver a lock-up letter with the same restrictions as set forth above;
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provided further that in the case of any transfer or distribution pursuant to the third or fourth bullet points above, such transfer shall not involve a disposition of
value and no filing under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, or any other public filing or disclosure of such transfer by or on behalf of the locked-up party, reporting
a reduction in beneficial ownership of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock, shall be required or shall be voluntarily made during the 180-day
restricted period (other than, with respect to the third bullet point only, any required Form 5 filing); and
provided further that in the case of any transfer pursuant to the seventh or eighth bullet above, any filings under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act shall state that
the transfer is by operation of law, court order, in connection with a divorce settlement, or in connection with a repurchase by us at the lower of cost or fair market
value in connection with the termination of employment or service of the locked-up party with us or the exercise of our right of first refusal with respect to transfers
of such shares or securities, as the case may be.
If at any time set forth below, we cease to be an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 3(a)(80) of the Exchange Act, then:
•

during the last 17 days of the 180-day restricted period, we issue an earnings release or material news or a material event relating to us occurs; or

•

prior to the expiration of the 180-day restricted period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning on the last
day of the 180-day restricted period,

the 180-day restricted period described above will continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the issuance of the earnings release or the
occurrence of the material news or material event.
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, in its sole discretion, may release the common stock and other securities subject to the lock-up agreements described above in
whole or in part at any time with or without notice, provided that, when and as required by FINRA Rule 5131, at least two business days before the release or waiver
of any applicable lock-up, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC will notify us of the impending release or waiver and announce the impending release or waiver through a
major news service, except where the release or waiver is effected solely to permit a transfer of securities that is not for consideration and where the transferee has
agreed in writing to be bound by the same lock-up agreement terms in place for the transferor.
In order to facilitate the offering of the Class A common stock, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain, or otherwise affect the
price of the Class A common stock. Specifically, the underwriters may sell more shares than they are obligated to purchase under the underwriting agreement,
creating a short position. A short sale is covered if the short position is no greater than the number of shares available for purchase by the underwriters under their
option to purchase additional shares. The underwriters can close out a covered short sale by exercising the option to purchase additional shares or purchasing shares
in the open market. In determining the source of shares to close out a covered short sale, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the open market price of
shares compared to the price available under the option to purchase additional shares of common stock. The underwriters may also sell shares in excess of their
option to purchase additional shares of common stock, creating a naked short position. The underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing
shares in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of
the Class A common stock in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in this offering. As an additional means of facilitating
this offering, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, shares of Class A common stock in the open market to stabilize the price of the Class A common stock.
These activities may raise or maintain the market price of the Class A common stock above independent market levels or prevent or retard a decline in the market
price of the Class A common stock. The underwriters are not required to engage in these activities and may end any of these activities at any time. The underwriters
may carry out these transactions on the New York Stock Exchange, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise.
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We, the selling stockholders, and the underwriters will agree to indemnify each other against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.
A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on websites maintained by one or more underwriters, or selling group members, if any, participating
in this offering. The representatives may agree to allocate a number of shares of Class A common stock to underwriters for sale to their online brokerage account
holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the representatives to underwriters that may make Internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations.
The underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, which may include securities trading,
commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, financing, and brokerage
activities. Certain of the underwriters and their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in the future perform, various financial advisory and
investment banking services for us, for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses.
In August 2014, we entered into the Asset-Based Credit Facility with six lenders, including affiliates of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, SunTrust Robinson
Humphrey, Inc., and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., which allows us to borrow up to $180.0 million in revolving loans, and the Cash Flow Facility with four lenders,
including affiliates of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., to borrow up to an additional $40.0 million in revolving loans. In
October 2014, we entered into an incremental commitment joinder agreement with an affiliate of Barclays Capital Inc., increasing the borrowing limit under the
Cash Flow Facility to allow us to borrow up to $50.0 million in total. See the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information.
In addition, in the ordinary course of their various business activities, the underwriters and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad array of
investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and
for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities
may involve our securities and instruments. The underwriters and their respective affiliates may also make investment recommendations or publish or express
independent research views in respect of such securities or instruments and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long or short positions
in such securities and instruments.
Pricing of the Offering
Prior to the completion of this offering, there will be no public market for our Class A common stock. The initial public offering price will be determined by
negotiations among us, the selling stockholders, and the representatives. Among the factors we intend to consider in determining the initial public offering price are
prevailing market conditions, our financial information, market valuations of other companies that we and the underwriters believe to be comparable to us, estimates
of our business potential, the present state of our development and other factors deemed relevant.
Selling Restrictions
European Economic Area
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member State) an offer
to the public of any shares of our Class A common stock may not be made in that Relevant Member State, except that an offer to the public in that Relevant Member
State of any shares of our Class A common stock may be made at any time under the following exemptions under the Prospectus Directive, if they have been
implemented in that Relevant Member State:
(i)

to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
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(ii)

to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal
persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the
prior consent of the representatives for any such offer; or

(iii)

in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided that no such offer of shares of our Class A common stock
shall result in a requirement for the publication by us or any underwriter of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer to the public” in relation to any shares of our Class A common stock in any Relevant Member
State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and any shares of our Class A common stock to be
offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase any shares of our Class A common stock, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto,
including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the
Relevant Member State, and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.
United Kingdom
Each underwriter has represented and agreed that:
(i)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to
engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, or FSMA) received by it in
connection with the issue or sale of the shares of our Class A common stock in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to us;
and

(ii)

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the shares of our Class A
common stock in, from, or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Hong Kong
Shares of our Class A common stock may not be offered or sold by means of any document other than (i) in circumstances which do not constitute an offer to
the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), (ii) to “professional investors” within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a
“prospectus” within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), and no advertisement, invitation, or document relating to shares of our
Class A common stock may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is
directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the laws of Hong Kong) other
than with respect to shares of our Class A common stock which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional
investors” within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder.
Singapore
This prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this prospectus and any other document or
material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of shares of our Class A common stock may not be circulated or
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distributed, nor may the shares of our Class A common stock be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly
or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, or
SFA, (ii) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or
(iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.
Where shares of our Class A common stock are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant person which is: (i) a corporation (which is not an
accredited investor) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an
accredited investor; or (ii) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary is an accredited
investor, shares, debentures and units of shares and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest in that trust shall not be transferable for six
months after that corporation or that trust has acquired shares of our Class A common stock under Section 275 except: (i) to an institutional investor under
Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in Section 275 of the
SFA; (ii) where no consideration is given for the transfer; or (iii) by operation of law.
Japan
Shares of our Class A common stock have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan, or Financial
Instruments and Exchange Law, and each underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell any shares of our Class A common stock, directly or indirectly, in Japan
or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized
under the laws of Japan), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the
registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and any other applicable laws, regulations, and
ministerial guidelines of Japan.
Australia
No placement document, prospectus, product disclosure statement, or other disclosure document has been lodged with the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission, or ASIC, in relation to this offering. This prospectus does not constitute a prospectus, product disclosure statement, or other disclosure
document under the Corporations Act 2001, or the Corporations Act, and does not purport to include the information required for a prospectus, product disclosure
statement, or other disclosure document under the Corporations Act.
Any offer in Australia of our Class A common stock may only be made to persons, or Exempt Investors, who are “sophisticated investors” (within the
meaning of section 708(8) of the Corporations Act), “professional investors” (within the meaning of section 708(11) of the Corporations Act), or otherwise pursuant
to one or more exemptions contained in section 708 of the Corporations Act so that it is lawful to offer our Class A common stock without disclosure to investors
under Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act.
The Class A common stock applied for by Exempt Investors in Australia must not be offered for sale in Australia in the period of 12 months after the date of
allotment under the offering, except in circumstances where disclosure to investors under Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act would not be required pursuant to an
exemption under section 708 of the Corporations Act or otherwise or where the offer is pursuant to a disclosure document which complies with Chapter 6D of the
Corporations Act. Any person acquiring securities must observe such Australian on-sale restrictions.
This prospectus contains general information only and does not take account of the investment objectives, financial situation, or particular needs of any
particular person. It does not contain any securities
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recommendations or financial product advice. Before making an investment decision, investors need to consider whether the information in this prospectus is
appropriate to their needs, objectives and circumstances, and, if necessary, seek expert advice on those matters.
Dubai International Financial Centre
This prospectus relates to an Exempt Offer in accordance with the Offered Securities Rules of the Dubai Financial Services Authority, or the DFSA. This
prospectus is intended for distribution only to persons of a type specified in the Offered Securities Rules of the DFSA. It must not be delivered to, or relied on by,
any other person. The DFSA has no responsibility for reviewing or verifying any documents in connection with Exempt Offers. The DFSA has not approved this
prospectus nor taken steps to verify the information set forth herein and has no responsibility for the prospectus. The Class A common stock to which this prospectus
relates may be illiquid or subject to restrictions on its resale. Prospective purchasers of the Class A common stock offered should conduct their own due diligence on
the Class A common stock. If you do not understand the contents of this prospectus you should consult an authorized financial advisor.
Switzerland
We have not and will not register with the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority, or FINMA, as a foreign collective investment scheme pursuant to
Article 119 of the Federal Act on Collective Investment Scheme of 23 June 2006, as amended, or CISA, and accordingly the securities being offered pursuant to this
prospectus have not and will not be approved, and may not be licenseable, with FINMA. Therefore, the securities have not been authorized for distribution by
FINMA as a foreign collective investment scheme pursuant to Article 119 CISA and the securities offered hereby may not be offered to the public (as this term is
defined in Article 3 CISA) in or from Switzerland. The securities may solely be offered to “qualified investors,” as this term is defined in Article 10 CISA, and in the
circumstances set out in Article 3 of the Ordinance on Collective Investment Scheme of 22 November 2006, as amended, or CISO, such that there is no public
offer. Investors, however, do not benefit from protection under CISA or CISO or supervision by FINMA. This prospectus and any other materials relating to the
securities are strictly personal and confidential to each offeree and do not constitute an offer to any other person. This prospectus may only be used by those
qualified investors to whom it has been handed out in connection with the offer described herein and may neither directly or indirectly be distributed or made
available to any person or entity other than its recipients. It may not be used in connection with any other offer and shall in particular not be copied or distributed to
the public in Switzerland or from Switzerland. This prospectus does not constitute an issue prospectus as that term is understood pursuant to Article 652a or 1156 of
the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations. We have not applied for a listing of the securities on the SIX Swiss Exchange or any other regulated securities market in
Switzerland, and consequently, the information presented in this prospectus does not necessarily comply with the information standards set out in the listing rules of
the SIX Swiss Exchange and corresponding prospectus schemes annexed to the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange.
Chile
The shares of our Class A common stock are not registered in the Securities Registry (Registro de Valores) or subject to the control of the Chilean Securities
and Exchange Commission (Superintendencia de Valores y Seguros de Chile). This prospectus and other offering materials relating to the offer of the shares of our
Class A common stock do not constitute a public offer of, or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase, the shares of our Class A common stock in the Republic of
Chile, other than to individually identified purchasers pursuant to a private offering within the meaning of Article 4 of the Chilean Securities Market Act (Ley de
Mercado de Valores) (an offer that is not “addressed to the public at large or to a certain sector or specific group of the public”).
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LEGAL MATTERS
Fenwick & West LLP, Mountain View, California, will pass upon the validity of the issuance of the shares of our Class A common stock offered by this
prospectus. Goodwin Procter LLP, Menlo Park, California, is representing the underwriters in this offering.
EXPERTS
The consolidated financial statements of Fitbit, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014 included in this prospectus have been so included in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act, with respect to our Class A common stock offered under this
prospectus. This prospectus, which constitutes a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement, some
items of which are contained in exhibits to the registration statement as permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information with respect to us
and our Class A common stock, we refer you to the registration statement, including the exhibits and the consolidated financial statements and notes filed as a part of
the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus concerning the contents of any contract or any other document are not necessarily complete. If a
contract or document has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, please see the copy of the contract or document that has been filed for the complete
contents of that contract or document. Each statement in this prospectus relating to a contract or document filed as an exhibit is qualified in all respects by the filed
exhibit. A copy of the registration statement, including the exhibits and the consolidated financial statements and related notes filed as a part of the registration
statement, may be inspected without charge at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, and copies of all or any part of the
registration statement may be obtained from the SEC upon the payment of fees prescribed by it. You may call the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for more information on
the operation of the public reference facilities. The SEC maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding companies that file electronically with it.
As a result of this offering, we will become subject to the information and reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, and, in accordance with this law, will
file periodic reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. These periodic reports, proxy statements, and other information will be available for
inspection and copying at the SEC’s public reference facilities and the website of the SEC referred to above. We also maintain a website at Fitbit.com. Upon the
completion of this offering, you may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to,
the SEC. Information contained on our website is not a part of this prospectus and the inclusion of our website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual
reference only.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Fitbit, Inc.:
In our opinion, the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Comprehensive Income (Loss),
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit), and Cash Flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Fitbit,
Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Francisco, California
March 2, 2015, except for the effects of the 2015 stock split
described in “Stock Splits” of Note 2,
as to which the date is May 27, 2015
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FITBIT, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred tax assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Fitbit Force recall reserve
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Income taxes payable
Long-term debt, current portion
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 144,528,912 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2013 and 2014, and March 31, 2015 (unaudited); 139,503,915, 139,851,483 and
139,851,483 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and March 31, 2015
(unaudited), respectively; no shares issued or outstanding as of March 31, 2015, pro forma
(unaudited); aggregate liquidation preference of $66,619 as of March 31, 2015 (unaudited)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 230,400,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2013 and
2014 and 245,400,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2015 (unaudited); 40,140,159,
40,875,583, and 42,411,636 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2014,
and March 31, 2015 (unaudited), respectively; 182,263,119 shares issued and outstanding as of
March 31, 2015, pro forma (unaudited)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

2013

2014

$ 81,728
2,310
80,624
56,441
—
3,185
224,288
6,486
—
—
—
$ 230,774

$ 195,626
—
238,859
115,072
33,555
13,614
596,726
26,435
—
—
9,890
$ 633,051

$ 237,849
—
161,736
137,509
35,454
22,012
594,560
28,022
22,562
13,812
10,393
$ 669,349

$ 82,938
70,896
28,565
5,606
17,841
3,985
209,831
6,725
4,028
7,420
228,004

$ 22,476
195,666
70,940
9,009
30,631
132,589
461,311
—
15,797
12,867
489,975

$ 15,104
136,425
73,860
17,024
17,723
159,611
419,747
—
26,132
13,750
459,629

66,236

67,814

67,814

—

4
7,979
37
67,242
75,262
$ 633,051

4
26,582
81
115,239
$ 141,906
$ 669,349

18
120,514
81
115,239
$ 235,852

4
1,065
—
(64,535)
(63,466)
$ 230,774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Pro Forma
March 31,
2015
(Unaudited)
(Note 2)

March 31,
2015
(Unaudited)

$

—
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FITBIT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)
Less: noncumulative dividends to preferred stockholders
Less: undistributed earnings to participating securities
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders—basic
Add: adjustments for undistributed earnings to participating securities
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders—diluted
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted
Shares used to compute net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted
Pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders (Notes 2 and 15) (unaudited):
Basic
Diluted
Shares used in computing pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders
(Notes 2 and 15) (unaudited):
Basic
Diluted

$ 76,373
49,733
26,640

$ 271,087
210,836
60,251

16,210
10,237
3,968
30,415
(3,775)
(176)
26
(3,925)
291
(4,216)
—
—
(4,216)
—
$ (4,216) $
$ (0.11) $
$ (0.11) $
36,759
36,759

$ 108,815
64,046
44,769

27,873
54,167
26,847
112,005
14,485
33,556
69,205
199,728
(8,954)
157,929
(1,082)
(2,222)
(3,649)
(15,934)
(13,685)
139,773
37,937
7,996
(51,622)
131,777
—
(5,326)
—
(98,103)
(51,622)
28,348
—
10,175
(51,622) $ 38,523 $
(1.32) $
(1.32) $
39,179
39,179

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 745,433
387,776
357,657

0.70
0.63
40,351
61,179

$
$

0.81
0.72

179,994
202,608

$
$

$ 336,754
167,545
169,209

9,088
11,273
8,617
28,978
15,791
(409)
(1,219)
14,163
5,291
8,872
(1,313)
(5,870)
1,689
570
2,259 $
0.04
0.04

$
$

40,155
59,478

22,426
43,867
12,981
79,274
89,935
(467)
(13,077)
76,391
28,394
47,997
(1,314)
(36,060)
10,623
4,992
15,615
0.26
0.22
41,201
70,289

$
$

0.32
0.28

181,052
211,979
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FITBIT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income:
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss)

2012

2014

$(4,216)

$(51,622)

$131,777

$ 8,872

$ 47,997

—
$ (4,216)

—
$ (51,622)

37
$131,814

5
$ 8,877

44
$ 48,041

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015

Year Ended December 31,
2013
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FITBIT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands except share amounts)
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock

Balance at December 31, 2011
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2012
Issuance of Series D redeemable convertible
preferred stock for cash, net of issuance costs
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Stock-based compensation expense
Excess tax benefit from stock-based
compensation
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2013
Issuance of redeemable convertible preferred
stock upon exercise of redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrants
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Stock-based compensation expense
Excess tax benefit from stock-based
compensation
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2014

Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Retained
Other
Earnings
Comprehensive (Accumulated
Income
Deficit)

$

$

$

Common Stock

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
(Deficit)

Shares

Amount

Shares

110,354,028

$23,425

36,720,000

—
—
—
110,354,028

—
—
—
23,425

136,749
—
—
36,856,749

—
—
—
4

4
132
—
202

—
—
—
—

29,149,887

42,811

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

3,283,410
—

—
—

205
620

—
—

—
—

205
620

—
—
139,503,915

—
—
66,236

—
—
40,140,159

—
—
4

38
—
1,065

—
—
—

347,568

1,578

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

735,424
—

—
—

97
6,804

—
—

—
—

97
6,804

—
—
—
139,851,483

—
—
—
67,814

—
—
—
40,875,583

—
—
—
4

13
—
—
7,979

—
—
37
37

—
131,777
—
67,242

13
131,777
37
75,262
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66

— $

(8,697) $
—
—
(4,216)
(12,913)

—
(51,622)
(64,535)

(8,627)
4
132
(4,216)
(12,707)

38
(51,622)
(63,466)
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FITBIT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) (Continued)
(In thousands except share amounts)
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options (unaudited)
Issuance of common stock in connection with
acquisition (unaudited)
Issuance of common stock subject to vesting in
connection with acquisition (unaudited)
Stock-based compensation expense (unaudited)
Net income (unaudited)
Other comprehensive income (unaudited)
Balance at March 31, 2015 (unaudited)

Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock

Amount

Shares

Accumulated
Retained
Other
Earnings
Comprehensive (Accumulated
Income
Deficit)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
(Deficit)

—

—

168,149

—

70

—

—

70

—

—

1,059,688

—

13,630

—

—

13,630

—
—
—
—
139,851,483

—
—
—
—
$67,814

308,216
—
—
—
42,411,636

—
—
—
—
4

—
4,903
—
—
$ 26,582

—
—
—
—
—
47,997
44
—
81 $ 115,239

—
4,903
47,997
44
$ 141,906

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FITBIT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2013
2014
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Provision for doubtful accounts
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Provision for inventory obsolescence related to Fitbit Force recall
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of intangible assets
Write-off of property and equipment
Revaluation of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Amortization of issuance costs and discount on debt
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Excess of tax benefit from stock-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Fitbit Force recall reserve
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Income taxes payable
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Change in restricted cash
Purchase of property and equipment
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of debt and revolving credit facility, net debt discount
Repayment of debt
Payment of issuance costs
Payments of deferred offering costs
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Excess of tax benefit from stock-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$ (4,216)

$ (51,622)

$ 131,777

$

8,872

$

47,997

71
400
—
1,179
—
—
37
24
132
—
—

651
1,099
10,251
3,012
—
1,712
3,370
82
620
—
(38)

864
2,964
—
6,131
—
1,004
13,272
795
6,804
(42,001)
(13)

(63)
757
—
750
—
—
1,353
160
314
—
—

73
1,761
—
3,363
106
—
10,335
161
4,903
(3,875)
—

(20,131)
(9,369)
(846)
—
14,340
7,882
3,529
84
(6,884)

(55,630)
(47,376)
(2,225)
72,687
50,881
27,043
859
17,795
33,171

(158,788)
(61,595)
(9,679)
(60,462)
123,761
47,733
3,403
12,804
18,774

31,004
2,633
(2,457)
1,300
(39,616)
(6,340)
150
(8,300)
(9,483)

77,371
(24,198)
(8,220)
(7,371)
(59,478)
(4,826)
7,467
(12,909)
32,660

—
(2,505)
—
(2,505)

(2,310)
(7,524)
—
(9,834)

2,310
(26,495)
—
(24,185)

2,310
(2,909)
—
(599)

—
(5,009)
(11,037)
(16,046)

7,872
(58)
(69)
—
—
4
—
—
7,749
(1,640)
—
14,788
$ 13,148

2,830
(596)
(45)
—
42,811
205
38
—
45,243
68,580
—
13,148
$ 81,728

163,000
(41,346)
(2,575)
—
—
97
13
75
119,264
113,853
45
81,728
$ 195,626

30,000
(2,347)
(604)
—
—
3
—
—
27,052
16,970
5
81,728
$ 98,703

160,000
(134,503)
—
(1)
—
70
—
—
25,566
42,180
43
195,626
$ 237,849

Supplemental Disclosure
Cash paid for interest

$

87

$

999

$

835

$

Cash paid for income taxes

$

2

$ 12,930

$

34,616

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activity
Purchase of property and equipment included in accounts payable

$

121

$ 1,904

$

Issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants in connection with debt financing

$

410

$

170

$

Deferred offering costs included in accounts payable and accruals

$

—

$

—

Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisitions

$

—

$

Contingent consideration related to acquisitions

$

—

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

84

$ 13,592

$

44,045

2,492

$

421

$

2,368

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

2,501

—

$

—

$

—

$

13,630

—

$

—

$

—

$

7,704
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FITBIT, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1.

Business Overview
Fitbit, Inc. (the “Company”) is transforming the way millions of people around the world achieve their health and fitness goals. The Fitbit platform combines
connected health and fitness devices with software and services, including an online dashboard and mobile apps, data analytics, motivational and social tools,
personalized insights, and virtual coaching through customized fitness plans and interactive workouts. The Company sells devices through diversified sales channels
that include distributors, retailers, a corporate wellness offering, and Fitbit.com. The Company was incorporated in Delaware in 2007. The Company has established
wholly-owned subsidiaries globally and its corporate headquarters are located in San Francisco, California.

2.

Basis of Presentation
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated.
Stock Splits
In June 2013, the Company effected a 4-for-1 stock split of all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock. In addition, in September 2014,
the Company effected a 2-for-1 stock split of all outstanding shares of the Company’s capital stock, including common stock and redeemable convertible preferred
stock.
On May 27, 2015, the Company effected a 3-for-2 stock split of all outstanding shares of the Company’s capital stock, including its common stock and its
redeemable convertible preferred stock. All share, option, RSU, warrant, and per share information presented in the consolidated financial statements has been
adjusted to reflect the stock splits on a retroactive basis for all periods presented and all share information is rounded down to the nearest whole share after reflecting
the stock splits.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. The estimates and assumptions made by management related to revenue recognition, accruals for the Fitbit Force recall, reserves for sales
returns and incentives, reserves for warranty, valuation of stock options, fair value of warrant liability and derivative assets and liabilities, allowance for doubtful
accounts, inventory valuation, and the valuations of deferred income tax assets and uncertain tax positions. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such
differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements.
Changes to Previously Issued Financial Statements
The Company has reclassified certain amounts from its previously issued consolidated financial statements to conform to the presentation for 2014.
Specifically, the Company revised its presentation of its sales returns reserve, except for estimated returns for the Fitbit Force product recall, previously included in
accrued liabilities, which is now presented as a reduction to accounts receivable. Accordingly, the accounts receivable and accrued liabilities decreased by
$15.4 million on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013. Additionally, the Company decreased both accounts receivable and deferred revenue by
$16.8 million as of December 31, 2013 for amounts billed and in transit for which legal transfer of title had not yet occurred. These changes had no impact on the
consolidated statements of operations or consolidated statements of cash flows.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
The Company had certain immaterial reclassifications within the consolidated statements of cash flows to conform to the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on the net change in cash and cash equivalents within the consolidated statements of cash flows.
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company identified errors within the
Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, which financial statements were revised to correct the errors.
The Company revised the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012 to decrease both net cash used in operating activities and net
cash provided by financing activities by $0.4 million and for the year ended December 31, 2013 to increase net cash provided by operating activities and decrease
net cash provided by financing activities by $0.2 million. The Company evaluated the errors and concluded that they were not material to the 2012 and 2013
financial statements.
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the quarter ended March 31, 2015, the Company identified an error within the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014. The Company revised the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2014 to correct an immaterial error in classification related to accruals for capital expenditure items. The revision increased both net cash provided by
operating activities and net cash used in investing activities by $1.9 million. This had no impact on the net change in cash and cash equivalents within the
consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company evaluated the error and concluded that it was not material to the 2014 financial statements.
Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet Information
The unaudited pro forma information as of March 31, 2015 presents the Company’s stockholders’ equity as though all of the Company’s redeemable
convertible preferred stock outstanding had automatically converted into shares of common stock upon the completion of a qualifying initial public offering (“IPO”)
of the Company’s common stock. In addition, the pro forma stockholders’ equity assumes the reclassification of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant
liability to additional paid-in capital upon a qualifying IPO of the Company’s common stock, assuming the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
automatically become common stock warrants that are classified as equity and are not subject to remeasurement. The shares of common stock issuable and the
proceeds expected to be received by the Company upon the completion of a qualifying IPO are excluded from such pro forma financial information.
Unaudited Pro Forma Net Income per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
The unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders, which has been computed to give effect to the assumed
automatic conversion of the redeemable convertible preferred stock into shares of common stock using the if converted method upon the completion of a qualifying
IPO and the elimination of the revaluation adjustment on the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants due to the automatic conversion of those warrants into
common stock warrants (not subject to revaluation) as though the conversion had occurred as of the beginning of the period.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of two components, net income (loss) and other comprehensive income, net of tax. Other comprehensive income refers
to revenue, expenses, and gains and losses that are recorded as an element of stockholders’ equity but are excluded from net income (loss). The Company’s other
comprehensive income consists of foreign currency translation adjustments from those subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar as their functional currency.
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Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
The accompanying interim consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2015, the interim consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, and the interim consolidated statement of redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity (deficit) for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are unaudited. The unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on the same
basis as the audited consolidated financial statements, and in management’s opinion, includes all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments,
necessary for the fair statement of the Company’s financial position as of March 31, 2015 and its results of operations and cash flows for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 and 2015. The financial data and the other financial information disclosed in the notes to these consolidated financial statements related to the threemonth periods are also unaudited. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for
the full fiscal year or any other period.
3.

Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase.
As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, cash and cash equivalents consisted of cash in bank deposits and money market accounts held at financial institutions.
Restricted Cash
In 2013, the Company entered into a facility lease and a sublease under which the Company is required to maintain letters of credit, with the landlord named
as the beneficiary. The letters of credit required a certain amount of cash to be kept in a separate account as collateral. The $2.3 million of restricted cash has been
excluded from the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and is classified as restricted cash on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2013. The restricted cash related to the lease agreements was released during 2014 and was no longer restricted.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with inputs used to measure their
fair values. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the reporting date.
The Company estimates fair value by applying the following hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the
categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 —Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets
or liabilities; and
Level 3 —Inputs that are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimate of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability.
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Foreign Currencies
The Company and certain of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries use the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. The Company’s subsidiaries that use
the U.S. dollar as their functional currency remeasure local currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at exchange rates in effect at the end of each period,
and inventories, property, plant and equipment and other nonmonetary assets and liabilities at historical rates. Gains and losses from these remeasurements have
been included in the Company’s operating results. Local currency transactions of these international operations are remeasured into U.S. dollars at the rates of
exchange in effect at the date of the transaction.
The Company translates the assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the
end of each period. Revenue and expenses for these subsidiaries are translated using rates that approximate those in effect during the related period. Gains and losses
from translations are recognized in foreign currency translation included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recognized in other income (expense), net and were comprised of net losses of $0.2 million, $2.7 million,
and $2.7 million for 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2015, respectively. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses were a net gain of $0.1
million for the three months ended March 31, 2014. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses were insignificant for 2012.
Derivative Instruments
The Company accounts for its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities and carries them at fair value. The derivatives held by the Company are not
designated as hedges and are adjusted to fair value through earnings at each reporting date. The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities are included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets and accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivables,
and derivative instruments. Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with high quality financial institutions and may, at times, exceed federally insured limits.
Management believes that the financial institutions that hold the Company’s deposits are financially credit worthy and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with
respect to those balances. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed upon demand and, therefore, bear minimal interest rate risk.
The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from customers located principally in the United States. The Company maintains credit insurance for some of
its customer balances, performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers, and maintains allowances for potential credit losses on customers’ accounts when
deemed necessary. Credit losses historically have not been significant. The Company continuously monitors customer payments and maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts based on its assessment of various factors including historical experience, age of the receivable balances, and other current economic conditions or
other factors that may affect customers’ ability to pay.
The Company’s derivative instruments expose it to credit risk to the extent that its counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of the agreements. The
Company seeks to mitigate this risk by limiting counterparties to major financial institutions and by spreading the risk across several major financial institutions. In
addition, the potential risk of loss with any one counterparty resulting from this type of credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.
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Supplier Concentration
The Company relies on third parties for the supply and manufacture of its products, as well as third-party logistics providers. In instances where these parties
fail to perform their obligations, the Company may be unable to find alternative suppliers or satisfactorily deliver its products to its customers on time, if at all.
Inventories
Inventories consist of finished goods and component parts, which are purchased from contract manufacturers and component suppliers. Inventories are stated
at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis. The Company assesses the valuation of inventory and periodically writes down the value for estimated
excess and obsolete inventory based upon estimates of future demand and market conditions.
Point of Purchase (“POP”) Displays
The Company provides retailers with POP displays, generally free of charge, in order to facilitate the marketing of the Company’s products within retail
stores. Any amounts capitalized related to the costs of the POP displays are recorded as prepaid expense on the consolidated balance sheets and recognized as
expense over the expected period of the benefit provided by these assets, which is generally 12 months. The related expenses are included in sales and marketing
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and were $0.1 million, $0.4 million, $5.2 million, $0.2 million, and $4.6 million, for 2012, 2013, and 2014,
and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, respectively.
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Cost of maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the lives of the
respective assets are expensed as incurred.
The useful lives of the property and equipment are as follows:
Tooling and manufacturing equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Purchased software
Capitalized internally-developed software
Leasehold improvements

One to three years
Three years
Six months to three years
Two to three years
Shorter of remaining lease term or estimated useful life

Internally-Developed Software Costs
The Company capitalizes costs to develop internal-use software when preliminary development efforts are successfully completed, management has
authorized and committed project funding, and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. Costs incurred prior to
meeting these criteria, together with costs incurred for training and maintenance, are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred for enhancements that are expected to
result in additional material functionality are capitalized and expensed over the estimated useful life of the upgrades.
Capitalized internally-developed software costs, net, were $0.4 million as of December 31, 2014. The Company did not have any internally-developed
software prior to 2014. Amortization expense related to capitalized internally-developed software costs was $0.1 million and $33,000 for 2014 and the three months
ended March 31, 2015, respectively.
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Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, consulting and contractor expenses, tooling and prototype materials, and
allocated overhead costs. Substantially all of the Company’s research and development expenses are related to developing new products and services and improving
existing products and services. To date, research and development expenses have been expensed as incurred, because the period between achieving technological
feasibility and the release of products and services for sale has been short and development costs qualifying for capitalization have been insignificant.
Business Combinations, Goodwill, and Intangible Assets
The Company allocates the fair value of purchase consideration to tangible assets, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated
fair values. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is allocated to goodwill. The
allocation of the purchase consideration requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. These
estimates can include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, and trade names from a market participant
perspective, useful lives, and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently
uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is up to one year from the acquisition
date, the Company may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.
The Company assesses goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the
asset may not be recoverable. Consistent with the determination that the Company has one reporting segment, the Company has determined that there is one
reporting unit and tests goodwill for impairment at the entity level. Goodwill is tested using the two-step process in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—
Goodwill and Other . In the first step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit is compared to the fair value based on the fair value of the Company’s common
stock. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value, goodwill is not considered impaired and no further testing is required. If the carrying value of
the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, goodwill is potentially impaired and the second step of the impairment test must be performed. In the second step, the
implied fair value of the goodwill, as defined by ASC 350, is compared to its carrying amount to determine the amount of impairment loss, if any.
Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets for
possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such review indicates that the
carrying amount of property and equipment and intangible assets is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value. The Company has
not recorded any such impairment charge during the years presented.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparison of the carrying amounts to the expected future undiscounted cash flows attributable to these assets. If
it is determined that an asset is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded in the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the expected
discounted future cash flows arising from those assets.
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Deferred Rent
Rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable term of the operating lease. The Company records the difference between cash rent
payments and recognized rent expense as a deferred rent liability included in accrued liabilities and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Incentives
granted under the Company’s facility leases, including allowances to fund leasehold improvements, are deferred and are recognized as adjustments to rental expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liability
The Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants require liability classification and accounting as the underlying preferred stock is considered
redeemable as discussed in Note 9. At initial recognition, the warrants are recorded at their estimated fair value. The warrants are subject to remeasurement at each
balance sheet date, with changes in fair value recognized as a component of other income (expense), net. The Company will continue to adjust the warranty liability
for changes in fair value until the earlier of the expiration or exercise of the warrants, or upon their automatic conversion into warrants to purchase common stock in
connection with a qualified IPO such that they qualify for equity classification and no further remeasurement is required.
Revenue Recognition
The Company derives substantially all of its revenue from sales of connected health and fitness devices and accessories. The Company also generates a small
portion of revenue from its subscription-based premium services. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. The Company considers delivery of its products to have occurred once title
and risk of loss has been transferred. The Company recognizes revenue, net of estimated sales returns, sales incentives, discounts, and sales tax. The Company
generally recognizes revenue for products sold through retailers and distributors on a sell-in basis.
The Company has determined its multiple element arrangements generally include three separate units of accounting. The first deliverable is the hardware and
firmware essential to the functionality of the connected health and fitness device delivered at the time of sale. The second deliverable is the software services
included with the products, which are provided free of charge and enable users to sync, view, and access real-time date on the Company’s online dashboard and
mobile apps. The third deliverable is the embedded right included with the purchase of the device to receive, on a when-and-if-available basis, future unspecified
firmware upgrades and features relating to the product’s essential firmware. Commencing in the first quarter of 2015, the Company began accounting for the
embedded right as a separate unit of accounting, which is when it believes, through recent public announcements, it had created an implied obligation to, from time
to time, provide future unspecified firmware upgrades and features to the firmware to improve and add new functionality to the health and fitness devices.
The Company allocates revenue to all deliverables based on their relative selling prices. The Company uses a hierarchy to determine the selling price to be
used for allocating revenue to deliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value, (ii) third-party evidence (“TPE”), and (iii) best estimate of
the selling price (“BESP”). The Company currently cannot establish VSOE for any of its deliverables since none of the deliverables are sold separately. The
Company’s process for determining its BESP considers multiple factors including consumer behaviors and the Company’s internal pricing model and may vary
depending upon the facts and circumstances related to each deliverable. BESP for the health and fitness devices and unspecified upgrade rights reflect the
Company’s best estimate of the selling prices if they were sold regularly on a stand-alone basis and comprises the majority of the arrangement consideration. BESP
for upgrade rights currently ranges from $1 to $5. TPE for the online dashboard and mobile apps is currently estimated at $0.99.
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Amounts allocated to the connected health and fitness devices are recognized at the time of delivery, provided the other conditions for revenue recognition
have been met. Amounts allocated to the online dashboard and mobile apps and unspecified upgrade rights are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated usage period of approximately ten months.
The Company offers its users the ability to purchase subscription-based premium services, through which the users receive incremental features, including
access to a digital personal trainer and in-depth analytics regarding the user’s personal metrics. Amounts paid for premium subscriptions are deferred and recognized
ratably over the service period which is typically 12 months. Revenue from subscription-based premium services was less than 1% of revenue for all periods
presented.
In addition, the Company offers access to a customized corporate dashboard tool to certain customers in the corporate wellness program. This tool is currently
being offered at no cost for the first year. The Company is currently unable to establish VSOE or TPE for the corporate dashboard tool. Current BESP of $20,000 for
the corporate dashboard is determined based on the Company’s internal pricing model for anticipated renewals for existing customers and pricing for new customers.
Revenue allocated to the corporate dashboard is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated access period of 12 months. Revenue from the
corporate dashboard tool was less than 1% of revenue for all periods presented.
The Company accounts for shipping and handling fees billed to customers as revenue. Sales taxes and value added taxes (“VAT”) collected from customers
are remitted to governmental authorities are not included in revenue, and are reflected as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets.
Rights of Return, Stock Rotation Rights, and Price Protection
The Company offers limited rights of return, stock rotation rights, and price protection under various policies and programs with its retailer and distributor
customers and end-users. Below is a summary of the general provisions of such policies and programs:
•
•

Certain retailers and distributors are allowed to return products that were originally sold through to an end user, called “open box” returns, and such
returns may be made at any time after original sale.
All purchases through Fitbit.com are covered by a 45-day right of return.

•

Distributors are allowed stock rotation rights which are limited rights of return of products purchased during a prior period, generally one quarter.

•

Distributors and retailers are allowed return rights for defective products.

•

Certain distributors are offered price protection that allows for the right to a partial credit for unsold inventory held by the distributor if the Company
reduces the selling price of a product.

The Company meets all conditions required to recognize revenue at the time of sale when a right of return exists. For example, the price to the buyer is fixed
or determinable at time of sale; the buyer’s obligation to pay is not contingent on resale of the product; and the Company is able to reasonably estimate the amount
of future returns. The Company estimates and records reserves for these policies and programs as a reduction of revenue and accounts receivable. On a quarterly
basis, the amount of revenue that is reserved for future returns is calculated based on the Company’s historical trends and data specific to each reporting period. The
Company reviews the actual returns evidenced in prior quarters as a percent of related revenue to determine the historical returns rate. It then applies the historical
returns rate to the current period revenue as a basis for estimating future returns. Through December 31, 2014, actual returns have primarily been open-box returns.
In addition, through December 31, 2014, the Company has had minimal stock rotation or price protection claims. When necessary, the Company also provides a
specific reserve for product in the distribution channel in excess of estimated
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requirements. This estimate can be affected by the amount of a particular product in the channel, the rate of sell-through, product plans, and other factors. The
Company also considers whether there are circumstances which may result in anticipated returns higher than the historical return rate from direct users and records
an additional reserve as necessary.
Sales Incentives
The Company offers sales incentives through various programs, consisting primarily of cooperative advertising and marketing development fund programs.
The Company records advertising and marketing development fund programs with customers as a reduction to revenue unless it receives an identifiable benefit in
exchange for credits claimed by the customer and can reasonably estimate the fair value of the identifiable benefit received, in which case the Company records it as
a marketing expense. The Company recognizes a liability and reduces revenue for rebates or other incentives based on the estimated amount of rebates or credits that
will be claimed by customers.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists of product costs, including costs of contract manufacturers for production, shipping and handling costs, packaging, warranty
replacement costs, fulfillment costs, manufacturing and tooling equipment depreciation, warehousing costs, excess and obsolete inventory write-downs, costs related
to the Fitbit Force product recall, and certain allocated costs related to management, facilities, and personnel-related expenses and other expenses associated with
supply chain logistics.
Advertising Costs
Costs related to advertising and promotions, excluding co-op advertising costs, are expensed to sales and marketing as incurred. Advertising and promotion
expenses for 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 were $3.3 million, $9.5 million, $71.9 million, $3.8 million, and $21.1 million,
respectively. Co-op advertising costs are recorded as a reduction to revenue, and for 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 were
$1.9 million, $5.7 million, $12.7 million, $2.1 million, and $6.1 million, respectively.
Product Warranty
The Company offers a standard product warranty that the product will operate under normal use for a period of one year from date of original purchase except
in the European Union where the Company provides a two-year warranty. The Company has the obligation, at its option, to either repair or replace the defective
product.
At the time revenue is recognized, an estimate of future warranty costs is recorded as a component of cost of revenues. Factors that affect the warranty
obligation include product failure rates and service delivery costs incurred in correcting the product failures. The warranty obligation does not consider historical
experience of the Fitbit Force product as a separate reserve has been established for the Fitbit Force recall. The Company’s products are manufactured by third-party
contract manufacturers, and in certain cases, the Company may have recourse to such third-party contract manufacturers.
Fitbit Force Product Recall
The Company established reserves for the Fitbit Force recall when circumstances giving rise to the recall became known. It considered various factors in
estimating the product recall exposure. These include estimates for:
•
refunds and product returns from retailer and distributor customers and end-users, which were charged to revenue and cost of revenue on the
consolidated statements of operations;
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•

•

logistics and handling fees for managing product returns and processing refunds, obsolescence of on-hand inventory, cancellation charges for existing
purchase commitments and rework of component inventory by the Company’s contract manufacturers, write-offs of tooling and manufacturing
equipment, which were charged to cost of revenue on the consolidated statements of operations; and
legal fees and settlement costs, which were charged to general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

These factors above are updated and reevaluated each period and the related reserves are adjusted when factors indicate that the recall reserves are either
insufficient to cover or exceed the estimated product recall expenses.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company measures its stock-based awards made to employees based on the estimated fair values of the awards as of the grant date using the BlackScholes option-pricing model. The fair value of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) is the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Stock-based
compensation expense is recognized over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis and is recorded net of estimated forfeitures.
Stock-based compensation expenses for options granted to non-employees as consideration for services received are measured on the date of performance at
the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, whichever can be more
reliably measured. Stock-based compensation expenses for options granted to non-employees are remeasured as the underlying options vest.
The Company recognizes tax benefits related to stock-based compensation to the extent that the total reduction to its income tax liability from stock-based
compensation is greater than the amount of the deferred tax assets previously recorded in anticipation of these benefits. The Company recognizes a benefit from
stock-based compensation in equity to the extent that an incremental tax benefit is realized by following the ordering provisions of the tax laws.
Segment Information
The Company operates as one operating segment as it only reports financial information on an aggregate and consolidated basis to its Chief Executive Officer,
who is the Company’s chief operating decision maker.
Income Taxes
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for
expected future consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. The
Company makes estimates, assumptions, and judgments to determine its expense (benefit) for income taxes and also for deferred tax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowances recorded against its deferred tax assets. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable
income and, to the extent it believes that recovery is not likely, the Company establishes a valuation allowance.
The calculation of the Company’s income tax expense involves the use of estimates, assumptions, and judgments while taking into account current tax laws,
its interpretation of current tax laws, and possible outcomes of future tax audits. The Company has established reserves to address potential exposures related to tax
positions that could be challenged by tax authorities. Although the Company believes its estimates, assumptions, and judgments to be reasonable, any changes in tax
law or its interpretation of tax laws and the resolutions of
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potential tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in its consolidated financial statements.
The calculation of the Company’s deferred tax asset balance involves the use of estimates, assumptions, and judgments while taking into account estimates of
the amounts and type of future taxable income. Actual future operating results and the underlying amount and type of income could differ materially from the
Company’s estimates, assumptions, and judgments, thereby impacting its financial position and operating results.
The Company includes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits have been recognized in the appropriate periods presented.
Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
Basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity with the two-class method required for participating
securities. The Company considers its redeemable convertible preferred stock to be participating securities. The holders of the Company’s Series D redeemable
convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive non-cumulative dividends at the annual rate of approximately 8% of the Series D original issuance price per share
per annum, payable prior and in preference to any dividends on any shares of the Company’s other redeemable convertible preferred stock, which is payable prior
and in preference to any dividends on any shares of the common stock. In the event a cash dividend is paid on common stock, the holders of redeemable convertible
preferred stock are also entitled to a proportionate share of any such dividend as if they were holders of common stock (on an as-if converted basis). All participating
dividends paid on the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock reduce accruals of past or future preferred dividends by such amount. The holders of the
redeemable convertible preferred stock do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses. In accordance with the two-class method, earnings allocated to these
participating securities and the related number of outstanding shares of the participating securities, which include contractual participation rights in undistributed
earnings, have been excluded from the computation of basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders.
In 2012 and 2013, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period without consideration of common stock equivalents or the participation
rights of the preferred stock as they do not share in losses. During the periods when the Company is in a net loss position, basic net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders is the same as diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders as the inclusion of all potential shares of common stock
outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 (ASC 606), Revenue from Contracts with Customers , which affects any entity that either enters into contracts
with customers to transfer goods and services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing revenue
recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In
doing so, companies will need to use more judgment and make more estimates than under the currently effective guidance. These may include identifying
performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to
each separate performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim
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periods within that period. Early adoption is not permitted. The FASB recently issued an exposure draft of a proposed ASU that would delay the effective date of
ASU 2014-09 by one year and allow for early adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
4.

Fair Value Measurements

The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximated their fair
values due to the short period of time to maturity or repayment. The carrying values of the Company’s long-term debt approximate their fair values as of
December 31, 2013 and 2014, and as of March 31, 2015 as the debt carries a variable rate or market rates currently available to the Company and other assumptions
have not changed significantly.
The following tables set forth the Company’s financial instruments that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value
hierarchy (in thousands):

Assets:
Derivative assets
Liabilities:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Contingent consideration
Derivative liabilities
Total

Level 1

March 31, 2015
Level 2
Level 3
(unaudited)

$ —

$ 214

$

$ —
—
—
$ —

$ —
—
17
$ 17

$26,132
7,704
—
$33,836

Level 1

Level 2

$ —

$ 316

$

$ —
—
$ —

$ —
105
$ 105

$15,797
—
$15,797

Level 1

December 31, 2013
Level 2
Level 3

$ —

$ —

—

Total

$

214

$26,132
7,704
17
$33,853

December 31, 2014

Assets:
Derivative assets
Liabilities:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Derivative liabilities
Total

Liabilities:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability

Level 3

—

$ 4,028

Total

$

316

$15,797
105
$15,902
Total

$ 4,028

Level 2 assets and liabilities are comprised of derivative financial instruments associated with hedging activity is further discussed in Note 5. Derivative
financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date using inputs such as
spot rates and forward rates. There is not an active market for each hedge contract, but the inputs used to calculate the value of the instruments are tied to active
markets.
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The Company’s Level 3 liabilities measured and recorded on a recurring basis consist of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability and
contingent consideration. The fair value of the warrant liability is calculated using an option-pricing model as discussed in Note 10. Generally, increases or decreases
in the fair value of the underlying redeemable convertible preferred stock would result in a directionally similar impact in the fair value measurement of the
associated warrant liability. The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
(in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2011
Fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants issued
Change in fair value
Balance at December 31, 2012
Fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants issued
Change in fair value
Balance at December 31, 2013
Settlement of warrant liability upon exercise
Change in fair value
Balance at December 31, 2014
Change in fair value (unaudited)
Balance at March 31, 2015 (unaudited)

$

41
410
37
488
170
3,370
4,028
(1,503)
13,272
15,797
10,335
$ 26,132

The Company’s acquisition-related contingent consideration is determined using the Monte Carlo simulation method. The increases or decreases in the fair
value of the contingent consideration payable could result from changes in the anticipated fair value of the Company’s common stock, stock price volatility, and
probability of various market-based scenarios. As the fair value measure is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, they are categorized as
Level 3.
There have been no transfers between fair value measurement levels during 2013 and 2014.
5.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company’s earnings and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In December 2014, the Company
entered into foreign exchange contracts to hedge monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of its
subsidiaries. The Company and its subsidiaries do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.
These foreign exchange contracts are carried at fair value and do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and are not designated as hedging instruments.
Changes in the value of the foreign exchange contracts are recognized in other income (expense), net and offset the foreign currency gain or loss on the underlying
net monetary assets or liabilities. The notional amount of foreign currency contracts open in U.S. dollar equivalents was $37.2 million as of December 31, 2014 and
$5.7 million as of March 31, 2015.
F-21

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
FITBIT, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
The table below presents the notional amount of the foreign currency contracts as of March 31, 2015 (unaudited) (in thousands):
Notional Amount Sold
Foreign
USD
Amount
Equivalent

Functional Currency:

AUD
GBP
NZD

4,600
900
950

$ 3,673
1,371
692
$ 5,736

The table below presents the notional amount of the foreign currency contracts as of December 31, 2014 (in thousands):
Notional Amount Purchased
Foreign
USD
Amount
Equivalent

Functional Currency:

AUD
CAD
EUR
GBP
NZD

32,700
3,200
2,700
2,100
1,200

$ 26,810
2,782
3,355
3,295
930
$ 37,172

Currently, the Company does not have master netting agreements with its counterparties for its foreign currency contracts. As of December 31, 2014 and
March 31, 2015, the fair value of the derivative assets of $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively, were recorded in prepaid expenses and other assets and the fair
value of the derivative liability of $0.1 million and $17,000, respectively, were recorded in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The gain
recognized in other income (expense), net for non-designated foreign currency forward contracts was $0.2 million and $2.0 million for 2014 and the three months
ended March 31, 2015, respectively.
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6.

Balance Sheet Components
Accounts Receivable Reserves
Changes in accounts receivable reserves were as follows (in thousands):
Allowance for
Revenue
Reserve

Doubtful
Accounts

Balance at December 31, 2011
Increases
Write-offs/returns taken
Balance at December 31, 2012
Increases
Write-offs/returns taken
Balance at December 31, 2013
Increases
Write-offs/returns taken
Balance at December 31, 2014
Increases (unaudited)
Write-offs/returns taken (unaudited)
Balance at March 31, 2015 (unaudited)
Inventories

$

$

30
71
(9)
92
651
—
743
864
(769)
838
73
(59)
852

$

255
3,871
(939)
3,187
20,307
(8,078)
15,416
42,740
(31,597)
26,559
20,493
(20,690)
$ 26,362

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Components
Finished goods
Total inventories

2013

2014

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

$ 35,551
20,890
$ 56,441

$53,383
61,689
$ 115,072

$62,165
75,344
$ 137,509

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

POP displays, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets
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2013

2014

$1,212
1,973
$3,185

$ 7,121
6,493
$13,614

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

$

7,721
14,291
$ 22,012
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Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Tooling and manufacturing equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Purchased and internally-developed software
Leasehold improvements
Total property and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

2013

2014

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

$ 9,094
828
482
293
10,697
(4,211)
$ 6,486

$ 28,344
2,891
1,396
3,594
36,225
(9,790)
$ 26,435

$ 32,556
3,346
1,631
3,642
41,175
(13,153)
$ 28,022

Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Product warranty
Accrued manufacturing expense
Accrued cooperative advertising and marketing development funds
Contingent consideration
Customer deposits
Inventory received not billed
Employee related liabilities
Accrued sales incentives
Sales taxes and VAT payable
Other
Accrued liabilities
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2013

2014

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

$ 8,480
503
1,708
—
836
—
2,395
2,469
1,766
10,408
$28,565

$20,098
9,953
7,679
—
6,391
6,242
4,115
2,355
2,291
11,816
$70,940

$ 23,251
9,039
7,852
7,704
3,512
402
5,351
1,785
1,876
13,088
$ 73,860
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Product warranty reserve activities were as follows (in thousands):
Reserve For
Product
Warranty (1)

Balance at December 31, 2011
Charged to cost of revenue
Settlement of claims
Balance at December 31, 2012
Charged to cost of revenue
Settlement of claims
Balance at December 31, 2013
Charged to cost of revenue
Settlement of claims
Balance at December 31, 2014
Charged to cost of revenue (unaudited)
Settlement of claims (unaudited)
Balance at March 31, 2015 (unaudited)
(1)

$

677
3,179
(1,624)
2,232
9,078
(2,830)
8,480
19,462
(7,844)
20,098
7,497
(4,344)
$ 23,251

Does not include reserves established as a result of the recall of the Fitbit Force. See the section titled “—Fitbit Force Recall Reserve” for additional information regarding such reserves.

Fitbit Force Recall Reserve
In March 2014, the Company announced a recall for one of its products, the Fitbit Force (“Fitbit Force Recall”). The product recall, which is regulated by the
U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission, covered all Fitbit Force units sold since the product was first introduced in October 2013. The product recall program
has no expiration date.
As a result of the product recall, the Company established reserves that include cost estimates for customer refunds, logistics and handling fees for managing
product returns and processing refunds, obsolescence of on-hand inventory, cancellation charges for existing purchase commitments and rework of component
inventory with the contract manufacturer, write-offs of tooling and manufacturing equipment, and legal settlement costs.
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Fitbit Force recall reserve activities were as follows (in thousands):
Reserve For
Fitbit Force
Recall

Balance at December 31, 2012
Charged to revenue
Charged to cost of revenue
Charged to general and administrative
Settlement of claims
Balance at December 31, 2013
Charged to revenue
Charged to cost of revenue
Charged to general and administrative
Settlement of claims
Balance at December 31, 2014
Benefit to cost of revenue (unaudited)
Settlement of claims (unaudited)
Balance at March 31, 2015 (unaudited)

$

—
30,607
49,493
2,838
—
82,938
8,112
11,339
505
(80,418)
22,476
(2,040)
(5,332)
$ 15,104

During 2013, the Company recorded excess and obsolete Fitbit Force inventory-related amounts of $10.3 million, included in the reserve, and wrote-off $1.7
million for specialized Fitbit Force tooling and manufacturing equipment to cost of revenue as incurred in the consolidated statement of operations. During 2014,
legal fees of $2.9 million were recognized as incurred, in addition to legal settlement costs of $0.5 million related to the Fitbit Force recall, which were included in
general and administrative costs in the consolidated statement of operations. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, a benefit to legal expenses of
$0.1 million was recognized as incurred in general and administrative costs.
7.

Long-Term Debt
2012 Financing Facility
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had term loan facilities with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) totaling $26.0 million consisting of a $14.0 million
revolving line of credit, a $3.0 million senior term loan, and a $9.0 million mezzanine term loan facility. The annual interest rate on the revolving line of credit is the
greater of 0.75% above the bank’s prime rate or 4.0%. The annual interest rate on the senior term loan is equal to the greater of 0.50% above the bank’s prime rate or
4.5%. The annual interest rate on the mezzanine term loan facility is equal to 10.5% per annum. For December 31, 2012 and 2013, the effective interest rates on the
revolving line of credit and the senior term loan were 4.5% and 4.0% per annum, respectively. The interest on these facilities are payable monthly. The revolving
line of credit and the senior term loan advances had original maturity dates ranging from June 2014 to June 2016. The mezzanine term loan had a maturity of May
2016. As of December 31, 2013, $2.3 million was outstanding under the senior term loan, $9.0 million was outstanding under the mezzanine facility, and nothing
was outstanding under the revolving line of credit. The revolving line of credit, senior term loan, and mezzanine term loan facility were all terminated in August
2014.
2014 Credit Agreement
In August 2014, the Company entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (“Asset-Based Credit Facility”) with SVB, as administrative agent and
lender, and several other lenders, including affiliates of Morgan
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Stanley & Co. LLC, SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc . The Asset-Based Credit Facility allows the Company to borrow up to
the lesser of (i) $180.0 million, including up to $50.0 million for the issuance of letters of credit and up to $25.0 million for swing line loans and (ii) the borrowing
base then in effect less the amount then outstanding under letters of credit and loans. The borrowing base is determined by the Company’s collateral agents based on
several variables, including percentages of the book value of certain eligible accounts receivable and a percentage of certain eligible inventories. Borrowings under
the Asset-Based Credit Facility may be drawn as Alternate Base Rate or ABR loans or Eurodollar loans, and matures in August 2018. ABR loans bear interest at a
variable rate equal to the applicable margin plus the highest of (i) the prime rate, (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%, and (iii) the Eurodollar rate plus
1.0%, but in any case at a minimum rate of 3.25% per annum. Eurodollar loans bear interest at a variable rate based on the LIBOR rate and Euro currency reserve
requirements. The Company is also required to pay an annual commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the facility of 0.25%, 0.35%, or 0.45%, based
on usage of the facility. As of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, the effective interest rate on the revolving line of credit was 4.25%.
The Company has the option to repay its borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility without penalty prior to maturity. The Asset-Based Credit Facility
requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.1:1, consolidated
leverage ratios of between 3:1 and 2:1, and levels of liquidity of not less than $15.0 million. The Asset-Based Credit Facility also requires the Company to comply
with certain non-financial covenants. The Company was in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015.
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had $125.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility. In January 2015, the Company
repaid $125.0 million of its indebtedness under the Asset-Based Credit Facility. As a result, the long-term debt that was repaid was classified as long-term debt,
current portion, on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had $160.0 million of outstanding
borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility. Subsequent to March 31, 2015, the Company repaid $160.0 million of its indebtedness under the Asset-Based
Credit Facility.
2014 Revolving Credit and Guarantee Agreement
In August 2014, the Company entered into a revolving credit and guarantee agreement (“Cash Flow Facility”) with an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC,
as administrative agent and collateral agent, and several other lenders, including SVB and an affiliate of SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. In October 2014, the
Company entered into an incremental joinder agreement with an affiliate of Barclays Capital, Inc., which amended the Cash Flow Facility to increase the borrowing
limit under the Cash Flow Facility. The Cash Flow Facility allows the Company to borrow up to $50.0 million, including up to $10.0 million for the issuance of
letters of credit and up to $10.0 million for swing line loans, and matures in August 2018. Borrowings under the Cash Flow Facility may also be drawn as ABR
loans or Eurodollar loans. ABR loans under our Cash Flow Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to the applicable margin plus the highest of (i) 3.5%, (ii) the
prime rate, (iii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%, and (iv) the adjusted LIBOR rate plus 1.0%. Eurodollar loans under the Cash Flow Facility bear interest at
a variable rate for any day based on the LIBOR rate and Euro currency reserve requirements. The Company is also required to pay an annual commitment fee on the
average daily unused portion of the facility of 0.375% or 0.5%, based on usage of the facility. As of December 31, 2014, the effective interest rate on the revolving
line of credit was 3.59%. The Cash Flow Facility also requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining certain consolidated
leverage ratios of between 3:1 and 2:1, and other non-financial covenants.
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had $8.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Cash Flow Facility. Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the
Company repaid $8.0 million of its indebtedness under the Cash Flow Facility. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the Cash
Flow Facility.
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The fair value of warrants issued in connection with debt agreements prior to 2012 was recorded as a debt discount and is amortized to interest expense using
the straight-line method which approximated the effective interest method over the term of the related debt agreement. In addition, capitalized issuance costs are
amortized to interest expense over the term of the related financing arrangement on a straight-line basis. Interest expense for 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months
ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 was $0.2 million, $1.1 million, $2.2 million, $0.4 million, and $0.5 million, respectively.
Letters of Credit
As of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, the Company had three outstanding letters of credit of $2.9 million and $3.3 million, respectively, issued to
cover the security deposit on the lease of its office headquarters in San Francisco, California.
8.

Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company’s principal facility is located in San Francisco, California. The Company also leases office space in various locations with expiration dates
between 2015 and 2020. The lease agreements often include leasehold improvement incentives, escalating lease payments, renewal provisions and other provisions
which require the Company to pay taxes, insurance, maintenance costs or defined rent increases. All of Company’s leases are accounted for as operating leases.
Rent expense is recorded over the lease terms on a straight-line basis. Rent expense was $0.4 million, $0.9 million, $4.1 million, $1.1 million, and
$1.1 million, for 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively. Future minimum payments under the leases as of
December 31, 2014 were as follows (in thousands):
Year ending December 31,

Amounts

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter
Total

$ 4,224
3,848
3,705
3,812
3,725
874
$20,188

Future minimum payments under the leases as of March 31, 2015 (unaudited) were as follows (in thousands):
Three months ending March 31,

Amounts

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter
Total

$ 3,998
5,488
5,394
5,551
4,601
874
$25,906
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Purchase Commitments
The aggregate amount of purchase orders open as of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015 was approximately $257.0 million and $314.1 million,
respectively. The Company cannot determine the aggregate amount of such purchase orders that represent contractual obligations because purchase orders may
represent authorizations to purchase rather than binding agreements. The Company’s purchase orders are based on its current needs and are fulfilled by its suppliers,
contract manufacturers, and logistics providers within short periods of time.
Legal Proceedings
In 2014, class action and personal injury lawsuits were filed against the Company based upon claims of allergic reactions from adhesives in the Fitbit Force,
and alleged violations of various state false advertising and unfair competition statutes based on the Company’s sale and marketing of the Fitbit Force. The class
action cases were settled in 2014. Certain personal injury complaints remain outstanding but the Company believes that liabilities arising under these claims are
covered by the Company’s commercial general liability insurance.
Further, the Company is and, from time to time, may in the future become, involved in other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. The
Company currently believes that the outcome of any of these existing legal proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material impact on
the operating results, financial condition, or cash flows of the Company. With respect to existing legal proceedings, the Company has either determined that the
existence of a material loss is not reasonably possible or that it is unable to estimate a reasonably possible range of loss.
Indemnifications
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into agreements that may include indemnification provisions. Pursuant to such agreements, the
Company may indemnify, hold harmless and defend an indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party. Some of the provisions will
limit losses to those arising from third-party actions. In some cases, the indemnification will continue after the termination of the agreement. The maximum potential
amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these provisions is not determinable. To date, the Company has not incurred material costs
to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification provisions. The Company has also entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and
officers that may require the Company to indemnify its directors and officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or
officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware corporate law. The Company also currently has directors’ and officers’ insurance.
9.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock
As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock consisted of the following (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Series A
Series A-1
Series B
Series C
Series D
Total
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Shares
Authorized

Shares
Outstanding

Price per
Share

10,200,000
22,368,912
42,360,000
39,600,000
30,000,000
144,528,912

10,200,000
22,368,912
41,705,112
36,080,004
29,149,887
139,503,915

$ 0.04167
0.09164
0.21580
0.33452
1.47513

Net
Carrying
Value

$

421
2,000
8,955
12,049
42,811
$ 66,236

Liquidation
Preference

$

425
2,050
9,000
12,069
43,000
$ 66,544
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As of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015 (unaudited), the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock consisted of the following (in thousands,
except share and per share data):

Series A
Series A-1
Series B
Series C
Series D
Total

Shares
Authorized

Shares
Outstanding

Price per
Share

10,200,000
22,368,912
42,360,000
39,600,000
30,000,000
144,528,912

10,200,000
22,368,912
42,052,680
36,080,004
29,149,887
139,851,483

$ 0.04167
0.09164
0.21580
0.33452
1.47513

Net
Carrying
Value

$

421
2,000
10,533
12,049
42,811
$ 67,814

Liquidation
Preference

$

425
2,050
9,075
12,069
43,000
$ 66,619

Significant provisions of the redeemable convertible preferred stock are as follows:
Voting —Each holder of redeemable convertible preferred stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which
each such shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock could be converted on the record date for the vote or consent of the stockholders, except as otherwise
required by law or other provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, and have voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and powers of the common
stockholders. The holders of Series A-1, Series B, and Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting as a separate class, are each entitled to elect one
member of the board of directors. The holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock and common stock, voting on an as-converted basis, are entitled to elect two
members of the Board of Directors.
Dividends —The holders of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive noncumulative dividends prior and in preference to any
payment of any dividend on the holders of other redeemable convertible preferred stock at a rate of 8% of original issuance price per share per annum. The holders
of Series A, Series A-1, Series B, and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive, on a pari passu basis, non-cumulative dividends, as
adjusted for stock splits, dividends, reclassifications or the like, prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of any dividends to the holders of common
stock, when and if declared by the Board of Directors, at a rate of 8% of original issuance price per share for redeemable convertible preferred stock, per annum. No
cash dividends have been declared by the Board of Directors or paid since inception.
After payment of such preferential dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock during any year, any further dividends or distribution distributed
during such year shall be declared and paid ratably on the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock (on an as converted to common stock basis) and the
common stock.
Liquidation —In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, the holders of shares of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock shall be
entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of proceeds, to the holders of Series A, Series A-1, Series B, and Series C redeemable convertible
preferred stock and common stock, an amount per share equal to the original issuance price of the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock plus declared but
unpaid dividends on such share. If upon the occurrence of such event, the proceeds thus distributed among the holders of the Series D redeemable convertible
preferred stock are insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the full aforesaid preferential amounts, then the proceeds shall be distributed ratably among
the holders of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock in proportion to the full preferential amount that each such holder is otherwise entitled to receive.
Upon the completion of the distribution to the holders of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock shares, the holders of shares of Series A, Series A-1, Series
B, and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock shall be entitled to receive,
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prior and in preference to any distribution of the proceeds to the holders of common stock, an amount per share equal to the applicable original issuance price for
such series of redeemable convertible preferred stock plus declared but unpaid dividends on such share. If, upon the occurrence of such event, the proceeds thus
distributed among the holders of shares of Series A, Series A-1, Series B, and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock are insufficient to permit the payment
to such holders of the full aforesaid preferential amounts, then the proceeds shall be distributed ratably among the holders of shares of Series A, Series A-1, Series B,
and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock in proportion to the full preferential amount that each such holder is otherwise entitled to receive. Thereafter,
the remaining proceeds, if any, shall be distributed to the holders of shares of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock and common stock pro rata based on
the number of shares of common stock held by each, on an as-converted basis (as if such conversion happened immediately prior to such liquidation event but
following the payments described above); provided, however, that if the aggregate amount per share that the holders of Series D redeemable convertible preferred
stock shall be entitled to receive shall exceed three times of the Series D original issuance price (the participation cap amount), each holder of Series D redeemable
convertible preferred stock shall be entitled to receive upon such liquidation event the greater of (i) the participation cap amount and (ii) the amount such holder
would have received if all shares of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock had been converted into common stock immediately prior to such liquidation
event.
A liquidation may be deemed to be occasioned by or to include (unless waived by the vote or written consent of the majority of the outstanding redeemable
convertible preferred stock holders, voting as a single class on an as-converted basis, and the holders of at least 66.67% of the then outstanding shares of Series D
redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting as a separate series on an as-converted basis) (i) the closing of a sale, transfer, or disposition of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Company; (ii) the consummation of a consolidation or merger of the Company with or into another entity (except a consolidation or merger in
which the Company’s stockholders immediately prior to such transaction continue to hold at least 50% of the voting power of the capital stock of the Company or
the surviving or acquiring entity); or (iii) after the transfer of the Company’s securities to a person or group of affiliated persons, such person or group hold at least
50% of the voting power of the Company (or the surviving or acquiring entity). The Company considers its convertible preferred stock as redeemable and as such
has classified it as temporary equity in the balance sheet due to the existence of certain change in control events that are outside of the Company’s control including
liquidation, or the sale or transfer of the Company, that trigger the ability of the holders of the redeemable preferred stock to call for redemption of the shares.
Conversion —Each share of Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series C, and Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock is convertible into such number of
shares of common stock as is determined by dividing the original issuance price for such series of redeemable convertible preferred stock by the applicable
conversion price for such series of redeemable convertible preferred stock. The initial conversion price per share for each series of redeemable convertible preferred
stock is equal to the original issuance price for such series of redeemable convertible preferred stock, which is subject to adjustment. As of December 31, 2014, the
conversion price per share equals the original issuance price. Conversion is either at the option of the holder or is automatic upon the closing date of a public offering
of the Company’s common stock for which the aggregate public offering price is not less than $70.0 million, or upon the written consent of the holders of a majority
of the then outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis, and the holders of at least
66.67% of the then outstanding shares of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting as a separate series on an as-converted to basis.
Protective Provisions —The holders of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock have certain protective provisions. As long as 12.0 million shares of
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock are outstanding, the Company cannot, without the approval of the holders of at least 66.67% of the then outstanding
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shares of Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting as a separate class on an as-converted basis, take any actions that to: (i) authorize or issue, or
obligate itself to issue, any equity security (including any other security convertible into or exercisable for any such equity security) having a preference over any
series of redeemable convertible preferred stock with respect to dividends, liquidation or redemption; or (ii) alter or change the rights, preferences or privileges of
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock so as to adversely affect such shares; or (iii) reclassify, alter or amend any existing equity security that is junior or
pari passu with the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock in respect of the distribution of assets on a liquidation event, the repayment of dividends or
rights of redemption, if such reclassification, alteration or amendment would render such other security senior to the Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock
in respect of any such right, preference or privilege.
The holders of Series A, Series A-1, Series B, Series C, and Series D redeemable convertible preferred stock have certain protective provisions. As long as at
least 81.6 million shares of all series of redeemable convertible preferred stock are outstanding, the Company cannot, without the approval of the holders of at least a
majority of the then outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting as a single class on an as-converted basis, take any action that to:
(i) authorize or issue, or obligate itself to issue, any equity security (including any other security convertible into or exercisable for any such equity security) having a
preference over any series of redeemable convertible preferred stock with respect to dividends, liquidation or redemption; (ii) declare or pay any dividends;
(iii) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire (or pay into or set aside for a sinking fund for such purpose) shares of any class of stock with certain exceptions;
(iv) consummate a liquidation event; (v) alter the total authorized number of shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock (other than by redemption or
conversion); (vi) alter or change the rights, preferences or privileges of redeemable convertible preferred stock so as to adversely affect such shares; (vii) amend the
Company’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws in any manner which adversely affects the rights of the redeemable convertible preferred stock; or (viii) change the
authorized number of members of the board of directors.
10.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014 and March 31, 2015 (unaudited), the Company had the following redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants issued
and outstanding:
Warrant Class:

Number of Shares Underlying Warrants
March 31,
2013
2014
2015
(unaudited)

Fair Value
2013

2014

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

Issuance Date

Exercise
Price per
Share

(in thousands)

Series B
Series B
Series C
Series C
Series C (1)
Total
(1)

347,568
277,992
57,000
1,215,000
405,000
2,302,560

—
277,992
57,000
1,215,000
405,000
1,954,992

—
277,992
57,000
1,215,000
405,000
1,954,992

$

712
570
110
1,978
658
$ 4,028

$

—
2,351
475
9,728
3,243
$ 15,797

$

$

—
3,821
776
16,151
5,384
26,132

August 2009
June 2011
April 2012
September 2012
September 2012

$

0.22
0.22
0.33
0.67
0.67

Represents additional shares that may be exercised pursuant to the Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant issued in September 2012 due to a draw down on a debt financing arrangement in
March 2013.

In August 2009, secured convertible promissory notes were issued to the Company’s founders and investors and subsequently converted to warrants to
purchase 347,568 shares of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock in 2010. The Company determined the fair value of these warrants to be $30,000 on the
date of grant. In August 2014, the warrants were exercised into 347,568 shares of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock for total consideration of $0.1
million.
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In June 2011, as part of financing arrangements with a financial institution, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 277,992 shares of Series B redeemable
convertible preferred stock. The warrant is immediately exercisable and expires, if not exercised, in June 2018. The Company determined the fair value of the
warrants to be $25,000 on the date of grant.
In April and September 2012, in connection with entering into a debt financing arrangement, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of
1,272,000 shares of Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock. These warrants are exercisable immediately and expire, if not exercised, in April and
September 2019. The Company determined the fair value of the warrants granted in April and September to be $10,000 and $0.4 million on the date of grant.
In March 2013, the Company drew down under an existing debt financing arrangement. In connection with the draw down, the existing September 2012
warrants to purchase 1,215,000 shares of Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock became exercisable for 1,620,000 shares of Series C redeemable
convertible preferred stock. The Company determined the fair value of these warrants to be $0.2 million on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model.
As the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants are exercisable into contingently redeemable preferred shares, the Company has recognized a liability
for the fair value of its warrants on the consolidated balance sheets upon issuance and subsequently remeasures the liability at the end of each reporting period.
The key assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for the revaluation of the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants were as
follows:

Expected term (in years)
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

2012

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2014

1.6 – 6.75
51.83 – 57.22%
0.22% – 1.04%
—%

0.61 – 6.94
31.24 – 62.72%
0.06 – 2.47%
—%

0.75 – 1.25
46.70 – 54.90%
0.11 – 0.21%
—%

Three Months Ended March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

1.25
54.9%
0.21%
—%

0.5
81.3%
0.07%
—%

As these warrants to acquire convertible preferred stock are classified as liabilities, any potential beneficial conversion feature related to those underlying
shares of convertible preferred would not be recognized until such time as the warrant is exercised. At that point any excess of the fair value of the Company’s
common stock into which the shares of convertible preferred are convertible over the effective conversion price, measured as the sum of the carrying amount of the
warrant liability and the exercise price of the warrant, would be recognized as a beneficial conversion feature and would reduce earnings available to common
stockholders in the calculation of earnings per share for that period.
In connection with the closing of a qualifying IPO, all of the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants will automatically convert to
common stock warrants, and the redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability will be remeasured to the extent the warrants qualify for equity
classification and no further measurement will be required thereafter.
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11.

Common Stock
The Company has reserved shares of common stock, on an as-converted basis, for future issuance as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2013
2014

Redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding
Options issued and outstanding
Restricted stock units issued and outstanding
Shares available for future equity grants
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
Total
12.

139,504
23,440
—
17
625
1,677
165,263

139,851
44,052
—
3,570
278
1,677
189,428

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

139,851
47,337
292
8,939
278
1,677
198,374

Stock Plan

In September 2007, the Company adopted the Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan (the “Plan”), which was most recently amended in March 2015. The
Plan provides for the grant of incentive and non-statutory stock options and RSUs to employees, directors, and consultants under terms and provisions established by
the board of directors.
The board of directors determines the period over which the options vest and become exercisable. Options granted under the Plan are generally subject to a
four-year vesting period, with 25% vesting after a one-year period and monthly vesting thereafter. Options expire after ten years. The exercise price of incentive
stock options granted under the Plan must be at least equal to 100% of the fair value of the common stock at the date of grant, as determined by the board of
directors. The exercise price of non-statutory options granted under the Plan must be at least equal to 85% of the fair value of the common stock at the date of grant,
as determined by the board of directors. RSUs granted under the Plan are generally subject to a three- or four-year vesting period with annual vesting.
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Stock Options
Activity under the Plan is as follows:

Shares
Available
for
Grant

Balance—December 31, 2011
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Balance—December 31, 2012
Authorized
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Balance—December 31, 2013
Authorized
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Balance—December 31, 2014
Authorized (unaudited)
Granted (unaudited)
Exercised (unaudited)
Canceled (unaudited)
Balance—March 31, 2015 (unaudited)
Options exercisable—December 31, 2014
Options vested and expected to vest— December 31, 2014
Options exercisable—March 31, 2015 (unaudited)
Options vested and expected to vest—March 31, 2015 (unaudited)

Number of
Shares Subject
to
Options
(in thousands)

4,786
(3,664)
—
696
1,818
3,975
(6,476)
—
736
53
24,900
(22,094)
—
765
3,624
9,115
(4,120)
—
320
8,939

18,116
3,664
(137)
(696)
20,947
—
6,476
(3,283)
(736)
23,404
—
22,094
(735)
(765)
43,998
—
3,828
(169)
(320)
47,337
16,577
41,411
18,224
44,589

Options Outstanding
Weighted–
Average
Exercise
Price

$

0.05
0.13
0.03
0.03
0.06
—
0.61
0.05
0.16
0.21
—
3.25
0.14
0.95
1.72
7.53
0.41
2.06
2.19
0.18
1.67
0.27
2.13

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

$
$

3

$

1,111

$

3,001

$ 207,863

$

1,478

$
$
$
$
$

491,635
104,027
197,803
224,507
465,994

The aggregate intrinsic values of options outstanding, exercisable, vested and expected to vest were calculated as the difference between the exercise price of
the options and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock, as determined by the board of directors, as of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015.
The total grant date fair value of options that vested during 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015 was $0.1 million,
$0.3 million, $1.7 million, $0.2 million, and $1.8 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, the weighted-average remaining contractual life was 6.7 years and 6.5 years, respectively, for exercisable
options and 8.2 years and 8.1 years, respectively, for vested
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and expected to vest options. The weighted-average remaining contractual life of options outstanding was 8.0 years, 8.3 years, and 8.2 years at December 31, 2013
and 2014 and March 31, 2015, respectively.
Restricted Stock Units (unaudited)
RSU activity under the Plan is as follows:
WeightedAverage
Grant Date
RSUs
Outstanding
(in thousands)

Unvested balance—December 31, 2014
Granted
Unvested balance—March 31, 2015

—
292
292

Fair Value

$

—
12.57
12.57

Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Total stock-based compensation recognized was as follows (in thousands):

2012

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$ 15
62
29
26
$132

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014

$ 37
288
204
91
$620

$ 890
2,350
1,295
2,269
$6,804

$

59
92
63
100
$ 314

$

446
1,879
1,307
1,271
$ 4,903

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2015 was $0.07, $0.52,
$2.40, and $7.05 per share. As of December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested options, net of
estimated forfeitures, was $43.9 million and $68.1 million, respectively, which the Company expects to recognize over an estimated weighted average period of 3.8
years and 3.7 years, respectively.
As of March 31, 2015, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs, net of estimated forfeitures, was $3.4 million, which the
Company expects to recognize over an estimated weighted average period of 3.0 years. As of March 31, 2015, the total unrecognized compensation expense related
to unvested common stock issued in connection with the FitStar acquisition, net of estimated forfeitures, was $3.7 million, which the Company expects to recognize
over an estimated weighted average period of 3.0 years.
Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over
the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. The fair value of RSUs is the fair value of the Company’s common stock
on the grant date. In determining the fair value of the options, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and assumptions discussed below. Each of
these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment.
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Fair Value of Common Stock —The fair value of the shares of common stock underlying stock options has historically been established by the Company’s
board of directors, which is responsible for these estimates, and has been based in part upon a valuation provided by an independent third-party valuation firm.
Because there has been no public market for the Company’s common stock, its board of directors considered this independent valuation and other factors,
including, but not limited to, revenue growth, the current status of the technical and commercial success of its operations, its financial condition, the stage of
development and competition to establish the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time of grant of the option. The fair value of the underlying
common stock will be determined by the board of directors until such time as its common stock is listed on a stock exchange.
Expected Term —The expected term represents the period over which the Company anticipates stock-based awards to be outstanding. The Company does not
have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term due to the limited period of time stock-based
awards have been exercisable. As a result, for stock options, the Company used the simplified method to calculate the expected term estimate based on the
vesting and contractual terms of the option. Under the simplified method, the expected term is equal to the average of the stock-based award’s weighted
average vesting period and its contractual term.
Volatility —Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which the stock price is expected to fluctuate. The Company estimates the expected volatility of
the common stock underlying its stock options at the grant date by taking the average historical volatility of the common stock of a group of comparable
publicly traded companies over a period equal to the expected life of the options.
Risk-Free Rate —The risk-free interest rate is estimated average interest rate based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon notes with terms consistent with the
expected term of the awards.
Dividend Yield —The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, it used an expected dividend yield of zero.
In addition, the Company is required to estimate the amount of stock-based compensation that it expects to be forfeited based on historical experience. The
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the stock-based awards represent management judgment. As a result, if factors change and different assumptions are
used, the stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. For 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015,
the Company recognized $0.1 million, $0.5 million, $6.2 million, $0.3 million, and $4.2 million, respectively, of stock-based compensation related to options
granted to employees. The fair value of the stock option awards granted to employees was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following assumptions:
2012

Expected term (in years)
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
(1)

6.25
60.0% – 60.62%
0.95% – 1.17%
—%

Year Ended December 31,
2013

6.00 – 6.25
60.57% – 62.03%
1.04% – 1.93%
—%

The Company did not grant any stock options in the three months ended March 31, 2014.
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2014

6.25
54.83% – 60.94%
1.73% – 2.04%
—%

Three Months Ended March 31,
2014 (1)
2015
(unaudited)

—
—%
—%
—%

6.25
55.98% – 56.90%
1.59% – 1.73%
—%
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The Company recognized stock-based compensation of $17,000, $0.1 million, $0.6 million, $37,000, and $0.7 million related to options granted to nonemployees for 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively.
13.

Income Taxes
The following table presents domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before income taxes for the periods presented (in thousands):

United States
Foreign
Total

2012

Year Ended December 31,
2013

$(3,981)
56
$(3,925)

$(13,779)
94
$(13,685)

2014

$150,137
(10,364)
$139,773

The income tax expense is composed of the following (in thousands):
2012

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred
Total income tax expense

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014

$ 68
210
13
291

$31,176
6,736
25
37,937

$ 47,565
2,319
113
49,997

—
—
—
—
$291

—
—
—
—
$37,937

(39,339)
(2,651)
(11)
(42,001)
$ 7,996

The reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate to the statutory federal rate is as follows:
2012

Tax at federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal effect
Foreign rate differential
Tax credits
Domestic production activities deduction
Warrant fair value adjustment
Change in valuation allowance
Other
Effective tax rate

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2014

(35.0%)
3.5
(0.2)
—
—
—
37.7
1.4
7.4%

(35.0%)
32.0
(0.1)
(9.6)
(12.7)
8.6
292.6
1.4
277.2%

35.0%
(0.2)
2.7
(1.1)
(2.6)
3.3
(32.0)
0.6
5.7%

For the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company recorded an expense for income taxes of $28.4 million, for an effective tax rate of 37.2%. The
effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31,
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2015 reflected income tax expense on earnings during such period. The effective tax rate is higher than the statutory federal tax rate primarily due to state income
taxes and certain permanent differences. For 2014, the Company recorded an expense for income taxes of $8.0 million, for an effective tax rate of 5.7%. The tax
expense in 2014 reflects income tax expense on earnings in 2014 and a downward revaluation of the Company’s deferred tax assets due to a change in state tax law
enacted during 2014. The expense was partially offset by a $51.3 million tax benefit, of which $44.9 million is related to federal tax benefits, from the full release of
the Company’s deferred income tax asset valuation allowance. Of the $51.3 million tax benefit, $6.4 million related to a state tax benefit resulting from the release of
the valuation allowance on state net operating losses and other state deferred tax assets. A significant majority of the foreign losses generated in 2014 were in low or
no tax jurisdictions, and as such the Company did not record any deferred tax benefits for such losses.
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2013

Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards
Fixed assets and intangible assets
Other accruals and reserves
Fitbit Force recall reserve
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

$

134
887
2,321
15,079
32,926
51,347
(51,347)
$
—

2014

$

—
1,331
2,436
30,075
8,159
42,001
—
$42,001

The Company has recorded $33.6 million to current deferred tax assets and $8.4 million to long-term deferred taxes, which is included in other assets on the
balance sheet.
The tax valuation allowance increased by $1.9 million during 2012 primarily due to an increase in deferred tax assets related to accruals and reserves. The tax
valuation allowance increased by $45.6 million during 2013 primarily due to the accrual for the Fitbit Force recall and continued recognition of a full valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets.
The Company accounts for deferred taxes under ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”) which involves weighing positive and negative evidence
concerning the realizability of the Company’s deferred tax assets in each jurisdiction. The Company evaluated its ability to realize the benefit of its net deferred tax
assets and weighed all available positive and negative evidence both objective and subjective in nature. In determining the need for a valuation allowance, the weight
given to positive and negative evidence is commensurate with the extent to which the evidence may be objectively verified. Consideration was given to negative
evidence such as: the duration and severity of losses in prior years, high seasonal revenue concentrations, increasing competitive pressures, and a challenging retail
environment. However, after considering three consecutive years of revenue growth and a three-year cumulative income position as of September 30, 2014, the
Company believes the weight of the objectively verifiable positive evidence is sufficient to overcome the weight of any negative evidence. As of December 31,
2014, the Company continued to believe that it was more-likely-than-not that it would have future taxable income sufficient to realize the benefit of the Company’s
net deferred tax assets.
Accordingly, for 2014, based on its assessment of the realizability of its deferred tax assets, the Company released the valuation allowance against all of its
U.S. deferred tax assets which resulted in a tax benefit of $51.3 million.
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As of December 31, 2014, the Company has federal research credit carryforwards of approximately $0.1 million, which if not utilized, begin to expire in 2028
and California research credit carryforwards of approximately $2.8 million, which do not expire.
Utilization of the tax credit carry forward may be subject to an annual limitation due to the ownership percentage change limitations provided by the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of the net operating loss before utilization. The Company
completed a Section 383 analysis through May 2014 and determined that an ownership change, as defined under Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, occurred
in prior years. The Company does not expect the limitation to result in a reduction in total amount utilizable.
It is the intention of the Company to indefinitely reinvest the earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. The Company does not provide for U.S. income
taxes on the earnings of its foreign subsidiaries as such earnings are to be reinvested indefinitely. If these earnings were distributed to the United States in the form
of dividends or otherwise or if the shares of the relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferred the Company would be subject to additional U.S.
income taxes, subject to adjustment for foreign tax credits, and foreign withholding taxes. As of December 31, 2014, there was $0.3 million of cumulative foreign
earnings upon which U.S. income taxes have not been provided.
As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company has $8.0 million and $10.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits. A reconciliation of the beginning and
ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2013
2014

Balance at beginning of year
Reductions based on tax positions related to prior year
Additions based on tax positions related to current year
Balance at end of year

$ 634
(87)
7,444
$ 7,991

$ 7,991
(418)
3,021
$ 10,594

At December 31, 2014, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was $10.6 million, all of which would affect the effective tax rate if recognized.
The Company does not have any tax positions as of December 31, 2014 for which it is reasonably possible the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits will
increase or decrease within the following 12 months. The Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax
expense. During 2013 and 2014, the Company recorded $0.1 million and $0.3 million related to the accrual of interest and penalties. During 2012, the Company did
not accrue interest or penalties as the Company had net operating losses available to offset any tax adjustment.
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions. The Company currently does not have any tax
examinations in progress nor has it had any tax examinations since its inception. All of the Company’s tax years will remain open for examination by federal and
state authorities for three and four years from the date of utilization of any net operating losses and tax credits.
14.

Related-Party Transactions
Softbank Distribution Agreement

In December 2012, the Company granted SoftBank BB Corporation (“SoftBank BB”), an entity affiliated with SoftBank PrinceVille Investments, L.P., one of
the Company’s investors, a distribution right for the
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Company’s products in Japan, pursuant to a distribution agreement. The agreement was subsequently amended in December 2014 such that SoftBank BB
relinquished its right of exclusivity.
For 2013 and 2014, the Company recognized $17.6 million in revenue and a reduction of $1.7 million to revenue respectively related to SoftBank BB. The
Company also recognized $0.1 million in expenses related to SoftBank BB in 2013. There was no revenue or expenses related to SoftBank BB for 2012. During
2014, product sales to SoftBank BB were $1.2 million. However the Company accepted sales returns of $2.9 million due to the amendment of the distribution
agreement. As of December 31, 2014, a net amount of $2.2 million was due to Softbank BB, which was paid subsequent to December 31, 2014. There was no
revenue or expenses related to SoftBank BB for the three months ended March 31, 2015, and no amounts were due to either party as of March 31, 2015.
15. Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders and Unaudited Pro Forma Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common
Stockholders
The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Numerator:
Net income (loss)
Less: noncumulative dividends to preferred stockholders
Less: undistributed earnings to participating securities
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders—basic
Add: adjustments to undistributed earnings to participating securities
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders—diluted
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares of common stock—basic
Effect of potentially dilutive stock options
Weighted-average shares of common stock—diluted
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted

2012

Year Ended December 31,
2013

$ (4,216)
—
—
(4,216)
—
$ (4,216)

$(51,622)
—
—
(51,622)
—
$(51,622)

36,759
—
36,759

39,179
—
39,179

$ (0.11)
$ (0.11)
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$
$

(1.32)
(1.32)

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

2014

$131,777
(5,326)
(98,103)
28,348
10,175
$ 38,523

$ 8,872
(1,313)
(5,870)
1,689
570
$ 2,259

$ 47,997
(1,314)
(36,060)
10,623
4,992
$ 15,615

40,155
19,323
59,478

41,201
29,088
70,289

40,351
20,828
61,179
$
$

0.70
0.63

$
$

0.04
0.04

$
$

0.26
0.22
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The following common stock equivalents (in thousands) were excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share for the periods presented
because including them would have been antidilutive:

2012

Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Stock options to purchase common stock
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants
Total

110,354
20,948
1,898
133,200

December 31,
2013

139,504
23,440
2,302
165,246

Three Months
Ended March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

2014

139,851
4,420
1,955
146,226

139,504
889
2,302
142,695

139,851
1,599
1,955
143,405

Unaudited Pro Forma Net Income per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common
stockholders for 2014 (in thousands, except per share amounts) assuming the automatic conversion of the redeemable convertible preferred stock and the automatic
conversion of the preferred stock warrants into common stock warrants and the remeasurement and the assumed reclassification to equity upon consummation of a
qualified IPO as if it had occurred as of January 1, 2014:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

Numerator:
Net income
Add: change in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant liability
Pro forma net income attributable to common stockholders—basic and diluted
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding
Pro forma adjustments to reflect assumed conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Pro forma weighted-average shares of common stock—basic
Effect of potentially dilutive:
Stock options
Common stock warrants
Pro forma weighted-average shares of common stock—diluted
Pro forma net income per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted
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$ 131,777
13,272
$ 145,049

$
$

Three Months
Ended
March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

$
$

47,997
10,335
58,332

40,351
139,643
179,994

41,201
139,851
181,052

20,828
1,786
202,608

29,088
1,839
211,979

0.81
0.72

$
$

0.32
0.28
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16.

Significant Customer Information and Other Information

Retailer and Distributor Concentration
Retailers and distributors with revenue equal to or greater than 10% of total revenue for 2012, 2013, 2014, and the three months ended March 31, 2014 and
2015 were as follows:

2012

A
B
C
*

December 31,
2013

*
19%
20

*
14%
14

Three Months
Ended
March 31,
2014
2015
(unaudited)

2014

13%
12
11

*
17
13

19%
10
11

Revenue was less than 10%.

Retailers and distributors that accounted for equal to or greater than 10% of net accounts receivable at December 31, 2013 and 2014 and March 31, 2015 were
as follows:
December 31,
2013

A
B
C
D
E
*

March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

2014

*
22%
15
14
*

*
17%
14
13
10

18%
15
15
15
*

Accounts receivable were less than 10%.

Geographic and Other Information
Revenue by geographic region, based on ship-to destinations, was as follows (in thousands):

2012

United States
Americas excluding United States
Europe, Middle East, and Africa
APAC
Total

$ 67,248
—
6,274
2,851
$ 76,373

December 31,
2013

$ 206,082
9,094
25,041
30,870
$ 271,087

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2015
(unaudited)

2014

2014

$ 562,553
38,576
60,699
83,605
$ 745,433

$ 89,831
3,716
8,724
6,544
$ 108,815

$ 265,309
13,429
35,055
22,961
$ 336,754

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014 and March 31, 2015, long-lived assets, which represent property and equipment, located outside the United States were
$5.3 million, $20.0 million, and $21.4 million, respectively.
17. Acquisition (unaudited)
On March 13, 2015, the Company acquired all of the outstanding securities of FitStar, Inc., a privately-held company, for aggregate acquisition consideration
of $32.8 million, comprised of $13.6 million related to the
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issuance of 1,059,688 shares of the Company’s common stock, net of a repurchase of 24,949 shares, $11.5 million of cash, and $7.7 million of contingent
consideration. FitStar is a provider of interactive video-based exercise experiences on mobile devices and computers that utilize proprietary algorithms to adjust and
customize workouts for individual users. The acquisition is expected to enhance the Company’s software and services offerings.
The Company may be obligated to issue additional common stock or pay cash to FitStar shareholders. The actual amount of any contingent consideration that
it pays with respect to the FitStar acquisition, if any, will depend on market-based events that may occur in the future. The Company determined the fair market
value of this contingent consideration to be $7.7 million as of the acquisition date using the Monte Carlo simulation method. The fair value of this liability is
adjusted at each reporting period, and the change in fair value is included in other income (expense), net on the consolidated statement of operations.
The following table summarizes the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):
Goodwill
Developed and core technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks
Assumed liabilities, net of assets
Total

$ 22,562
12,640
128
1,150
(3,643)
$ 32,837

The amortization periods of the acquired developed technology, customer relationships, and trademarks are 7.0 years, 1.3 years, and 5.0 years, respectively.
Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
In addition, upon acquisition, the Company issued 308,216 shares of common stock net of a repurchase of 24,948 shares, valued at $4.2 million. The
Company is also obligated to make cash payments up to $1.2 million. Both the common stock and the cash payments are additional consideration which is
contingent upon former employees of FitStar continuing to be employed by the Company. As such, this additional consideration was not part of the purchase price
and is recognized as post-acquisition compensation expense over the related requisite service period. The Company also recorded acquisition-related transaction
costs of $0.3 million, which were included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations during the three months ended
March 31, 2015.
The results of operations of the acquisition are included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations from the date of acquisition. Pro forma
results of operations for this acquisition have not been presented because they are not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
18.

Subsequent Events
Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 2, 2015 which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

On January 2, 2015, the Company repaid $125.0 million of its outstanding borrowings under the Asset-Based Credit Facility. Refer to Note 7 for further
details.
From January 1, 2015 to March 2, 2015, the Company granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 3,715,552 shares of the Company’s common stock at
an exercise price of $7.37 per share.
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19.

Subsequent Events (unaudited)

The Company has performed an evaluation of subsequent events through May 1, 2015, which is the date the unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements were issued. After the original issuance of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements, the Company has performed an evaluation of
subsequent events through June 15, 2015.
From April 1, 2015 to May 21, 2015, the Company granted options to purchase an aggregate of 2,761,108 shares of the Company’s common stock at a
weighted average exercise price of $13.17 per share, and 212,153 RSUs.
On April 6, 2015, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation to increase the authorized common stock of the Company to 245,400,000 shares.
On May 27, 2015, the Company filed its amended and restated certificate of incorporation to effect the reclassification of the Company’s existing common
stock into Class B common stock and the designation of a new Class A common stock.
On May 27, 2015, Aliphcom, Inc. d/b/a Jawbone (“Jawbone”) filed a lawsuit against the Company and certain of its employees who were formerly employed
by Jawbone alleging trade secret misappropriation, breach of contract, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and unfair and unlawful business
practices. The complaint seeks unspecified damages, including punitive damages and injunctive relief. The Company intends to vigorously defend this litigation
matter and, based on its preliminary review, believes it has valid defenses with respect to this matter. The Company is unable to estimate a reasonably possible range
of loss, if any, that may result from this matter.
On June 10, 2015, Jawbone and BodyMedia, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jawbone (“BodyMedia”), filed a lawsuit against the Company alleging that
the Company infringes on three U.S. patents held by them. The complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages and attorney’s fees from the Company and to
permanently enjoin the Company from making, manufacturing, using, selling, importing, or offering the Company’s products for sale. The Company intends to
vigorously defend this litigation matter, and based on its preliminary review, believes it has valid defenses with respect to this matter. The Company is unable to
estimate a reasonably possible range of loss, if any, that may result from this matter.
On June 13, 2015, the Company approved an option to purchase 255,000 shares of the Company’s Class B common stock to be granted on the date of the
Company’s prospectus at an exercise price equal to the initial public offering price of the Company’s Class A common stock.
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
ITEM 13.

Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth the costs and expenses to be paid by the Registrant, other than estimated writing discounts and commissions, in connection with
the sale of the shares of Class A common stock being registered hereby. All amounts are estimates except for the SEC registration fee, the FINRA filing fee, and the
New York Stock Exchange listing fee.
SEC registration fee
FINRA filing fee
New York Stock Exchange listing fee
Printing and engraving
Legal fees and expenses
Accounting fees and expenses
Blue sky fees and expenses
Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses
Miscellaneous
Total

$63,822
82,886
250,000
625,000
1,800,000
1,704,400
30,000
3,500
340,392
$4,900,000

ITEM 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers .
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law authorizes a court to award, or a corporation’s board of directors to grant, indemnity to directors and
officers under certain circumstances and subject to certain limitations. The terms of Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law are sufficiently broad to
permit indemnification under certain circumstances for liabilities, including reimbursement of expenses incurred, arising under the Securities Act.
As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Registrant’s restated certificate of incorporation that will be in effect immediately prior to the
completion of this offering contains provisions that eliminate the personal liability of its directors for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as a
director, except liability for the following:
•

any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Registrant or its stockholders;

•

acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

•

under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (regarding unlawful dividends and stock purchases); or

•

any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Registrant’s restated bylaws that will be in effect immediately prior to the completion of this
offering provide that:
•

the Registrant is required to indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to
very limited exceptions;

•

the Registrant may indemnify its other employees and agents as set forth in the Delaware General Corporation Law;
II-1

Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements
•
•

the Registrant is required to advance expenses, as incurred, to its directors and officers in connection with a legal proceeding to the fullest extent
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to very limited exceptions; and
the rights conferred in the restated bylaws are not exclusive.

The Registrant has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its current directors and executive officers to provide these directors and executive
officers additional contractual assurances regarding the scope of the indemnification set forth in the Registrant’s restated certificate of incorporation and restated
bylaws and to provide additional procedural protections. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving a director, executive officer, or employee
of the Registrant regarding which indemnification is sought. Reference is also made to the underwriting agreement filed as Exhibit 1.1 to this Registration Statement,
which provides for the indemnification of executive officers, directors, and controlling persons of the Registrant against certain liabilities. The indemnification
provisions in the Registrant’s restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws and the indemnification agreements entered into or to be entered into between
the Registrant and each of its directors and executive officers may be sufficiently broad to permit indemnification of the Registrant’s directors and executive officers
for liabilities arising under the Securities Act.
The Registrant has directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for securities matters.
ITEM 15.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

Since January 1, 2012, the Registrant has issued and sold the following securities (after giving effect to stock splits):
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

8.
9.

Options to employees, directors, consultants, and other service providers to purchase an aggregate of 38,805,446 shares of Class B common stock under
its Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan, or 2007 Plan, with per share exercise prices ranging from $0.055 to $15.58.
An aggregate of 503,783 restricted stock units to employees and other service providers to be settled in shares of Class B common stock under its 2007
Plan.
An aggregate of 18,000 shares of Class B common stock to a service provider under its 2007 Plan, for an aggregate purchase price of $41,280.
4,690,306 shares of common stock to its employees, directors, consultants, and other service providers upon exercise of options granted by it under its
2007 Plan, with purchase prices ranging from $0.0042 to $12.5667 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $656,713.
In April 2012, the Registrant issued a warrant to purchase 57,000 shares of its Series C convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $0.3345 per
share to an accredited investor.
In September 2012, the Registrant issued warrants to purchase 1,215,000 shares of its Series C convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of
$0.6667 per share to two accredited investors.
Between June 2013 and August 2013, the Registrant issued and sold to six accredited investors an aggregate of 29,149,887 shares of Series D
convertible preferred stock, at a purchase price of $1.4751 per share, for aggregate consideration of $42,999,970. In connection with the closing of this
offering, these shares of Series D convertible preferred stock will convert into 29,149,887 shares of Class B common stock.
In August 2014, the Registrant issued 347,568 shares of its Series B convertible preferred stock to five accredited investors at a per share purchase price
of $0.2158 pursuant to the exercise of warrants for aggregate consideration of $75,005.
In March 2015, the Registrant issued 1,417,801 shares of Class B common stock to 38 accredited investors in connection with an acquisition.
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Unless otherwise stated, the sales of the above securities were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2)
of the Securities Act (or Regulation D or Regulation S promulgated thereunder), or Rule 701 promulgated under Section 3(b) of the Securities Act as transactions by
an issuer not involving any public offering or pursuant to benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as provided under Rule 701. The recipients of the
securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with
any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed upon the stock certificates issued in these transactions.
ITEM 16.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

1.1+
3.1+
3.2+
3.3+
3.4+
4.1+
4.2+
4.3+
4.4+
4.5+
4.6+
5.1
10.1+
10.2+
10.3+
10.4+
10.5+
10.6+
10.7+†
10.8+

Exhibit Title

Form of Underwriting Agreement.
Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant effective as of May 27, 2015.
Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, to be effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering.
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended.
Form of Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, to be effective immediately prior to completion of this offering.
Form of Registrant’s Class A common stock certificate.
Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement by and among the Registrant and certain stockholders of the Registrant, dated June 6,
2013.
Warrant to Purchase Stock by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated June 10, 2011, as amended.
Warrant to Purchase Stock by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated April 6, 2012.
Warrant to Purchase Stock by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated September 28, 2012.
Warrant to Purchase Stock between the Registrant and WestRiver Mezzanine Loans, LLC, dated September 28, 2012.
Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP.
Form of Indemnification Agreement.
Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of award agreements.
2015 Equity Incentive Plan, to be effective upon completion of this offering, and forms of award agreements.
2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, to be effective upon completion of this offering.
Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and William Zerella, dated April 24, 2014.
Office Lease by and between the Registrant and 405 Howard, LLC, dated September 30, 2013.
Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by and among Fitbit International Limited, the Registrant, and Flextronics Sales & Marketing (AP) Ltd., dated March 19, 2015.
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Registrant, the Lenders party thereto, Silicon Valley Bank, SunTrust Bank, Morgan
Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., and SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., dated August 13, 2014.
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Exhibit
Number

10.9+

Exhibit Title

10.10+
21.1+
23.1
23.2

Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement by and among Registrant, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, Morgan Stanley
Bank N.A., and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., dated August 13, 2014.
Form of Retention Agreement.
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

24.1+

Power of Attorney.

+
†

Previously filed.
Confidential treatment requested with respect to portions of this exhibit.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.
All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the information is included in the Registrant’s consolidated financial
statements or related notes.
ITEM 17.

Undertakings .

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting agreement certificates in such
denominations and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant
pursuant to provisions described in Item 14 above, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such
liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful
defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant
will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such
indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:
(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration
statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities
Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to
be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide
offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant has duly caused this Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of San Francisco, State of California, on June 15, 2015.
FITBIT, INC.
By:

/s/ James Park
James Park
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the date indicated:
Name

Title

Date

/s/ James Park

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

June 15, 2015

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

June 15, 2015

William Zerella

*

Chief Technology Officer and Director

June 15, 2015

Director

June 15, 2015

Director

June 15, 2015

Director

June 15, 2015

James Park

/s/ William Zerella

Eric N. Friedman

*
Jonathan D. Callaghan

*
Steven Murray

*
Christopher Paisley

* By:

/s/ James Park
James Park
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

1.1+
3.1+
3.2+
3.3+
3.4+
4.1+
4.2+
4.3+

Form of Underwriting Agreement.
Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant effective as of May 27, 2015.
Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, to be effective immediately prior to the completion of this offering.
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended.
Form of Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, to be effective immediately prior to completion of this offering.
Form of Registrant’s Class A common stock certificate.
Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement by and among the Registrant and certain stockholders of the Registrant, dated June 6,
2013.
Warrant to Purchase Stock by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated June 10, 2011, as amended.

4.4+
4.5+

Warrant to Purchase Stock by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated April 6, 2012.
Warrant to Purchase Stock by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated September 28, 2012.

4.6+
5.1
10.1+
10.2+
10.3+
10.4+
10.5+
10.6+
10.7+†
10.8+
10.9+
10.10+
21.1+
23.1
23.2
24.1+
+
†

Exhibit Title

Warrant to Purchase Stock between the Registrant and WestRiver Mezzanine Loans, LLC, dated September 28, 2012.
Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP.
Form of Indemnification Agreement.
Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of award agreements.
2015 Equity Incentive Plan, to be effective upon completion of this offering, and forms of award agreements.
2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, to be effective upon completion of this offering.
Offer Letter by and between the Registrant and William Zerella, dated April 24, 2014.
Office Lease by and between the Registrant and 405 Howard, LLC, dated September 30, 2013.
Flextronics Manufacturing Services Agreement by and among Fitbit International Limited, the Registrant, and Flextronics Sales & Marketing (A-P)
Ltd., dated March 19, 2015.
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Registrant, the Lenders party thereto, Silicon Valley Bank, SunTrust Bank, Morgan
Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., and SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., dated August 13, 2014.
Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement by and among Registrant, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, Morgan Stanley Bank
N.A., and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., dated August 13, 2014.
Form of Retention Agreement.
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
Power of Attorney.

Previously filed.
Confidential treatment requested with respect to portions of this exhibit.

Exhibit 5.1

June 15, 2015
Fitbit, Inc.
405 Howard Street
San Francisco, CA 94105
Ladies and Gentlemen:
At your request, we have examined the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-203941) (the “ Registration Statement ”) initially filed by
Fitbit, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ Commission ”) on May 7, 2015, as subsequently
amended on May 21, 2015, June 2, 2015 and June 15, 2015, in connection with the registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ”),
of an aggregate of 34,327,500 shares (the “ Stock ”) of the Company’s Class A Common Stock (the “ Class A Common Stock ”), which number of shares includes
up to 11,940,000 shares of Class A Common Stock to be sold by certain selling stockholders (the “ Selling Stockholders ”) of which (i) 11,768,717 of such Stock
are presently issued and outstanding (the “Selling Stockholder Shares ”) and (ii) up to 171,283 of such Stock are issuable upon exercise of warrants to be exercised
by certain of the Selling Stockholders (the “ Selling Stockholder Warrant Shares ”).
In rendering this opinion, we have examined such matters of fact as we have deemed necessary in order to render the opinion set forth herein, which included
examination of the following:
(1)

The Company’s Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed with and certified by the Delaware Secretary of State on May 27, 2015
(the “ Restated Certificate ”), and the Restated Certificate of Incorporation that the Company intends to file and that will be effective upon the
consummation of the sale of the Stock (the “ Post-Effective Restated Certificate ”).

(2)

The Company’s Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended and certified to us as of the date hereof by an officer of the Company as being
complete and in full force and effect as of the date herof (the “ Bylaws ”) and the Restated Bylaws that the Company has adopted in connection with,
and that will be effective upon, the consummation of the sale of the Stock (the “ Post-Effective Bylaws ”).

(3)

The Registration Statement, together with the Exhibits filed as a part thereof or incorporated therein by reference.

(4)

The prospectus prepared in connection with the Registration Statement (the “ Prospectus ”).

(5)

Minutes of meetings and actions by written consent of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “ Board ”) and stockholders (the “ Stockholders ”) at
which, or pursuant to which, the Pre-Effective Restated Certificate, the Post-Effective Restated Certificate, the Bylaws and the Post-Effective Bylaws
were approved.
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(6)

The minutes of meetings and actions by written consent of the Board and Stockholders pursuant to which the issuance of the Selling Stockholder Shares
(and the approval of the warrants under which the Selling Stockholder Warrant Shares are issuable) were approved, and the sale and issuance of the
Stock and related matters were adopted and approved.

(7)

The stock records of the Company that the Company has provided to us (consisting of a list of stockholders and a list of option, restricted stock unit,
and warrant holders respecting the Company’s capital and of any rights to purchase capital stock that was prepared by the Company verifying the
number of such issued and outstanding securities).

(8)

A Certificate of Good Standing issued by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware dated June 12, 2015, stating that the Company is duly
incorporated and was in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware as of such date (the “ Certificate of Good Standing ”).

(9)

The agreements under which the Selling Stockholders acquired or will acquire the Shares of Class A Common Stock to be sold by them as described in
the Registration Statement.

(10) The custody agreements, payment instructions, powers of attorney and contingent exercise notices signed by the Selling Stockholders in connection
with the sale of Stock described in the Registration Statement.
(11) An opinion certificate addressed to us and dated of even date herewith executed by the Company containing certain factual representations (the “
Opinion Certificate ”).
In our examination of documents for purposes of this opinion, we have assumed, and express no opinion as to, the authenticity and completeness of all
documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to originals and completeness of all documents submitted to us as copies, the legal capacity of all persons or
entities executing the same, the lack of any undisclosed termination, modification, waiver or amendment to any document reviewed by us and the due authorization,
execution and delivery of all such documents by the selling stockholders where due authorization, execution and delivery are prerequisites to the effectiveness
thereof.
The Company’s capital stock is uncertificated. We assume that the issued Stock will not be reissued by the Company in uncertificated form until any
previously issued stock certificate representing such issued Stock have been surrendered to the Company in accordance with Section 158 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law and that the Company will properly register the transfer of the Stock to the purchasers of such Stock on the Company’s record of uncertificated
securities.
We render this opinion only with respect to, and express no opinion herein concerning the application or effect of the laws of any jurisdiction other than, the
existing laws of the United States of America and the State of California and of the existing Delaware General Corporation Law and reported judicial decisions
relating thereto.
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With respect to our opinion expressed in paragraph (1) below as to the valid existence and good standing of the Company under the laws of the State of
Delaware, we have relied solely upon the Certificate of Good Standing and representations made to us by the Company in the Opinion Certificate.
In connection with our opinion expressed in paragraph (2) below, we have assumed that, at or prior to the time of the delivery of any shares of Stock, the
Registration Statement will have been declared effective under the Securities Act that the registration will apply to such shares of Stock and will not have been
modified or rescinded and that there will not have occurred any change in law affecting the validity of the issuance of such shares of Stock.
This opinion is based upon the customary practice of lawyers who regularly give, and lawyers who regularly advise opinion recipients regarding, opinions of
the kind set forth in this opinion letter, including customary practice as described in bar association reports.
Based upon the foregoing, we are of the following opinion:
(1) The Company is a corporation validly existing, in good standing, under the laws of the State of Delaware;
(2) the up to 22,387,500 Shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued and sold by the Company, when issued, sold and delivered in the manner and
for the consideration stated in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and in accordance with the resolutions adopted by the Board and to be adopted by
the Pricing Committee of the Board, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable;
(3) the up to 11,768,717 outstanding Selling Stockholder Shares to be sold by the Selling Stockholders are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable;
and
(4) the up to 171,283 Selling Stockholder Warrant Shares to be sold by the Selling Stockholders, when issued in accordance with the terms of the
warrants under which such Selling Stockholder Warrant Shares are issuable and the resolutions of the Board granting such warrants, and sold and delivered in
the manner and for the consideration stated in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, will be, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
We consent to the use of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and further consent to all references to us, if any, in the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus constituting a part thereof and any amendments thereto.
This opinion is intended solely for use in connection with issuance and sale of shares of Stock subject to the Registration Statement and is not to be relied
upon for any other purpose. This opinion is rendered as of the date first written above and is based solely on our understanding of facts in existence as of such date
after the aforementioned examination. In rendering the opinions above, we are opining only as to the specific legal issues expressly set forth therein, and no opinion
shall be inferred as to any other matter or matters. We assume no obligation to advise you of any fact, circumstance, event or change in the law or the facts that may
hereafter be brought to our attention whether or not such occurrence would affect or modify any of the opinions expressed herein.
Very truly yours,
/s/ Fenwick & West LLP
FENWICK & WEST LLP

Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the use in this Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of Fitbit, Inc. of our report dated March 2, 2015, except for the
effects of the 2015 stock split described in “Stock Splits” of Note 2, as to which the date is May 27, 2015, relating to the financial statements of Fitbit, Inc., which
appears in such Registration Statement. We also consent to the reference to us under the heading “Experts” in such Registration Statement.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Francisco, California
June 15, 2015

